ý = bo+ ban+ ban+ + ... + bono i X. (Xa, X2, ..., > y output reasonment smin RSI (B) - E (yi - nitp) mt uts; fne Ess cuitenter ye an autotragy $f: RSS(f) = \tilde{\Sigma}(y: -f(n,))^2$ ounde hundia $(y; (B_1 - \Sigma n; \beta))^2 + \lambda, \Sigma \beta; \gamma;$

Eugenio Traini

to

mpliphotor

INFORMATIVE APPROACHES FOR

(E;)

reshimate

: 0.07672.

L' binary treatment ind

ANALYSING COMMON ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS IN RELATION TO HEALTH OUTCOMES IN LARGE **PROSPECTIVE EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES**

highly concluted

tos complex

Informative approaches for analysing common environmental factors in relation to health outcomes in large prospective epidemiological studies

Eugenio Traini

Eugenio Traini

Informative approaches for analysing common environmental factors in relation to health outcomes in large prospective epidemiological studies

Doctoral Thesis, Utrecht University

© Eugenio Traini, 2024 All rights reserved. No parts of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, without prior permission of the author.

Cover art and layout: Eugenio Traini, Agostino Traini, Anzhelika Ohanyan (www.behance.net/anzhelikaohanyan) Printing and binding by: Ipskamp Printing

ISBN: 978-90-393-7752-9 DOI: https://doi.org/10.33540/104

Informative approaches for analysing common environmental factors in relation to health outcomes in large prospective epidemiological studies

Informatieve benaderingen voor de analyse van veelvoorkomende omgevingsfactoren in relatie tot gezondheidsuitkomsten in grootschalige prospectieve epidemiologische studies

(met een samenvatting in het Nederlands)

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit Utrecht op gezag van de rector magnificus, prof. dr. H.R.B.M. Kummeling, ingevolge het besluit van het College voor Promoties in het openbaar te verdedigen op

donderdag 5 december 2024 des ochtends te 10.15 uur

door

Eugenio Traini

geboren op 6 november 1988 te Rome, Italië

Promotor:

Prof. dr. R.C.H. Vermeulen

Copromotor:

Dr. A. Huss

Beoordelingscommissie:

Prof. dr. O.H. Franco Duran Prof. dr. E.L. Hamaker Prof. dr. M. Röösli Dr. M. Verschuren Prof. M. Vrijheid

Table of contents

Chapter 1.	General Introduction	7
Chapter 2.	Headache in the international Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom General Introduction	25
Chapter 3.	Time course of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF expo- sure and predictors of electromagnetic hypersensitivity over 10 years in a prospective chort of Dutch adults	85
Chapter 4.	A multi-pollutant approach to estimating causal effects of air pollution mixtures on overall mortality in a large, prospective cohort	121
Chapter 5.	A prospective exploration of the urban exposome in relation to headache in the Dutch population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO)	157
Chapter 6.	General Discussion	215
Appendices.	Summary	249
	Samenvatting	252
	Scientific Publications	256
	Acknowledgements	258
	Curriculum Vitae	261

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Ubiquitous exposures in the environment

The study of the impact of environmental stressors on human health is a subject of great interest within the scientific community, with significant implications for public health. This thesis considers various environmental factors that are commonly encountered in our everyday lives, with a specific emphasis on two exposure groups used as case studies across the different chapters: air pollution and radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMFs).

Air pollution represents a large group of environmental exposures and a major contributor to the global burden of disease that affects millions of people worldwide (Cohen et al., 2017). Extensive research has been conducted over the years to quantify its adverse effects, with studies showing the harmful impact of air pollution on population health (Boogaard et al., 2022; Chen & Hoek, 2020). Along with population growth and the increase in urbanisation levels, several sources contribute to the increase in exposure levels, such as emissions from industries, pollution from vehicles, energy production processes, and construction activities. As a consequence, the regulation of air pollution, especially in urban areas, requires the implementation of different measures to control the levels of pollutants aiming at reducing the adverse health effects and bringing air quality to safe levels (The Economic Consequences of Outdoor Air Pollution | En | OECD, 2016).

Similarly to air pollution, exposure to RF-EMFs is ubiquitous in our society, and mobile phones and wireless communication devices represent major sources of exposure (van Wel et al., 2021). The increased use of mobile phones over the past decades, along with the rapid spread of wireless technologies in the population, raised concerns about potential adverse health effects associated with the exposure to RF-EMFs. As a result, there is growing attention in studying the biological impact of RF-EMFs on health (Schüz et al., 2011; Verbeek et al., 2021).

Interestingly, despite the increase in frequency and duration of use of devices emitting radiofrequencies, the intensity of RF-EMF exposure among users has decelerated over time due to the advancement and evolution of new network generations, which involve higher efficiency of data transfer. As such, the exposure levels normally encountered in the population remain well below the established limits of safety for RF-EMF exposure (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP), 2020; Iyare et al., 2021).

While nature and sources of air pollution and RF-EMF exposure differ significantly and are typically studied separately within the broader field of environmental epidemiology, they both share one crucial similarity: their widespread presence in the environment means that everyone is constantly exposed to them at varying levels.

Air pollution pervades urban and rural areas alike, affecting individuals indoors and outdoors, regardless of their location or lifestyle. Likewise, RF-EMFs permeate the modern built environment, with wireless communication devices omnipresent in society. As a consequence, even a slight increase or decrease in exposure levels of air pollution and RF-EMFs could potentially have significant implications on population health.

From a public health perspective, in addition to measured exposure levels, a relevant research stream within environmental epidemiology relates to how the exposure is perceived. In fact, by assessing exposure and risk perception, we complement information on measured and estimated exposure levels, ultimately providing important insights into health and well-being (Baliatsas et al., 2015; Cori et al., 2020).

Despite air pollution and RF-EMFs representing exposure groups of primary interest in epidemiological research, in the real world, individuals on a daily basis are exposed to a multitude of environmental factors, that have the potential to impact their health.

This research spans various environmental domains, which traditionally include exposures to chemicals, physical elements, and biological agents (Brunekreef, 2008; Pekkanen & Pearce, 2001). In addition to these determinants, to account for the complex interrelationship between environmental factors and individual behaviours, a considerable number of potentially modifiable risk factors have been incorporated, including diet, sedentary behavior, and other lifestyle factors and individual characteristics (Vineis et al., 2020). The totality of these factors contributing to establishing and preserving a healthy life throughout an individual's lifetime is commonly referred to as exposome (Vermeulen et al., 2020).

In this regard, the exposures comprising the component of the exposome (i.e. urban exposome) were considered in the thesis. Specifically, the urban exposome represents a rich data source where information on various aspects of the life of individuals, such as their physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption, and other lifestyle factors, is included. Further information collected within the urban exposome involves chemical and physical exposures, such as the presence of chemicals and contaminants in water, in addition to air pollution and RF-EMFs, and neighbourhood characteristics, such as urban temperatures, presence of green and blue spaces, the access to healthy food options, healthcare facilities, and more (Ohanyan et al., 2022).

Health outcomes considered in the thesis

Multiple health outcomes are evaluated in the thesis based on their characteristics and distinctive methodological approaches used for their study: first, we consider head-

aches. Headache disorders, characterised by their diverse intensity and frequency, represent one of the most prevalent and incapacitating health conditions globally (GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators, 2018; Rasmussen et al., 1991; Steiner & World Headache Alliance, 2004). The etiology of headache appears to be complex and multifactorial, with both genetic and environmental factors playing a role (Robbins & Lipton, 2010; Svensson, 2004). Previous research emphasises the substantial impact of lifestyle and behavioural characteristics, as well as environmental factors such as air pollution and RF-EMFs, on the initiation and persistence of the symptoms. Therefore, it is possible that a combination of factors, rather than one single stressor, is responsible for the onset of headaches in the population (Friedman & De Ver Dye, 2009; Molarius et al., 2008; Ulrich et al., 2004).

The second outcome considered in the thesis is the condition known as electromagnetic hypersensitivity (EHS). EHS is a term used to define individuals who claim to be sensitive to EMFs (Dieudonné, 2020; Leszczynski, 2021). However, an important aspect of EHS is the concurrent attribution of health complaints to RF-EMFs, in which case the condition is more correctly specified as idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields (IEI-RF).

In this thesis, for the sake of accuracy in terminology, we refer to IEI-RF to describe a set of self-reported non-specific symptoms that individuals attribute to electromagnetic field exposure, and EHS to describe individuals who claim to be sensitive but without necessarily attributing symptoms (Baliatsas et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2017; Röösli et al., 2004, 2010). For those subjects who claim to have IEI-RF, the condition shows a range of symptoms they believe are triggered or exacerbated by exposure to common sources of RF-EMFs, such as mobile phones, cordless phones, laptops, and other electronic devices emitting radiofrequencies. The reported symptoms vary widely, including head-aches, fatigue, difficulty concentrating, sleep disturbances, and skin-related issues. In this regard, it is worth noting that clear diagnostic criteria for this condition are lacking (Stein & Udasin, 2020).

We considered mortality as an additional endpoint in the thesis. Mortality is a frequent study outcome in epidemiological studies as it represents the most serious endpoint. From a methodological perspective, it has the advantages of not displaying the transient nature typical of symptoms and being easily measured without ambiguity. Unlike head-aches and EHS, mortality data is directly available from routinely collected sources such as death certificates and vital statistics registries.

Mechanisms of action

Understanding the mechanisms of action through which environmental exposures affect health is challenging, as these mechanisms often show traits of ambiguity and, as a

result, their interpretation is not straightforward. For some exposures, such as air pollution, the biological mechanisms of action are better defined than RF-EMF exposure. In the case of air pollution, extensive research has revealed clear pathways involving oxidative stress, inflammation, and direct damage to cellular structures, which contribute to the onset of various health conditions, including respiratory and cardiovascular diseases, and neurological disorders, among others (Block & Calderón-Garcidueñas, 2009; Leikauf et al., 2020; Miller, 2020).

The scenario for RF-EMFs is more uncertain, particularly at the low exposure levels normally encountered in the population. On the one hand, a number of experimental studies have explored the effects of RF-EMF exposure on various outcomes, and the accepted biological mechanism from these studies to date is represented by tissue heating (D'Andrea et al., 2007). Furthermore, oxidative stress has been proposed as a potential biological response to RF-EMF exposure, though this remains controversial, especially since biological reactions at low exposure levels may be negligible in terms of health impact (Henschenmacher et al., 2022; Kamali et al., 2018; Tkalec et al., 2007). Conversely, observational studies are scarce and results inconsistent. Following results from the INTERPHONE study, which showed an isolated increased risk of glioma among mobile phone users classified in the highest decile of cumulative call-time (INTERPHONE Study Group, 2010), in 2011 the International Agency of Research on Cancer (IARC) classified RF-EMF exposure as possibly carcinogenic to humans (IARC Publications Website - IARC Monographs on the Identification of Carcinogenic Hazards to Humans, 2013). However, follow-up studies did not yield the same conclusion, and lack of association was also supported by recent findings from the international COSMOS and MOBI-Kids studies (Castaño-Vinyals et al., 2022; Feychting et al., 2024; Swerdlow et al., 2011).

If the potential mechanisms of action for low levels of RF-EMF exposure remain unclear for more established health outcomes, such as cancer, this uncertainty is possibly even more pronounced for outcomes that, due to their inherent nature and characteristics, appear to be transient in the population and therefore difficult to assess. This is the case for headache, which represents a highly prevalent condition in the population carrying a significant burden of disability.

In this respect, a number of experimental and epidemiological studies have investigated the role of RF-EMFs in the onset of headaches. Results from experimental studies focused on short-term exposure, and did not find strong evidence of an association (Augner et al., 2012; Cinel et al., 2008; Oftedal et al., 2007). Epidemiological studies investigating the health effects associated with long-term RF-EMF exposure showed varying results, such as the weak association between mobile phone use and migraine observed in a cohort study conducted in Denmark (Schüz et al., 2009), and the more recent findings from the cohort study conducted in Finland and Sweden suggesting that other factors 10

related to mobile phone use than RF-EMFs may explain the weak association that was found among users (Auvinen et al., 2019).

With regard to EHS and IEI-RF, the mechanisms of action remain uncertain (Baliatsas et al., 2009; Dieudonné, 2019; Stein & Udasin, 2020). Currently, three hypotheses can be identified (Dieudonné, 2020): first, the biological route assumes a direct effect of RF-EMF exposure on reporting symptoms. The second route, which reflects the cognitive hypothesis, argues that perceived exposure and risk promote a nocebo response that generates symptoms. The third route, in accordance to the attributive hypothesis, argues that symptoms may be attributed by an individual to RF-EMF exposure to help explain a health problem for which no diagnosis has been made.

Challenges in studying how environmental factors influence human health

Well-formulated research questions and hypotheses serve as pillars to efficiently design an epidemiological study, ensure reliable inferences, and draw meaningful conclusions from the analysis (Kleinbaum et al., 2013). However, researchers in environmental health encounter several challenges of different nature when analysing epidemiological data. Addressing these challenges necessitates appropriate statistical techniques, and, at times, novel approaches to better understand the underlying causes of action in order to prevent health effects.

Here, some of these challenges are briefly outlined: first, depending on the exposure being considered, understanding the underlying potential mechanisms linking exposures to health outcomes may not be straightforward. This difficulty is relatively common in studies assessing the health effects of non-ionising radiation, where the biological mechanisms of action at the exposure levels generally encountered in the population are uncertain (Erwin, 1988; Stein & Udasin, 2020). However, for exposures where the mechanisms of action are clearer, such as in the case of air pollution, the high correlation structure existing between the air pollutants introduces further complexity in the analysis and interpretation of the results, making it difficult to disentangle the underlying mechanisms in the exposure-outcome association (Billionnet et al., 2012). This can also be the case for devices emitting RF-EMFs, where the exposure could correlate with user behaviours, and therefore the underlying mechanisms of action may not be easily distinguishable (Schoeni et al., 2017). In this scenario, the main challenge lies in discerning RF-EMFs from other aspects of mobile phone use, such as those reflecting the behaviour of the user, which may not necessarily result in high exposure levels (e.g. texting) (van Wel et al., 2021).

Second, in situations where researchers aim to investigate the occurrence of chronic conditions or symptoms, which inherently undergo changes over time due to their nature, relying on a single follow-up may not provide sufficient insights into the potential

patterns involved in the exposure-outcome association, and common statistical methods may struggle to unravel the underlying dynamics of change (Kowall et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2018).

An example is provided by EHS, for which previous studies indicated a frequent turnover in individuals reporting symptoms over time, suggesting that EHS is transient and highly temporary in the population (Kowall et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2018; Röösli et al., 2010). In these situations, additional complexity may arise from the characteristics of the exposure itself, such as in the case of RF-EMF exposure that is subject to frequent changes over time. In addition, the risk of reverse causation, which could potentially lead to misinterpretation of the findings, is common in these scenarios.

Third, in settings where the aim is to evaluate the effect of multiple exposures of interest occurring simultaneously, such as in the case of environmental mixtures, regression techniques may fail to capture underlying signals in the mixture-outcome association, including interactions and synergistic effects. In these scenarios, better-suited approaches should be considered (Agier et al., 2016; Barrera-Gómez et al., 2017).

With regard to environmental mixtures, some of the most common research questions that researchers may want to answer include addressing the high correlation structure usually present among the components of the mixture, as well as the presence of interactions and nonlinearities, the estimation of the overall effect of the mixture and the identification of the main contributors within the mixture responsible for the effect, the integration of environmental mixtures in mediation analysis, and more (Maitre et al., 2022; Bellavia et al., 2021; Wilson et al., 2018; Blum et al., 2020; Bellavia et al., 2019). In this regard, within the causal inference framework, particular attention has been directed over the past few years towards the development of novel approaches aimed at estimating causal effects and establishing causal relationships in epidemiological studies (Wager & Athey, 2018; Williams & Crespi, 2020).

Following this brief overview of some of the challenges commonly encountered in the analysis of prospective data in environmental epidemiology, that is by no means intended to be exhaustive, I introduce in this thesis some novel approaches designed to tackle different challenges across scenarios of varying complexities with the underlying aim to determine the most plausible mechanisms of action and elucidate what may, or may not, be causally related.

Aim of the thesis

The overarching aim of the thesis is to propose informative approaches for the analysis of common environmental factors in relation to health outcomes, across different scenarios, using data from large prospective epidemiological studies. These approaches aim to provide valuable insights and understanding of exposure-outcome associations, including mechanisms of action and potential causal pathways, in order to prevent health effects.

This thesis has the following specific aims:

- To extract meaningful insights and draw conclusions regarding exposure-outcome associations in scenarios where the mechanisms of action are uncertain and/or difficult to determine, by exploring different potential pathways while optimising available exposure data;
- To explore the temporal dynamics of health outcomes characterised by considerable fluctuations over time, by analysing data across multiple time points, accounting for time-dependent risk factors;
- To explore an environmental mixture and determine the causal effect of its components on health, within a simplified exposure-outcome scenario involving a preselected set of exposures and mortality as endpoint;
- iv. To identify a relevant set of exposures and estimate their causal effects in studies assessing the impact of multiple exposures occurring simultaneously on health, in an exposure-outcome scenario characterised by high-dimensional exposure data typical of exposome-wide studies.

Study design and databases used in the thesis

In this thesis, data from large prospective epidemiological studies are analysed. Cohort studies represent one of the most commonly used study designs for the analysis of observational data in environmental epidemiology. Within this framework, the conduct of prospective studies plays a crucial role in exploring the relationship between exposures and health outcomes. Their distinctive characteristic is the temporal sequence, where the exposure is assessed before the outcome occurs, allowing for the evaluation of the relationship over time (Morgenstern & Thomas, 1993). As a result, using a prospective study design may facilitate the identification of potential causal relationships, although this characteristic is not sufficient to prove causality (Nowinski et al., 2022).

To achieve the objectives of the thesis, data from the cohort study of mobile phone use and health (COSMOS), LIFEWORK, and the Dutch occupational and environmental health cohort study (AMIGO) were analysed (Figure 1).

COSMOS is an international study investigating possible health effects of long-term use of mobile phones and other wireless technologies (Schüz et al., 2011). The specific objective of COSMOS is to track the health of over 250,000 individuals over a long period of time to determine whether adverse health effects are observed in relation to their use of mobile phones and other wireless technologies. Information is obtained from repeated harmonised questionnaires, repeated downloads from traffic operators, and health registries depending on data availability. COSMOS is an international consortium

involving Denmark, Finland, Sweden, the Netherlands, the UK, and France. It was initiated between 2008 and 2012 in all countries except France, which joined in 2019. All countries, expect France, completed the first follow-up by 2017. According to the COS-MOS protocol, data from participating countries are pooled to achieve sufficient statistical power for investigating mobile phone use in relation to several health outcomes, including brain cancer, headaches, and neurological disorders. A significant strength of COSMOS lies in its prospective design, which minimises recall and selection biases. In this thesis, data from the Netherlands and the UK cohorts of COSMOS were analysed.

LIFEWORK is a large federated prospective cohort in the Netherlands that quantifies the health effects of occupational and environmental exposures (Reedijk et al., 2018). With nearly 90,000 participants, LIFEWORK represents the second largest contributor to the international COSMOS study. In 2011, the nationwide prospective cohort LIFEWORK was initiated to explore occupational and environmental health factors among people living in the Netherlands. Representing the Dutch contribution to COSMOS, LIFEWORK specifically focuses on assessing EMF exposure from mobile phones and other wireless devices. Three Dutch cohorts, namely EPIC-NL, Nightingale, and AMIGO, are part of LIFEWORK and participants completed the first follow-up questionnaire between 2015 and 2017.

AMIGO is the Dutch occupational and environmental health cohort study and represents one of the subcohorts included in LIFEWORK, which investigates occupational and environmental determinants of diseases and well-being relying on a multidisciplinary and life course approach (Slottje et al., 2014). In AMIGO, approximately 14,000 individuals were recruited in the Netherlands between 2011 and 2012, to explore underlying causes of health conditions in the population, such as respiratory diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and dementia, and uncover the potential influence of the daily living environment on well-being. A subcohort of AMIGO was established in 2013, and a follow-up questionnaire was completed by this subgroup of participants in 2021, with dedicated questions to assess relationships between exposure, risk perception, symptom reporting and symptom attribution to environmental factors, including RF-EMFs. Figure 1. Overview of the data used in the thesis.



Outline of the thesis

In this section, I provide an overview of the content covered in the different chapters of the thesis, outlining their main objectives and the methodological approaches used.

In Chapter 2, we conducted a prospective analysis of the association between mobile phone use and the occurrence of headaches analysing pooled data from the Netherlands and the United Kingdom as part of the COSMOS project. Given that the potential mechanisms of action linking mobile phone use and headaches are uncertain, we explored two possible causal pathways: RF-EMF exposure and the behavioural aspect of mobile phone usage with negligible RF-EMF exposure. By optimising the exposure data available in COSMOS, we were able to disentangle the exposure-outcome relationship, ultimately identifying the most plausible route for this association.

In Chapter 3, we explored the temporal dynamics of attributing symptoms to RF-EMFs (IEI-RF) by assessing factors related to developing, maintaining, or discarding IEI-RF over 10 years, using data from the subcohort of AMIGO. We modelled the process in which participants move through a series of states of IEI-RF by estimating multi-state Markov models, a flexible statistical technique for estimating rates of transition between stages or health conditions. Finally, we applied logistic regression to explore predictors of sensitivity at follow-up, without necessarily attributing symptoms (EHS).

In Chapter 4, we proposed a pluralistic approach to prospectively explore the relationship between a mixture of air pollutants and mortality in LIFEWORK. Using targeted methods

for high-dimensional exposures, we assessed the relevance of mixture's components in the mixture-outcome association, and investigated interactions and nonlinearities. Based on these results, we built a multivariate generalised propensity score model to jointly estimate the causal effects of the pollutants on overall mortality.

In Chapter 5, we prospectively explored the urban exposome of AMIGO in relation to headaches by using a combination of machine learning techniques. Specifically, we followed a two-stage approach where we first applied Boruta to identify relevant exposures in the exposome-outcome association, and then estimated causal forest to quantify the causal effect of these exposures on the occurrence of headache.

In Chapter 6, the main findings of this thesis are summarised, followed by discussions of the different approaches used, including challenges and limitations associated with their use, and policy implications and possible directions for future research.

References

- Agier, L., Portengen, L., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Basagaña, X., Giorgis-Allemand, L., Siroux, V., Robinson, O., Vlaanderen, J., González, J. R., Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J., Vineis, P., Vrijheid, M., Slama, R., & Vermeulen, R. (2016). A Systematic Comparison of Linear Regression-Based Statistical Methods to Assess Exposome-Health Associations. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *124*(12), 1848–1856. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP172
- Augner, C., Gnambs, T., Winker, R., & Barth, A. (2012). Acute effects of electromagnetic fields emitted by GSM mobile phones on subjective well-being and physiological reactions: A meta-analysis. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 424, 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.02.034
- Auvinen, A., Feychting, M., Ahlbom, A., Hillert, L., Elliott, P., Schüz, J., Kromhout, H., Toledano, M. B., Johansen, C., Poulsen, A. H., Vermeulen, R., Heinävaara, S., Kojo, K., Tettamanti, G., & COSMOS Study Group. (2019). Headache, tinnitus and hearing loss in the international Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) in Sweden and Finland. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *48*(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz127
- Baliatsas, C., Bolte, J., Yzermans, J., Kelfkens, G., Hooiveld, M., Lebret, E., & van Kamp, I. (2015). Actual and perceived exposure to electromagnetic fields and non-specific physical symptoms: An epidemiological study based on self-reported data and electronic medical records. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 218(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2015.02.001
- Baliatsas, C., Kamp, I. V., Yzermans, J., Bolte, J., & Lebret, E. (2009). Non-specific Physical Symptoms in Relation to the Actual and Perceived Exposure to EMF (Electromagnetic Fields) and the Underlying Mechanisms*. *Epidemiology*, 20(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ede.0000362425.28850.f9
- Baliatsas, C., Van Kamp, I., Lebret, E., & Rubin, G. J. (2012). Idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields (IEI-EMF): A systematic review of identifying criteria. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), Article 1. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-643
- Barrera-Gómez, J., Agier, L., Portengen, L., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Giorgis-Allemand, L., Siroux, V., Robinson, O., Vlaanderen, J., González, J. R., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Vineis, P., Vrijheid, M., Vermeulen, R., Slama, R., & Basagaña, X. (2017). A systematic comparison of statistical methods to detect interactions in exposome-health associations. *Environmental Health*, *16*(1), 74. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12940-017-0277-6
- Bellavia, A., Dickerson, A. S., Rotem, R. S., Hansen, J., Gredal, O., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2021). Joint and interactive effects between health comorbidities and environmental exposures in predicting amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Internation*-

al Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 231, 113655. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113655

- Bellavia, A., James-Todd, T., & Williams, P. L. (2019). Approaches for incorporating environmental mixtures as mediators in mediation analysis. *Environment International*, 123, 368–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.024
- Billionnet, C., Sherrill, D., Annesi-Maesano, I., & GERIE study. (2012). Estimating the health effects of exposure to multi-pollutant mixture. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 22(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.11.004
- Block, M. L., & Calderón-Garcidueñas, L. (2009). Air Pollution: Mechanisms of Neuroinflammation & CNS Disease. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 32(9), 506–516. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2009.05.009
- Blum, M. G. B., Valeri, L., François, O., Cadiou, S., Siroux, V., Lepeule, J., & Slama, R. (2020). Challenges Raised by Mediation Analysis in a High-Dimension Setting. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 128(5), 055001. https://doi.org/10.1289/ EHP6240
- Boogaard, H., Patton, A. P., Atkinson, R. W., Brook, J. R., Chang, H. H., Crouse, D. L., Fussell, J. C., Hoek, G., Hoffmann, B., Kappeler, R., Kutlar Joss, M., Ondras, M., Sagiv, S. K., Samoli, E., Shaikh, R., Smargiassi, A., Szpiro, A. A., Van Vliet, E. D. S., Vienneau, D., ... Forastiere, F. (2022). Long-term exposure to traffic-related air pollution and selected health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environment International*, *164*, 107262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107262
- Brunekreef, B. (2008). Environmental epidemiology and risk assessment. *Toxicology Letters*, *180*(2), 118–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2008.05.012
- Castaño-Vinyals, G., Sadetzki, S., Vermeulen, R., Momoli, F., Kundi, M., Merletti, F., Maslanyj, M., Calderon, C., Wiart, J., Lee, A.-K., Taki, M., Sim, M., Armstrong, B., Benke, G., Schattner, R., Hutter, H.-P., Krewski, D., Mohipp, C., Ritvo, P., ... Cardis, E. (2022). Wireless phone use in childhood and adolescence and neuroepithelial brain tumours: Results from the international MOBI-Kids study. *Environment International*, *160*, 107069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107069
- Chen, J., & Hoek, G. (2020). Long-term exposure to PM and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environment International*, 143, 105974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105974
- Cinel, C., Russo, R., Boldini, A., & Fox, E. (2008). Exposure to mobile phone electromagnetic fields and subjective symptoms: A double-blind study. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 70(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31816521f1
- Cohen, A. J., Brauer, M., Burnett, R., Anderson, H. R., Frostad, J., Estep, K., Balakrishnan, K., Brunekreef, B., Dandona, L., Dandona, R., Feigin, V., Freedman, G., Hubbell,

B., Jobling, A., Kan, H., Knibbs, L., Liu, Y., Martin, R., Morawska, L., ... Forouzanfar, M. H. (2017). Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: An analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. *Lancet (London, England), 389*(10082), Article 10082. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30505-6

- Cori, L., Donzelli, G., Gorini, F., Bianchi, F., & Curzio, O. (2020). Risk Perception of Air Pollution: A Systematic Review Focused on Particulate Matter Exposure. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(17), 6424. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176424
- D'Andrea, J. A., Ziriax, J. M., & Adair, E. R. (2007). Radio frequency electromagnetic fields: Mild hyperthermia and safety standards. In H. S. Sharma (Ed.), *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 162, pp. 107–135). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0079-6123(06)62007-4
- Dieudonné, M. (2019). Becoming electro-hypersensitive: A replication study. *Bioelectro-magnetics*, 40(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.22180
- Dieudonné, M. (2020). Electromagnetic hypersensitivity: A critical review of explanatory hypotheses. *Environmental Health*, *19*, 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00602-0
- Erwin, D. N. (1988). Mechanisms of biological effects of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields: An overview. Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 59(11 Pt 2), A21-31.
- Feychting, M., Schüz, J., Toledano, M. B., Vermeulen, R., Auvinen, A., Harbo Poulsen, A., Deltour, I., Smith, R. B., Heller, J., Kromhout, H., Huss, A., Johansen, C., Tettamanti, G., & Elliott, P. (2024). Mobile phone use and brain tumour risk— COSMOS, a prospective cohort study. *Environment International*, 185, 108552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2024.108552
- Friedman, D. I., & De Ver Dye, T. (2009). Migraine and the Environment. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain, 49*(6), 941–952. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1526-4610.2009.01443.x
- GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators. (2018). Global, regional, and national burden of migraine and tension-type headache, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *17*(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30322-3
- Henschenmacher, B., Bitsch, A., de las Heras Gala, T., Forman, H. J., Fragoulis, A., Ghezzi,
 P., Kellner, R., Koch, W., Kuhne, J., Sachno, D., Schmid, G., Tsaioun, K., Verbeek,
 J., & Wright, R. (2022). The effect of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMF) on biomarkers of oxidative stress *in vivo* and *in vitro*: A protocol for a systematic review. *Environment International*, *158*, 106932. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106932

- IARC Publications Website—IARC Monographs on the Identification of Carcinogenic Hazards to Humans. (2013). Retrieved 20 March 2024, from https://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Monographs-On-The-Identification-Of-Carcinogenic-Hazards-To-Humans
- International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP). (2020). Guidelines for Limiting Exposure to Electromagnetic Fields (100 kHz to 300 GHz). *Health Physics*, 118(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1097/HP.00000000001210
- INTERPHONE Study Group. (2010). Brain tumour risk in relation to mobile telephone use: Results of the INTERPHONE international case-control study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *39*(3), 675–694. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyq079
- Iyare, R. N., Volskiy, V., & Vandenbosch, G. A. E. (2021). Comparison of peak electromagnetic exposures from mobile phones operational in either data mode or voice mode. *Environmental Research*, 197, 110902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2021.110902
- Kamali, K., Taravati, A., Sayyadi, S., Gharib, F. zahra, & Maftoon, H. (2018). Evidence of oxidative stress after continuous exposure to Wi-Fi radiation in rat model. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(35), 35396–35403. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-018-3482-0
- Kleinbaum, D. G., Sullivan, K. M., & Barker, N. D. (2013). Epidemiologic Study Designs. In D. G. Kleinbaum, K. M. Sullivan, & N. D. Barker (Eds.), ActivEpi Companion Textbook: A supplement for use with the ActivEpi CD-ROM (pp. 37–66). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5428-1_3
- Kowall, B., Breckenkamp, J., Blettner, M., Schlehofer, B., Schüz, J., & Berg-Beckhoff, G. (2012). Determinants and stability over time of perception of health risks related to mobile phone base stations. *International Journal of Public Health*, 57(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-011-0310-4
- Leikauf, G. D., Kim, S.-H., & Jang, A.-S. (2020). Mechanisms of ultrafine particle-induced respiratory health effects. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, 52(3), 329– 337. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-0394-0
- Leszczynski, D. (2021). Review of the scientific evidence on the individual sensitivity to electromagnetic fields (EHS). *Reviews on Environmental Health*. https://doi. org/10.1515/reveh-2021-0038
- Maitre, L., Guimbaud, J.-B., Warembourg, C., Güil-Oumrait, N., Petrone, P. M., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Vrijheid, M., Basagaña, X., & Gonzalez, J. R. (2022). State-ofthe-art methods for exposure-health studies: Results from the exposome data challenge event. *Environment International*, 168, 107422. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107422
- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Smid, T., Kromhout, H., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Timmermans, D. R. M. (2018). Longitudinal associations between risk appraisal of base sta-

tions for mobile phones, radio or television and non-specific symptoms. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *112*, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.07.008

- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Timmermans, D. R. M., Kromhout, H., Reedijk, M., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Smid, T. (2017). Modeled and Perceived Exposure to Radiofrequency Electromagnetic Fields From Mobile-Phone Base Stations and the Development of Symptoms Over Time in a General Population Cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 186(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx041
- Miller, M. R. (2020). Oxidative stress and the cardiovascular effects of air pollution. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, *151*, 69–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.01.004
- Molarius, A., Tegelberg, A., & Ohrvik, J. (2008). Socio-economic factors, lifestyle, and headache disorders—A population-based study in Sweden. *Headache*, *48*(10), 1426–1437. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4610.2008.01178.x
- Morgenstern, H., & Thomas, D. (1993). Principles of study design in environmental epidemiology. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *101 Suppl 4*(Suppl 4), 23–38. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.93101s423
- Nowinski, C. J., Bureau, S. C., Buckland, M. E., Curtis, M. A., Daneshvar, D. H., Faull, R. L. M., Grinberg, L. T., Hill-Yardin, E. L., Murray, H. C., Pearce, A. J., Suter, C. M., White, A. J., Finkel, A. M., & Cantu, R. C. (2022). Applying the Bradford Hill Criteria for Causation to Repetitive Head Impacts and Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2022.938163
- Oftedal, G., Straume, A., Johnsson, A., & Stovner, L. J. (2007). Mobile phone headache: A double blind, sham-controlled provocation study. *Cephalalgia: An International Journal of Headache, 27*(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01336.x
- Ohanyan, H., Portengen, L., Huss, A., Traini, E., Beulens, J. W. J., Hoek, G., Lakerveld, J., & Vermeulen, R. (2022). Machine learning approaches to characterize the obesogenic urban exposome. *Environment International*, *158*, 107015. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107015
- Pekkanen, J., & Pearce, N. (2001). Environmental Epidemiology: Challenges and Opportunities. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 109(1), 1–5. https://doi. org/10.2307/3434913
- Rasmussen, B. K., Jensen, R., Schroll, M., & Olesen, J. (1991). Epidemiology of headache in a general population—A prevalence study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 44(11), 1147–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(91)90147-2
- Reedijk, M., Lenters, V., Slottje, P., Pijpe, A., Peeters, P. H., Korevaar, J. C., Bueno-de-Mesquita, B., Verschuren, W. M. M., Verheij, R. A., Pieterson, I., van Leeuwen, F. E., Rookus, M. A., Kromhout, H., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2018). Cohort profile:

LIFEWORK, a prospective cohort study on occupational and environmental risk factors and health in the Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, *8*(2), Article 2. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018504

- Robbins, M., & Lipton, R. (2010). The Epidemiology of Primary Headache Disorders. Seminars in Neurology, 30(02), 107–119. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1249220
- Röösli, M., Mohler, E., & Frei, P. (2010). Sense and sensibility in the context of radiofrequency electromagnetic field exposure. *Comptes Rendus Physique*, *11*(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crhy.2010.10.007
- Röösli, M., Moser, M., Baldinini, Y., Meier, M., & Braun-Fahrländer, C. (2004). Symptoms of ill health ascribed to electromagnetic field exposure – a questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 207(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4639-00269
- Schoeni, A., Roser, K., & Röösli, M. (2017). Symptoms and the use of wireless communication devices: A prospective cohort study in Swiss adolescents. *Environmental Research*, 154, 275–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.01.004
- Schüz, J., Elliott, P., Auvinen, A., Kromhout, H., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Olsen, J. H., Hillert, L., Feychting, M., Fremling, K., Toledano, M., Heinävaara, S., Slottje, P., Vermeulen, R., & Ahlbom, A. (2011). An international prospective cohort study of mobile phone users and health (Cosmos): Design considerations and enrolment. *Cancer Epidemiology*, *35*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. canep.2010.08.001
- Schüz, J., Waldemar, G., Olsen, J. H., & Johansen, C. (2009). Risks for central nervous system diseases among mobile phone subscribers: A Danish retrospective cohort study. *PloS One*, 4(2), e4389. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004389
- Slottje, P., Yzermans, C. J., Korevaar, J. C., Hooiveld, M., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2014). The population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Prospective Cohort Study (AMIGO) in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 4(11), Article 11. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005858
- Stein, Y., & Udasin, I. G. (2020). Electromagnetic hypersensitivity (EHS, microwave syndrome) – Review of mechanisms. *Environmental Research*, 186, 109445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109445
- Steiner, T. J. & World Headache Alliance. (2004). Lifting the burden: The global campaign against headache. *The Lancet. Neurology*, 3(4), 204–205. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00703-3
- Svensson, D. A. (2004). Etiology of primary headaches: The importance of genes and environment. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 4(3), 415–424. https://doi. org/10.1586/14737175.4.3.415
- Swerdlow, A. J., Feychting, M., Green, A. C., Kheifets, L., & Savitz, D. A. (2011). Mobile Phones, Brain Tumors, and the Interphone Study: Where Are We Now? *Envi*-

ronmental Health Perspectives, 119(11), 1534–1538. https://doi.org/10.1289/ ehp.1103693

- The Economic Consequences of Outdoor Air Pollution | en | OECD. (2016). https:// www.oecd.org/env/the-economic-consequences-of-outdoor-air-pollution-9789264257474-en.htm
- Tkalec, M., Malarić, K., & Pevalek-Kozlina, B. (2007). Exposure to radiofrequency radiation induces oxidative stress in duckweed Lemna minor L. Science of The Total Environment, 388(1), 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.07.052
- Ulrich, V., Gervil, M., & Olesen, J. (2004). The relative influence of environment and genes in episodic tension-type headache. *Neurology*, *62*(11), 2065–2069. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000129498.50793.8a
- van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Huss, A., Thielens, A., Wiart, J., Joseph, W., Röösli, M., Foerster, M., Massardier-Pilonchery, A., Capstick, M., Cardis, E., & Vermeulen, R. (2021).
 Radio-frequency electromagnetic field exposure and contribution of sources in the general population: An organ-specific integrative exposure assessment. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, *31*(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00287-8
- Verbeek, J., Oftedal, G., Feychting, M., van Rongen, E., Rosaria Scarfi, M., Mann, S., Wong, R., & van Deventer, E. (2021). Prioritizing health outcomes when assessing the effects of exposure to radiofrequency electromagnetic fields: A survey among experts. *Environment International*, *146*, 106300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2020.106300
- Vermeulen, R., Schymanski, E. L., Barabási, A.-L., & Miller, G. W. (2020). The exposome and health: Where chemistry meets biology. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 367(6476), 392–396. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay3164
- Vineis, P., Robinson, O., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Dehghan, A., Mudway, I., & Dagnino, S. (2020). What is new in the exposome? *Environment International*, 143, 105887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105887
- Wager, S., & Athey, S. (2018). Estimation and Inference of Heterogeneous Treatment Effects using Random Forests. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 113(523), 1228–1242. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.2017.1319839
- Williams, J. R., & Crespi, C. M. (2020). Causal inference for multiple continuous exposures via the multivariate generalized propensity score. arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.13767.
- Wilson, A., Zigler, C. M., Patel, C. J., & Dominici, F. (2018). Model-averaged confounder adjustment for estimating multivariate exposure effects with linear regression. *Biometrics*, 74(3), 1034–1044. https://doi.org/10.1111/biom.12860



Chapter 2: Headache in the international Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom

Authors: Eugenio Traini^{1#}, Rachel B Smith^{2,3,4#}, Roel Vermeulen¹, Hans Kromhout¹, Joachim Schüz⁵, Maria Feychting⁶, Anssi Auvinen^{7,8}, Aslak Harbo Poulsen⁹, Isabelle Deltour⁵, David C Muller², Joël Heller², Giorgio Tettamanti⁶, Paul Elliott^{2,3}, Anke Huss^{1*}, Mireille B Toledano^{2,3,4*}

¹Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht, the Netherlands ²MRC Centre for Environment and Health, Imperial College London, School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, London, UK

³National Institute for Health and Care Research Health Protection Research Unit in Chemical and Radiation Threats and Hazards, Imperial College London, School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, London, UK

⁴Mohn Centre for Children's Health and Wellbeing, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, UK

⁵International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC/WHO), Environment and Lifestyle Epidemiology Branch, Lyon, France

⁶Karolinska Institutet, Institute of Environmental Medicine, Stockholm, Sweden

⁷STUK – Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Environmental Radiation Surveillance, Helsinki, Finland

⁸Tampere University, Faculty of Social Sciences, Tampere, Finland ⁹Danish Cancer Society Research Centre, Copenhagen, Denmark

*.# these two authors contributed equally

Published in: Environmental Research, 2024, 25:248:118290.

Abstract

Headache is a common condition with a substantial burden of disease worldwide. Concerns have been raised over the potential impact of long-term mobile phone use on headache due to radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMFs). We explored prospectively the association between mobile phone use at baseline (2009-2012) and headache at follow-up (2015-2018) by analysing pooled data consisting of the Dutch and UK cohorts of the Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) (N=78,437). Frequency of headache, migraine, and information on mobile phone use, including use of hands-free devices and frequency of texting, were self-reported. We collected objective operator data to obtain regression calibrated estimates of voice call duration. In the model mutually adjusted for call-time and text messaging, participants in the high category of call-time showed an adjusted odds ratio (OR) of 1.04 (95% CI: 0.94–1.15), with no clear trend of reporting headache with increasing call-time. However, we found an increased risk of weekly headache (OR=1.40, 95% CI: 1.25–1.56) in the high category of text messaging, with a clear increase in reporting headache with increasing texting. Due to the negligible exposure to RF-EMFs from texting, our results suggest that mechanisms other than RF-EMFs are responsible for the increased risk of headache that we found among mobile phone users.

Introduction

Over the past few decades, wireless technology has rapidly proliferated throughout society, revolutionising how we interact worldwide. As a result, frequency and duration of use of wireless devices have increased over time, while the intensity of exposure to radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMFs) has seen a reduction following the progression and evolution of new network generations (Iyare et al., 2021). With the expanding uptake of wireless devices and the advancements in mobile technologies, concerns regarding the potential health consequences of long-term exposure to RF-EMFs have been raised. Several experimental and epidemiological cross-sectional and case-control studies have explored the possible link between RF-EMF exposure and symptoms such as headache and migraine. Results showed no consistent evidence of adverse health effects at the exposure levels typically encountered in the population (Augner et al., 2012; Cerutti et al., 2016; Cinel et al., 2008; Durusoy et al., 2017; Oftedal et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2017). However, results from cohort studies are still scarce.

The Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) is a large prospective cohort study of mobile phone users comprising more than 300,000 adults who will be followed up for over 25 years. COSMOS was established in six European countries (Denmark, Finland, France, Sweden, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom (UK)) to prospectively investigate possible health effects associated with long-term use of mobile phones and other wireless technologies (Schüz et al., 2011). Several health outcomes are being investigated, including headache and migraine. These represent important causes of disability worldwide with a high public health relevance (GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators, 2018), and the possible association with RF-EMF exposure among mobile phone users has yet to be clarified.

A study conducted in Sweden and Finland as part of COSMOS found limited evidence for an association between weekly headache and the highest level of mobile phone use and no clear trend with increasing call-time (Auvinen et al., 2019). The association of headache with call-time appeared stronger for calls via the Universal Mobile Telecommunication System (UMTS) (3G) network than via the older Global System for Mobile (GSM) (2G) telecommunications technology, despite the latter involving higher RF-EMF exposure levels to the head (van Wel et al., 2021).

In this study, we assessed the relationship between mobile phone use at baseline and headache at follow-up by exploring two mobile phone use activities: voice calling and texting. Calling, depending on the technology and other usage characteristics, such as the position of the device relative to the body and the use of hands-free devices, exposes the head to different levels of RF-EMFs. Texting produces negligible RF-EMF exposure. Therefore, any association is hypothesized to have other underlying mechanisms than RF-EMF exposure.

Methods

Study participants

In this prospective study, we pooled data from the Dutch and UK cohorts of COSMOS comprising more than 180,000 participants who completed the baseline questionnaire providing information on mobile phone use, health, environmental exposures, lifestyle, and demographics.

In the Netherlands, 88,466 participants were enrolled in three cohort studies between 2011 and 2012, constituting the LIFEWORK cohort, representing the Dutch contribution to COSMOS. LIFEWORK was designed as a federated study integrating the Nightingale Study, the Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO), and the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition in the Netherlands (EPIC-NL). In LIFEWORK, a follow-up questionnaire was completed between 2015 and 2017 by 53,697 participants. Compared to the general adult population in the Netherlands, there is a higher proportion of women (89.2%) and the average age is older (around 50 years old). The rationale, study design, and participant recruitment in LIFEWORK were discussed in detail elsewhere (Beulens et al., 2010; Pijpe et al., 2014; Reedijk et al., 2018; Slottje et al., 2014).

In the UK, 99,424 participants were recruited from across the country between 2009 and 2012 and filled in the baseline questionnaire. Recruitment was from mobile phone subscriber lists (65%) and the UK edited electoral register (35%). A follow-up questionnaire was completed by 45,308 UK participants between 2015 and 2018. UK COSMOS participants seem to enjoy better health than the general adult population in the UK, as evidenced by a lower current smoking rate and lower prevalence of obesity. The rationale, study design, and participant recruitment of UK COSMOS were discussed in detail elsewhere (Toledano et al., 2017).

After exclusions, the pooled cohort of Dutch and UK participants with baseline and follow-up data consisted of 78,437 individuals (Figure 1).

Exposure assessment

In this study, the exposure information was collected prospectively in relation to the health outcome being analysed. Participants self-reported information on their mobile phone use for the 3 months before baseline, via questionnaire. This included weekly call-time, the proportion of use with hands-free devices, frequency of text messages, use of multiple mobile phones, and whether other people used the participants' mobile phone(s). Call-time on cordless phones was also reported.

In addition to self-reported mobile phone use, outgoing and incoming voice call durations were obtained during the same 3-month period at baseline from network operators for participants (with consent) who had a subscription under their own name. The proportion of participants for whom complete data from network operators at baseline was available was 3% (the Netherlands) and 58% (the UK). Information on 2G and 3G networks, technologies that were in use at the time of this study, was not available for these two cohorts.

Self-reported duration of voice calling on a mobile phone is considered an error-prone proxy for mobile phone use (Aydin et al., 2011; Berg et al., 2005; Heinävaara et al., 2011; Vrijheid et al., 2009). We leveraged self-reported and objective operator-recorded mobile phone use data available in the subset of participants with complete network operator data to deal with measurement error in self-reported mobile phone data and improve the estimation of exposure-outcome relationships in COSMOS. Country-specific regression-calibrated estimates based on operator data for both incoming and outgoing mobile phone calls (the average operator-recorded value per category per country) were applied to self-reported weekly mobile phone call-time categories, for all participants (Reedijk et al., 2023).

We adjusted call-time according to the proportion of hands-free use the participant reported (response options "hardly ever", "less than half of the time", "about half of the time", "more than half of the time", "always or nearly always"), reducing voice call duration by 5%, 10%, 25%, 35%, and 50%, respectively, for each hands-free use category (Goedhart et al., 2015).

To assess the potential effects of RF-EMF exposure on headache accounting for co-exposure from multiple sources, we estimated the RF-EMF dose to the brain using an organ-specific integrated exposure model (IEM). The IEM uses specific absorption rate transfer algorithms to provide RF-EMF weekly dose estimates (mJ/kg/week) using source-specific attributes (e.g. output power, distance), personal characteristics (e.g. height and weight) and usage patterns. Exposure input data for the IEM included calltime on mobile phones and cordless phones as these were identified as primary contributors to the brain dose (van Wel et al., 2021).

Finally, call-time and RF-EMF dose exposure metrics were categorised into four exposure categories ("very low", "low", "medium", and "high") based on the pooled exposure distribution, with cut-offs aligned as close as possible to predefined percentiles ("lowest 30%", "30th–69th percentile", "70th–89th percentile", "90th–100th percentile") (Supplementary Table 1). "Low" was selected as the referent exposure category in regression models as it had the highest proportion of both Dutch and UK participants.

The number of text messages sent on a mobile phone at baseline was used as a proxy for use with negligible RF-EMF exposure. It was categorised into three exposure categories ("low", "medium", and "high") corresponding to the response options "never/less than 1 text message per week/1–6 text messages per week", "1–9 text messages per day", "10–29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day". For clarity, text messages here refer to Short Message Service (SMS) via the mobile cellular network, and does not include instant messaging via the internet. An overview of the exposure metrics used in

this study is provided in Supplementary Table 2.

Headaches and migraine

Headaches were self-reported at baseline and follow-up. The primary outcome was weekly headache at follow-up. The secondary outcomes were severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up. Headaches were defined according to the question "How often do you get headache at the moment?", with response categories of "almost every day", "5 or 6 days a week", "3-4 days a week", "once or twice a week" "1-2 days per month", and "less often". The Headache Impact Test (HIT-6) score with a cut-off of 56 points defined severe weekly headache. The HIT-6 is a tool used to measure the impact headaches have on one's ability to function in various aspects of daily life, including work, school, home, and social contexts. The score, ranging from 36 to 78 points, provides a measure of the degree to which headaches affect daily life and functioning, with higher scores indicating a more significant impact on the participant's overall life (Kosinski et al., 2003). Migraine diagnosis at follow-up was defined based on the question "Have you ever been diagnosed by a medical doctor with migraine?". To avoid potential reverse causation, we restricted all analyses to participants who did not report weekly or more frequent headaches at baseline (N=66,858) and likewise for migraine diagnosis (N=53,576) (Auvinen et al., 2019).

Covariates

We identified the following potential confounders of the associations between mobile phone use and headaches a priori based on previous studies (Auvinen et al., 2019; Farashi et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2017): sex, age group (18-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60+), country (the Netherlands, the UK), highest level of education attained (elementary, secondary and higher), body mass index (BMI) group (normal or underweight, overweight or obese), general health indicator (good, poor), sleep disturbance index, painkiller use (yes, no), depression diagnosis (yes, no), high blood pressure diagnosis (yes, no), smoking status (never, former, current), alcohol consumption (never, former, current). Models were adjusted for these factors, as measured at baseline, a priori.

Statistical analysis

Missing values were imputed on covariates only through multivariate imputation by chained equations (complete-case data set including 58,229 participants), performed separately for each cohort. All covariates (except country), exposures, and study outcomes were used as predictors, and Rubin's rule was used to combine the regression parameters over 30 imputed data sets (Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011; White et al., 2011).

Descriptive statistics of the study population were calculated overall, by country, and by exposure level. Correlation between exposure metrics was evaluated using Spearman's

rank correlation coefficients.

To evaluate the exposure-outcome associations, we estimated multivariable logistic regression models. We first assessed call-time and texting exposures separately, and then mutually adjusted for both exposures in one model. Weekly minutes of call-time at baseline (country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) was the primary exposure metric.

We calculated a p-value for linear trend across exposure categories as an ordered factor, to test for dose-response relationships between exposure and outcome.

We performed stratified analyses for sex, age group, and country. To examine interactions between call-time and texting and potential modifiers (sex, age group, and country) on the risk of weekly headache, we tested for significance of interaction terms added to the models using a likelihood ratio test.

As secondary analyses, we analysed self-reported mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (SR-hfa), operator-recorded call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (OP-hfa), and the RF-EMF estimated dose to the brain with the IEM (IEM_{RC-hfa DECT}) as exposure metrics at baseline, respectively.

We performed the following sensitivity analyses: first, we used country-specific regression calibrated call-time estimates without adjustment for hands-free use (RC) as the exposure metric. Second, we excluded painkiller use as a model covariate, in case use results from headaches. Third, we lowered the cut-off for the "high" exposure category to approximate the 80th percentile of the pooled exposure distribution - for comparison with the main analyses in which the top 10th percentile was used to define highly exposed participants. Fourth, we replicated the analyses by categorising the RC-hfa exposure into quartiles for comparison with the main findings. Last, we performed a complete-case analysis to compare with results obtained on imputed datasets.

All analyses were performed using R Statistical Software (v4.2.3; R Core Team 2023) (*R Core Team (2023). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL Https://Www.R-Project.Org/.*, n.d.). Computing code for all analyses presented is available on request.

Results

Baseline characteristics of the study population by categories of call-time and texting are presented in Table 1 and Supplementary Table 3 (baseline characteristics by country in Supplementary Tables 4-7), respectively. No relevant differences in the distribution of baseline characteristics of the study participants were observed when including those who did not complete a follow-up questionnaire (Supplementary Tables 8-9). There was a greater proportion of women than men across all levels of exposures, as almost 90% of the Dutch cohort were women. Individuals in the high call-time (RC-hfa) category were all UK participants. The baseline distribution of RC-hfa was skewed towards low values, with Dutch participants on average reporting less call-time than the UK participants (Fig-

ure 2).

Call-time exposure metrics were strongly correlated with the RF-EMF estimated dose (Spearman's correlation coefficient ρ : 0.63 $\leq \rho \leq$ 0.99). We observed weak to moderate correlations between texting and call-time metrics and RF-EMF estimated dose (Spearman's correlation coefficient ρ : 0.24 $\leq \rho \leq$ 0.54) (Figure 3).

Of 66,858 participants who were free of weekly headache at baseline and included in analysis of call-time and texting, 5,452 (8.2%) reported weekly headache at follow-up, and 382 (0.6%) reported daily headache. 1,660 (2.5%) individuals were classified as having severe weekly headache out of 66,234 with complete information on the HIT-6 score at follow-up. Of 53,576 participants free of migraine at baseline, 1,812 (3.4%) reported migraine at follow-up.

In adjusted single exposure models, we found an increased risk of weekly headache at follow-up (OR=1.10, 95% CI: 1.01-1.22) in the high category of regression calibrated call-time at baseline (RC-hfa), with a clear increase of reporting headache with increasing call-time (P trend=0.002) (Table 2).

Similarly, we found an increased risk in weekly headache at follow-up (OR=1.42, 95% CI: 1.28–1.58) in the high category of texting, also with a clear trend of increasing risk with increasing texting (P trend<0.001) (Table 3).

Results from two-exposure models mutually adjusting for both call-time and texting at baseline, showed substantially lower risk estimates for weekly headache in the high call-time (RC-hfa) category (OR=1.04, 95% CI: 0.94–1.15), and no evidence of a trend (P trend=0.292) (Table 2). Associations with texting were robust to adjustment for call-time: we observed an increased risk of weekly headache in the high category of texting (OR=1.40, 95% CI: 1.25–1.56) and a trend of increasing risk with increasing texting frequency (P trend<0.001), in line with results from the single-exposure model (Table 3).

Regarding secondary health outcomes, we found consistent patterns of results for severe weekly headache and migraine at follow-up in terms of increased risk estimates and significant trends. Increasing risk of daily headache was associated with increasing texting (P trend<0.001) but not with increasing call-time (P trend=0.448) (Tables 2–3).

We did not detect interactions between call-time and texting, respectively, and potential modifiers (sex, age group, and country) on the risk of weekly headache, and results showed that the exposure-response associations were remarkably consistent across sex, age groups and countries, particularly with regard to texting (Supplementary Tables 10–11).

Secondary analyses, including self-reported mobile phone call-time and operator-recorded call-time as exposure metrics in the separate regression models produced compatible results with the main analysis of regression calibrated call-time (Supplementary Tables 12–15). Results using the RF-EMF estimated brain dose as exposure metric in the models were consistent with those using regression calibrated call-time (Supplementary Tables 16–17). The models using the hands-free unadjusted regression calibrated call-time exposure metric showed no further increase in risk among users compared to the main analyses (Supplementary Tables 18-19). Results from sensitivity analyses were compatible with the main findings (Supplementary Tables 20–29).

Discussion

In this large international prospective cohort of mobile phone users in the Netherlands and the UK, mobile phone use for calling and texting at baseline was associated with headaches at follow-up. Mutually adjusting for both call-time and texting considerably attenuated risk estimates for call-time, while associations with texting were still strong and robust to adjustment, with a clear exposure-outcome gradient.

Headache has been linked to excessive mobile phone use, but the mechanism by which mobile phone use may cause symptoms is not properly understood (Cerutti et al., 2016; Frey, 1998; Hocking, 1998; Oftedal et al., 2000; Schoeni et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2017). Previous research in adolescents has suggested that other exposures related to mobile phone use, but not exposure to RF-EMFs, should be considered the causal factor for various symptoms, as the strongest associations were found with activities that cause minimal RF-EMF exposure to the head, such as texting or gaming (Schoeni et al., 2017). Other studies have indicated that stress or unfavourable usage, such as late-night use, may be associated with an increase in reported health symptoms, such as headache (Röösli, 2008; Szyjkowska et al., 2014; Thomée et al., 2011). It is therefore crucial to distinguish between using a mobile phone for calling and other activities that expose the brain to RF-EMFs at lower levels, such as Internet browsing (Cabré-Riera et al., 2022a; SSM's Scientific Council on Electromagnetic Fields, 2020).

Our study attempted to disentangle the exposure-outcome gradient by considering calltime as a proxy for RF-EMF exposure and texting as a proxy for usage with negligible RF-EMF exposure to the brain (Wall et al., 2019). This study's mobile phone usage data was gathered between 2009 and 2012. During those years, texting was the most popular activity unrelated to RF-EMF exposure.

In both scenarios, we found an increased risk of headache in the high exposure category of mobile phone use with a positive exposure-outcome gradient confirmed by the test for trend. The attenuated risk estimates for call-time in the mutually adjusted model argue against an effect of exposure to RF-EMFs due to the negligible exposure attributed to texting. This conclusion is also supported by comparing call-time analyses with and without hands-free adjustment, where no risk reduction was found among users for the adjusted exposure metrics.

In this study, the distribution of the exposure, specifically regarding call-time, differed between Dutch and UK participants. Mobile phone usage behaviour across countries cannot be assumed to be identical due to various factors such as cultural, economic, technological, and market dynamics (Böhm, 2015). To assess the consistency of our find-

ings, we showed that defining the top exposure category for call-time based on the 80th percentile cut-off, thereby ensuring the inclusion of Dutch participants in the "high" exposure category, yielded results consistent with those obtained using the 90th percentile as a cut-off. These findings suggested that the association we found between call-time and headache was driven not only by UK but also Dutch participants. Of note, all analyses were adjusted for country of residence.

Our study has several strengths. This is the largest prospective study to explore the relationship between mobile phone use and headache using a prospective study design and several exposure metrics, including the regression calibrated estimates where operator-recorded and self-reported call-time were combined to improve the estimation of the exposure by reducing recall bias resulting in more informative exposure-outcome relations (Reedijk et al., 2023).

Furthermore, the RF-EMF estimated dose to the participant's brain calculated with the IEM provided detailed estimates of exposure levels by considering multiple sources of exposure and the intensity of RF-EMFs associated with specific functions (such as the specific absorption rate) (van Wel et al., 2021).

An accurate exposure assessment of RF-EMFs from the use of mobile phones has proved difficult as the dose of exposure depends on several factors, which include source-specific attributes (output power), characteristics of the subject (age, sex, body mass), and the way devices are used (position relative to the body, type of use, duration of use) (Lönn et al., 2004; van Wel et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the quantity and quality of data collected in COSMOS allowed us to characterise mobile phone use for calling and texting in detail. Given the speed at which technology is developing and the need to assess RF-EMF exposure more thoroughly, we used the IEM to estimate the integrative RF-EMF dose to the brain of participants. The IEM represents the most complete RF-EMF dose estimation tool to date. It can estimate RF-EMF dose to different anatomical sites, including the brain as target organ for headache (Cabré-Riera et al., 2022b; van Wel et al., 2021).

Our study also has limitations. First, we did not have information about "true" RF-EMF exposure. Exposure to RF-EMFs emitted by wireless devices is difficult to quantify, particularly in large populations and over extended periods, as it depends on different factors, such as reception quality or other factors influencing signal strength. In our study, we calculated several exposure metrics as proxies for RF-EMF exposure, which allowed us to estimate the average individual RF-EMF exposure in the population. Additionally, information on other aspects of usage, such as screen time, blue light exposure or unfavourable use at night, may be helpful to include in future studies.

For highly transient and acute symptoms such as headache, using the peak of RF-EMF exposure might be theoretically preferable over the weekly exposure assessed in our study. However, adopting this approach would require substantially different exposure assessment methods that are impractical for large cohort studies, such as asking partici-
pants to regularly fill in a detailed usage diary. Given the study design and methodology used to assess RF-EMF exposure in COSMOS, the analysis of the association between RF-EMF peak exposure and reporting of headache symptoms was precluded. In light of the transient nature of headaches, future research may explore the potential effect of peak RF-EMF exposure on symptom onset more thoroughly.

The composition of the Dutch cohort is not representative of the adult population of the Netherlands with respect to sex and age. In fact, the majority of participants in LIFE-WORK were over the age of 50 years and the Nightingale study source population comprised women who were registered as having completed training to be a nurse in the nationwide register for healthcare professionals in the Netherlands. Furthermore, the EPIC study source population was based on women participating in a regional breast cancer screening program (Reedijk et al., 2018). We, a priori, had no indications that the effects of RF-EMFs on the occurrence of headaches would be different between men and women, or across age groups. In any case, these characteristics in the study population are unlikely to have hampered the ability to detect and estimate exposure–outcome associations, given the adequate control of confounding variables that were included in our analyses.

Finally, participants reported headache at baseline and follow-up, and no information was available in between. Therefore, these evaluations might not accurately reflect symptoms between these two time points, particularly for a transient condition such as headache. However, secondary analyses on migraine diagnosis, which should be less likely to change over time, were conducted, and results were consistent with those on headaches.

According to the Global Burden of Disease study, headaches are among the most common nervous system disorders, with migraine being the second among the world's causes of disability (Steiner et al., 2020; Stovner et al., 2022). These conditions are identified as a major public health concern, given the deleterious impact on the personal pain burden, the resulting impairment in the quality of life of those affected, and the related societal costs (Stovner et al., 2006).

Our results showed that the associations with headache and migraine found with calltime were largely explained by texting, and this suggests that the mechanism may be related to lifestyle, other exposures, or behavioural factors associated with the usage of mobile devices. Given the ubiquity of mobile phone use worldwide, more research is warranted to understand the exact underlying mechanism generating headaches and migraines among mobile phone users to develop options for prevention. Future research should also encompass the rapid technological advances and changes in mobile phone usage habits among the population and the associated possible health consequences.

Conclusions

In summary, we found that the use of mobile phones, particularly texting, is associat-

ed with headaches and migraines, and the associations with call-time were largely explained by texting. As the associations are driven more by text messaging than call-time, they do not appear to be explained by RF-EMF exposure from the mobile device but are likely to reflect lifestyle, other exposures, or behavioural factors associated with mobile phone use.

References

- Augner, C., Gnambs, T., Winker, R., & Barth, A. (2012). Acute effects of electromagnetic fields emitted by GSM mobile phones on subjective well-being and physiological reactions: A meta-analysis. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 424, 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.02.034
- Auvinen, A., Feychting, M., Ahlbom, A., Hillert, L., Elliott, P., Schüz, J., Kromhout, H., Toledano, M. B., Johansen, C., Poulsen, A. H., Vermeulen, R., Heinävaara, S., Kojo, K., Tettamanti, G., & COSMOS Study Group. (2019). Headache, tinnitus and hearing loss in the international Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) in Sweden and Finland. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *48*(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz127
- Aydin, D., Feychting, M., Schüz, J., Andersen, T. V., Poulsen, A. H., Prochazka, M., Klaeboe, L., Kuehni, C. E., Tynes, T., & Röösli, M. (2011). Impact of random and systematic recall errors and selection bias in case—Control studies on mobile phone use and brain tumors in adolescents (CEFALO study). *Bioelectromagnetics*, 32(5), 396–407. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.20651
- Berg, G., Schüz, J., Samkange-Zeeb, F., & Blettner, M. (2005). Assessment of radiofrequency exposure from cellular telephone daily use in an epidemiological study: German Validation study of the international case-control study of cancers of the brain--INTERPHONE-Study. *Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology*, 15(3), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jea.7500390
- Beulens, J. W. J., Monninkhof, E. M., Verschuren, W. M. M., van der Schouw, Y. T., Smit, J., Ocke, M. C., Jansen, E. H. J. M., van Dieren, S., Grobbee, D. E., Peeters, P. H. M., & Bueno-de-Mesquita, H. B. (2010). Cohort profile: The EPIC-NL study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *39*(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyp217
- Böhm, S. (2015). An Analysis on Country-specific Characteristics Influencing Smartphone Usage. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2208.9367
- Buuren, S. van, & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. Journal of Statistical Software, 45, 1–67. https://doi. org/10.18637/jss.v045.i03
- Cabré-Riera, A., van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Koopman-Verhoeff, M. E., Imaz, L., Ibarluzea, J., Huss, A., Wiart, J., Vermeulen, R., Joseph, W., Capstick, M., Vrijheid, M., Cardis, E., Röösli, M., Eeftens, M., Thielens, A., Tiemeier, H., & Guxens, M. (2022a). Estimated all-day and evening whole-brain radiofrequency electromagnetic fields doses, and sleep in preadolescents. *Environmental Research, 204*(Pt C), Article Pt C. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112291
- Cabré-Riera, A., van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Koopman-Verhoeff, M. E., Imaz, L., Ibarluzea, J., Huss, A., Wiart, J., Vermeulen, R., Joseph, W., Capstick, M., Vrijheid, M., Cardis,

E., Röösli, M., Eeftens, M., Thielens, A., Tiemeier, H., & Guxens, M. (2022b). Estimated all-day and evening whole-brain radiofrequency electromagnetic fields doses, and sleep in preadolescents. *Environmental Research*, *204*(Pt C), 112291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112291

- Cerutti, R., Presaghi, F., Spensieri, V., Valastro, C., & Guidetti, V. (2016). The Potential Impact of Internet and Mobile Use on Headache and Other Somatic Symptoms in Adolescence. A Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study. *Headache*, 56(7), 1161–1170. https://doi.org/10.1111/head.12840
- Cinel, C., Russo, R., Boldini, A., & Fox, E. (2008). Exposure to mobile phone electromagnetic fields and subjective symptoms: A double-blind study. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *70*(3), 345–348. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31816521f1
- Durusoy, R., Hassoy, H., Özkurt, A., & Karababa, A. O. (2017). Mobile phone use, school electromagnetic field levels and related symptoms: A cross-sectional survey among 2150 high school students in Izmir. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 16(1), 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0257-x
- Farashi, S., Bashirian, S., Khazaei, S., Khazaei, M., & Farhadinasab, A. (2022). Mobile phone electromagnetic radiation and the risk of headache: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 95(7), 1587–1601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-022-01835-x
- Frey, A. H. (1998). Headaches from cellular telephones: Are they real and what are the implications? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 106(3), 101–103. https:// doi.org/10.1289/ehp.98106101
- GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators. (2018). Global, regional, and national burden of migraine and tension-type headache, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *17*(11), 954–976. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30322-3
- Goedhart, G., Kromhout, H., Wiart, J., & Vermeulen, R. (2015). Validating self-reported mobile phone use in adults using a newly developed smartphone application. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 72(11), 812–818. https://doi. org/10.1136/oemed-2015-102808
- Heinävaara, S., Tokola, K., Kurttio, P., & Auvinen, A. (2011). Validation of exposure assessment and assessment of recruitment methods for a prospective cohort study of mobile phone users (COSMOS) in Finland: A pilot study. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source, 10,* 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-10-14
- Hocking, B. (1998). Preliminary report: Symptoms associated with mobile phone use. Occupational Medicine (Oxford, England), 48(6), 357–360. https://doi. org/10.1093/occmed/48.6.357
- Iyare, R. N., Volskiy, V., & Vandenbosch, G. A. E. (2021). Comparison of peak electro-

magnetic exposures from mobile phones operational in either data mode or voice mode. *Environmental Research*, *197*, 110902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2021.110902

- Kosinski, M., Bayliss, M. S., Bjorner, J. B., Ware, J. E., Garber, W. H., Batenhorst, A., Cady, R., Dahlöf, C. G. H., Dowson, A., & Tepper, S. (2003). A six-item short-form survey for measuring headache impact: The HIT-6. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, *12*(8), 963–974. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026119331193
- Lönn, S., Forssén, U., Vecchia, P., Ahlbom, A., & Feychting, M. (2004). Output power levels from mobile phones in different geographical areas; implications for exposure assessment. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *61*(9), 769–772. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2003.012567
- Oftedal, G., Straume, A., Johnsson, A., & Stovner, L. J. (2007). Mobile phone headache: A double blind, sham-controlled provocation study. *Cephalalgia: An International Journal of Headache, 27*(5), 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01336.x
- Oftedal, G., Wilén, J., Sandström, M., & Mild, K. H. (2000). Symptoms experienced in connection with mobile phone use. *Occupational Medicine (Oxford, England)*, 50(4), 237–245. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/50.4.237
- Pijpe, A., Slottje, P., van Pelt, C., Stehmann, F., Kromhout, H., van Leeuwen, F. E., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Rookus, M. A. (2014). The Nightingale study: Rationale, study design and baseline characteristics of a prospective cohort study on shift work and breast cancer risk among nurses. *BMC Cancer*, 14, 47. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-47
- R Core Team (2023). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project. org/. (n.d.). [Computer software].
- Reedijk, M., Lenters, V., Slottje, P., Pijpe, A., Peeters, P. H., Korevaar, J. C., Bueno-de-Mesquita, B., Verschuren, W. M. M., Verheij, R. A., Pieterson, I., van Leeuwen, F. E., Rookus, M. A., Kromhout, H., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2018). Cohort profile: LIFEWORK, a prospective cohort study on occupational and environmental risk factors and health in the Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, *8*(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018504
- Reedijk, M., Portengen, L., Auvinen, A., Kojo, K., Heinävaara, S., Feychting, M., Tettamanti, G., Hillert, L., Elliott, P., Toledano, M. B., Smith, R. B., Heller, J., Schüz, J., Deltour, I., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Verheij, R., Peeters, P., Rookus, M., ... Group, C. S. (2023). Regression calibration of self-reported mobile phone use to optimize quantitative risk estimation in the COSMOS study. *American Journal of Epidemiology, in press*.

- Röösli, M. (2008). Radiofrequency electromagnetic field exposure and non-specific symptoms of ill health: A systematic review. *Environmental Research*, 107(2), 277–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2008.02.003
- Schoeni, A., Roser, K., & Röösli, M. (2015). Symptoms and Cognitive Functions in Adolescents in Relation to Mobile Phone Use during Night. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0133528. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133528
- Schoeni, A., Roser, K., & Röösli, M. (2017). Symptoms and the use of wireless communication devices: A prospective cohort study in Swiss adolescents. *Environmental Research*, 154, 275–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.01.004
- Schüz, J., Elliott, P., Auvinen, A., Kromhout, H., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Olsen, J. H., Hillert, L., Feychting, M., Fremling, K., Toledano, M., Heinävaara, S., Slottje, P., Vermeulen, R., & Ahlbom, A. (2011). An international prospective cohort study of mobile phone users and health (Cosmos): Design considerations and enrolment. *Cancer Epidemiology*, *35*(1), 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. canep.2010.08.001
- Slottje, P., Yzermans, C. J., Korevaar, J. C., Hooiveld, M., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2014). The population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Prospective Cohort Study (AMIGO) in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 4(11), Article 11. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005858
- SSM's Scientific Council on Electromagnetic Fields. (2020). Recent Research on EMF and Health Risk, Fifteenth report from SSM's Scientific Council on Electromagnetic Fields (p. 82). https://www.stralsakerhetsmyndigheten.se/publikationer/rapporter/stralskydd/2020/202004/
- Steiner, T. J., Stovner, L. J., Jensen, R., Uluduz, D., Katsarava, Z., & on behalf of Lifting The Burden: the Global Campaign against Headache. (2020). Migraine remains second among the world's causes of disability, and first among young women: Findings from GBD2019. *The Journal of Headache and Pain*, 21(1), 137. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10194-020-01208-0
- Stovner, L. J., Hagen, K., Linde, M., & Steiner, T. J. (2022). The global prevalence of headache: An update, with analysis of the influences of methodological factors on prevalence estimates. *The Journal of Headache and Pain*, 23(1), 34. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s10194-022-01402-2
- Stovner, L. J., Zwart, J.-A., Hagen, K., Terwindt, G. M., & Pascual, J. (2006). Epidemiology of headache in Europe. *European Journal of Neurology*, 13(4), 333–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2006.01184.x
- Szyjkowska, A., Gadzicka, E., Szymczak, W., & Bortkiewicz, A. (2014). The risk of subjective symptoms in mobile phone users in Poland—An epidemiological study. International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health, 27(2), 293–303. https://doi.org/10.2478/s13382-014-0260-1

- Thomée, S., Härenstam, A., & Hagberg, M. (2011). Mobile phone use and stress, sleep disturbances, and symptoms of depression among young adults—A prospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 11, 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-66
- Toledano, M. B., Smith, R. B., Chang, I., Douglass, M., & Elliott, P. (2017). Cohort Profile: UK COSMOS-a UK cohort for study of environment and health. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 46(3), 775–787. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyv203
- van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Huss, A., Thielens, A., Wiart, J., Joseph, W., Röösli, M., Foerster, M., Massardier-Pilonchery, A., Capstick, M., Cardis, E., & Vermeulen, R. (2021). Radio-frequency electromagnetic field exposure and contribution of sources in the general population: An organ-specific integrative exposure assessment. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, *31*(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00287-8
- Vrijheid, M., Armstrong, B. K., Bédard, D., Brown, J., Deltour, I., Iavarone, I., Krewski, D., Lagorio, S., Moore, S., Richardson, L., Giles, G. G., McBride, M., Parent, M.-E., Siemiatycki, J., & Cardis, E. (2009). Recall bias in the assessment of exposure to mobile phones. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, *19*(4), 369–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2008.27
- Wall, S., Wang, Z.-M., Kendig, T., Dobraca, D., & Lipsett, M. (2019). Real-world cell phone radiofrequency electromagnetic field exposures. *Environmental Research*, 171, 581–592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.09.015
- Wang, J., Su, H., Xie, W., & Yu, S. (2017). Mobile Phone Use and The Risk of Headache: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Cross-sectional Studies. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 12595. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-12802-9
- White, I. R., Royston, P., & Wood, A. M. (2011). Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice. *Statistics in Medicine*, 30(4), 377–399. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4067

Table 1. Characteristics of the participants by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, countryspecific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories*)					
	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Overall
	(N=23211)	(N=31310)	(N=14475)	(N=9441)	(N=78437)
Sex, n (%)					
Men	3420 (14.7)	7648 (24.4)	5665 (39.1)	4344 (46.0)	21077 (26.9)
Wormen	19791 (85.3)	23662 (75.6)	8810 (60.9)	5097 (54.0)	57360 (73.1)
Age group (years), n (%)	E79 (2 E)	2750 (9.9)	1702 (11.9)	1503 (16 0)	6612 (9 4)
30.39	578 (2.5) 1868 (8.0)	2750 (8.8)	2203 (15.8)	1710 (18.2)	10185 (8.4)
40-49	5103 (22.0)	6982 (22.3)	2838 (19.6)	1813 (19.2)	16736 (21.3)
50-59	7108 (30.6)	10322 (33.0)	4820 (33.3)	2802 (29.7)	25052 (31.9)
60+	8554 (36.9)	6951 (22.2)	2821 (19.5)	1525 (16.2)	19851 (25.3)
Country, n (%)					
The Netherlands	19462 (83.8)	20401 (65.2)	4780 (33.0)	0 (0)	44643 (56.9)
UK Highest level of education attained, n (%)	3749 (16.2)	10909 (34.8)	9695 (67.0)	9441 (100)	33794 (43.1)
Elementary	3641 (15.7)	2558 (8.2)	871 (6.0)	663 (7.0)	7733 (9.9)
Secondary and higher	19431 (83.7)	28379 (90.6)	13255 (91.6)	8465 (89.7)	69530 (88.6)
Missing	139 (0.6)	373 (1.2)	349 (2.4)	313 (3.3)	1174 (1.5)
BMI group, n (%)		10000 1			
Normal or underweight	12727 (54.8)	16296 (52.0)	6891 (47.6)	3996 (42.3)	39910 (50.9)
Overweight or obese	10241 (44.1)	14386 (45.9)	6988 (48.3)	4831 (51.2)	36446 (46.5)
General health indicator n (%)	245 (1.0)	020 (2.0)	590 (4.1)	014 (0.5)	2001 (2.7)
Good	20307 (87.5)	28296 (90.4)	13274 (91.7)	8734 (92.5)	70611 (90.0)
Poor	2798 (12.1)	2901 (9.3)	1175 (8.1)	707 (7.5)	7581 (9.7)
Missing	106 (0.5)	113 (0.4)	26 (0.2)	0 (0)	245 (0.3)
Sleep disturbance index, mean (SD)	27.9 (18.8)	26.2 (18.7)	25.3 (19.4)	26.1 (21.5)	26.5 (19.2)
Missing, n (%)	26 (0.1)	41 (0.1)	43 (0.3)	38 (0.4)	148 (0.2)
Painkiller use, n (%)					
No	17691 (76.2)	25918 (82.8)	12819 (88.6)	8702 (92.2)	65130 (83.0)
Yes	2832 (12.2)	3803 (12.1)	1331 (9.2)	671 (7.1)	8637 (11.0)
Missing	2688 (11.6)	1589 (5.1)	325 (2.2)	68 (0.7)	4670 (6.0)
Depression diagnosis, n (%)	19044 (77 7)	25004 (92.0)	11001 (02.0)	7406 (70 4)	62515 (81.0)
Ves	2400 (10 3)	3709 (11.8)	2195 (15.2)	1881 (19.9)	10185 (13.0)
Missing	2767 (11.9)	1607 (5.1)	299 (2.1)	64 (0.7)	4737 (6.0)
High blood pressure diagnosis, n (%)				- ()	,
No	15971 (68.8)	24463 (78.1)	11837 (81.8)	7969 (84.4)	60240 (76.8)
Yes	5430 (23.4)	5633 (18.0)	2368 (16.4)	1407 (14.9)	14838 (18.9)
Missing	1810 (7.8)	1214 (3.9)	270 (1.9)	65 (0.7)	3359 (4.3)
Smoking status, n (%)					
Never	11703 (50.4)	15096 (48.2)	6929 (47.9)	4618 (48.9)	38346 (48.9)
Former	9255 (39.9)	13135 (42.0)	6027 (41.6)	3729 (39.5)	32146 (41.0)
Current	2085 (9.0)	2944 (9.4)	1417 (9.8)	1002 (10.6)	7448 (9.5)
Alcohol consumption in (%)	108 (0.7)	135 (0.4)	102 (0.7)	92 (1.0)	497 (U.6)
Never	1393 (6.0)	1136 (3.6)	304 (2.1)	118 (1 2)	2951 (3.8)
Former	662 (2.9)	738 (2.4)	314 (2.2)	226 (2.4)	1940 (2.5)
Current	20665 (89.0)	28667 (91.6)	13169 (91.0)	8295 (87.9)	70796 (90.3)
Missing	491 (2.1)	769 (2.5)	688 (4.8)	802 (8.5)	2750 (3.5)
Weekly headache ^b , n (%)					
No	20461 (88.2)	26831 (85.7)	12041 (83.2)	7525 (79.7)	66858 (85.2)
Yes	2750 (11.8)	4479 (14.3)	2434 (16.8)	1916 (20.3)	11579 (14.8)
Severe weekly headache ^b , n (%)					
No	21859 (94.2)	29345 (93.7)	13552 (93.6)	8728 (92.4)	73484 (93.7)
Yes	1084 (4.7)	1743 (5.6)	866 (6.0)	705 (7.5)	4398 (5.6)
IVIISSING	268 (1.2)	222 (0.7)	57 (0.4)	8 (U.1)	555 (U.7)
No	22914 (98 7)	30882 (98.6)	14238 (98.4)	9225 (97 7)	77259 (98 5)
Yes	297 (1.3)	428 (1.4)	237 (1.6)	216 (2.3)	1178 (1.5)
Migraine diagnosis ^b , n (%)			/	· · ·	
No	13611 (58.6)	21614 (69.0)	10862 (75.0)	7489 (79.3)	53576 (68.3)
Yes	2108 (9.1)	3388 (10.8)	1924 (13.3)	1513 (16.0)	8933 (11.4)
Missing	7492 (32.3)	6308 (20.1)	1689 (11.7)	439 (4.7)	15928 (20.3)

^aVery low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa \geq 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa \geq 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa \geq 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week). ^bAt baseline. **Table 2.** Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories*)						
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend	
Weekly head-	66858	0.94 (0.88 – 1.01)	1 (reference)	1.08 (1.00 – 1.17)	1.10 (1.01 – 1.22)	0.002	
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[1086]	[774]		
Weekly head-	66858	0.99 (0.92 – 1.07)	1 (reference)	1.05 (0.96 – 1.13)	1.04 (0.94 – 1.15)	0.292	
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[1086]	[774]		
Severe weekly	66234	0.97 (0.86 – 1.10)	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.93 – 1.25)	1.36 (1.13 – 1.63)	0.001	
headache ^b (A)	[1660]	[465]	[671]	[299]	[225]		
Severe weekly	66234	0.99 (0.87 – 1.13)	1 (reference)	1.05 (0.90 – 1.21)	1.25 (1.04 – 1.51)	0.035	
headache ^b (B)	[1660]	[465]	[671]	[299]	[225]		
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.04 (0.79 – 1.38)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.73 – 1.31)	1.23 (0.90 – 1.67)	0.448	
(A)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[75]	[77]		
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.09 (0.82 – 1.46)	1 (reference)	0.93 (0.69 – 1.24)	1.09 (0.79 – 1.50)	0.900	
(B)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[75]	[77]		
Migraine diag-	53576	0.93 (0.82 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	0.97 (0.85 – 1.11)	1.19 (1.02 – 1.39)	0.013	
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[355]	[336]		
Migraine diag-	53576	0.97 (0.85 – 1.11)	1 (reference)	0.94 (0.82 – 1.08)	1.12 (0.96 – 1.30)	0.247	
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[355]	[336]		

*Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa ≥ 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa ≥ 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa ≥ 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).</p>

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^cAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Table 3. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.42 (1.28 – 1.58)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.40 (1.25 – 1.56)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Severe weekly	66234	1 (reference)	1.06 (0.94 – 1.20)	1.63 (1.37 – 1.94)	<0.001		
headache ^b (A)	[1660]	[868]	[553]	[239]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.04 (0.91 – 1.19) [553]	1.55 (1.29 – 1.87) [239]	<0.001		
Daily headache⁵	66858	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.84 – 1.40)	1.86 (1.33 – 2.61)	<0.001		
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.85 – 1.47)	1.89 (1.33 – 2.69)	<0.001		
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.51 (1.29 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.99 – 1.26)	1.47 (1.24 – 1.75)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			

*Low: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^cAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline

Figure 1. Flowchart of the COSMOS study data.



^aIn the UK, 99424 participants provided baseline questionnaire information and 101540 consented to operator data matching out of 105028 participants recruited at baseline (14).

B=baseline questionnaire; F=follow-up questionnaire

Figure 2. Distribution of the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, countryspecific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa) in the pooled cohort, and in the Dutch (The Netherlands (NL)) and UK sub-cohorts of COSMOS.





Figure 3. Spearman rank correlation coefficients and correlation plot of the exposure metrics at baseline. Darker colors and larger circles indicate higher positive correlation levels.

Texting=frequency of text messages; OP-hfa=operator-recorded call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use; SR-hfa=self-reported mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use; RC-hfa= country-specific regression calibrated call-time estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use; IEM:RC-hfa_DECT= RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants calculated with an integrated exposure model (IEM), including country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week) and cordless phone use (minutes/week).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Title: Headache in the international Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COS-MOS) in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom

Authors: Eugenio Traini^{1#}, Rachel B Smith^{2,3,4#}, Roel Vermeulen¹, Hans Kromhout¹, Joachim Schüz⁵, Maria Feychting⁶, Anssi Auvinen^{7,8}, Aslak Harbo Poulsen⁹, Isabelle Deltour⁵, David C Muller², Joël Heller², Giorgio Tettamanti⁶, Paul Elliott^{2,3}, Anke Huss^{1*}, Mireille B Toledano^{2,3,4*}

¹Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht, the Netherlands ²MRC Centre for Environment and Health, Imperial College London, School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, London, UK

³National Institute for Health and Care Research Health Protection Research Unit in Chemical and Radiation Threats and Hazards, Imperial College London, School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, London, UK

⁴Mohn Centre for Children's Health and Wellbeing, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, UK

⁵International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC/WHO), Environment and Lifestyle Epidemiology Branch, Lyon, France

⁶Karolinska Institutet, Institute of Environmental Medicine, Stockholm, Sweden

⁷STUK – Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Environmental Radiation Surveillance, Helsinki, Finland

⁸Tampere University, Faculty of Social Sciences, Tampere, Finland ⁹Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark

*.# these two authors contributed equally

Table of contents

Supplementary Table 1. Call-time and RF-EMF dose exposure metrics cut-offs defined on the pooled cohort at baseline (N=78437).

Supplementary Table 2. Exposure metrics overview.

Supplementary Table 3. Characteristics of the participants by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

Supplementary Table 4. Characteristics of the participants in the Netherlands by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

Supplementary Table 5. Characteristics of the participants in the UK by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

Supplementary Table 6. Characteristics of the participants in the Netherlands by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

Supplementary Table 7. Characteristics of the participants in the UK by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

Supplementary Table 8. Characteristics of the participants who completed the baseline questionnaire (irrespective of their subsequent completion of the follow-up questionnaire) by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

Supplementary Table 9. Characteristics of the participants who completed the baseline questionnaire (irrespective of their subsequent completion of the follow-up questionnaire) by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

Supplementary Table 10. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) multivariable logistic regression models stratified by sex, age group, country. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)), stratified by sex, age group, country. Excluding participants with weekly headache at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 11. Single-exposure (texting) multivariable logistic regression models stratified by sex, age group, country. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at base-line, stratified by sex, age group, country. Excluding participants with weekly headache at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 12. Single-exposure (SR-hfa) and two-exposure (SR-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly head-ache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by

amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, self-reported mobile phone use adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (SR-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 13. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (SR-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly head-ache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, self-reported mobile phone use adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (SR-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 14. Single-exposure (OP-hfa) and two-exposure (OP-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly head-ache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, operator-recorded data adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (OP-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 15. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (OP-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly head-ache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, operator-recorded data adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (OP-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 16. Single-exposure (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}) and two-exposure (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT} , texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants at baseline (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 17. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 18. Single-exposure (RC) and two-exposure (RC, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates (RC)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 19. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates (RC)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 20. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, excluding painkiller use. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 21. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, excluding painkiller use. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 22. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models with minimal adjustment for sex, age group, country. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 23. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting)

multivariable logistic regression models with minimal adjustment for sex, age group, country. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 24. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models ("high" call-time exposure category 80th percentile). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 25. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models ("high" call-time exposure category 80th percentile). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 26. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, with RF-hfa exposure categorised into quartiles. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 27. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, with RF-hfa exposure categorised into quartiles. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 28. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models (complete-case analysis). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Complete-case analysis. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Supplementary Table 29. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models (complete-case analysis). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Complete-case analysis. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Exposure metrics abbreviations:

RC-hfa: country-specific regression calibrated call-time estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week).

SR-hfa: self-reported mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week).

OP-hfa: operator-recorded mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of handsfree use (minutes/week).

IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}: RF-EMF estimated dose (mJ/kg/week) with the integrated exposure model (IEM).

RC: country-specific regression calibrated call-time estimates (RC) (minutes/week).

Supplementary Table 1. Call-time and RF-EMF dose exposure metrics cut-offs defined on the pooled cohort at baseline (N=78437)

Categories of exposure					
	Very low	Low	Medium	High	
RC-hfa ^a	<19.1	19.1 – 58.5	58.6 - 107.7	107.8 - 256.8	
SR-hfa ^b	<12.8	12.8 - 42.2	42.3 - 113.8	113.9 - 342.0	
OP-hfa ^c	<18.5	18.5 – 73.8	73.9 - 157.7	157.8 - 1040.6	
IEM _{RC-hfa_DECT} ^d	<1449.0	1449.0 - 4196.0	4196.1 - 7746.1	7746.2 - 19047.05	
RC ^e	<25.5	25.5 - 65.0	65.1 - 113.4	113.5 – 270.3	
	Very low	Low	Medium	High	
RC-hfa ^f	<19.1	19.1 – 58.5	58.6 - 62.7	62.8 - 256.8	
RC-hfa ^g	<11.8	11.8 - 29.9	30.0 - 61.8	61.9 - 256.8	

*Country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week).

^bSelf-reported mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week).

"Self-reported mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of nands-free use (minutes/week). "Operator-recorded call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week). "RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants calculated with an integrated exposure model (IEM), including country-specific regres-sion calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week), and cordless phone call-time (minutes/week) as input data for the IEM.

Country-specific regression calibrated estimates (minutes/week).

Country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week), with the high exposure category defined as to include both Dutch and UK participants ("high" call-time exposure category defined according to the 80th percentile).

Country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week), with the exposure categorised into quartiles.

Supplementary Table 2. Exposure metrics overview.

Exposure metric name (abbreviation)	Exposure metric description	Specifications	
Country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)	Weekly minutes of voice calling on a mobile phone at baseline adjusted by the self-reported proportion of hands-free use, using contry-spe- cific regression calibrated estimates based on the self-report.	We replaced the ordinal indicators of self-re- ported voice calling in the baseline question- naire with the average operator recorded value across all subjects at a given level of self-report. We subtracted an estimated proportion of call- time with hands-free devices from the metric based on self-report.	
Self-reported mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (SR-hfa)	Weekly minutes of voice calling on a mobile phone at baseline adjusted by the self-reported proportion of hands-free use.	Self-reported voice calling in the baseline ques- tionnaire using midpoints of the category inter- vals, except the top category where (more than) x was set equal to x. We subtracted an estimated proportion of call-time with hands-free devices from the metric based on self-report.	
Operator-recorded mobile phone call-time adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (OP-hfa)	Weekly minutes of operator-recorded voice call- ing on a mobile phone at baseline adjusted by the self-reported proportion of hands-free use.	Providers collected information on duration of outgoing and incoming calls over a period of three months at the time the baseline question- naire was administered. We subtracted an esti- mated proportion of call-time with hands-free devices from the metric based on self-report. The proportion of participants for whom com- plete data from network operators at baseline was available was 3% (the Netherlands) and 58% (the UK).	
RF-EMF estimated dose with the integrated exposure model ($IEM_{RCMs,DECT}$)	RF-EMF estimated dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants calculated with an integrated exposure model (IEM), including country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (minutes/week), and cordless phone call-time (minutes/week).	In the IEM we assumed that the type of mobile phone used was 'smartphone', the proportion of time the phone was used on left/right side of the head was 50%, the proportion of time the phone was used at low (800-900 MHz) and high (1800- 2100 MHz) frequencies was 0.361 (lowF), 0.639 (highF), and the proportion of time the phone was used at 26 and 36 networks was 50% (van Wel et al., 2021).	
Country-specific regression calibrated estimates (RC)	Weekly minutes of voice calling on a mobile phone at baseline, using country-specific re- gression calibrated estimates based on self-re- port.	We replaced the ordinal indicators of self-re- ported voice calling in the baseline question- naire with the average operator recorded value across all subjects at a given level of self-report.	
Number of text messages (texting)	Self-reported number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.		

Supplementary Table 3. Characteristics of the participants by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ³)					
	Low (N=46190)	Medium (N=25684)	High (N=6563)	Overall (N=78437)	
Sex, n (%)				A . A	
Men	11391 (24.7)	7629 (29.7)	2057 (31.3)	21077 (26.9)	
Women	34799 (75.3)	18055 (70.3)	4506 (68.7)	57360 (73.1)	
Age group (years), n (%)					
18-29	1393 (3.0)	3296 (12.8)	1924 (29.3)	6613 (8.4)	
30-39	4048 (8.8)	4791 (18.7)	1346 (20.5)	10185 (13.0)	
40-49	9284 (20.1)	5947 (23.2)	1505 (22.9)	16736 (21.3)	
50-59	15806 (34.2)	7903 (30.8)	1343 (20.5)	25052 (31.9)	
60+	15659 (33.9)	3747 (14.6)	445 (6.8)	19851 (25.3)	
Country, n (%)					
The Netherlands	34036 (73.7)	9470 (36.9)	1137 (17.3)	44643 (56.9)	
UK	12154 (26.3)	16214 (63.1)	5426 (82.7)	33794 (43.1)	
Highest level of education attained, n (%)	5025 (62.0)	4247 (5.2)	464 (7.0)	7722 (0.0)	
Elementary Secondary and	5925 (12.8)	1347 (5.2)	461 (7.0)	7733 (9.9)	
higher	39757 (86.1)	23847 (92.8)	5926 (90.3)	69530 (88.6)	
Missing	508 (1.1)	490 (1.9)	176 (2.7)	1174 (1.5)	
BMI group, n (%)					
Normal or under- weight	23652 (51.2)	13059 (50.8)	3199 (48.7)	39910 (50.9)	
Overweight or obese	21753 (47.1)	11714 (45.6)	2979 (45.4)	36446 (46.5)	
Missing	785 (1.7)	911 (3.5)	385 (5.9)	2081 (2.7)	
General health indicator, n (%)					
Good	40894 (88.5)	23703 (92.3)	6014 (91.6)	70611 (90.0)	
Poor	5097 (11.0)	1939 (7.5)	545 (8.3)	7581 (9.7)	
Missing	199 (0.4)	42 (0.2)	4 (0.1)	245 (0.3)	
mean (SD)	26.8 (18.7)	25.4 (19.2)	29.4 (22.3)	26.5 (19.2)	
Missing, n (%)	60 (0.1)	52 (0.2)	36 (0.5)	148 (0.2)	
Painkiller use, n (%)					
No	36545 (79.1)	22751 (88.6)	5834 (88.9)	65130 (83.0)	
Yes	5480 (11.9)	2504 (9.7)	653 (9.9)	8637 (11.0)	
Missing	4165 (9.0)	429 (1.7)	76 (1.2)	4670 (6.0)	
Depression diagnosis, n (%)					
No	36905 (79.9)	21456 (83.5)	5154 (78.5)	63515 (81.0)	
Yes	5034 (10.9)	3819 (14.9)	1332 (20.3)	10185 (13.0)	
Missing	4251 (9.2)	409 (1.6)	77 (1.2)	4737 (6.0)	
High blood pressure diag- nosis, n (%)		. ,			
No	32805 (71.0)	21654 (84.3)	5781 (88.1)	60240 (76.8)	
Yes	10470 (22.7)	3657 (14.2)	711 (10.8)	14838 (18.9)	
Missing	2915 (6.3)	373 (1.5)	71 (1.1)	3359 (4.3)	
Smoking status, n (%)					
Never	22055 (47.7)	12884 (50.2)	3407 (51.9)	38346 (48.9)	
Former	19534 (42.3)	10310 (40.1)	2302 (35.1)	32146 (41.0)	
Current	4316 (9.3)	2347 (9.1)	785 (12.0)	7448 (9.5)	
Missing	285 (0.6)	143 (0.6)	69 (1.1)	497 (0.6)	
Alcohol consumption, n (%)					
Never	2187 (4.7)	641 (2.5)	123 (1.9)	2951 (3.8)	
Former	1199 (2.6)	567 (2.2)	174 (2.7)	1940 (2.5)	
Current	41619 (90.1)	23402 (91.1)	5775 (88.0)	70796 (90.3)	
Missing	1185 (2.6)	1074 (4.2)	491 (7.5)	2750 (3.5)	
Weekly headache ^b , n (%)					
No	40569 (87.8)	21347 (83.1)	4942 (75.3)	66858 (85.2)	
Yes	5621 (12.2)	4337 (16.9)	1621 (24.7)	11579 (14.8)	
Severe weekly headache [®] , n (%)					
No	43588 (94.4)	24026 (93.5)	5870 (89.4)	73484 (93.7)	
Yes	2171 (4.7)	1553 (6.0)	674 (10.3)	4398 (5.6)	
Missing	431 (0.9)	105 (0.4)	19 (0.3)	555 (0.7)	
Daily headache⁵, n (%)					
No	45595 (98.7)	25282 (98.4)	6382 (97.2)	77259 (98.5)	
Yes	595 (1.3)	402 (1.6)	181 (2.8)	1178 (1.5)	
Migraine diagnosis ^b , n (%)					
No	34843 (75.4)	21325 (83.0)	5256 (80.1)	61424 (78.3)	
Yes	5297 (11.5)	3716 (14.5)	1198 (18.3)	10211 (13.0)	
Missing	6050 (13.1)	643 (2.5)	109 (1.7)	6802 (8.7)	

aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day. bAt baseline.

Supplementary Table 4. Characteristics of the participants in the Netherlands by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

		Very low (N=19462)	Low (N=20401)	Medium (N=4780)	High (N=0)	Overall (N=44643)
Sex, n	(%)					
	Men	1744 (9.0)	2381 (11.7)	689 (14.4)	0 (0.0)	4814 (10.8)
	Wormen	17718 (91.0)	18020 (88.3)	4091 (85.6)	0 (0.0)	39829 (89.2)
Age gr	oup (years), n (%)					
	18-29	309 (1.6)	1665 (8.2)	655 (13.7)	0 (0.0)	2629 (5.9)
	30-39	1464 (7.5)	2623 (12.9)	790 (16.5)	0 (0.0)	4877 (10.9)
	40-49	4603 (23.7)	5333 (26.1)	1244 (26.0)	0 (0.0)	11180 (25.0)
	50-59	6195 (31.8)	7104 (34.8)	1656 (34.6)	0 (0.0)	14955 (33.5)
	60+	6891 (35.4)	3676 (18.0)	435 (9.1)	0 (0.0)	11002 (24.6)
Highes n (%)	st level of education attained,					
. ,	Elementary	3354 (17.2)	1715 (8.4)	196 (4.1)	0 (0.0)	5265 (11.8)
	Secondary and higher	16078 (82.6)	18649 (91.4)	4573 (95.7)	0 (0.0)	39300 (88.0)
	Missing	30 (0.2)	37 (0.2)	11 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	78 (0.2)
BMI g	roup, n (%)					
	Normal or underweight	10870 (55.9)	11685 (57.3)	2873 (60.1)	0 (0.0)	25428 (57.0)
	Overweight or obese	8528 (43.8)	8660 (42.4)	1897 (39.7)	0 (0.0)	19085 (42.8)
	Missing	64 (0.3)	56 (0.3)	10 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	130 (0.3)
Gener	al health indicator, n (%)					
	Good	16821 (86.4)	18069 (88.6)	4225 (88.4)	0 (0.0)	39115 (87.6)
	Poor	2535 (13.0)	2219 (10.9)	529 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	5283 (11.8)
	Missing	106 (0.5)	113 (0.6)	26 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	245 (0.5)
Sleep	disturbance index, mean (SD)	28.9 (18.6)	27.7 (18.0)	27.9 (18.0)	0 (0.0)	28.2 (18.3)
	Missing, n (%)	20 (0.1)	26 (0.1)	5 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	51 (0.1)
Painki	ller use, n (%)					
	No	14172 (72.8)	15755 (77.2)	3806 (79.6)	0 (0.0)	33733 (75.6)
	Yes	2617 (13.4)	3091 (15.2)	720 (15.1)	0 (0.0)	6428 (14.4)
	Missing	2673 (13.7)	1555 (7.6)	254 (5.3)	0 (0.0)	4482 (10.0)
Depre	ssion diagnosis, n (%)				. (
	No	14925 (76.7)	17019 (83.4)	4108 (85.9)	0 (0.0)	36052 (80.8)
	Yes	1782 (9.2)	1808 (8.9)	434 (9.1)	0 (0.0)	4024 (9.0)
	Missing	2755 (14.2)	1574 (7.7)	238 (5.0)	0 (0.0)	4567 (10.2)
High b	lood pressure diagnosis, n (%)				0 (0 0)	
	No	13028 (66.9)	15606 (76.5)	3865 (80.9)	0 (0.0)	32499 (72.8)
	Yes	4636 (23.8)	3616 (17.7)	705 (14.7)	0 (0.0)	8957 (20.1)
	Missing	1798 (9.2)	1179 (5.8)	210 (4.4)	0 (0.0)	3187 (7.1)
Smoki	ng status, n (%)				0 (0.0)	
	Never	9524 (48.9)	9513 (46.6)	2192 (45.9)	0 (0.0)	21229 (47.6)
	Former	7877 (40.5)	8596 (42.1)	1915 (40.1)	0 (0.0)	18388 (41.2)
	Current	1914 (9.8)	2208 (10.8)	660 (13.8)	0 (0.0)	4782 (10.7)
	Missing	147 (0.8)	84 (0.4)	13 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	244 (0.5)
Alcoho	ol consumption, n (%)				0 (0 0)	as as (s. a)
	Never	1344 (6.9)	1042 (5.1)	207 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	2593 (5.8)
	Former	606 (3.1)	537 (2.6)	108 (2.3)	0 (0.0)	1251 (2.8)
	Current	1/323 (89.0)	18/18 (91.8)	4447 (93.0)	0 (0.0)	40488 (90.7)
	Missing	189 (1.0)	104 (0.5)	18 (0.4)	0 (0.0)	311 (0.7)
weeki	y neadacne", n (%)	47200 (00 4)	47507 (06.2)	4054 (04 7)	0 (0.0)	20020 (07.0)
	NO	17200 (88.4)	1/58/ (86.2)	4051 (84.7)	0 (0.0)	38838 (87.0)
Caucan	Yes	2262 (11.6)	2814 (13.8)	729 (15.3)	- ()	5805 (13.0)
Jevere	No	19241 (02.7)	19032 (02.9)	4202 (01 0)	0 (0.0)	41EEE (02 1)
	Voc	10241 (95.7)	10922 (92.0)	4392 (91.9)	0 (0.0)	41000 (95.1) 2546 (5.7)
	Missing	267 (1 /)	2227 (0.2)	53 (1 1)	0 (0.0)	542 (1 2)
Daily		207 (1.4)	LLL (1.1)	55 (1.1)		JTL (1.2)
Daily	No.	10217 (08 7)	20124 (98.6)	4709 (98 5)	0 (0.0)	44050 (98 7)
	Yes	245 (1 3)	277 (1 4)	71 (1 5)	0 (0.0)	593 (1 3)
Migrai	ine diagnosis ^b n (%)	245 (1.5)	2// (1.4)	/1(1.3)		555 (1.5)
wingfall	No	10545 (54.2)	12739 (62.4)	3081 (64.5)	0 (0.0)	26365 (59.1)
	Yes	1541 (7.9)	1738 (8 5)	435 (9.1)	0 (0.0)	3714 (8 3)
	Missing	7376 (37.9)	5924 (29.0)	1264 (26.4)	0 (0.0)	14564 (32.6)

*Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa ≥ 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa ≥ 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa ≥ 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week). ^bAt baseline.

Supplementary Table 5. Characteristics of the participants in the UK by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

	Very low (N=3749)	Low (N=10909)	Medium (N=9695)	High (N=9441)	Overall (N=33794)
Sex, n (%)					
Men	1676 (44.7)	5267 (48.3)	4976 (51.3)	4344 (46.0)	16263 (48.1)
Wormen	2073 (55.3)	5642 (51.7)	4719 (48.7)	5097 (54.0)	17531 (51.9)
Age group (years), n (%)					
18-29	269 (7.2)	1085 (9.9)	1048 (10.8)	1582 (16.8)	3984 (11.8)
30-39	404 (10.8)	1682 (15.4)	1503 (15.5)	1719 (18.2)	5308 (15.7)
40-49	500 (13.3)	1649 (15.1)	1594 (16.4)	1813 (19.2)	5556 (16.4)
50-59	913 (24.4)	3218 (29.5)	3164 (32.6)	2802 (29.7)	10097 (29.9)
60+ Highest level of education attained,	1663 (44.4)	3275 (30.0)	2386 (24.6)	1525 (16.2)	8849 (26.2)
Elementary	287 (7.7)	843 (7.7)	675 (7.0)	663 (7.0)	2468 (7.3)
Secondary and higher	3353 (89.4)	9730 (89.2)	8682 (89.6)	8465 (89.7)	30230 (89.5)
Missing	109 (2.9)	336 (3.1)	338 (3.5)	313 (3.3)	1096 (3.2)
BMI group, n (%)				(,	,
Normal or underweight	1857 (49.5)	4611 (42.3)	4018 (41.4)	3996 (42,3)	14482 (42.9)
Overweight or obese	1713 (45.7)	5726 (52.5)	5091 (52.5)	4831 (51.2)	17361 (51.4)
Missing	179 (4.8)	572 (5.2)	586 (6.0)	614 (6.5)	1951 (5.8)
General health indicator. n (%)			()		,
Good	3486 (93.0)	10227 (93.7)	9049 (93.3)	8734 (92.5)	31496 (93.2)
Poor	263 (7.0)	682 (6.3)	646 (6.7)	707 (7.5)	2298 (6.8)
Sleep disturbance index, mean (SD)	22.7 (19.0)	23.4 (19.6)	24.0 (20.0)	26.1 (21.5)	24.3 (20.2)
Missing, n (%)	6 (0.2)	15 (0.1)	38 (0.4)	38 (0.4)	97 (0.3)
Painkiller use, n (%)		- (-)			- (/
No	3519 (93.9)	10163 (93.2)	9013 (93.0)	8702 (92.2)	31397 (92.9)
Yes	215 (5.7)	712 (6.5)	611 (6.3)	671 (7.1)	2209 (6.5)
Missing	15 (0.4)	34 (0.3)	71 (0.7)	68 (0.7)	188 (0.6)
Depression diagnosis, n (%)		- (
No	3119 (83.2)	8975 (82.3)	7873 (81.2)	7496 (79.4)	27463 (81.3)
Yes	618 (16.5)	1901 (17.4)	1761 (18.2)	1881 (19.9)	6161 (18.2)
Missing	12 (0.3)	33 (0.3)	61 (0.6)	64 (0.7)	170 (0.5)
High blood pressure diagnosis, n (%)	()	()	()		,
No	2943 (78.5)	8857 (81.2)	7972 (82.2)	7969 (84.4)	27741 (82.1)
Yes	794 (21.2)	2017 (18.5)	1663 (17.2)	1407 (14.9)	5881 (17.4)
Missing	12 (0.3)	35 (0.3)	60 (0.6)	65 (0,7)	172 (0.5)
Smoking status, n (%)	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,
Never	2179 (58.1)	5583 (51.2)	4737 (48.9)	4618 (48.9)	17117 (50.7)
Former	1378 (36.8)	4539 (41.6)	4112 (42.4)	3729 (39.5)	13758 (40.7)
Current	171 (4.6)	736 (6.7)	757 (7.8)	1002 (10.6)	2666 (7.9)
Missing	21 (0.6)	51 (0.5)	89 (0.9)	92 (1.0)	253 (0.7)
Alcohol consumption. n (%)	()	()		()	
Never	49 (1.3)	94 (0.9)	97 (1.0)	118 (1.2)	358 (1.1)
Former	56 (1.5)	201 (1.8)	206 (2.1)	226 (2.4)	689 (2.0)
Current	3342 (89.1)	9949 (91.2)	8722 (90.0)	8295 (87.9)	30308 (89.7)
Missing	302 (8.1)	665 (6.1)	670 (6.9)	802 (8.5)	2439 (7.2)
Weekly headache ^b , n (%)		. ,		. ,	. ,
No	3261 (87.0)	9244 (84.7)	7990 (82.4)	7525 (79.7)	28020 (82.9)
Yes	488 (13.0)	1665 (15.3)	1705 (17.6)	1916 (20.3)	5774 (17.1)
Severe weekly headache ^b , n (%)		. ,	. ,	. ,	
No	3618 (96.5)	10423 (95.5)	9160 (94.5)	8728 (92.4)	31929 (94.5)
Yes	130 (3.5)	486 (4.5)	531 (5.5)	705 (7.5)	1852 (5.5)
Missing	1 (0.0)	0 (0)	4 (0.0)	8 (0.1)	13 (0.0)
Daily headache ^b , n (%)	·- · /		/	/	/
No	3697 (98.6)	10758 (98.6)	9529 (98.3)	9225 (97.7)	33209 (98.3)
Yes	52 (1.4)	151 (1.4)	166 (1.7)	216 (2.3)	585 (1.7)
Migraine diagnosis ^b . n (%)	/	- (/		,	/
No	3066 (81.8)	8875 (81.4)	7781 (80.3)	7489 (79.3)	27211 (80.5)
Yes	567 (15.1)	1650 (15.1)	1489 (15.4)	1513 (16.0)	5219 (15.4)
Missing	116 (3.1)	384 (3.5)	425 (4.4)	439 (4.6)	1364 (4.0)

*Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa ≥ 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa ≥ 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa ≥ 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week). ^bAt baseline.

Supplementary Table 6. Characteristics of the participants in the Netherlands by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)					
	Low (N=34036)	Medium (N=9470)	High (N=1137)	Overall (N=44643)	
Sex, n (%)					
Men	4093 (12.0)	643 (6.8)	78 (6.9)	4814 (10.8)	
Women	29943 (88.0)	8827 (93.2)	1059 (93.1)	39829 (89.2)	
Age group (years), n (%)					
18-29	933 (2.7)	1388 (14.7)	308 (27.1)	2629 (5.9)	
30-39	2917 (8.6)	1724 (18.2)	236 (20.8)	4877 (10.9)	
40-49	7860 (23.1)	2997 (31.6)	323 (28.4)	11180 (25.0)	
50-59	11945 (35.1)	2787 (29.4)	223 (19.6)	14955 (33.5)	
60+	10381 (30.5)	574 (6.1)	47 (4.1)	11002 (24.6)	
attained. n (%)					
Elementary	4898 (14.4)	326 (3.4)	41 (3.6)	5265 (11.8)	
Secondary and higher	29082 (85.4)	9124 (96.3)	1094 (96.2)	39300 (88.0)	
Missing	56 (0.2)	20 (0.2)	2 (0.2)	78 (0.2)	
BMI group, n (%)					
Normal or under-	18929 (55.6)	5802 (61.3)	697 (61.3)	25428 (57.0)	
Overweight or obese	15004 (44.1)	3643 (38.5)	438 (38.5)	19085 (42.8)	
Missing	103 (0.3)	25 (0.3)	2 (0.2)	130 (0.3)	
General health indicator, n (%)		()	- ()		
Good	29626 (87.0)	8501 (89.8)	988 (86.9)	39115 (87.6)	
Poor	4211 (12.4)	927 (9.8)	145 (12.8)	5283 (11.8)	
Missing	199 (0.6)	42 (0.4)	4 (0.4)	245 (0.5)	
Sleep disturbance index, mean (SD)	28.4 (18.4)	27.5 (17.8)	29.1 (19.2)	28.2 (18.3)	
Missing, n (%)	34 (0.1)	12 (0.1)	5 (0.4)	51 (0.1)	
Painkiller use, n (%)					
No	25230 (74.1)	7641 (80.7)	862 (75.8)	33733 (75.6)	
Yes	4702 (13.8)	1483 (15.7)	243 (21.4)	6428 (14.4)	
Missing	4104 (12.1)	346 (3.7)	32 (2.8)	4482 (10.0)	
Depression diagnosis, n (%)					
No	26697 (78.4)	8350 (88.2)	1005 (88.4)	36052 (80.8)	
Yes	3141 (9.2)	785 (8.3)	98 (8.6)	4024 (9.0)	
Missing	4198 (12.3)	335 (3.5)	34 (3.0)	4567 (10.2)	
High blood pressure diagno- sis, n (%)					
No	23599 (69.3)	7923 (83.7)	977 (85.9)	32499 (72.8)	
Yes	7578 (22.3)	1248 (13.2)	131 (11.5)	8957 (20.1)	
Missing	2859 (8.4)	299 (3.2)	29 (2.6)	3187 (7.1)	
Smoking status, n (%)					
Never	15953 (46.9)	4675 (49.4)	601 (52.9)	21229 (47.6)	
Former	14342 (42.1)	3679 (38.8)	367 (32.3)	18388 (41.2)	
Current	3533 (10.4)	1087 (11.5)	162 (14.2)	4782 (10.7)	
Missing	208 (0.6)	29 (0.3)	7 (0.6)	244 (0.5)	
Alcohol consumption, n (%)					
Never	2057 (6.0)	477 (5.0)	59 (5.2)	2593 (5.8)	
Former	992 (2.9)	231 (2.4)	28 (2.5)	1251 (2.8)	
Current	30703 (90.2)	8737 (92.3)	1048 (92.2)	40488 (90.7)	
Missing	284 (0.8)	25 (0.3)	2 (0.2)	311 (0.7)	
Weekly headache ^b , n (%)					
No	29974 (88.1)	7960 (84.1)	904 (79.5)	38838 (87.0)	
Yes	4062 (11.9)	1510 (15.9)	233 (20.5)	5805 (13.0)	
n (%)					
No	31856 (93.6)	8694 (91.8)	1005 (88.4)	41555 (93.1)	
Yes	1752 (5.1)	675 (7.1)	119 (10.5)	2546 (5.7)	
Missing	428 (1.3)	101 (1.1)	13 (1.1)	542 (1.2)	
Daily headache ^b , n (%)					
No	33609 (98.7)	9328 (98.5)	1113 (97.9)	44050 (98.7)	
Yes	427 (1.3)	142 (1.5)	24 (2.1)	593 (1.3)	
Migraine diagnosis ^b , n (%)					
No	18869 (55.4)	6714 (70.9)	782 (68.8)	26365 (59.1)	
Yes	2682 (7.9)	886 (9.4)	146 (12.8)	3714 (8.3)	
Missing	12485 (36.7)	1870 (19.7)	209 (18.4)	14564 (32.6)	

^eLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day. ^bAt baseline.

Supplementary Table 7. Characteristics of the participants in the UK by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

N	Lew:	Medium	LU-L	0
	LOW (N=12154)	(N=16214)	High (N=5426)	Overall (N=33794)
Sex, n (%)				
Men	7298 (60.0)	6986 (43.1)	1979 (36.5)	16263 (48.1)
Women	4856 (40.0)	9228 (56.9)	3447 (63.5)	17531 (51.9)
Age group (years), n (%)				
18-29	460 (3.8)	1908 (11.8)	1616 (29.8)	3984 (11.8)
30-39	1131 (9.3)	3067 (18.9)	1110 (20.5)	5308 (15.7)
40-49	1424 (11.7)	2950 (18.2)	1182 (21.8)	5556 (16.4)
50-59	3861 (31.8)	5116 (31.6)	1120 (20.6)	10097 (29.9)
60+	5278 (43.4)	3173 (19.6)	398 (7.3)	8849 (26.2)
lighest level of education				
Flementary	1027 (8.4)	1021 (6.3)	420 (7.7)	2468 (7.3)
Secondary and	10675 (97.9)	14732 (00.8)	4922 (90.1)	20220 (90 E)
higher	10075 (07.0)	14723 (90.8)	4652 (69.1)	50250 (89.5)
Missing	452 (3.7)	470 (2.9)	174 (3.2)	1096 (3.2)
MI group, n (%)				
weight	4723 (38.9)	7257 (44.8)	2502 (46.1)	14482 (42.9)
Overweight or obese	6749 (55.5)	8071 (49.8)	2541 (46.8)	17361 (51.4)
Missing	682 (5.6)	886 (5.5)	383 (7.1)	1951 (5.8)
eneral health indicator, (%)				
Good	11268 (92.7)	15202 (93.8)	5026 (92.6)	31496 (93.2)
Poor	886 (7.3)	1012 (6.2)	400 (7.4)	2298 (6.8)
leep disturbance index,	22.2 (19.0)	24.1 (19.9)	29.5 (22.9)	24,3 (20,2)
Missing, p (%)	26 (0.2)	40 (0 2)	31 (0.6)	97 (0 3)
ainkiller use n (%)	20 (0.2)		51 (0.0)	57 (0.5)
No.	11315 (03.1)	15110 (93.2)	4972 (91.6)	31307 (02.0)
Voc	778 (6 4)	1021 (6.2)	410 (7.6)	2200 (6 5)
Missing	61 (0.4)	82 (0.5)	410 (7.0)	199 (0.5)
ivitssing	01(0.5)	83 (0.3)	44 (0.8)	100 (0.0)
No	10208 (94.0)	12106 (90.9)	4140 (76 E)	27/62 (91 2)
NU	10208 (84.0)	15100 (80.8)	4149 (76.5)	27405 (61.5)
Yes	1893 (15.6)	3034 (18.7)	1234 (22.7)	b1b1 (18.2)
igh blood pressure diagno- is. n (%)	53 (0.4)	74 (0.5)	43 (0.8)	170 (0.5)
No	9206 (75.7)	13731 (84.7)	4804 (88.5)	27741 (82.1)
Yes	2892 (23.8)	2409 (14.9)	580 (10.7)	5881 (17.4)
Missing	56 (0.5)	74 (0.5)	42 (0.8)	172 (0.5)
moking status, n (%)				
Never	6102 (50.2)	8209 (50.6)	2806 (51.7)	17117 (50.7)
Former	5192 (42.7)	6631 (40.9)	1935 (35.7)	13758 (40.7)
Current	783 (6.4)	1260 (7.8)	623 (11.5)	2666 (7.9)
Missing	77 (0.6)	114 (0.7)	62 (1.1)	253 (0.7)
lcohol consumption, n (%)		N- 7	- • •	(-)
Never	130 (1.1)	164 (1.0)	64 (1.2)	358 (1.1)
Former	207 (1.7)	336 (2.1)	146 (2.7)	689 (2.0)
Current	10916 (89.8)	14665 (90.4)	4727 (87 1)	30308 (2007)
Missing	901 (7.4)	1049 (6.5)	489 (9.0)	2439 (7.2)
/eekly headache ^b n (%)	()		(5.6)	
No	10595 (87 2)	13387 (82.6)	4038 (74 4)	28020 (82 9)
Yes	1559 (12.8)	2827 (17 /)	1388 (25.6)	5774 (17 1)
evere weekly headache ^b ,	1333 (12.0)	2027 (17.4)	1300 (23.0)	5/74(17.1)
(%)	44700 (C)	45000 (5)	1005 ()	
No	11732 (96.5)	15332 (94.6)	4865 (89.7)	31929 (94.5)
Yes	419 (3.4)	878 (5.4)	555 (10.2)	1852 (5.5)
Missing	3 (0.0)	4 (0.0)	6 (0.1)	13 (0.0)
aily headache ^b , n (%)				
No	11986 (98.6)	15954 (98.4)	5269 (97.1)	33209 (98.3)
Yes	168 (1.4)	260 (1.6)	157 (2.9)	585 (1.7)
ligraine diagnosis ⁶ , n (%)				
No	10046 (82.7)	13025 (80.3)	4140 (76.3)	27211 (80.5)
Yes	1698 (14.0)	2538 (15.7)	983 (18.1)	5219 (15.4)
Missing	410 (3.4)	651 (4.0)	303 (5.6)	1364 (4.0)

*Low: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day. *At baseline.

.....

Supplementary Table 8. Characteristics of the participants who completed the baseline questionnaire (irrespective of their subsequent completion of the follow-up questionnaire) by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)).

Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories*)					
	Very low (N=42322)	Low (N=61078)	Medium (N=34134)	High (N=28136)	Overall ^b (N=165670)
Sex, n (%)					
Men	6849 (16.2)	16534 (27.1)	13826 (40.5)	12744 (45.3)	49953 (30.2)
Women	35472 (83.8)	44537 (72.9)	20306 (59.5)	15389 (54.7)	115704 (69.8)
Missing	1 (0.0)	7 (0.0)	2 (0.0)	3 (0.0)	13 (0.0)
Age group (years), n (%)	1(74 (4 0)	7744(42.7)	(17) (10 1)	7424 (20 4)	22020 (12.0)
18-29	10/4 (4.0)	7744 (12.7)	6170 (18.1)	7434 (20.4)	23028 (13.9)
30-39	4037 (3.7)	5765 (10.0)	0410 (10.0)	5521 (21.0)	20211 (15.8)
40-49	9007 (22.7) 12255 (20.0)	13703 (22.5)	0260 (27.4)	5185 (18.4)	35159 (21.2) 45571 (27.5)
50-59	12255 (29.0)	17701 (29.0)	9309 (27.4)	0240 (22.2)	455/1 (27.5)
60+	14080 (34.7)	12076 (19.8)	10 (0 0)	3328 (11.8)	35055 (21.5)
Missing	5 (0.0)	11(0.0)	10 (0.0)	22 (0.1)	40 (0.0)
Country, n (%)	24014 (00.4)	24000 (57.4)	0126 (26.0)	0 (0)	70040 (47.4)
The Netherlands	34014 (80.4)	34899 (57.1)	9130 (20.8)	0 (0)	78049 (47.1)
UK Highest level of education attained,	6506 (15.0)	20175 (42.5)	24556 (75.2)	28150 (100)	87021 (52.5)
n (%) Elementary	7569 (17.9)	5910 (9.7)	2867 (8.4)	2870 (10.2)	19216 (11.6)
Secondary and higher	34237 (80.9)	53640 (87.8)	29799 (87.3)	23425 (83.3)	141101 (85.2)
Missing	516 (1.2)	1528 (2.5)	1468 (4.3)	1841 (6.5)	5353 (3.2)
BMI group, n (%)					
Normal or underweight	21607 (51.1)	28733 (47.0)	13720 (40.2)	9556 (34.0)	73616 (44.4)
Overweight or obese	18739 (44.3)	26104 (42.7)	14091 (41.3)	10982 (39.0)	69916 (42.2)
Missing	1976 (4.7)	6241 (10.2)	6323 (18.5)	7598 (27.0)	22138 (13.4)
General health indicator, n (%)					
Good	36236 (85.6)	54697 (89.6)	31094 (91.1)	25644 (91.1)	147671 (89.1)
Poor	5855 (13.8)	6176 (10.1)	2996 (8.8)	2492 (8.9)	17519 (10.6)
Missing	231 (0.5)	205 (0.3)	44 (0.1)	0 (0)	480 (0.3)
Sleep disturbance index. mean (SD)	28.1 (19.4)	26.7 (19.4)	26.6 (20.6)	28.8 (23.1)	27.4 (20.3)
Missing, n (%)	109 (0.3)	228 (0.4)	217 (0.6)	264 (0.9)	818 (0.5)
Painkiller use, n (%)					
No	32335 (76.4)	50807 (83.2)	29994 (87.9)	25378 (90.2)	138514 (83.6)
Yes	5444 (12.9)	7537 (12.3)	3306 (9.7)	2241 (8.0)	18528 (11.2)
Missing	4543 (10.7)	2734 (4.5)	834 (2.4)	517 (1.8)	8628 (5.2)
Depression diagnosis, n (%)					
No	33062 (78.1)	50505 (82.7)	27830 (81.5)	21931 (77.9)	133328 (80.5)
Yes	4592 (10.9)	7853 (12.9)	5522 (16.2)	5746 (20.4)	23713 (14.3)
Missing	4668 (11.0)	2720 (4.5)	782 (2.3)	459 (1.6)	8629 (5.2)
High blood pressure diagnosis, n (%) No	29547 (69.8)	48430 (79.3)	28242 (82.7)	24034 (85.4)	130253 (78.6)
Yes	9760 (23.1)	10496 (17.2)	5165 (15.1)	3643 (12.9)	29064 (17.5)
Missing	3015 (7.1)	2152 (3.5)	727 (2.1)	459 (1.6)	6353 (3.8)
			. ,		
Smoking status, n (%)	20822 (49.2)	29152 (47.7)	15962 (46.8)	13141 (46.7)	79077 (47.7)
Former	16647 (39.3)	24456 (40.0)	13393 (39.2)	10106 (35.9)	64602 (39.0)
Current	4447 (10.5)	6895 (11.3)	4262 (12.5)	4192 (14.9)	19796 (11.9)
Missing	406 (1.0)	575 (0.9)	517 (1.5)	697 (2.5)	2195 (1.3)
Alcohol consumption n (%)					
Never	2702 (6.4)	2183 (3.6)	715 (2.1)	362 (1.3)	5962 (3.6)
Former	1336 (3.2)	1648 (2.7)	876 (2.6)	832 (3.0)	4692 (2.8)
Current	36996 (87.4)	54852 (89.8)	30139 (88.3)	23639 (84.0)	145626 (87.9)
Missing	1288 (3.0)	2395 (3.9)	2404 (7.0)	3303 (11.7)	9390 (5.7)
Weekly headaches n (%)					
No	36630 (86.6)	51102 (83.7)	27592 (80.8)	21311 (75.7)	136635 (82.5)
Yes	5692 (13.4)	9976 (16.3)	6542 (19.2)	6825 (24.3)	29035 (17.5)
Severe weekly headaches, n (%)					
No	39387 (93.1)	56673 (92.8)	31601 (92.6)	25389 (90.2)	153050 (92.4)
Yes	2383 (5.6)	3941 (6.5)	2399 (7.0)	2691 (9.6)	11414 (6.9)
Missing	552 (1.3)	464 (0.8)	134 (0.4)	56 (0.2)	1206 (0.7)
Daily headache ^c , n (%)					
No	41610 (98.3)	60068 (98.3)	33457 (98.0)	27307 (97.1)	162442 (98.1)
Yes	712 (1.7)	1010 (1.7)	677 (2.0)	829 (2.9)	3228 (1.9)
Migraine diagnosis ^c , n (%)	21020 /72 21	40522 (04.4)	28201 (02.0)	22120 (02.2)	121001 (70.0)
NO	31U28 (/3.3) 4776 (11.2)	49522 (81.1)	28201 (82.6)	2313U (82.2)	131881 (/9.6)
res	4770 (11.3)	//U3 (12.0)	4803 (14.2)	4545 (10.2)	21887 (13.2)
wissing	(15.4) ELCO	3852 (b.3)	1070 (3.1)	401 (1.b)	11305 (1.5)

*Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa ≥ 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa ≥ 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa ≥ 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).

^bAfter exclusion of participants with missing information on handsfree device use (N=8568), self-reported mobile phone use (N=8098), texting (N=10734), frequency of headache at baseline (N=10508), and finally participants whose phone was "often" used by others (N=5681). 'At baseline.

Supplementary Table 9. Characteristics of the participants who completed the baseline questionnaire (irrespective of their subsequent completion of the follow-up questionnaire) by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories*)					
		Low (N=85534)	Medium (N=57580)	High (N=22556)	Overall ^ь (N=165670)	
Sex, n (%)					
N	/len	23324 (27.3)	18595 (32.3)	8034 (35.6)	49953 (30.2)	
v	Vomen	62203 (72.7)	38980 (67.7)	14521 (64.4)	115704 (69.8)	
N	Aissing	7 (0.0)	5 (0.0)	1 (0.0)	13 (0.0)	
Age grou	p (years), n (%)	2041 (4.6)	0026 (17.2)	01(1 (40 C)	22028 (12.0)	
1	8-29	3941 (4.6)	9926 (17.2)	9161 (40.6)	23028 (13.9)	
3	0-39	9210 (10.8)	12331 (21.4)	4670 (20.7)	26211 (15.8)	
4	0-49	27362 (22.7)	14951 (26.0)	2258 (14.4)	45571 (27.5)	
5	0-59	27337 (32.0)	7269 (12.6)	1049 (4 7)	35655 (21.5)	
6	0+	13 (0.0)	17 (0.0)	16 (0.1)	46 (0.0)	
C	nissing		()	(,		
Country,	n (76) 's a Nachbardan da	57967 (67.8)	17605 (30.6)	2477 (11.0)	78049 (47.1)	
	ne netrierianos	27567 (32.2)	39975 (69.4)	20079 (89.0)	87621 (52.9)	
Highest le	evel of education					
attained,	n (%)	12676 (14.8)	4266 (7.4)	2274 (10.1)	19216 (11.6)	
E S	econdary and	70886 (82.9)	51160 (88.9)	19055 (84.5)	141101 (85.2)	
h	igher	1972 (2.3)	2154 (2.7)	1227 (5.4)	5252 (2.2)	
N	Aissing	1572 (2.5)	2134 (5.7)	1227 (5.%)	5555 (5.2)	
вMI grou	i p, n (%) Iormal or under-	39632 (46.3)	24888 (43.2)	9096 (40.3)	73616 (44.4)	
v	veight	20042 (45.4)	22024 (20.0)	0240 (20 0)	(0016 (42.2)	
C	verweight or obese	2050 (9.2)	22024 (35.0)	6245 (50.0) E211 (22.1)	22128 (12.4)	
General	Aissing	7039 (8.5)	5006 (17.1)	5211 (25.1)	22130 (13.4)	
n (%)	rearch mulcator,	74270 (07.0)	53705 (01.5)	205.00 (01.2)	147(71 (00.1)	
G	lood	10765 (12.6)	4706 (9.2)	20588 (91.3)	14/0/1 (89.1)	
Р	oor	201 (0.5)	4796 (8.3)	1958 (8.7)	17519 (10.6)	
A Sleen dis	Aissing	27.0 (19.4)	26.4 (20.1)	21 2 (22 6)	480 (0.3)	
mean (SD))	27.0 (13.4)	20.4 (20.1)	51.2 (25.0)	27.4 (20.3)	
N	Aissing, n (%)	285 (0.3)	295 (0.5)	238 (1.1)	818 (0.5)	
Painkiller	r use, n (%)	(70.40 (70.4)	50716 (00.1)	10050 (00.0)	120514 (02.5)	
v	10	10591 (12.4)	5711 (0.0)	2226 (0.0)	19529 (11 2)	
1	Aissing	7002 (8 2)	1152 (2.0)	472 (2.1)	10520 (11.2) 9628 (5.2)	
		7005 (8.2)	1155 (2.0)	472 (2.1)	8028 (3.2)	
Depressio	on diagnosis, n (%)	68444 (80.0)	47323 (82.2)	17561 (77.9)	133328 (80.5)	
Y	es	9975 (11.7)	9178 (15.9)	4560 (20.2)	23713 (14.3)	
N	Aissing	7115 (8.3)	1079 (1.9)	435 (1.9)	8629 (5.2)	
High bloc	od pressure diag-					
nosis, n (%) lo	61370 (71.7)	48858 (84.9)	20025 (88.8)	130253 (78.6)	
Y	es	19258 (22.5)	7703 (13.4)	2103 (9.3)	29064 (17.5)	
N	Aissing	4906 (5.7)	1019 (1.8)	428 (1.9)	6353 (3.8)	
Smoking	status n (%)					
N	lever	39828 (46.6)	27954 (48.5)	11295 (50.1)	79077 (47.7)	
F	ormer	35190 (41.1)	22238 (38.6)	7174 (31.8)	64602 (39.0)	
C	urrent	9632 (11.3)	6631 (11.5)	3533 (15.7)	19796 (11.9)	
N	Aissing	884 (1.0)	757 (1.3)	554 (2.5)	2195 (1.3)	
Alcohol c	onsumption, n (%)					
N	lever	4182 (4.9)	1400 (2.4)	380 (1.7)	5962 (3.6)	
F	ormer	2488 (2.9)	1470 (2.6)	734 (3.3)	4692 (2.8)	
C	urrent	75178 (87.9)	51232 (89.0)	19216 (85.2)	145626 (87.9)	
N	Aissing	3686 (4.3)	3478 (6.0)	2226 (9.9)	9390 (5.7)	
Weekly h	eadache ^c , n (%)	70007 (00.4)	10715 (01.0)	10000 (71.0)	100000 (00.5)	
N	10	/366/ (86.1)	46745 (81.2)	16223 (71.9)	136635 (82.5)	
Fourier and	es	11867 (13.9)	10835 (18.8)	6333 (28.1)	29035 (17.5)	
n (%)	centy neaudoner,	70007 (02.4)	F2222 (02 C)	10001 (07.0)	453050 (02.4)	
N	10 	/990/ (93.4)	53322 (92.6)	19821 (87.9)	153050 (92.4)	
Y	es Aissing	4/45 (5.5)	4013 (7.0)	2656 (11.8)	11414 (6.9)	
N	gineen	882 (1.U)	245 (U.4)	/9 (U.4)	1200 (U.7)	
Daily hea	idache ^c , n (%)	84176 (98.4)	56513 (98.1)	21752 (96.4)	162442 (98.1)	
v	es.	1358 (1.6)	1067 (1 9)	803 (3.6)	3228 (1 9)	
		1000 (1.0)	1007 (1.5)	665 (5.6)	5220 (1.5)	
Migraine	aiagnosis`, n (%)	65738 (76.9)	47863 (83.1)	18280 (81.0)	131881 (79.6)	
Y	es	9797 (11.5)	8294 (14.4)	3796 (16.8)	21887 (13.2)	
Ν	Aissing	10000 (11.7)	1422 (2.5)	480 (2.1)	11902 (7.2)	

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30

or more text messages per day. *After exclusion of participants with missing information on handsfree device use (N=8568), self-reported mobile phone use (N=8098), texting (N=10734), frequency of headache at baseline (N=10508), and finally participants whose phone was "often" used by others (N=5681). At baseline.

Supplementary Table 10. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) multivariable logistic regression models stratified by sex, age group, country.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)), stratified by sex, age group, country. Excluding participants with weekly headache at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories ^a)						
		Very low	Low	Medium	High	P interaction	
Sex ^b						Sex:RC-hfa	
	Men	1.00 (0.82 – 1.22) [155]	1 (reference) [398]	1.02 (0.88 – 1.20) [323]	1.15 (0.98 – 1.36) [302]	0.480	
	Women	0.94 (0.87 – 1.01) [1277]	1 (reference) [1762]	1.10 (1.00 – 1.21) [763]	1.07 (0.94 – 1.21) [472]	0.480	
Age gr	oup ^b					Age group:RC-hfa	
	18-29	1.03 (0.76 – 1.39) [63]	1 (reference) [286]	0.91 (0.73 – 1.12) [172]	0.83 (0.65 – 1.05) [153]		
	30-39	0.96 (0.79 – 1.17) [168]	1 (reference) [385]	1.03 (0.86 – 1.24) [211]	1.14 (0.92 – 1.42) [167]		
	40-49	1.09 (0.95 – 1.25) [405]	1 (reference) [512]	1.20 (1.02 – 1.43) [251]	1.25 (1.01 – 1.54) [177]	0.103	
	50-59	0.88 (0.77 – 1.01) [406]	1 (reference) [633]	1.15 (0.99 – 1.34) [313]	1.23 (1.02 – 1.49) [194]		
	60+	0.88 (0.75 – 1.03) [390]	1 (reference) [344]	1.01 (0.82 – 1.26) [139]	1.09 (0.84 – 1.42) [83]		
Country ^b						Country:RC-hfa	
	The Netherlands	0.93 (0.86 – 1.02) [1190]	1 (reference) [1403]	1.09 (0.97 – 1.23) [374]	NA [0]	0.611	
	The United Kingdom	0.99 (0.85 – 1.15) [242]	1 (reference) [757]	1.07 (0.96 – 1.19) [712]	1.11 (1.00 – 1.24) [774]	0.611	

"Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa \geq 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa \geq 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa \geq 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).

^bModels adjusted for highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, alcohol consumption, and mutually adjusted for sex, age group, country at baseline.

Supplementary Table 11. Single-exposure (texting) multivariable logistic regression models stratified by sex, age group, country.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline, stratified by sex, age group, country. Excluding participants with weekly headache at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories*)						
	Low	Medium	High	P interaction			
Sex ^b				Sex:Text messages			
Men	1 (reference) [522]	1.09 (0.93 – 1.28) [461]	1.58 (1.23 – 2.04) [195]	0.461			
Women	1 (reference) [2248]	1.19 (1.09 – 1.29) [1551]	1.52 (1.32 – 1.76) [475]	0.401			
Age group ^ь				Age group:Text messages			
18-29	1 (reference) [130]	0.94 (0.75 – 1.19) [245]	1.40 (1.06 – 1.84) [146]				
30-39	1 (reference) [311]	1.18 (0.99 – 1.40) [356]	1.69 (1.30 – 2.21) [97]				
40-49	1 (reference) [660]	1.10 (0.96 – 1.26) [411]	1.34 (1.05 – 1.71) [97]	0.448			
50-59	1 (reference) [845]	1.37 (1.20 – 1.55) [441]	1.59 (1.21 – 2.10) [66]				
60+	1 (reference) [702]	1.07 (0.88 – 1.31) [151]	1.48 (0.91 – 2.40) [20]				
Country ^b				Country:Text mes- sages			
The Netherlands	1 (reference) [2082]	1.19 (1.09 – 1.31) [772]	1.39 (1.12 – 1.71) [113]	0.295			
The United Kingdom	1 (reference) [688]	1.15 (1.02 – 1.29) [1240]	1.62 (1.37 – 1.90) [557]	0.295			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bModels adjusted for highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, alcohol consumption, and mutually adjusted for sex, age group, country at baseline.

Supplementary Table 12. Single-exposure (SR-hfa) and two-exposure (SR-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, self-reported mobile phone use adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (SR-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories ^a)							
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	0.97 (0.90 – 1.04)	1 (reference)	1.07 (0.98 – 1.16)	1.13 (1.04 – 1.22)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[1457]	[1849]	[1017]	[1129]			
Weekly head-	66858	1.01 (0.93 – 1.09)	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.96 – 1.13)	1.07 (0.99 – 1.17)	0.167		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[1457]	[1849]	[1017]	[1129]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	1.04 (0.91 – 1.19) [474]	1 (reference) [530]	1.10 (0.95 – 1.28) [288]	1.35 (1.18 – 1.56) [368]	<0.001		
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1.06 (0.92 – 1.21) [474]	1 (reference) [530]	1.08 (0.93 – 1.26) [288]	1.28 (1.11 – 1.48) [368]	0.016		
Daily headache⁵	66858	1.14 (0.86 – 1.51)	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.77 – 1.40)	1.25 (0.95 – 1.66)	0.532		
(A)	[382]	[98]	[119]	[71]	[94]			
Daily headache⁵	66858	1.18 (0.88 – 1.58)	1 (reference)	0.99 (0.73 – 1.34)	1.14 (0.85 – 1.52)	0.838		
(B)	[382]	[98]	[119]	[71]	[94]			
Migraine diag-	53576	0.92 (0.81 – 1.05)	1 (reference)	0.94 (0.82 – 1.08)	1.06 (0.93 – 1.21)	0.146		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[402]	[651]	[335]	[424]			
Migraine diag-	53576	0.96 (0.84 – 1.10)	1 (reference)	0.92 (0.80 – 1.05)	1.00 (0.88 – 1.15)	0.860		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[402]	[651]	[335]	[424]			

*Very low: SR-hfa < 12.8 (min/week); Low: SR-hfa ≥ 12.8 & SR-hfa < 42.3 (min/week); Medium: SR-hfa ≥ 42.3 & SR-hfa < 113.9 (min/week); High: SR-hfa ≥ 113.9 (min/week).</p>

^bModels adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

"Models adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 13. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (SR-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, self-reported mobile phone use adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (SR-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.42 (1.28 – 1.58)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.39 (1.25 – 1.55)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.06 (0.94 – 1.20) [553]	1.63 (1.37 – 1.94) [239]	<0.001		
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.03 (0.91 – 1.18) [553]	1.54 (1.28 – 1.84) [239]	<0.001		
Daily headache⁵	66858	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.84 – 1.40)	1.86 (1.33 – 2.61)	<0.001		
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Daily headache⁵	66858	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.85 – 1.47)	1.88 (1.32 – 2.68)	<0.001		
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.51 (1.29 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.99 – 1.26)	1.50 (1.27 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^cAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline. Supplementary Table 14. Single-exposure (OP-hfa) and two-exposure (OP-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, operatorrecorded data adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (OP-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories ^a)							
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	16213	0.96 (0.84 – 1.10)	1 (reference)	1.05 (0.91 – 1.23)	1.12 (0.93 – 1.35)	0.107		
ache ^b (A)	[1429]	[405]	[569]	[290]	[165]			
Weekly head-	16213	1.01 (0.88 – 1.16)	1 (reference)	1.03 (0.88 – 1.19)	1.07 (0.89 – 1.29)	0.519		
ache ^b (B)	[1429]	[405]	[569]	[290]	[165]			
Severe weekly	16170	0.87 (0.67 – 1.13)	1 (reference)	0.92 (0.68 – 1.25)	1.30 (0.92 – 1.83)	0.056		
headache ^₅ (A)	[352]	[95]	[147]	[62]	[48]			
Severe weekly	16170	0.93 (0.71 – 1.21)	1 (reference)	0.87 (0.64 – 1.19)	1.20 (0.85 – 1.70)	0.289		
headache ^b (B)	[352]	[95]	[147]	[62]	[48]			
Daily headache ^b	16213	1.08 (0.70 – 1.66)	1 (reference)	0.91 (0.55 – 1.51)	1.16 (0.65 – 2.06)	0.893		
(A)	[124]	[37]	[48]	[23]	[16]			
Daily headache ^b	16213	1.14 (0.73 – 1.76)	1 (reference)	0.87 (0.52 – 1.44)	1.05 (0.58 – 1.87)	0.690		
(B)	[124]	[37]	[48]	[23]	[16]			
Migraine diag-	15421	0.99 (0.80 – 1.23)	1 (reference)	1.21 (0.96 – 1.52)	1.03 (0.77 – 1.39)	0.534		
nosis ^c (A)	[563]	[158]	[214]	[130]	[61]			
Migraine diag-	15421	1.01 (0.82 – 1.26)	1 (reference)	1.19 (0.95 – 1.50)	1.01 (0.75 – 1.36)	0.759		
nosis ^c (B)	[563]	[158]	[214]	[130]	[61]			

"Very low: OP-hfa < 18.5 (min/week); Low: OP-hfa ≥ 18.5 & OP-hfa < 73.9 (min/week); Medium: OP-hfa ≥ 73.9 & OP-hfa < 157.8 (min/week); High: OP-hfa ≥ 157.8 (min/week), (max=1040.6 min/week).

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 15. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (OP-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, operator-recorded data adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (OP-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)							
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend			
Weekly head-	16213	1 (reference)	1.23 (1.07 – 1.42)	1.59 (1.33 – 1.89)	<0.001			
ache ^b (A)	[1429]	[358]	[751]	[320]				
Weekly head-	16213	1 (reference)	1.23 (1.07 – 1.42)	1.57 (1.31 – 1.89)	<0.001			
ache ^b (B)	[1429]	[358]	[751]	[320]				
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	16170 [352]	1 (reference) [69]	1.40 (1.04 – 1.89) [182]	2.11 (1.49 – 2.99) [101]	<0.001			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	16170 [352]	1 (reference) [69]	1.39 (1.03 – 1.88) [182]	2.06 (1.44 – 2.94) [101]	<0.001			
Daily headache ^ь	16213	1 (reference)	1.02 (0.65 – 1.62)	1.88 (1.10 – 3.21)	<0.001			
(A)	[124]	[32]	[56]	[36]				
Daily headache ^ь	16213	1 (reference)	1.06 (0.66 – 1.68)	1.97 (1.14 – 3.42)	<0.001			
(B)	[124]	[32]	[56]	[36]				
Migraine diag-	15421	1 (reference)	1.13 (0.91 – 1.42)	1.32 (1.00 – 1.74)	0.006			
nosis ^c (A)	[563]	[126]	[303]	[134]				
Migraine diag-	15421	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.89 – 1.41)	1.29 (0.98 – 1.71)	0.072			
nosis ^c (B)	[563]	[126]	[303]	[134]				

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^cAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline. **Supplementary Table 16.** Single-exposure (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}) and two-exposure (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}⁻ texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants at baseline (IEM_{RC-hfa_DECT}) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week in categories ^a)							
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend	
Weekly head-	63933	0.94 (0.87 – 1.01)	1 (reference)	1.06 (0.97 – 1.15)	1.11 (1.00 – 1.24)	0.002	
ache ^b (A)	[5201]	[1376]	[2076]	[1110]	[639]		
Weekly head-	63933	0.99 (0.91 – 1.07)	1 (reference)	1.02 (0.94 – 1.11)	1.05 (0.95 – 1.17)	0.284	
ache ^b (B)	[5201]	[1376]	[2076]	[1110]	[639]		
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	63350 [1578]	1.01 (0.89 – 1.14) [455]	1 (reference) [634]	1.10 (0.95 – 1.28) [310]	1.36 (1.09 – 1.61) [179]	0.008	
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	63350 [1578]	1.03 (0.90 – 1.17) [455]	1 (reference) [634]	1.07 (0.92 – 1.24) [310]	1.22 (1.00 – 1.49) [179]	0.110	
Daily headache ^b	63933	1.05 (0.79 – 1.40)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.73 – 1.31)	1.26 (0.91 – 1.75)	0.399	
(A)	[362]	[88]	[129]	[80]	[65]		
Daily headache ^b	63933	1.10 (0.82 – 1.48)	1 (reference)	0.93 (0.69 – 1.25)	1.13 (0.81 – 1.58)	0.973	
(B)	[362]	[88]	[129]	[80]	[65]		
Migraine diag-	51578	0.97 (0.85 – 1.10)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.86 – 1.12)	1.21 (1.03 – 1.42)	0.028	
nosis ^c (A)	[1728]	[392]	[687]	[375]	[274]		
Migraine diag-	51578	1.01 (0.88 – 1.16)	1 (reference)	0.95 (0.83 – 1.09)	1.13 (0.96 – 1.33)	0.369	
nosis ^c (B)	[1728]	[392]	[687]	[375]	[274]		

*Very low: $IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} < 1449.0 \text{ (mJ/kg/week); Low: }IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} \ge 1449.0 \& IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} < 4196.1 \text{ (mJ/kg/week); Medium: }IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} \ge 4196.1 \& IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} < 7746.2 \text{ (mJ/kg/week); High: }IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} \ge 7746.2 \text{ (mJ/kg/week); Medium: }IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} \ge 7746.2 \text{ (mJ/kg/week); Medium: }IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} \ge 1449.0 \& IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} < 7746.2 \text{ (mJ/kg/week); Medium: }IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} \ge 1449.0 \& IEM_{RC:MB_{DECT}} < 149.0 \&$

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 17. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (IEM_{RC.hfa_DECT}, texting) multivariable logistic regression models. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (IEM_{RC.hfa_DECT}) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for RF-EMF dose (mJ/kg/week) to the brain of the participants at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)							
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	63933	1 (reference)	1.18 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.41 (1.27 – 1.57)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5201]	[2658]	[1916]	[627]			
Weekly head-	63933	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.08 – 1.26)	1.39 (1.24 – 1.55)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5201]	[2658]	[1916]	[627]			
Severe weekly	63350	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.92 – 1.18)	1.58 (1.32 – 1.89)	<0.001		
headache ^b (A)	[1578]	[837]	[520]	[221]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	63350 [1578]	1 (reference) [837]	1.03 (0.91 – 1.18) [520]	1.53 (1.27 – 1.85) [221]	<0.001		
Daily headache ^b	63933	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.83 – 1.41)	1.77 (1.25 – 2.50)	<0.001		
(A)	[362]	[171]	[126]	[65]			
Daily headache⁵	63933	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.84 – 1.47)	1.78 (1.24 – 2.57)	<0.001		
(B)	[362]	[171]	[126]	[65]			
Migraine diag-	51578	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.99 – 1.25)	1.51 (1.28 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1728]	[763]	[687]	[278]			
Migraine diag-	51578	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.99 – 1.27)	1.49 (1.25 – 1.77)	<0.001		
nosis⁻(B)	[1728]	[763]	[687]	[278]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

*Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^{CA}djusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.
Supplementary Table 18. Single-exposure (RC) and two-exposure (RC, texting) multivariable logistic regression models.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates (RC)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories ^a)						
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend	
Weekly head-	66858	0.94 (0.87 – 1.01)	1 (reference)	1.08 (1.00 – 1.16)	1.12 (0.99 – 1.27)	0.004	
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[1388]	[2053]	[1592]	[419]		
Weekly head-	66858	0.99 (0.91 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.97 – 1.12)	1.04 (0.92 – 1.18)	0.348	
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[1388]	[2053]	[1592]	[419]		
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	0.98 (0.86 – 1.11) [449]	1 (reference) [635]	1.16 (1.01 – 1.32) [445]	1.39 (1.20 – 1.85) [131]	0.001	
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1.00 (0.87 – 1.14) [449]	1 (reference) [635]	1.12 (0.98 – 1.28) [445]	1.24 (1.07 – 1.68) [131]	0.021	
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.04 (0.79 – 1.39)	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.79 – 1.36)	1.27 (0.94 – 1.98)	0.315	
(A)	[382]	[91]	[126]	[120]	[45]		
Daily headache [♭]	66858	1.09 (0.81 – 1.46)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.75 – 1.28)	1.17 (0.80 – 1.71)	0.787	
(B)	[382]	[91]	[126]	[120]	[45]		
Migraine diag-	53576	0.93 (0.82 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.87 – 1.11)	1.27 (1.04 – 1.53)	0.010	
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[384]	[690]	[539]	[199]		
Migraine diag-	53576	0.98 (0.85 – 1.12)	1 (reference)	0.95 (0.84 – 1.08)	1.26 (1.00 – 1.49)	0.140	
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[384]	[690]	[539]	[199]		

"Very low: RC < 25.5 (min/week); Low: RC ≥ 25.5 & RC < 65.1 (min/week); Medium: RC ≥ 65.1 & RC < 113.5 (min/week); High: RC ≥ 113.5 (min/ week), (max=270.3 min/week).

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 19. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC, texting) multivariable logistic regression models.

Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates (RC)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.42 (1.28 – 1.58)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.40 (1.25 – 1.56)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Severe weekly	66234	1 (reference)	1.06 (0.94 – 1.20)	1.63 (1.37 – 1.94)	<0.001		
headache ^b (A)	[1660]	[868]	[553]	[239]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.03 (0.91 – 1.18) [553]	1.53 (1.27 – 1.84) [239]	<0.001		
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.84 – 1.40)	1.86 (1.33 – 2.61)	<0.001		
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.84 – 1.46)	1.86 (1.30 – 2.66)	<0.001		
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.51 (1.29 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.99 – 1.26)	1.46 (1.23 – 1.73)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline. **Supplementary Table 20.** Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, excluding painkiller use. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

		Amount of mobile pl	none use at baseline	(call-time in categories ^a)	
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend
Weekly head-	66858	0.94 (0.87 – 1.01)	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.99 – 1.17)	1.10 (1.00 – 1.22)	0.002
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[1086]	[774]	
Weekly head-	66858	0.99 (0.91 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.96 – 1.13)	1.04 (0.94 – 1.15)	0.291
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[1086]	[774]	
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	0.96 (0.85 – 1.09) [465]	1 (reference) [671]	1.08 (0.93 – 1.25) [299]	1.36 (1.13 – 1.63) [225]	<0.001
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	0.99 (0.86 – 1.12) [465]	1 (reference) [671]	1.04 (0.90 – 1.21) [299]	1.25 (1.03 – 1.50) [225]	0.038
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.03 (0.78 – 1.37)	1 (reference)	0.97 (0.73 – 1.30)	1.22 (0.90 – 1.67)	0.429
(A)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[75]	[77]	
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.08 (0.81 – 1.45)	1 (reference)	0.92 (0.69 – 1.24)	1.09 (0.79 – 1.49)	0.901
(B)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[75]	[77]	
Migraine diag-	53576	0.92 (0.81 – 1.05)	1 (reference)	0.97 (0.85 – 1.11)	1.19 (1.02 – 1.39)	0.010
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[355]	[336]	
Migraine diag-	53576	0.96 (0.84 – 1.10)	1 (reference)	0.94 (0.82 – 1.08)	1.11 (0.96 – 1.30)	0.226
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[355]	[336]	

^aVery low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa \geq 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa \geq 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa \geq 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 21. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, excluding painkiller use. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)					
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend	
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.18 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.43 (1.29 – 1.59)	<0.001	
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.41 (1.26 – 1.57)	<0.001	
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]		
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.07 (0.94 – 1.20) [553]	1.65 (1.39 – 1.97) [239]	<0.001	
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.05 (0.92 – 1.19) [553]	1.58 (1.31 – 1.90) [239]	<0.001	
Daily headache ^b	66858	1 (reference)	1.09 (0.84 – 1.41)	1.89 (1.35 – 2.65)	<0.001	
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]		
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.86 – 1.48)	1.92 (1.35 – 2.74)	<0.001	
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]		
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.13 (1.01 – 1.27)	1.53 (1.30 – 1.80)	<0.001	
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]		
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.99 – 1.26)	1.49 (1.26 – 1.77)	<0.001	
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]		

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 22. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models with minimal adjustment for sex, age group, country. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

		Amount of mobile pl	none use at baseline	(call-time in categories ^a)	
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend
Weekly head-	66858	0.95 (0.89 – 1.02)	1 (reference)	1.09 (1.01 – 1.18)	1.16 (1.05 – 1.28)	<0.001
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[1086]	[774]	
Weekly head-	66858	1.00 (0.93 – 1.08)	1 (reference)	1.05 (0.97 – 1.14)	1.08 (0.97 – 1.19)	0.164
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[1086]	[774]	
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	0.99 (0.88 – 1.12) [465]	1 (reference) [671]	1.10 (0.95 – 1.27) [299]	1.45 (1.21 – 1.74) [225]	<0.001
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1.02 (0.89 – 1.16) [465]	1 (reference) [671]	1.06 (0.92 – 1.22) [299]	1.30 (1.08 – 1.56) [225]	0.023
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.08 (0.82 – 1.42)	1 (reference)	0.99 (0.74 – 1.33)	1.33 (0.97 – 1.81)	0.310
(A)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[75]	[77]	
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.14 (0.86 – 1.52)	1 (reference)	0.94 (0.70 – 1.26)	1.15 (0.84 – 1.58)	0.946
(B)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[75]	[77]	
Migraine diag-	53576	0.93 (0.82 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.85 – 1.12)	1.23 (1.06 – 1.43)	0.004
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[355]	[336]	
Migraine diag-	53576	0.97 (0.85 – 1.11)	1 (reference)	0.95 (0.83 – 1.08)	1.14 (0.98 – 1.33)	0.175
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[355]	[336]	

"Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa \geq 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa \geq 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa \geq 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, and country at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline. ^cAdjusted for sex, age group, and country at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 23. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models with minimal adjustment for sex, age group, country. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.18 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.57 (1.41 – 1.74)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.53 (1.38 – 1.71)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.05 (0.93 – 1.19) [553]	1.85 (1.56 – 2.20) [239]	<0.001		
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.04 (0.92 – 1.19) [553]	1.76 (1.47 – 2.11) [239]	<0.001		
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.07 (0.83 – 1.38)	2.14 (1.54 – 2.98)	<0.001		
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.85 – 1.46)	2.17 (1.53 – 3.08)	<0.001		
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.12 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.60 (1.36 – 1.88)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.99 – 1.26)	1.55 (1.31 – 1.84)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day. ^bAdjusted for sex, age group, and country at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, and country at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline. ^cAdjusted for sex, age group, and country at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline. Supplementary Table 24. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models ("high" call-time exposure category 80th percentile). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

		Amount of mobile pl	none use at baseline	(call-time in categories ^a)	
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend
Weekly head-	66858	0.94 (0.88 – 1.02)	1 (reference)	1.03 (0.93 – 1.15)	1.11 (1.03 – 1.20)	0.001
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[511]	[1349]	
Weekly head-	66858	0.99 (0.92 – 1.07)	1 (reference)	1.01 (0.90 – 1.12)	1.06 (0.98 – 1.15)	0.208
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[1432]	[2160]	[511]	[1349]	
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	0.98 (0.86 – 1.11) [465]	1 (reference) [671]	1.02 (0.83 – 1.25) [126]	1.20 (1.05 – 1.38) [398]	0.021
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1.00 (0.88 – 1.14) [465]	1 (reference) [671]	1.00 (0.82 – 1.23) [126]	1.14 (0.99 – 1.31) [398]	0.184
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.05 (0.80 – 1.39)	1 (reference)	1.03 (0.72 – 1.47)	1.10 (0.84 – 1.44)	0.790
(A)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[44]	[108]	
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.10 (0.82 – 1.47)	1 (reference)	0.99 (0.69 – 1.42)	0.99 (0.75 – 1.31)	0.598
(B)	[382]	[94]	[136]	[44]	[108]	
Migraine diag-	53576	0.94 (0.82 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	1.00 (0.84 – 1.19)	1.07 (0.95 – 1.22)	0.122
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[190]	[501]	
Migraine diag-	53576	0.98 (0.86 – 1.12)	1 (reference)	0.98 (0.82 – 1.16)	1.02 (0.89 – 1.16)	0.735
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[396]	[725]	[190]	[501]	

"Very low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa \geq 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa \geq 58.6 & RC-hfa < 62.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa \geq 62.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 25. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models ("high" call-time exposure category 80th percentile). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.42 (1.28 – 1.58)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.39 (1.25 – 1.55)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Severe weekly	66234	1 (reference)	1.06 (0.94 – 1.20)	1.63 (1.37 – 1.94)	<0.001		
headache ^b (A)	[1660]	[868]	[553]	[239]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.04 (0.91 – 1.18) [553]	1.57 (1.30 – 1.88) [239]	<0.001		
Daily headache ^b	66858	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.84 – 1.40)	1.86 (1.33 – 2.61)	<0.001		
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Daily headache ^b	66858	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.85 – 1.47)	1.92 (1.35 – 2.73)	<0.001		
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.21 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.51 (1.29 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.99 – 1.26)	1.49 (1.26 – 1.77)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^sAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

^cAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 26. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, with RF-hfa exposure categorised into quartiles. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Amount of mobile phone use at baseline (call-time in categories ^a)						
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend	
Weekly head-	66858	0.94 (0.87 – 1.03)	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.95 – 1.13)	1.13 (1.04 – 1.24)	0.001	
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[918]	[1614]	[1571]	[1349]		
Weekly head-	66858	0.98 (0.90 – 1.08)	1 (reference)	1.01 (0.93 – 1.10)	1.07 (0.97 – 1.17)	0.165	
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[918]	[1614]	[1571]	[1349]		
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	66234 [1660]	1.12 (0.97 – 1.29) [318]	1 (reference) [503]	1.15 (1.00 – 1.33) [441]	1.32 (1.13 – 1.54) [398]	0.025	
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1.14 (0.98 – 1.33) [318]	1 (reference) [503]	1.14 (0.98 – 1.32) [441]	1.24 (1.06 – 1.46) [398]	0.227	
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.06 (0.75 – 1.48)	1 (reference)	1.21 (0.88 – 1.65)	1.23 (0.88 – 1.71)	0.313	
(A)	[382]	[59]	[85]	[130]	[108]		
Daily headache ^b	66858	1.09 (0.77 – 1.54)	1 (reference)	1.19 (0.87 – 1.63)	1.11 (0.79 – 1.56)	0.729	
(B)	[382]	[59]	[85]	[130]	[108]		
Migraine diag-	53576	0.94 (0.81 – 1.10)	1 (reference)	0.94 (0.81 – 1.08)	1.04 (0.90 – 1.20)	0.248	
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[244]	[516]	[551]	[501]		
Migraine diag-	53576	0.99 (0.85 – 1.17)	1 (reference)	0.91 (0.79 – 1.05)	0.97 (0.83 – 1.12)	0.580	
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[244]	[516]	[551]	[501]		

"Very low: RC-hfa < 11.8 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa ≥ 11.8 & RC-hfa < 30.0 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa ≥ 30.0 & RC-hfa < 61.9 (min/week); High: RC-hfa ≥ 61.9 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).</p>

⁵Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 27. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models, with RF-hfa exposure categorised into quartiles. Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.17 (1.10 – 1.26)	1.42 (1.28 – 1.58)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Weekly head-	66858	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.07 – 1.24)	1.39 (1.25 – 1.55)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[5452]	[2770]	[2012]	[670]			
Severe weekly	66234	1 (reference)	1.06 (0.94 – 1.20)	1.63 (1.37 – 1.94)	<0.001		
headache ^b (A)	[1660]	[868]	[553]	[239]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	66234 [1660]	1 (reference) [868]	1.05 (0.92 – 1.19) [553]	1.58 (1.31 – 1.90) [239]	<0.001		
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.84 – 1.40)	1.86 (1.33 – 2.61)	<0.001		
(A)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Daily headache ^ь	66858	1 (reference)	1.07 (0.81 – 1.40)	1.85 (1.30 – 2.63)	<0.001		
(B)	[382]	[181]	[131]	[70]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.21 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.51 (1.29 – 1.78)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			
Migraine diag-	53576	1 (reference)	1.14 (1.01 – 1.29)	1.52 (1.28 – 1.80)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1812]	[791]	[727]	[294]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 28. Single-exposure (RC-hfa) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models (complete-case analysis). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)) without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline. Complete-case analysis. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

		Amount of mobile pl	hone use at baseline	(call-time in categories ^a)	
	No. of participants	Very low	Low	Medium	High	P trend
Weekly head-	58229	0.95 (0.88 – 1.03)	1 (reference)	1.08 (0.99 – 1.17)	1.08 (0.97 – 1.20)	0.021
ache ^b (A)	[4803]	[1243]	[1953]	[966]	[641]	
Weekly head-	58229	1.00 (0.92 – 1.08)	1 (reference)	1.05 (0.96 – 1.14)	1.02 (0.92 – 1.14)	0.593
ache ^b (B)	[4803]	[1243]	[1953]	[966]	[641]	
Severe weekly headache ^b (A)	57679 [1457]	0.97 (0.85 – 1.11) [408]	1 (reference) [611]	1.07 (0.92 – 1.25) [262]	1.31 (1.07 – 1.61) [176]	0.007
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	57679 [1457]	0.99 (0.86 – 1.13) [408]	1 (reference) [611]	1.04 (0.88 – 1.21) [262]	1.22 (0.99 – 1.50) [176]	0.080
Daily headache ^b	58229	1.03 (0.76 – 1.39)	1 (reference)	0.95 (0.69 – 1.30)	1.08 (0.77 – 1.54)	0.868
(A)	[312]	[74]	[118]	[63]	[57]	
Daily headache ^b	58229	1.09 (0.80 – 1.50)	1 (reference)	0.90 (0.65 – 1.23)	0.96 (0.67 – 1.37)	0.493
(B)	[312]	[74]	[118]	[63]	[57]	
Migraine diag-	49783	0.93 (0.81 – 1.06)	1 (reference)	0.97 (0.84 – 1.12)	1.17 (0.99 – 1.38)	0.030
nosis ^c (A)	[1648]	[377]	[676]	[318]	[277]	
Migraine diag-	49783	0.97 (0.84 – 1.11)	1 (reference)	0.94 (0.82 – 1.09)	1.10 (0.93 – 1.30)	0.362
nosis ^c (B)	[1648]	[377]	[676]	[318]	[277]	

^aVery low: RC-hfa < 19.1 (min/week); Low: RC-hfa ≥ 19.1 & RC-hfa < 58.6 (min/week); Medium: RC-hfa ≥ 58.6 & RC-hfa < 107.8 (min/week); High: RC-hfa ≥ 107.8 (min/week), (max=256.8 min/week).

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

Supplementary Table 29. Single-exposure (texting) and two-exposure (RC-hfa, texting) multivariable logistic regression models (complete-case analysis). Odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI for weekly headache, severe weekly headache, daily headache, and migraine diagnosis at follow-up by number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline without (A) and with (B) mutual adjustment for the amount of mobile phone use at baseline (weekly minutes of call-time, country-specific regression calibrated estimates adjusted by the proportion of hands-free use (RC-hfa)). Complete-case analysis. Number of participants with the outcome indicated in square brackets.

	Number of text messages sent with a mobile phone at baseline (frequency of texting in categories ^a)						
	No. of partici- pants	Low	Medium	High	P trend		
Weekly head-	58229	1 (reference)	1.16 (1.08 – 1.25)	1.41 (1.26 – 1.57)	<0.001		
ache ^b (A)	[4803]	[2427]	[1802]	[574]			
Weekly head-	58229	1 (reference)	1.15 (1.07 – 1.24)	1.39 (1.24 – 1.56)	<0.001		
ache ^b (B)	[4803]	[2427]	[1802]	[574]			
Severe weekly	57679	1 (reference)	1.04 (0.92 – 1.19)	1.56 (1.29 – 1.89)	<0.001		
headache ^b (A)	[1457]	[771]	[491]	[195]			
Severe weekly headache ^b (B)	57679 [1457]	1 (reference) [771]	1.03 (0.90 – 1.18) [491]	1.50 (1.23 – 1.83) [195]	<0.001		
Daily headache ^ь	58229	1 (reference)	1.12 (0.85 – 1.48)	1.86 (1.28 – 2.70)	<0.001		
(A)	[312]	[144]	[113]	[55]			
Daily headache ^b	58229	1 (reference)	1.17 (0.87 – 1.58)	1.95 (1.31 – 2.88)	<0.001		
(B)	[312]	[144]	[113]	[55]			
Migraine diag-	49783	1 (reference)	1.12 (1.00 – 1.26)	1.47 (1.24 – 1.75)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (A)	[1648]	[744]	[657]	[247]			
Migraine diag-	49783	1 (reference)	1.11 (0.98 – 1.26)	1.44 (1.20 – 1.72)	<0.001		
nosis ^c (B)	[1648]	[744]	[657]	[247]			

^aLow: Never/Less than 1 text message per week/1-6 text messages per week; Medium: 1-9 text messages per day; High: 10-29 text messages per day/30 or more text messages per day.

^bAdjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with (weekly, severe weekly, daily) headache at baseline.

⁵Adjusted for sex, age group, country, highest level of education attained, BMI group, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, painkiller use, depression diagnosis, high blood pressure diagnosis, smoking status, and alcohol consumption at baseline. Excluding participants with migraine diagnosis at baseline.

References

 van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Huss, A., Thielens, A., Wiart, J., Joseph, W., Röösli, M., Foerster, M., Massardier-Pilonchery, A., Capstick, M., Cardis, E., & Vermeulen, R. (2021). Radio-frequency electromagnetic field exposure and contribution of sources in the general population: An organ-specific integrative exposure assessment. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, *31*(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00287-8

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} q_{11} & q_{12} & q_{13} & q_{14} \\ 1_{21} & q_{22} & q_{23} & q_{24} \\ q_{31} & q_{32} & q_{33} & q_{34} \\ q_{41} & q_{42} & q_{43} & q_{44} \end{pmatrix}$$

Chapter 3: Time course of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure and predictors of electromagnetic hypersensitivity over 10 years in a prospective cohort of Dutch adults

Authors: Eugenio Traini¹, Astrid L. Martens², Pauline Slottje^{3,4}, Roel C.H. Vermeulen¹, Anke Huss¹

¹Utrecht University, Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht, the Netherlands. ²PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, Bezuidenhoutseweg 30, 2594 AV, The Hague, the Netherlands.

³Amsterdam UMC location Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of General Practice, Boelelaan 1117, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

⁴Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

Published in: Science of The Total Environment, 2023, 856(Pt 2):159240.

Abstract

Background: Some individuals attribute health complaints to radiofrequency electromagnetic field (RF-EMF) exposure. This condition, known as idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to RF-EMFs (IEI-RF) or electromagnetic hypersensitivity (EHS), can be disabling for those who are affected. In this study we assessed factors related to developing, maintaining, or discarding IEI-RF over the course of 10 years, and predictors of developing EHS at follow-up using a targeted question without the condition of reporting health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure.

Methods: Participants (n=892, mean age 50 at baseline, 52 % women) from the Dutch Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study AMIGO filled in questionnaires in 2011/2012 (T_0), 2013 (T_1), and 2021 (T_4) where information pertaining to perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk, non-specific symptoms, sleep problems, IEI-RF, and EHS was collected. We fitted multi-state Markov models to represent how individuals transitioned between states ("yes", "no") of IEI-RF.

Results: At each time point, about 1 % of study participants reported health complaints that they attributed to RF-EMF exposure. While this percentage remained stable, the individuals who reported such complaints changed over time: of nine persons reporting health complaints at T_0 , only one reported IEI-RF at both T_1 and T_4 , and two newly reported health complaints at T_4 . Overall, participants had a 95 % chance of transitioning from "yes" to "no" over a time course of 10 years, and a chance of 1 % of transitioning from "no" to "yes". Participants with high perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk had a general tendency to move more frequently between states.

Conclusions: We observed a low prevalence of IEI-RF in our population. Prevalence did not vary strongly over time but there was a strong aspect of change: over 10 years, there was a high probability of not attributing symptoms to RF-EMF exposure anymore. IEI-RF appears to be a more transient condition than previously assumed.

Introduction

Over the past few decades, the rapid advancement of wireless technologies and electronic devices has led to a considerable increase in exposure to radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMFs) and RF signals are now part of everyday life. The condition known as idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields (IEI-EMF) is used to describe individuals who attribute health complaints such as headaches, sleep disturbances, or problems in concentrating, to EMF exposure (Baliatsas et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2017; Röösli et al., 2004), and in severe cases it can be disabling or result in a lower quality of life (Kjellqvist et al., 2016). Similarly, the term electromagnetic hypersensitivity (EHS) refers to someone who claims to be hypersensitive to EMFs, but does not necessarily report health complaints attributed to such exposure (Röösli et al., 2010). In particular, IEI-EMF and EHS have been hypothesized to correspond to different levels of involvement in the EMF topic (Röösli et al., 2010). Nevertheless, diagnostic criteria for these conditions are not fully established and research has yet to produce clear evidence on the mechanisms causing people to attribute health complaints to EMF exposure or to define themselves as hypersensitive to EMFs (Baliatsas et al., 2009; Dieudonné, 2019, 2020; Stein & Udasin, 2020), although psychosocial factors are thought to play a role (Augner & Hacker, 2009; Baliatsas et al., 2015; Frick et al., 2002; Martens et al., 2018; Ramirez-Vazquez et al., 2019; Rubin et al., 2010; Watrin et al., 2022). As a consequence, the terms IEI-EMF and EHS are frequently used interchangeably in epidemiological studies, and this is likely to affect the range in estimated prevalence, which in industrialized countries varies between 1.5 % and 21 % (Eltiti et al., 2007; Hillert et al., 2002; Karvala et al., 2018; Levallois et al., 2002; Schreier et al., 2006).

Little is understood in how far IEI-EMF changes over time: intriguingly, some studies observed a similar percentage of IEI-EMF at baseline and at follow-up one or two years later (Kowall et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2018; Röösli et al., 2010), despite a high turnover rate in the population reporting IEI-EMF at follow-up. This implies that attribution of health complaints to EMF exposure is temporary for many but not all people. Therefore, it would be informative to study not only predictors of developing IEI-EMF, but also predictors of maintaining or discarding IEI-EMF. This requires a longitudinal design with repeat surveys on both symptom experience and attribution to EMF exposure, to understand what comes first. To the best of our knowledge, while several studies have addressed risk factors for developing IEI-EMF, few research efforts have targeted the question for whom IEI-EMF is a transient phenomenon.

In this study we aim to evaluate the time course of attribution of health complaints specifically to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) in a Dutch population assessed at three time points over the course of 10 years by examining factors that are related to developing, maintaining, or discarding IEI-RF, defined as reporting any health complaint attributed to RF-EMF exposure sources. Second, we aim to assess predictors of developing EHS at

follow-up using a question targeting the notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive, without the condition of self-reporting health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure.

Material and methods

Study participants

We used data from the population-based occupational and environmental health prospective cohort study (AMIGO) established in 2011/2012 to investigate environmental and occupational determinants of diseases and symptoms in the Dutch adult population. The rationale, study design and participant recruitment in AMIGO were described in detail previously (Slottje et al., 2014). In short, AMIGO participants were recruited from the general population in the Netherlands through the Primary Care Database of the Netherlands Institute for Health Services Research (NIVEL), which consists of routinely recorded data from health care providers to monitor health and utilization of health services in the Dutch population (Nivel Primary Care Database | Nivel, 2022). The sample includes 14,829 adults (16 % of those invited), aged 31-65 years at the time of data collection (2011/2012), who were randomly selected within households based on their address. The AMIGO cohort study includes dedicated questionnaires to assess relationships between exposure, risk perception, symptom reporting and symptom attribution to environmental factors including RF-EMFs. Participants filled in an online questionnaire at baseline (2011/2012; T_o) and in 2015 (n=7,905; T_a; response rate 54 %), and a targeted subset of participants sampled based on contrast in perceived and estimated RF-EMF exposure at baseline filled in two additional follow-up questionnaires in 2013 (n=2,228; T₁; response rate 56 %) and 2014 (n=1,740; T₂; response rate 78 %) to answer questions about perceived RF-EMF and other environmental factor exposure and risk, health concerns, symptom attribution to RF-EMF exposure, non-specific symptoms and sleep disturbances (Martens et al., 2017, 2018). We performed an update in 2021 (T_a) in which individuals who had participated at T, completed a questionnaire where information pertaining to RF-EMF perceptions (perceived exposure, risk and concern, including pertaining to 5G technology), symptoms, and attribution to RF-EMF exposure were assessed again (n=892; response rate 40 %). In the 2021 (T_a) questionnaire additional items were added related to EHS. We included in the current analyses participants who filled in questionnaires at time points T_0 , T_1 , and T_4 in order to achieve the largest possible sample size (Figure 1).

Health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure - IEI-RF

Self-reported health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) were assessed at time points T_0 and T_1 with the subsequent questions: "Do you currently have health complaints that you attribute to the environment" and "if so, to what environmental

factors/sources, select from the following or describe another factor/source". From this list of sources we selected: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones; (3) electromagnetic fields from cordless phones; (possible answers "yes" or "no")?", and at time point T_4 with the subsequent questions: "Do you currently have health complaints that you attribute to the environment" and "if so, to what environmental factors/sources, select from the following or describe another factor/source". From this list of sources we selected: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from the following or describe another factor/source". From this list of sources we selected: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from 5G technology; (possible answers "yes" or "no")?". Participants were considered as IEI-RF at any time point if at least one RF-EMF category was marked in the respective questionnaires.

Self-reported notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive – EHS

At T_4 we asked participants to indicate to which extent they considered themselves as electromagnetic hypersensitive by asking the following question: "Do you think you are electromagnetic hypersensitive (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)?". In the analyses we classified as electromagnetic hypersensitive participants whose score ranged between 4 and 6.

Perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk

Perceived exposure to RF-EMFs (among other environmental exposures) was assessed at T_0 and T_1 with the question: "To what extent do you think you are exposed to: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones; (3) electromagnetic fields from cordless phones; (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)?", and at time point T_4 with the question: "To what extent do you think you are exposed to: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones, cordless phones and other wireless devices, (e.g. laptop, tablet); (3) electromagnetic fields from 5G technology; (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)?".

Perceived risk with respect to RF-EMFs (amongst other specified environmental factors) was assessed at T_0 and T_1 with the question: "To what extent do you think that ((1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones; (3) electromagnetic fields from cordless phones) pose a risk to the health in everyday circumstances? (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)", and at time point T_4 with the question: "To what extent do you think that ((1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones, cordless phones and other wireless devices, (e.g. laptop, tablet); (3) electromagnetic fields from 5G technology) pose a risk to the health in everyday circumstances? (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)".

The cut-offs to define low/high exposure and risk perception categories were calculated based on the distribution of perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk at T_0 (low: 0th-90th percentile, high: 90th-100th percentile, cut-off point perceived RF-EMF exposure =12; cut-off point perceived RF-EMF risk =12).

Self-reported non-specific symptoms and sleep disturbances

We assessed non-specific symptoms and sleep disturbances at time points T_0 , T_1 , and T_4 . For the first, we used the Four-Dimensional Symptom Questionnaire (4DSQ) (Terluin et al., 2006), a self-report questionnaire developed in the Dutch language and validated to discriminate in clinical practice between four dimensions (distress, somatization, anxiety, depression). We calculated the total symptom score (range 0-32) from the somatization scale (4DSQ-S) which consists of 16 nonspecific somatic symptoms (e.g. headache, palpitations, low back pain) commonly reported by patients with somatization (disorder). Participants self-reported on a 5-point scale ranging from "no" to "constantly" whether they had experienced any of these symptoms during the previous week. To obtain a total score, we trichotomized and then summed over the symptoms (no=0; sometimes=1; regularly/often/constantly=2) (Martens et al., 2017). Sleep disturbances were assessed using the 6-item medical outcomes study (MOS) scale, a sleep problem index which ranges from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating more sleep disturbances or lower sleep quality (Spritzer & Hays, 2003).

Socio-demographic characteristics

Socio-demographic characteristics collected at baseline included sex, age, the highest level of education attained (low: primary school, lower vocational training or lower secondary education; intermediate: intermediate vocational education or intermediate/ higher secondary education; high: higher vocational education or university degree), and self-reported mobile phone use (user; nonuser). In addition, urbanicity level was determined for each participants home address based on the density of addresses (very highly urban: \geq 2,500 addresses per km²; highly urban: 1,500–2,500 addresses per km²; moderately urban: 1,000–1,500 addresses per km²; little urban: 500–1,000 addresses per km²; non-urban: < 500 addresses per km²) (Statistiek, 2011).

Statistical analysis

We calculated descriptive statistics for age, sex, the highest level of education attained, urbanicity level, and self-reported mobile phone use at baseline, and at each time point for perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, and MOS sleep index. We used one-way repeated measures ANOVA to compare group means of 4DSQ-S score and MOS sleep index, respectively, across all time points. The proportion of participants reporting IEI-RF was calculated at each time point T_{0} , T_{1} , and T_{a} , whereas the

proportion of those defining themselves as EHS was only available at T_a .

We used the R package msm to calculate the observed transitions and transition probabilities of IEI-RF over different time intervals, and fit multi-state Markov models to our data (Jackson, 2011). In short, the multi-state Markov model is a flexible way of describing a process in which an individual moves through a discrete set of states, assuming that there is a continuous process underlying the data (i.e. the event varies continuously through time, but is only observed at the same times as the state of the Markov process). It relies on the Markov assumption that future evolution only depends on the current state (Kalbfleisch & Lawless, 1985). We fitted multi-state Markov models to represent how individuals in our cohort transitioned between two states defined by the presence ("yes") or absence ("no") of IEI-RF. More specifically, we estimated four multistate Markov models including perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 1), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 2), 4DSQ-S score (Model 3), MOS sleep index (Model 4) as time-dependent risk factors to investigate potential time-variant effects on transition rates, adjusted for sex and age. To fit a multi-state model to our data, we estimated a transition intensity matrix in which each individual may transition from one state to another at each time point T_{0} , T_{1} , and T_{4} , and the next state to which the individual moves, and the time of the change, are governed by a set of transition intensities for each pair of states. The defined multi-state model is illustrated in Supplementary Figure 1. The intensities represent the instantaneous risk of moving from one state to another. It may depend on the time of the process, or more generally a set of individual-specific or time-varying explanatory variables, assuming that they are constant in between the observation times of the Markov process. We performed Pearson-type goodness-of-fit tests to assess the overall fit of the models (Titman & Sharples, 2008). This method, available in the msm package, compares observed and expected numbers of transitions between pairs of states for a series of transition starting times, transition time intervals and covariate categories, and it is intended for data which represent observations of the process at arbitrary times. In cases where there are several low expected counts in the resulting contingency tables, the number of observation time, time interval, or covariate categories may be reduced to improve the χ^2 approximation (Aguirre-Hernández & Farewell, 2002; Jackson, 2011).

We explored the association between EHS at T_4 and perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index assessed at T_0 . We estimated four logistic regression models including perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 5), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 6), 4DSQ-S score (Model 7), MOS sleep index (Model 8) as independent variables, adjusted for sex and age. We fitted two mutually adjusted logistic regression models where perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, and MOS sleep index were considered simultaneously, adjusted for sex and age (Model 9), and sex, age, the

highest level of education attained, urbanicity level, and self-reported mobile phone use (Model 10) as sensitivity analysis, respectively.

In addition, we conducted the following secondary analyses to explore the association between EHS at T_4 and perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index assessed at T_1 : we estimated four logistic regression models including perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 11), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 12), 4DSQ-S score (Model 13), MOS sleep index (Model 14) as independent variables, adjusted for sex and age. We fitted two mutually adjusted logistic regression models where perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, and MOS sleep index were considered simultaneously, adjusted for sex and age (Model 15), and sex, age, the highest level of education attained, urbanicity level, and self-reported mobile phone use (Model 16) as sensitivity analysis, respectively.

This population-based cohort study was conducted according to an analysis plan developed a priori and defining in detail the planned statistical analysis (Supplementary Analysis Plan). Missing values (<1.0 %) were replaced with the most common category (categorical variables) or with the mean value (continuous variables). All analyses were conducted with the R statistical software, version 4.0.4. Computing code related to all analyses presented is publicly available at https://github.com/eugeniotraini/multistate_RF_EMF.

Results

Descriptive statistics

Baseline characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1. The AMIGO sub-cohort for this analysis consisted of 892 adults, half of whom were male, with a mean age of 50 years. More than half of the respondents attained a high level of education and most of the participants lived in urban areas. Three-quarters of the cohort were mobile phone users.

Participant characteristics in the full cohort at baseline were similar to those of the respondents included in the sub-cohort, although highly educated participants and those living in urban areas were slightly overrepresented in the sub-cohort compared to the full cohort (Supplementary Table 1).

Median perception of RF-EMF exposure ($T_0=5$; $T_1=6$; $T_4=9$) and risk ($T_0=4$; $T_1=6$; $T_4=9$) showed a rising trend over time (Supplementary Figure 2), with around 5 % and 7 % of participants classified in the high perception group at T_0 , values that increased up to 20 % and 14 % at T_4 (Table 2). The distribution of scores of perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk grouped by exposure source are presented in Supplementary Figure 3 and showed that participants at T_4 indicated they perceived themselves to be stronger exposed to and more at risk from RF-EMFs compared to T_0 and T_1 . Additionally, around 28% of re-

spondents self-reported they were exposed to RF-EMFs from 5G at $T_{4'}$ and the same percentage also applied to those who indicated that 5G may pose risks to their health.

The 4DSQ-S score (F(2,24)=1.39, p=0.3) and MOS sleep index (F(2,46)=1.62, p=0.2) were not statistically significantly different at T_{0} , T_{1} , and T_{4} , respectively (Table 2).

Table 3 lists the proportion of participants reporting IEI-RF at each time point, and those self-declaring as EHS at T_4 . Results showed that 12 % of the respondents claimed to be EHS at T_4 , whereas the percentage of individuals reporting IEI-RF was limited in our population and did not vary substantially over time (ranging from 1.0 % at T_0 to 1.2 % at T_4) (Table 3).

Observed transitions, estimated transition probabilities, and multi-state Markov models

The observed transitions, that is the number of times each pair of states were observed in successive observation times between T_0 and T_1 , T_1 and T_4 , and any consecutive time points T_0 , T_1 , T_4 , are shown in Supplementary Table 2. Results indicated that the number of participants transitioning between the two states of IEI-RF (from "no" to "yes", or "yes" to "no") between T_0 and T_1 (A) and T_1 and T_4 (B) was stable over time, however, the transition did not always involve the same participants. Of nine respondents reporting IEI-RF at T_0 , three still reported the same at T_4 , but only one of them also reported the same at both T_1 and T_4 (Supplementary Figure 4). Based on the results from the fitted transition probability matrix, we observed that participants had a 95 % chance of transitioning from "yes" to "no" over a time course of 10 years (46 % in 2 years' time), and a 1 % chance of transitioning from "no" to "yes" (0.6 % in 2 years' time) (Supplementary Table 3).

The results of the multi-state Markov models are presented in Table 4 and suggested that participants with a high perception of both RF-EMF exposure (Model 1) and risk (Model 2) at any time point had an increased tendency to switch state by attributing health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (HR=4.11, 95 % CI:0.87,19.53; HR=3.81, 95 % CI:0.76,19.18). On the other hand, participants had a reduced tendency of no longer attributing health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (HR=0.56, 95 % CI:0.11,2.82; HR=0.46, 95 % CI:0.10,2.16) compared to those in the low exposure perception group. 4DSQ-S score (Model 3), and MOS sleep index (Model 4) were not associated with transitioning between states.

Factors associated with the self-reported notion of being EHS

In Table 5 we present results from logistic regression on the association between the self-reported notion of being EHS at T_4 and independent variables assessed at T_0 . In the models evaluating each independent variable separately, perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk, 4DSQ-S score, and MOS sleep index were significantly associated with

increased odds of being EHS at T_4 . More specifically, participants who showed a high perception of RF-EMF exposure at T_0 had an increased odds of being EHS at T_4 (OR=4.17, 95 % CI:2.10,8.00). Similarly, participants with a high perception of RF-EMF risk at T_0 had an increased odds of being EHS at T_4 (OR=4.08, 95 % CI:2.26,7.17). Finally, both the 4DSQ-S score and the MOS sleep index at T_0 were associated with an increase in the odds of being EHS at T_4 (OR=1.07, 95 % CI:1.03,1.10; OR=1.02, 95 % CI:1.00,1.03). Results from the mutually adjusted model with minimal adjustment (Model 9) and full adjustment (Model 10) were consistent with those from the models evaluating each independent variable separately, although the estimates were generally attenuated (Table 5). Results from secondary analyses exploring the association between EHS at T_4 and perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index assessed at T_1 showed no discrepancies from the main results (Table 6).

Discussion

In our study we observed a low prevalence (~1 %) of adults reporting IEI-RF over the 10-year follow-up. While this 1 % of persons remained stable at all time points in our study, the individuals who reported IEI-RF changed over time: of nine persons reporting symptoms attributed to RF-EMF at $T_{0'}$ only one still reported the same at T_1 and $T_{4'}$ and two newly reported health complaints at T_4 . In addition, about 12 % of the participants reported the notion of being EHS (without the condition of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure) at $T_{4'}$ and we observed that high RF-EMF risk and exposure perception, as well as self-reported symptoms and sleep disturbances at T_0 and $T_{1'}$ were statistically significant risk factors for this condition.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first epidemiological study investigating the time course of IEI-RF in a well-established general population cohort of adult individuals assessed at multiple time points over a long time period of follow-up, which enabled us to investigate the dynamic process of IEI-RF with 2 and 10 years of latency. Furthermore, by collecting data on perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk, and non-specific symptoms (i.e. symptom reporting and sleep disturbances) over the 10-year follow-up, we were well positioned to investigate the dynamics of several individual factors possibly related to IEI-RF.

Weakness of our study includes that it was not feasible to measure true exposure in our study participants and we were therefore not able to follow the time course of actual RF-EMF exposure. Because we asked for the "most important health complaint" attributed to RF-EMF exposure, we were also not able to reliably follow which exact symptoms were included into the attribution over time. Furthermore, given the sparseness of consistent "yes" data of IEI-RF over time, we did not estimate mutually adjusted multi-state Markov models. Finally, we could not assess the time course of EHS in the study popula-

tion due to the lack of EHS data at T_0 and T_1 .

A previous longitudinal study conducted in Switzerland in 2008 and 2009 showed that only a minority of the participants who attributed health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (27 %) made the same declaration after one year (Röösli et al., 2010), and a longitudinal study conducted in Germany between 2004 and 2006 found a slightly larger proportion of participants (31 %) who did the same after two years of follow-up (Kowall et al., 2012). These results are consistent with what we found in our study, with a strong change in the population reporting symptoms attributed to RF-EMF exposure. Over the course of 10 years this translated to a 95 % probability of not attributing health complaints to RF-EMF exposure any more in persons who did so at baseline, and to a 1 % probability of acquiring such an attribution in those who did not attribute at baseline.

The estimated prevalence of EHS as well as of IEI-RF and IEI-EMF in the general population is uncertain (Eltiti et al., 2007; Hillert et al., 2002; Karvala et al., 2018; Levallois et al., 2002; Schreier et al., 2006). In our cohort we observed a lower prevalence of IEI-RF compared to previous studies. Kowall et al. estimated the prevalence of IEI-RF to be 8.7 % (2004) and 7.2 % (2006) based on attribution of health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (Kowall et al., 2012). However, this study was limited to only focusing on RF-EMF exposure from mobile phone base stations. Röösli et al. reported an IEI-RF prevalence of 13.0 % and 14.3 % in 2008 and 2009, respectively, when evaluating health complaints generally attributed to electromagnetic pollution in everyday life. In that same study, EHS prevalence was also assessed based on a question targeting the notion of being EHS. Based on that question, the EHS prevalence was lower (8.6 % and 7.7 % in 2008 and 2009, respectively), and lower than what we found in our general population cohort in 2021 (12.1 %) using a similar question to define EHS (Röösli et al., 2010). We provided data about prevalence of IEI-RF and EHS by year, in our and in the named other studies, in Supplementary Table 4.

The following factors could contribute to the disagreement between the estimated prevalence of IEI-RF and EHS: first, the term "electromagnetic hypersensitivity" may not be familiar to all individuals in our Dutch cohort. Interestingly, of the 11 participants reporting IEI-RF in 2021, only 6 defined themselves as EHS when answering the question targeting the notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive in the same year. In contrast, only 6 out of 108 participants defining themselves as EHS also attributed own health complaints to RF-EMF exposure in the same year. These results indicated that our participants provided a different interpretation of IEI-RF and the notion of being EHS, thus suggesting that future studies should carefully design their survey and questionnaire in order to obtain the most comprehensive and accurate estimates of IEI-RF and EHS prevalence in the study population. Due to the considerable heterogeneity in the criteria used by researchers to define EHS, reports of EHS as well as of IEI-RF prevalence in different populations may be difficult to align (Baliatsas et al., 2012).

Second, people who self-describe as electromagnetic hypersensitive may avoid exposure and thus not be attributing symptoms. As a consequence, one could expect a higher prevalence for being sensitive than for experiencing symptoms that can be attributed. At the same time, the exact wording of the question in the questionnaire can play a role. It might be easier for participants who generally consider themselves sensitive to any (environmental) stressors to perceive themselves also electromagnetic hypersensitive. On the other hand, by asking for health complaints attributed to specific RF-EMF sources, it might be less likely for those who generally consider themselves sensitive to say "yes". Third, we did not consider in our analyses health complaints attributed to extremely low frequency electric and magnetic fields (ELF-EMF), such as from powerlines or electric appliances. Therefore, we cannot exclude that these additional EMF sources may have influenced the proportion of participants defining themselves as sensitive to RF-EMF exposure at T_a. However, information on health complaints attributed to ELF-EMF was available at T_0 and T_1 and showed that only 2 out of 892 participants reported at least one symptom that they attributed to ELF-EMF exposure. This result suggested that an underestimation of EHS prevalence due to missing information on ELF-EMF at T, was unlikely to have been large in our study.

Finally, given the sample size of the AMIGO sub-cohort, the difference in estimated prevalence of EHS and IEI-RF should be interpreted cautiously.

Three main pathways have been hypothesized to explain what underlies EHS or IEI-RF: first, the biological pathway outlines that participants' RF-EMF exposure causes symptoms (Dieudonné, 2020). Presumably, for symptoms to go away, exposure would need to be attenuated. Given that we did not measure true RF-EMF exposure of our participants over time, we are limited in our ability to explore this exposure attenuation hypothesis in detail. However, it has been shown that one's own exposure is primarily driven by the own use of devices, in particular when calling with mobile phones (van Wel et al., 2021). Exposure reduction over time thus should entail that participants are aware of their own behavior changes and thus one would expect that their perceived exposure would be reduced as well. However, persons who attributed symptoms to RF-EMF exposure at T_0 or T_1 , but not at T_4 , tended to report higher exposure perception at T_4 than at the two previous time points, which does not fit this hypothesized pattern. Of note, current evidence is limited regarding a biological pathway in causing symptoms (French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety (ANSES), 2013; SSM's Scientific Council on Electromagnetic Fields, 2021). Second, the cognitive pathway hypothesizes that perceived exposure and risk promote a nocebo response that generates symptoms (Dieudonné, 2020). Ample experimental evidence supports nocebo effects (Martens et al., 2017; Szemerszky et al., 2010), although duration of such induced health problems have rarely been assessed. In our study, participants with higher risk and exposure perception were somewhat more likely to transition towards attributing symptoms, indicating that nocebo effects may be relevant. Contrasting this, the observation that study participants reporting IEI-RF at T_0 and T_1 , but not at T_4 , overall increased (and not decreased) exposure and risk perception over time, does not support the cognitive hypothesis. Alternatively, symptoms triggered by nocebo effects may not be persistent. A recent qualitative study on IEI-EMF subjects suggested symptom reports preceded EMF risk perception which also contradicts the cognitive pathway (Dieudonné, 2016). As a third hypothesized pathway, symptoms may be attributed to RF-EMF exposure to help explain a health problem and reduce uncertainty regarding the underlying cause (attributive hypothesis) (Dieudonné, 2020). Prevalence of non-specific symptom reporting at least one non-specific symptom at T_0 , T_1 , and T_4 , respectively. Given that we cannot explore whether symptom reporting or risk perception came first, we are not able to prove or disprove this pathway. Nevertheless, the high prevalence of symptom reports means that this pathway was possible in our population.

Conclusion

In our study we found that IEI-RF appears to be a more transient phenomenon than previously assumed. At each time point, about 1 % of study participants reported health complaints that they attributed to RF-EMF exposure and, overall, participants had a 95 % chance of transitioning from "yes" to "no" over a time course of 10 years, and a chance of 1 % of transitioning from "no" to "yes". Participants with a high perception of both RF-EMF exposure and health risk had a general tendency to transition more frequently between states.

RF-EMF perceptions as well as non-specific symptom reporting and sleep disturbances at baseline were predictive for the notion of being EHS at 10 years follow-up, regardless of whether reporting health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure. The knowledge regarding predictors of these dynamics may provide opportunities for future risk communication and prevention, particularly targeting those individuals in the population who consistently attribute health complaints to RF-EMF exposure over time.

References

- Aguirre-Hernández, R., & Farewell, V. T. (2002). A Pearson-type goodness-of-fit test for stationary and time-continuous Markov regression models. *Statistics in Medicine*, *21*(13), 1899–1911. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1152
- Augner, C., & Hacker, G. W. (2009). Are people living next to mobile phone base stations more strained? Relationship of health concerns, self-estimated distance to base station, and psychological parameters. *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 13(3), 141–145. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5278.58918
- Baliatsas, C., Bolte, J., Yzermans, J., Kelfkens, G., Hooiveld, M., Lebret, E., & van Kamp, I. (2015). Actual and perceived exposure to electromagnetic fields and non-specific physical symptoms: An epidemiological study based on self-reported data and electronic medical records. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, *218*(3), 331–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2015.02.001
- Baliatsas, C., Kamp, I. V., Yzermans, J., Bolte, J., & Lebret, E. (2009). Non-specific Physical Symptoms in Relation to the Actual and Perceived Exposure to EMF (Electromagnetic Fields) and the Underlying Mechanisms*. *Epidemiology*, 20(6), S123. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ede.0000362425.28850.f9
- Baliatsas, C., Van Kamp, I., Lebret, E., & Rubin, G. J. (2012). Idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields (IEI-EMF): A systematic review of identifying criteria. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), 643. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-643
- Dieudonné, M. (2016). Does electromagnetic hypersensitivity originate from nocebo responses? Indications from a qualitative study. *Bioelectromagnetics*, *37*(1), 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.21937
- Dieudonné, M. (2019). Becoming electro-hypersensitive: A replication study. *Bioelectro-magnetics*, 40(3), 188–200. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.22180
- Dieudonné, M. (2020). Electromagnetic hypersensitivity: A critical review of explanatory hypotheses. *Environmental Health*, *19*, 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00602-0
- Eltiti, S., Wallace, D., Zougkou, K., Russo, R., Joseph, S., Rasor, P., & Fox, E. (2007). Development and evaluation of the electromagnetic hypersensitivity questionnaire. *Bioelectromagnetics*, 28(2), 137–151. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.20279
- French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety (ANSES). (2013). Opinion of the French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety on the "Health effects associated with exposure to low-frequency electromagnetic fields". ANSES Opinion Request No 2013-SA-0038, 1-14.
- Frick, U., Rehm, J., & Eichhammer, P. (2002). Risk perception, somatization, and self re-

port of complaints related to electromagnetic fields—A randomized survey study. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 205(5), 353–360. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4639-00170

- Hillert, L., Berglind, N., Arnetz, B. B., & Bellander, T. (2002). Prevalence of self-reported hypersensitivity to electric or magnetic fields in a population-based questionnaire survey. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 28*(1), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.644
- Jackson, C. (2011). Multi-State Models for Panel Data: The msm Package for R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *38*, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v038.i08
- Kalbfleisch, J. D., & Lawless, J. F. (1985). The Analysis of Panel Data Under a Markov Assumption. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 80(392), 863–871. https://doi.org/10.2307/2288545
- Karvala, K., Sainio, M., Palmquist, E., Nyback, M.-H., & Nordin, S. (2018). Prevalence of various environmental intolerances in a Swedish and Finnish general population. *Environmental Research*, 161, 220–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.11.014
- Kjellqvist, A., Palmquist, E., & Nordin, S. (2016). Psychological symptoms and health-related quality of life in idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 84, 8–12. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.03.006
- Kowall, B., Breckenkamp, J., Blettner, M., Schlehofer, B., Schüz, J., & Berg-Beckhoff, G. (2012). Determinants and stability over time of perception of health risks related to mobile phone base stations. *International Journal of Public Health*, 57(4), 735–743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-011-0310-4
- Levallois, P., Neutra, R., Lee, G., & Hristova, L. (2002). Study of self-reported hypersensitivity to electromagnetic fields in California. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *110 Suppl 4*, 619–623. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.02110s4619
- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Smid, T., Kromhout, H., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Timmermans, D. R. M. (2018). Longitudinal associations between risk appraisal of base stations for mobile phones, radio or television and non-specific symptoms. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *112*, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.07.008
- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Timmermans, D. R. M., Kromhout, H., Reedijk, M., Vermeulen,
 R. C. H., & Smid, T. (2017). Modeled and Perceived Exposure to Radiofrequency Electromagnetic Fields From Mobile-Phone Base Stations and the Development of Symptoms Over Time in a General Population Cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *186*(2), 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx041
- Nivel Primary Care Database | Nivel. (2022). https://www.nivel.nl/en/nivel-zorgregistraties-eerste-lijn/nivel-primary-care-database

- Ramirez-Vazquez, R., Gonzalez-Rubio, J., Arribas, E., & Najera, A. (2019). Characterisation of personal exposure to environmental radiofrequency electromagnetic fields in Albacete (Spain) and assessment of risk perception. *Environmental Research*, *172*, 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.015
- Röösli, M., Mohler, E., & Frei, P. (2010). Sense and sensibility in the context of radiofrequency electromagnetic field exposure. *Comptes Rendus Physique*, 11(9), 576–584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crhy.2010.10.007
- Röösli, M., Moser, M., Baldinini, Y., Meier, M., & Braun-Fahrländer, C. (2004). Symptoms of ill health ascribed to electromagnetic field exposure – a questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 207(2), 141– 150. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4639-00269
- Rubin, G. J., Nieto-Hernandez, R., & Wessely, S. (2010). Idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields (formerly 'electromagnetic hypersensitivity'): An updated systematic review of provocation studies. *Bioelectromagnetics*, 31(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.20536
- Schreier, N., Huss, A., & Röösli, M. (2006). The prevalence of symptoms attributed to electromagnetic field exposure: A cross-sectional representative survey in Switzerland. *Sozial- Und Präventivmedizin*, *51*(4), 202–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00038-006-5061-2
- Slottje, P., Yzermans, C. J., Korevaar, J. C., Hooiveld, M., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2014). The population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Prospective Cohort Study (AMIGO) in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 4(11), e005858. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005858
- Spritzer, K., & Hays, R. (2003). MOS Sleep Scale: A Manual for Use and Scoring. Version 1.0. Los Angeles, CA: RAND Corporation;
- SSM's Scientific Council on Electromagnetic Fields. (2021). Recent Research on EMF and Health Risk, Fifteenth report from SSM's Scientific Council on Electromagnetic Fields. www.ssm.se
- Statistiek, C. B. voor de. (2011). *Wijk- en buurtkaart 2011* [Webpagina]. Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/dossier/nederland-regionaal/ geografische-data/wijk-en-buurtkaart-2011
- Stein, Y., & Udasin, I. G. (2020). Electromagnetic hypersensitivity (EHS, microwave syndrome) – Review of mechanisms. *Environmental Research*, 186, 109445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109445
- Szemerszky, R., Köteles, F., Lihi, R., & Bárdos, G. (2010). Polluted places or polluted minds? An experimental sham-exposure study on background psychological factors of symptom formation in 'Idiophatic Environmental Intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields'. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 213(5), 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.05.001

- Terluin, B., van Marwijk, H. W. J., Adèr, H. J., de Vet, H. C. W., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Hermens, M. L. M., van Boeijen, C. A., van Balkom, A. J. L. M., van der Klink, J. J. L., & Stalman, W. A. B. (2006). The Four-Dimensional Symptom Questionnaire (4DSQ): A validation study of a multidimensional self-report questionnaire to assess distress, depression, anxiety and somatization. *BMC Psychiatry*, *6*, 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-6-34
- Titman, A., & Sharples, L. (2008). A General Goodness-of-Fit Test for Markov and Hidden Markov Models. Statistics in Medicine, 27(12), 2177–95.
- van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Huss, A., Thielens, A., Wiart, J., Joseph, W., Röösli, M., Foerster, M., Massardier-Pilonchery, A., Capstick, M., Cardis, E., & Vermeulen, R. (2021). Radio-frequency electromagnetic field exposure and contribution of sources in the general population: An organ-specific integrative exposure assessment. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, *31*(6), 999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00287-8
- Watrin, L., Nordin, S., Szemerszky, R., Wilhelm, O., Witthöft, M., & Köteles, F. (2022). Psychological models of development of idiopathic environmental intolerances: Evidence from longitudinal population-based data. *Environmental Research*, 204, 111774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111774

	Cohort at T ₀ (2011/2012)			
	n (%)	Mean (SD)		
Sex male female	424 (47.5) 468 (52.5)			
Age (in years)		50.4 (9.0)		
Highest level of education attained ^a low intermediate high	157 (17.6) 266 (29.8) 469 (52.6)			
Urbanicity level ^b very highly urban highly urban moderately urban little urban non-urban	117 (13.1) 282 (31.6) 238 (26.7) 177 (19.8) 78 (8.8)			
Mobile phone use nonuser user	234 (26.2) 658 (73.8)			

Table 1. Characteristics of the participants at T_0 (2011/2012) in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).

^aLow: primary school, lower vocational training or lower secondary education; intermediate: intermediate vocational education or intermediate/ higher secondary education; high: higher vocational education or university degree.
 ^bVery highly urban: ≥ 2,500 addresses per km²; highly urban: 1,500–2,500 addresses per km²; moderately urban: 1,000–1,500 addresses per km²; little urban: 500–1,000 addresses per km²; non-urban: < 500 addresses per km².

Table footnote for publication: Characteristics of the participants at baseline (T_a: 2011/2012) in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).

Table 2. Perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, and symptom characteristics at T _o (2011/2012), 1	ſ.,
(2013), and T $_{_4}$ (2021) in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).	1

	Cohort at T ₀ (2011/2012)		Cohort at T ₁ (2013)		Cohort at T ₄ (2021)	
	n (%)	Mean (SD)	n (%)	Mean (SD)	n (%)	Mean (SD)
Perceived RF-EMF exposure ^a low perception high perception	847 (94.9) 45 (5.1)		826 (92.6) 66 (7.4)		718 (80.5) 174 (19.5)	
Perceived RF-EMF risk ^b low perception high perception	828 (92.8) 64 (7.2)		805 (90.2) 87 (9.8)		767 (86.0) 125 (14.0)	
4DSQ-S score		5.9 (5.3)		5.7 (4.9)		7.0 (5.1)
MOS sleep index		26.7 (14.3)		27.0 (14.1)		26.4 (14.8)

^aThe cut-off point for low/high perception was based on the distribution of perceived RF-EMF exposure at T_o (low: 0th-90th percentile, high: 90th-100th

The cut-off point for low/high perception was based on the distribution of perceived RF-EMF risk at T_0 (low: 0th-90th percentile, high: 90th-100th percentile, cut-off point for low/high perception was based on the distribution of perceived RF-EMF risk at T_0 (low: 0th-90th percentile, high: 90th-100th percentile, cut-off point=12).

Abbreviations: 4DSQ-S, somatization scale of the Four-Dimensional Symptom Questionnaire; MOS, Medical Outcomes Study; n, number of participants; SD, standard deviation.

Table footnote for publication: Distribution of perceived RF-EMF exposure and perceived RF-EMF risk at T_0 (2011/2012), T_1 (2013), and T_4 (2021) and mean (standard deviation) of non-specific symptoms (4DSQ-S score) and sleep disturbances (MOS sleep index) at T_0 (2011/2012), T_1 (2013), and T₄ (2021) in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).

Table 3. Prevalence of self-reported health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) at T_0 (2011/2012), T_1 (2013), and T_4 (2021), and self-reported notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive (EHS) at T_4 (2021), in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).

	Cohort at T ₀ (2011/2012)		Cohort at T ₁ (2013)		Cohort at T ₄ (2021)	
	n	%	n	%	n	%
Health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) no yes	883 9	99.0 1.0	882 10	98.9 1.1	881 11	98.8 1.2
Self-reported notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive (EHS) no yes	-		-		784 108	87.9 12.1

Table footnote for publication: Distribution of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) at T_0 (2011/2012), T_1 (2013), and T_4 (2021) and self-reported notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive (EHS) at T_4 (2021) in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).

Table 4. Associations of self-reported health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) with perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 1), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 2), 4DSQ-S score (Model 3), MOS sleep index (Model 4), evaluated with multi-state models with transitions at T0, T1, and T4 in the sub-cohort of AMIGO (n=892).

	transition	HR 95% CI		
Model 1ª				
Perceived RF-EMF exposure				
low perception	no-yes	1		
	yes-no	1		
high perception	no-yes	4.11 (0.87;19.53)		
high perception	yes-no	0.56 (0.11;2.82)		
Model 2ª				
Perceived RF-EMF risk				
low porception	no-yes	1		
	yes-no	1		
high perception	no-yes	3.81 (0.76;19.18)		
high perception	yes-no	0.46 (0.10;2.16)		
Model 3 ^a				
4DSQ-S Score				
	no-yes	1.07 (0.95;1.20)		
	yes-no	0.96 (0.85;1.08)		
Model 4ª				
MOS Sleep Index				
	no-yes	0.98 (0.91;1.05)		
	yes-no	0.93 (0.87;1.01)		

^aAdjusted for sex and age at T₀.

Abbreviations: 4DSQ-S, somatization scale of the Four-Dimensional Symptom Questionnaire; MOS, Medical Outcomes Study; HR, Hazard Ratios; CI, Confidence Interval.

Table footnote for publication: Results from four multi-state Markov models representing how individuals in the sub-cohort transitioned between two states defined by the presence ("ves") or absence ("no") of IEI-RF. We included perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 1), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 2), 4DSQ-S score (Model 3), and MOS sleep index (Model 4) as time-dependent risk factors to investigate potential time-variant effects on transition rates, adjusted for sex and age.

Table 5. Associations of self-reported notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive (EHS) at T₄ with perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 5), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 6), 4DSQ-S score (Model 7), MOS sleep index (Model 8), and perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index mutually adjusted (Model 9 with minimal adjustment; Model 10 with full adjustment) assessed at T₀.

	Model 5ª	Model 6ª	Model 7ª	Model 8ª	Model 9ª	Model 10 ^b
	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI
Perceived RF-EMF exposure low perception high perception	1 4.17 (2.10;8.00)	-	-	-	1 2.39 (1.09;4.97)	1 2.38 (1.08;5.01)
Perceived RF-EMF risk low perception high perception	-	1 4.08 (2.26;7.17)	-	-	1 2.92 (1.50;5.49)	1 3.07 (1.57;5.83)
4DSQ-S Score	-	-	1.07 (1.03;1.10)	-	1.05 (1.01;1.09)	1.05 (1.00;1.09)
MOS Sleep Index	-	-	-	1.02 (1.00;1.03)	1.01 (0.99;1.02)	1.01 (0.99;1.02)

^aAdjusted for sex and age at T₀.

^bAdjusted for sex, age, the highest level of education attained, urbanicity level, and self-reported mobile phone use at T_n.

Table footnote for publication: Results from logistic regression on the association between EHS at T_4 and perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index, assessed at T_0 . We estimated four logistic regression models including each independent variable separately, and two mutually adjusted logistic regression models (with minimal and full adjustment) where perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index were considered simultaneously.
Table 6. Associations of self-reported notion of being electromagnetic hypersensitive (EHS) at T4 with perceived RF-EMF exposure (Model 11), perceived RF-EMF risk (Model 12), 4DSQ-S score (Model 13), MOS sleep index (Model 14), and perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index mutually adjusted (Model 15 with minimal adjustment; Model 16 with full adjustment) assessed at T1.

	Model 11 ^ª	Model 12 ^ª	Model 13ª	Model 14 ^a	Model 15ª	Model 16 ^b
	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI	OR 95 % CI
Perceived RF-EMF exposure low perception high perception	1 2.85 (1.53;5.10)	-	-	-	1 1.64 (0.79;3.28)	1 1.84 (0.87;3.72)
Perceived RF-EMF risk low perception high perception	-	1 3.02 (1.74;5.09)	-	-	1 2.36 (1.24;4.36)	1 2.41 (1.25;4.51)
4DSQ-S Score	-	-	1.06 (1.02;1.10)	-	1.04 (0.99;1.09)	1.03 (0.99;1.08)
MOS Sleep Index	-	-	-	1.02 (1.00;1.03)	1.01 (0.99;1.03)	1.01 (0.99;1.03)

 3 Adjusted for sex and age at T_o. b Adjusted for sex, age, the highest level of education attained, urbanicity level, and self-reported mobile phone use at T_o.

Table footnote for publication: Results from logistic regression on the association between EHS at T_a and perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index, assessed at T. We estimated four logistic regression models including each independent variable separately, and two mutually adjusted logistic regression models (with minimal and full adjustment) where perceived RF-EMF exposure, perceived RF-EMF risk, 4DSQ-S score, MOS sleep index were considered simultaneously.

Figure 1. Flow of participants. We included in the analyses participants who filled in questionnaires at time points $T_{0'}$, $T_{1'}$ and $T_{4'}$.



Figure footnote for publication: Flow of participants. In the sub-cohort of AMIGO, we included participants who filled in questionnaires at time points T0, T1, and T4 (n=892 of 2,228 invited participants).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Title: Time course of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure and predictors of electromagnetic hypersensitivity over 10 years in a prospective cohort of Dutch adults

Authors: Eugenio Traini¹, Astrid L. Martens², Pauline Slottje^{3,4}, Roel C.H. Vermeulen¹, Anke Huss¹

¹Utrecht University, Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht, the Netherlands. ²PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, Bezuidenhoutseweg 30, 2594 AV, The Hague, the Netherlands.

³Amsterdam UMC location Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of General Practice, Boelelaan 1117, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

⁴Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

Table of contents

Supplementary Table 1. Characteristics of the participants at T_0 (2011/2012) in the full cohort of AMIGO (n=14,829).

Supplementary Table 2. Transitions of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) that are observed between T_0 and T_1 (A), T_1 and T_4 (B), and any consecutive time points T_0 , T_1 , T_4 (C).

Supplementary Table 3. Fitted transition probabilities of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) over different time intervals (t=2, 10 years).

Supplementary Table 4. Prevalence of IEI-RF and EHS by year, respectively, in this and other studies.

Supplementary Figure 1. A multi-state Markov process illustrated along the time axis with two separate states ("no", "yes") of IEI-RF, indicated by the nodes. The defined model allows transitions between states at each time point, with q_{no-yes} and q_{yes-no} representing transition intensities for the two state switches.

Supplementary Figure 2. Distribution of perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk at $T_{0'}$, $T_{1'}$, and $T_{4'}$.

Supplementary Figure 3. Distribution of scores (scale of 0-6 where 0=not at all, 6=very much) of perceived RF-EMF exposure (A) and risk (B) grouped by exposure source at T_{0} , T_{1} , and T_{4} .

Supplementary Figure 4. The dynamic process of IEI-RF with 2 and 10 years of latency, with the nodes representing the two states ("no", "yes") of IEI-RF. The number of participants in each state at T_0 , T_1 , and T_4 is indicated in the each node.

Supplementary Table 1. Characteristics of the participants at T_0 (2011/2012) in the full cohort of AMIGO (n=14,829).

	Cohort at T _o (2011/2012)	
	n (%) Mean (SD)	
Sex	6 561 (44 2)	
female	8,268 (55.8)	
Age (in years)	50.6 (9.3)	
Highest level of education attained ^a low intermediate high	4,546 (30.6) 4,627 (31.2) 5,656 (38.2)	
Urbanicity level very highly urban highly urban moderately urban little urban non-urban	1,263 (8.5) 3,307 (22.3) 3,228 (21.8) 3,615 (24.4) 3,416 (23.0)	
Mobile phone use nonuser user no answer	4,384 (29.6) 10,278 (69.3) 167 (1.1)	

^aLow: primary school, lower vocational training or lower secondary education; intermediate: intermediate vocational education or intermediate/ higher secondary education; high: higher vocational education or university degree. ^aVery highly urban: ≥ 2,500 addresses per km²; highly urban: 1,500–2,500 addresses per km²; moderately urban: 1,000–1,500 addresses per km²; little urban: 500–1,000 addresses per km²; nonzonance secondary second addresses per km². Table footnote for publication: Characteristics of the participants at baseline (T_o: 2011/2012) in the full cohort of AMIGO (n=14,829).

Supplementary Table 2. Transitions of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) that are observed between T_0 and T_1 (A), T_1 and T_4 (B), and any consecutive time points T_0 , T_1 , T_4 (C).

Α.

from to	no	yes
no	875	8
yes	7	2

В.

from to	no	yes
no	874	8
yes	7	3

C.

from to	no	yes
no	1749	16
yes	14	5

Table footnote for publication: The observed transitions, that is the number of times each pair of states of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) were observed in successive observation times between T_0 and $T_{4'}$, T_1 and T_4 , and any consecutive time points T_0 , T_4 , T_4 .

Supplementary Table 3. Fitted transition probabilities of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) over different time intervals (t=2, 10 years).

	to from	no	yes
	no	0.994 (0.989;0.997)	0.006 (0.004;0.010)
t=2	yes	0.464 (0.283;0.687)	0.536 (0.313;0.717)
+ 10	no	0.987 (0.978;0.991)	0.013 (0.008;0.021)
t=10	yes	0.945 (0.808;0.986)	0.055 (0.014;0.192)

Table footnote for publication: Fitted transition probabilities for each pair of states of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) over different time intervals (t=2, 10 years).

	Prevalence (%) of IEI-RF	Prevalence (%) of EHS	Year
Kowall at al. 2012a	8.7		2004
Kowali et al. 2012	7.2		2006
	13.0	8.6	2008
Roosli et al. 2010	14.3	7.7	2009
	1.0		2011/2012 (T ₀)
Traini et al. 2022°	1.1		2013 (T ₁)
	1.2	12.1	2021 (T ₄)

Supplementary Table 4. Prevalence of IEI-RF and EHS by year, respectively, in this and other studies.

"Prevalence of IEI-RF was estimated based on the question: "Do you feel compromised in your health because of (mobile phone base station) electromagnetic fields?". Possible answers were "yes" or "no".

^bPrevalence of IEI-RF was estimated based on the question: "Do you think that you develop detrimental health symptoms due to electromagnetic pollution in everyday life?"; those answering "yes" but not declaring to be hypersensitive were called "attributers". Prevalence of EHS was estimated based on the question: "Are you electrohypersensitive?"; those answering "yes" were considered electromagnetic hypersensitive. "Prevalence of IEI-RF was estimated based on the question: "Do you currently have health complaints that you attribute to the environment" and

^cPrevalence of IEI-RF was estimated based on the question: "Do you currently have health complaints that you attribute to the environment" and "if so, to what environmental factors/sources, select from the following or describe another factor/source" (11) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones; (3) electromagnetic fields from cordies phones) at T0 and T1, and based on the question: "Do you currently have health complaints that you attribute to the environment" and "if so, to what environmental factors/ sources, select from the following or describe another factor/source" (11) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones, cordless phones and other wireless devices, (e.g. laptop, tablet); (3) electromagnetic fields from 5G technology) at T4; prevalence of EHS was estimated at T4 estimated based on the question: "Are you electrohypersensitive?".

Table footnote for publication: Data about prevalence of IEI-RF and EHS by year, in this and other studies, including questions asked to assess IEI-RF and EHS in each study.

Supplementary Figure 1. A multi-state Markov process illustrated along the time axis with two separate states ("no", "yes") of IEI-RF, indicated by the nodes. The defined model allows transitions between states at each time point, with q_{no-yes} and q_{yes-no} representing transition intensities for the two state switches.



Figure footnote for publication: A multi-state Markov process illustrated along the time axis with two separate states ("no", "yes") of IEI-RF, indicated by the nodes.



Supplementary Figure 2. Distribution of perceived RF-EMF exposure and risk at $T_{0'}$, $T_{1'}$ and $T_{4'}$.

Figure footnote for publication: Distribution of perceived RF-EMF exposure and perceived RF-EMF risk at $T_{q'}T_{s'}$ and $T_{q'}$. The boxplots show median, 1st quartile, and 3rd quartile, with whiskers extending to the most extreme data point which is no more than 1.5 times the interquartile range (IQR)

Supplementary Figure 3. Distribution of scores (scale of 0-6 where 0=not at all, 6=very much) of perceived RF-EMF exposure (A) and risk (B) grouped by exposure source at T0, T1, and T4.

A.



Abbreviations: mpbs, mobile phone base stations; mp, mobile phones ; cp, cordless phones ; mp_cp_otherWiFi, mobile phones, cordless phones, and other wireless devices; 5G, 5 Generation technology.

Figure footnote for publication: Distribution of scores of perceived RF-EMF exposure (A) and perceived RF-EMF risk (B), grouped by exposure source at TO, T1, and T4. Perceived exposure with respect to RF-EMFs (amongst other environmental exposures) was assessed at T0 and T1 with the question: "To what extent do you think you are exposed to: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones; (3) electromagnetic fields from cordless phones; (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)?", and at time point T4 with the question: "To what extent do you think you are exposed to: (1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from double phones, cordless phones and other wireless devices, (e.g. laptop, tablet); (3) electromagnetic fields from 5G technology; (on a scale of 0-6, where 0=not at all and 6=very much)?".

Perceived risk with respect to RF-EMFs (amongst other specified environmental factors) was assessed at T0 and T1 with the question: "To what extent do you think that ((1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones; (3) electromagnetic fields from cordless phones) pose a risk to the health in everyday circumstances? (on a scale of 0-6, where 0-not at all and 6=very much)", and at time point T4 with the question: "To what extent do you think that ((1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones are statent or you think that ((1) electromagnetic fields from mobile phone base stations, radio or TV; (2) electromagnetic fields from mobile phones, cordless phones and other wireless devices, (e.g. laptop, tablet); (3) electromagnetic fields from 5C technology) pose a risk to the health in everyday circumstances? (on a scale of 0-6, where 0-not at all and 6=very much)".

Supplementary Figure 4. The dynamic process of IEI-RF with 2 and 10 years of latency, with the nodes representing the two states ("no", "yes") of IEI-RF. The number of participants in each state at $T_{0'}$, $T_{1'}$, and T_{4} is indicated in the each node.



Figure footnote for publication: The multi-state Markov process illustrated along the time axis with two separate states ("no", "yes") of IEI-RF, showing the number of participants at $T_{o'}T_{a'}$ and T_{a} in each node.



Chapter 4: A multi-pollutant approach to estimating causal effects of air pollution mixtures on overall mortality in a large, prospective cohort

Authors: Eugenio Traini¹, Anke Huss¹, Lützen Portengen¹, Matti Rookus², W.M. Monique Verschuren^{3,4}, Roel Vermeulen¹, Andrea Bellavia^{1,5}

¹Utrecht University, Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht, the Netherlands. ²Department of Epidemiology, Netherlands Cancer Institute (NKI), Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

³Centre for Nutrition, Prevention and Health Services, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, the Netherlands.

⁴Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht University, Utrecht, the Netherlands.

⁵Department of Environmental Health, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States.

Published in: *Epidemiology*, 2022, 33(4): p 514-522.

Abstract

Background: Several studies have confirmed associations between air pollution and overall mortality, but it is unclear to what extent these associations reflect causal relationships. Moreover, few studies to our knowledge have accounted for complex mixtures of air pollution. In this paper, we evaluate causal effects of a mixture of air pollutants on overall mortality in a large, prospective cohort of Dutch individuals.

Methods: We evaluated 86,882 individuals from the LIFEWORK study, assessing overall mortality between 2013-2017 through national registry linkage. We predicted outdoor concentration of five air pollutants ($PM_{2.5}$, PM_{10} , NO_2 , $PM_{2.5}$ absorbance, oxidative potential) with land-use regression. We used logistic regression and mixture modeling (weighted quantile sum and boosted regression tree models) to identify potential confounders, assess pollutants relevance in the mixture–outcome association, and investigate interactions and non-linearities. Based on these results, we built a multivariate generalized propensity score model to estimate causal effects of pollutant mixtures.

Results: Regression model results were influenced by multicollinearity. Weighted quantile sum and boosted regression tree models indicated that all components contributed to a positive linear association with the outcome, with $PM_{2.5}$ being the most relevant contributor. In the multivariate propensity score model, $PM_{2.5}$ (OR=1.18, 95% CI:1.08,1.29) and PM_{10} (OR=1.02, 95% CI:0.91,1.14) were associated with increased odds of mortality per interquartile range increase.

Conclusion: Using novel methods for causal inference and mixture modeling in a large prospective cohort, this study strengthened the causal interpretation of air pollution effects on overall mortality, emphasizing the primary role of PM_{2.5} within the pollutant mixture.

Introduction

Exposure to air pollution has been found to be associated with higher mortality rates in several studies over the last decades (Brook et al., 2010; Di et al., 2017; *World Health Organization. Ambient (Outdoor) Air Quality and Health. Fact Sheet No. 313. Geneva: World Health Organization.*, 2015), and associations have been reported even at low levels of exposure (Beelen et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2021; Di et al., 2017; Strak et al., 2021; Wei et al., 2021). However, to improve our understanding of these associations and to facilitate the development of better targeted public health regulations and interventions, it is important to determine to which extent these associations reflect causal relationships (*HEI Health Effect Institute. Strategic Plan for Understanding the Health Effects of Air Pollution. 2020–2025. Fist Draft May 2019. Available Online: Https://Www.Healtheffects. Org/Sites/Default/Files/First-Draft-HEI-StrategicPlan2020-2025.Pdf, 2019).*

When evaluating the health effects of environmental exposures such as air pollutants, it is important to account for the co-occurrence of multiple environmental constituents, present in the real world as a complex mixture (Dominici et al., 2010a). To evaluate the causal effects of air pollution on health, it is thus critical that studies account for this complex nature of exposure. This approach would allow identifying relevant contributors within the mixture as well as detecting potential interactions between pollutants. Several analytical methods have been proposed to deal with statistical challenges inherent to mixtures, such as co-exposure confounding, high correlation, and interaction between components of the mixture (Billionnet et al., 2012; Stafoggia et al., 2017; Taylor et al., 2016). Furthermore, regulatory policies are still mostly designed to regulate one pollutant or one source at the time, whereas more complex evaluations regarding causality may possibly lead to a more targeted regulatory policy (HEI Health Effect Institute. Strategic Plan for Understanding the Health Effects of Air Pollution. 2020–2025. Fist Draft May 2019. Available Online: Https://Www.Healtheffects.Org/Sites/Default/Files/ First-Draft-HEI-StrategicPlan2020-2025.Pdf, 2019). As such, there is a need to improve our understanding of the causal effects of environmental mixtures evaluated as a complex exposure situation of high-dimensional data (Carone et al., 2020; Dominici & Zigler, 2017).

In this study, we investigated the effects of a mixture of five pollutants on overall mortality in a large population-based cohort of Dutch individuals where air pollution exposure has been assessed through state-of-the-art methodologies. We adopted a pluralistic approach exploring the pollutant mixture with targeted methods for high-dimensional exposures, including boosted regression tree and weighted quantile sum models, and investigated the causal relationships between multiple pollutants and mortality with novel extensions of propensity score approaches.

Material and methods

Study participants and outcome definition

We used data from the LIFEWORK study, a large prospective cohort consortium comprising nearly 90,000 participants aged 18+ living in the Netherlands. LIFEWORK was designed as a federated study resulting from the integration of three existing Dutch cohorts: the Nightingale study, initiated in 2011 and the largest contributor to the LIFE-WORK study (68%), the Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO) (17%) started in 2011, and the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition in the Netherlands (EPIC-NL) (15%), established between 1993 and 1997. Data were collected from each cohort between 2011 and 2012 (baseline questionnaires for AMIGO and Nightingale, follow-up questionnaire for EPIC-NL) and pooled to set up the LIFEWORK cohort, setting the baseline at January 1st, 2013. The rationale, study design and participant recruitment in LIFEWORK were discussed in detail elsewhere (Beulens et al., 2010; Pijpe et al., 2014; Reedijk et al., 2018; Slottje et al., 2014). The contributing subcohorts were approved by the local research ethics review committee or institutional review board (AMIGO and EPIC-NL Prospect by the committee at the University Medical Center Utrecht; EPIC-NL MORGEN by the committee at TNO Nutrition and Food Research; and Nightingale by the committee at the Netherlands Cancer Institute), and participants signed an informed consent form for each subcohort prior to enrolment.

From the original 88,466 LIFEWORK participants, we excluded 683 individuals with missing exposure information (their residential address either was incomplete; fell in the sea, river or another water course; or at least one predictor for the land-use regression models was missing), 378 with reported emigration during the study, and 523 with no informed consent to link to the Municipal Personal Records Database (GBA). The GBA is a centralized automated population registration system that holds information on residence (home address) and date of death of people who reside in the Netherlands as well as personal data on migration. After exclusions, the total population evaluated in this study consisted of 86,882 individuals.

The outcome of interest was all-cause mortality, assessed by ascertaining vital status from the Dutch Central Bureau of Statistics (CBS) and date of death over a 5-year follow-up period (1 January 2013 - 31 December 2017) via data linkage to the GBA.

Exposure assessment

We evaluated air pollution as a mixture of five components: particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}), particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter less than 10 μ m (PM₁₀), a marker of diesel exhaust particulate (PM_{2.5} absorbance), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), and the oxidative potential estimated in PM_{2.5} by dithiothreitol. Land-use regression models were fitted to estimate outdoor concentrations of air pollutants at the home address for each participant, combining monitoring of air pollution at different locations and predictor variables obtained from spatial data (Hoek et al., 2008). Model development has been described in detail elsewhere (Chen et al., 2021). Briefly, we developed land-use regression models based upon annual average concentrations of $PM_{2.5}$, $PM_{2.5}$ absorbance, PM_{10} and NO_2 measured between October 2008 and April 2011 during three 14-day periods to account for seasonal variation. We conducted measurements in 20 European study areas at 20–40 sites for PM and at 40–80 sites per area for NO_2 . The annual average ambient pollutant concentrations were estimated at addresses of study participants at baseline using as predictor variables data on traffic intensity, household density, land use and other study-area variables such as altitude and distance to the sea. The median model explained variance (R²) ranged from 71% (PM_{2.5}) to 89% (PM_{2.5} absorbance) (Beelen et al., 2013; Eeftens et al., 2012). Oxidative potential concentration was estimated based on a sampling period of three 2-week PM measurements carried out at 40 sites spread over the Netherlands and Belgium between February 2009 and February 2010 taking into account temporal variability. Land-use regression models for oxidative potential were estimated at participants' addresses at baseline and achieved an R² value of 60% (Yang et al., 2015).

Covariates

We selected potential confounders of the associations between air pollution and overall mortality *a priori* based on results from preliminary studies (Beelen et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2021; Eeftens et al., 2012). These potential confounders included age, sex, body mass index (BMI, weight (kg)/height (m)²)), cardiovascular disease (CVD) diagnosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) diagnosis, cancer diagnosis, smoking status (never, former, current), highest level of education attained (low, intermediate, high), the estimated monthly household income of the neighborhood based on income data provided by CBS in 2012 (www.cbs.nl), and the normalized difference vegetation index which quantifies vegetation density around each participant's address based on Landsat 8 satellite images taken in 2008 (Rhew et al., 2011).

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics of the study population were evaluated overall, and by levels of air pollution exposure. As the interest of this analysis was in pollutant mixtures, we identified profiles of pollutant mixture exposure through K-means cluster analysis. We evaluated correlation between pollution components by calculating Spearman's rank correlation coefficients.

We first evaluated the association between air pollution constituents and overall mortality with classical regression models, both independently (one model for each mixture component) as well as mutually adjusting pollutants in the same statistical model. In the primary analysis, mutual adjustment was performed by considering the full set of components available in the LIFEWORK cohort. Overall mortality was evaluated as a binary outcome (dead/alive) with logistic regression, estimating ORs for mortality risk, as well

as with Poisson and Cox models to account for the duration of follow-up and for possible changes in event rates over time. A sensitivity analysis was conducted using multiple imputation by chained equation (MICE) to impute missing values in the exposures (Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011). Age, sex, BMI, smoking, and CVD diagnosis were specified as predictors in the algorithm for each incomplete exposure variable. An additional sensitivity analysis was performed by excluding individuals with baseline CVD diagnosis (angina, heart attack, transient ischemic attack, stroke, other heart conditions, defined according to ICD-9 and ICD-10), COPD, and cancer diagnosis. Last, we conducted a secondary analysis on overall mortality and a subset of components (NO₂, PM_{2.5}, PM₁₀) representing a group of already regulated pollutants based on existing legislation (*World Health Organization. Ambient (Outdoor) Air Quality and Health. Fact Sheet No. 313. Geneva: World Health Organization.*, 2015).

We used multiple regression models to identify confounders of the association to be evaluated in causal models. Specifically, we first evaluated a fully adjusted multiple regression model by adjusting for all covariates presented in the previous section and then removed those confounders that did not change any exposure coefficient by more than 10%. To assess the impact of multicollinearity of multiple regression estimates, we calculated variance inflation factors (VIFs).

To address issues of multicollinearity and to identify pollution constituents from clusters of correlated exposures that should be included in the causal analysis, we used weighted quantile sum and boosted regression tree models. In brief, these methods are techniques used in mixture modeling to identify the relative contribution of several exposures in the overall effect between the mixture and the outcome of interest, while accounting for high correlation structures (Carrico et al., 2015; Lampa et al., 2014). While both correlation analysis and multivariable regression can inform on the levels of correlation, neither of them can detect which covariates within the mixture are driving the associations, and to what extent. Weighted quantile sum summarizes the mixtures with a single index estimated as a weighted linear combination of the exposures and allows identifying the relative contribution of each mixture constituent. This technique makes the assumptions of linear associations on the quantile scale and of unidirectionality (all exposures-outcome associations are either positive or negative), but directly provides an estimate of the relative percent contribution of each exposure within the mixture (Carrico et al., 2015). Boosted regression tree, on the other hand, is a machine learning technique based on trees modeling that does not provide any estimate of exposures contribution but allows ranking their relative importance while relaxing assumptions of unidirectionality and linearity, strengthening the interpretation of the results from the weighted quantile sum. In addition, boosted regression tree provides a qualitative assessment of interactions importance (through the use of the measure called H-statistics), which can be used as an exploratory tool to detect 2-way or higher order interactions that should be incorporated in subsequent analyses (Bellavia et al., 2021; Lampa et al., 2014).

To estimate the causal effects of pollutant mixture on overall mortality we used propensity score methods, building the propensity scores from the set of confounders identified in the regression modeling (Rosenbaum & Rubin, 1983). Propensity score methods achieve balance across a set of confounders thus reducing the confounding effect in the exposure-outcome relation. To evaluate pollutants as continuous exposures, we used the generalized propensity scores extension, which handles single continuous exposures given a set of confounders (Hirano & Imbens, 2005; Imai & Dyk, 2004), under the assumption that exposures follow a normal distribution. We first used generalized propensity scores to generate weights for each continuous exposure separately (Greifer, 2017). Next, to account for the mixture nature of air pollution, we used the multivariate generalized propensity score, a novel extension of the generalized propensity score for multiple simultaneous continuous exposures implemented in the R package mvGPS (Williams & Crespi, 2020). Multivariate generalized propensity score has the advantage over generalized propensity score of simultaneously estimating weights for multivariate continuous exposures that are constructed as the ratio of the marginal density of the exposures to the conditional density (Williams & Crespi, 2020). Specifically, the multivariate generalized propensity score generates stabilized inverse probability of treatment weights (IPTWs) assuming a multivariate normal distribution for the simultaneous exposures. These weights have been shown to balance confounders and provide unbiased exposure-response estimates (Robins et al., 2000). To optimize propensity score weights and avoid possible effects due to extreme weights, the procedure allows to trim both the upper and lower bounds of the weights' distribution (Lee et al., 2011). We conducted the main analysis using the recommended weights threshold at the 99th percentile (Williams & Crespi, 2020), and evaluated other thresholds (0.97, 0.95) in sensitivity analyses. All analyses were conducted with the R statistical software, version 4.0.4. Computing code related to all analyses presented is publicly available at https://github.com/ andreabellavia/causalpm, also presenting different approaches to deal with categorical confounders, option that is not automatized in the current version of the mvGPS package (1.2.1) and requires additional coding. All exposures were evaluated as continuous variables and results indicate changes per interquartile range width (IQRw) increase in mean air pollution exposure.

Results

Baseline characteristics of the study population, overall and by levels of air pollution exposures, are presented in Table 1. K-means clustering identified three groups as the optimal characterization of the mixture, with the clusters summarizing levels of low, moderate, and high exposure to air pollution. Individuals with higher levels of exposures were on average older, lived in areas with lower normalized difference vegetation index, and were more likely to be smokers. The Figure presents the correlation structure

between air pollution constituents at baseline, while eTable 1 provides the distribution of each pollutant at baseline. All mixture components were highly positively correlated with each other.

During 5 years of follow up we observed 1,071 deaths (1.2%). Results from logistic regression models are reported in Table 2 and eTable 2. Out of all potential confounders evaluated in fully adjusted models, only age, sex, BMI, smoking, and baseline CVD diagnosis met the criteria for confounding to be selected for inclusion in the final model (referred to, in tables, as minimally adjusted model). When mutually adjusting the full set of air pollution constituents in the same statistical model, both PM2 5 and PM10 were associated with higher odds of mortality (respectively, OR=1.17, 95% CI:0.99,1.37; OR=1.21, 95% CI:1.03,1.42), even though VIFs for these coefficients were relatively high (Table 2). PM absorbance was associated with a reduction in the odds of mortality, but the extremely high VIF associated with this coefficient suggests that this result might be due to (multi) collinearity. Results from the multivariable logistic regression model using MICE to impute the missing exposures showed no discrepancies from findings on complete cases (eTable 3). When mutually adjusting the models for a subset of air pollution constituents represented by NO₂, PM₂₅ and PM₁₀, both PM₂₅ (OR=1.03, 95% CI:0.94,1.14) and PM₁₀ (OR=1.06, 95% CI:0.95,1.17) showed a positive, albeit much weaker, association with overall mortality (eTable 4). We observed negligible differences when excluding individuals with baseline CVD, and when using Poisson (data not shown) or Cox models (eTable 5). We therefore chose to only present results from logistic regression, as this allows a direct comparison with the statistical methods we used in our study to explore causal relationships, for which time-to-event models are not currently available.

To evaluate the mixture of pollutants while accounting for the strong correlations, we estimated the relative contribution of each exposure in the mixture-outcome association with boosted regression tree and weighted quantile sum models. In the boosted regression tree model, which provides a non-parametric estimation that accounts for non-linearities and interactions, all measures of H-statistics were consistently low, indicating a negligible impact of interactions in the mixture-outcome association (eFigure 1), and confirmed that exposure–response relationships were mostly linear and positive or null for all mixture components (data not shown). As such, weighted quantile sum assumptions were met, and this method could be used to provide an accurate estimate of the relative importance of the mixture components. Estimates of weighted quantile sum weights, presented in eFigure 2, show a prominent role of $PM_{2,2}$ in the association, greatly surpassing the contribution of PM₁₀ and other components of the mixture. Moreover, the negligible weight associated with $PM_{\gamma_{e}}$ absorbance indicates that the negative association observed in multiple regression for that variable is likely due to (multi) collinearity. The association between the overall mixture and mortality, estimated by the weighted quantile sum index, was negligible in our population (β =0.01, 95% CI:-

0.03,0.04) (eFigure 3).

Based on results from multiple regression and mixture modeling, we built propensity score models using the minimal set of confounders (age, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis), and all exposures were included in the models as continuous covariates, thus evaluating their linear effect on the outcome. Furthermore, based on results from boosted regression tree and weighted quantile sum models, we excluded PM_{2.5} absorbance from the analysis to limit the impact of multicollinearity on the results.

Table 3 presents results from the univariate and multivariate generalized propensity score models, with the recommended weights trimming at 0.99. All exposures met the normality distribution assumption required by these techniques. $PM_{2.5}$ was associated with increased odds of mortality (OR=1.18, 95% CI:1.08,1.29). PM_{10} was also associated with increased odds of mortality, even though the coefficient was attenuated (OR=1.02, 95% CI:0.91,1.14) as compared to those from the multiple regression model. Results that considered alternative trimming are shown in eTable 6 and indicate no discrepancies with the main finding.

Discussion

In this study, conducted on a large sample of individuals from the Dutch general population, we observed positive associations between air pollution mixtures and all-cause mortality, with $PM_{2.5}$ being the main driver of the associations. Through the application of causal modeling approaches for environmental mixtures, we strengthened the causal interpretation of these findings, observing a strong effect of $PM_{2.5}$ and a moderate effect of PM_{10} .

Our findings are in line with results from previous studies (Cohen et al., 2017; Pinault et al., 2016; Strak et al., 2021), with the Netherlands being characterized by homogeneous geographic conditions due to its relatively small land extension and high population density compared to other geographic areas around the globe. In this regard, a recent systematic review supporting the derivation of updated guidelines by the World Health Organization (WHO) on PM exposure and mortality, highlighted the importance of considering the heterogeneity of study location and population characteristics, as well as level and composition of PM, among others, when interpreting and comparing results from different studies (Chen & Hoek, 2020).

The potential harmful effects of air pollution on overall mortality have been the primary focus of extensive research over the last decades (Brook et al., 2010; Di et al., 2017; Wei et al., 2021; *World Health Organization. Ambient (Outdoor) Air Quality and Health. Fact Sheet No. 313. Geneva: World Health Organization.*, 2015). Associations have been repeatedly observed all over the world, and recent studies have also suggested that associations might follow linear relationships where even low levels of pollution might be harmful for health (Di et al., 2017; Shi et al., 2016; Strak et al., 2021). Nevertheless,

several research gaps in air pollution epidemiology remain to be addressed. First, air pollution is a complex exposure that should be characterized as a mixture, with different components and constituents possibly operating through either similar or different biologic pathways in the human body (Austin et al., 2012; Gass et al., 2014; Pearce et al., 2014, 2015; Winquist et al., 2014; Zanobetti et al., 2014). Extensive work has been devoted to the development of high-resolution concentration surfaces of the different components and constituents of the complex ambient air pollution exposure (Bellavia et al., 2021; Carrico et al., 2015; Greifer, 2017; Hirano & Imbens, 2005; Imai & Dyk, 2004; Lampa et al., 2014; Rosenbaum & Rubin, 1983; Williams & Crespi, 2020). Epidemiologic studies, however, are mostly evaluating air pollution components one by one, and switching the focus to air pollution as an environmental mixture has been advocated (Dominici et al., 2010b). Second, to improve our understanding of the mechanisms through which air pollution operates and to allow the development of more stringent public health regulations and interventions, it is important to determine to which extent these associations reflect causal relationships (HEI Health Effect Institute. Strategic Plan for Understanding the Health Effects of Air Pollution. 2020–2025. Fist Draft May 2019. Available Online: Https://Www.Healtheffects.Org/Sites/Default/Files/First-Draft-HEI-StrategicPlan2020-2025.Pdf, 2019). Methods to address causality in observational studies are widely available (Rothman & Greenland, 2005; Vandenbroucke et al., 2016), and several reports have discussed the application of these techniques in air pollution epidemiology (Carone et al., 2020; Dominici & Zigler, 2017). It is also desirable that such causal modeling approaches will account for the complex nature of air pollution as a mixture (Carone et al., 2020; Dominici & Zigler, 2017).

To the best of our knowledge, this study was one of the first attempts to assess the causal effects of a mixture of air pollutants in a large population-based study. Our results confirm previous findings observed in this and other cohorts, showing a positive linear association between pollution components such as PM2, and PM10 and overall mortality. In addition, by jointly evaluating several components in the same statistical framework, we observed that PM_{2,5} seems to be the strongest predictor of overall mortality, and that interactive mechanisms were not influential in our cohort. The possible mechanisms through which PM, soperates are increased systemic inflammation and oxidative stress, increased blood pressure, and reduced lung function, thus resulting in a greater risk of cardiovascular and respiratory morbidity (Shi et al., 2016). Results are consistent across the different methods applied, with the largest effect on overall mortality obtained for PM_{2,5} using the multivariate generalized propensity score. This method possibly provides, on theoretical grounds, more robust estimates compared to both the univariable and multivariable logistic regression, and the univariate generalized propensity score. However, due to the lack of studies that have previously applied this extension of the propensity score in epidemiologic settings, and therefore the inability to directly compare our findings with those obtained in other cohorts, this result must be interpreted with caution. The 2019 Integrated Science Assessment (ISA) released by US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) rated the association between $PM_{2.5}$ and natural-cause mortality as suggestive (EPA, n.d.), contrary to PM_{10} which was already fully recognized as harmful to human health. Our results, by distinguishing the roles of PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$, and showing the prominent role of the latter in our study population, provide relevant results that can inform future public health policies.

This study has several strengths. First, it is one of the first studies to evaluate the causal effects of air pollution while jointly evaluating several pollutants components as an environmental mixture. Specifically, we used a recent extension of the generalized propensity score, the multivariate generalized propensity score approach, that, to our knowledge, has never been used before in environmental epidemiology. While making the assumption that all evaluated exposures are normally distributed, the multivariate score improves on several aspects as compared to other approaches. First, the propensity score is a balancing score, which means that conditioning on propensity score via regression adjustment implies that individuals within the same strata of the propensity score should be identical in terms of their observable characteristics, regardless of their level of treatment (Hirano & Imbens, 2005; Imai & Dyk, 2004). Thanks to the balancing property, the propensity score thus removes sources of potential confounding and returns valid estimates by balancing covariates to predict the probability of exposure (Rosenbaum & Rubin, 1983). Second, the multivariate generalized propensity score approach has the ability of simultaneously estimating propensity score weights for each exposure, thus achieving superior balance compared to univariate alternatives. In addition, through the multivariate score it is possible to specify multiple sets of confounders for each exposure of interest reflecting many real-world settings in which the confounders may actually differ across exposure variables. Finally, the option to trim extreme weights at a particular percentile, and the wide number of metrics that can be used to select and compare different propensity score approaches, make the multivariate generalized propensity score a method well suited to get more robust estimates on the joint effect of multiple continuous exposures on health outcomes, confirming and possibly strengthening results obtained with more traditional methods. We recommend that future studies validate our results in other cohorts with this or alternative causal modeling techniques. Second, we used a pluralistic approach integrating several statistical methods for causal inference and environmental mixtures (Vandenbroucke et al., 2016). To identify relevant predictors within the air pollution mixture we used two statistical methods, namely weighted quantile sum and boosted regression tree, that allow ranking the importance of exposures in the overall mixture-outcome association, thus informing which regression results might be biased due to the high correlation. In this study, multiple regression results were influenced by (multi)collinearity due to the high correlation structure, par-

ticularly $PM_{2.5}$ absorbance which was shown to be mostly irrelevant in the mixture–outcome association once the high correlation was accounted for. Third, we used data from a large population of Dutch individuals with a prospective design, and a high-resolution assessment of air pollution components, all elements that further enhance the robustness of our results and the causal interpretation of these findings.

A limitation of this study is the relatively short duration of follow-up that did not allow us to thoroughly evaluate how effects of air pollution may change over time. Future studies with longer follow-up should replicate these analyses and evaluate overall mortality as a time-to-event outcome for those statistical techniques where this extension is available. Moreover, no information was available on air pollution levels other than those modeled at the participants' home address, thus precluding the possibility to quantify the exposure in places where participants could have spent some of their time during the day or when moving from one place to another. Furthermore, information on emigration time was not available for the majority of participants who had emigrated during the follow-up. As such, these individuals had to be excluded from the analysis. In addition, despite several socio-demographic covariates that were available and could be investigated as potential confounders of the associations, we cannot exclude the presence of residual confounding due to variables that were not available in this study. Exposures were derived using land-use regression models, which might introduce more complexity due to the use of shared predictors that may lead to stronger correlations between exposures than those existing in the real world (Szpiro & Paciorek, 2013). In large cohorts as the one we considered in our study, it is usually difficult or impossible to directly measure the different pollutants for each participant due to logistics complexity and the high costs associated, and therefore it is common to rely on exposure modeling. This is also suggested by WHO which indicates that exposure modeling is a logical or empirical construct which allows estimation of individual or population exposure parameters from available input data (World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, 2000). Finally, in this first attempt to evaluate the causal effects of air pollution mixture we only focused on five major components of air pollution that had been assessed in this cohort. Future studies within LIFEWORK should consider finer pollution characterization, once this is available, by integrating additional components into the models, such as ultrafine particles, black carbon, as well as PM elemental constituents. Also, future studies could further expand analyses to include additional environmental risk factors (water pollution, noise, electromagnetic fields) and relevant conditions, such as lung cancer or respiratory diseases, making use of the statistical methods we proposed in our study to account for complex interrelations between risk factors in real-life settings. These results should also advise quantitative researchers to study and develop novel methods that could improve our understanding of the causal effects of complex mixtures of environmental pollutants.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this study strengthened the causal interpretation of air pollution effects on mortality while also accounting for the complex nature of the exposure as an environmental mixture. We encourage air pollution researchers to further study the causal effects of air pollution mixtures to continue improving our scientific knowledge on the relationship between air pollution and health outcomes, and to facilitate governmental bodies to better target regulations thanks to the identification of the strongest contributor(s) to overall mortality from a complex mixture.

References

- Austin, E., Coull, B., Thomas, D., & Koutrakis, P. (2012). A framework for identifying distinct multipollutant profiles in air pollution data. *Environment International*, 45, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.04.003
- Beelen, R., Hoek, G., Vienneau, D., Eeftens, M., Dimakopoulou, K., Pedeli, X., Tsai, M.-Y., Künzli, N., Schikowski, T., Marcon, A., Eriksen, K. T., Raaschou-Nielsen, O., Stephanou, E., Patelarou, E., Lanki, T., Yli-Tuomi, T., Declercq, C., Falq, G., Stempfelet, M., ... de Hoogh, K. (2013). Development of NO2 and NOx land use regression models for estimating air pollution exposure in 36 study areas in Europe – The ESCAPE project. *Atmospheric Environment*, *72*, 10–23. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.02.037
- Bellavia, A., Dickerson, A. S., Rotem, R. S., Hansen, J., Gredal, O., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2021). Joint and interactive effects between health comorbidities and environmental exposures in predicting amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 231, 113655. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113655
- Beulens, J. W. J., Monninkhof, E. M., Verschuren, W. M. M., van der Schouw, Y. T., Smit, J., Ocke, M. C., Jansen, E. H. J. M., van Dieren, S., Grobbee, D. E., Peeters, P. H. M., & Bueno-de-Mesquita, H. B. (2010). Cohort profile: The EPIC-NL study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *39*(5), 1170–1178. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ije/dyp217
- Billionnet, C., Sherrill, D., Annesi-Maesano, I., & GERIE study. (2012). Estimating the health effects of exposure to multi-pollutant mixture. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 22(2), 126–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.11.004
- Brook, R. D., Rajagopalan, S., Pope, C. A., Brook, J. R., Bhatnagar, A., Diez-Roux, A. V., Holguin, F., Hong, Y., Luepker, R. V., Mittleman, M. A., Peters, A., Siscovick, D., Smith, S. C., Whitsel, L., Kaufman, J. D., & American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Council on the Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease, and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism. (2010). Particulate matter air pollution and cardiovascular disease: An update to the scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 121(21), 2331–2378. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181dbece1
- Buuren, S. van, & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 45, 1–67. https://doi. org/10.18637/jss.v045.i03
- Carone, M., Dominici, F., & Sheppard, L. (2020). In Pursuit of Evidence in Air Pollution Epidemiology: The Role of Causally Driven Data Science. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, *31*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.000000000001090
- Carrico, C., Gennings, C., Wheeler, D. C., & Factor-Litvak, P. (2015). Characterization of

Weighted Quantile Sum Regression for Highly Correlated Data in a Risk Analysis Setting. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics, 20*(1), 100–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13253-014-0180-3

- Chen, J., & Hoek, G. (2020). Long-term exposure to PM and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environment International*, 143, 105974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105974
- Chen, J., Rodopoulou, S., de Hoogh, K., Strak, M., Andersen, Z. J., Atkinson, R., Bauwelinck, M., Bellander, T., Brandt, J., Cesaroni, G., Concin, H., Fecht, D., Forastiere, F., Gulliver, J., Hertel, O., Hoffmann, B., Hvidtfeldt, U. A., Janssen, N. A. H., Jöckel, K.-H., ... Hoek, G. (2021). Long-Term Exposure to Fine Particle Elemental Components and Natural and Cause-Specific Mortality-a Pooled Analysis of Eight European Cohorts within the ELAPSE Project. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *129*(4), 47009. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP8368
- Cohen, A. J., Brauer, M., Burnett, R., Anderson, H. R., Frostad, J., Estep, K., Balakrishnan, K., Brunekreef, B., Dandona, L., Dandona, R., Feigin, V., Freedman, G., Hubbell, B., Jobling, A., Kan, H., Knibbs, L., Liu, Y., Martin, R., Morawska, L., ...
 Forouzanfar, M. H. (2017). Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: An analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. *Lancet (London, England), 389*(10082), 1907–1918. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30505-6
- Di, Q., Wang, Y., Zanobetti, A., Wang, Y., Koutrakis, P., Choirat, C., Dominici, F., & Schwartz, J. D. (2017). Air Pollution and Mortality in the Medicare Population. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*(26), 2513–2522. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1702747
- Dominici, F., Peng, R. D., Barr, C. D., & Bell, M. L. (2010a). Protecting human health from air pollution: Shifting from a single-pollutant to a multi-pollutant approach. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, *21*(2), 187.
- Dominici, F., Peng, R. D., Barr, C. D., & Bell, M. L. (2010b). Protecting human health from air pollution: Shifting from a single-pollutant to a multipollutant approach. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 21(2), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1097/ EDE.0b013e3181cc86e8
- Dominici, F., & Zigler, C. (2017). Best Practices for Gauging Evidence of Causality in Air Pollution Epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *186*(12), 1303– 1309. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx307
- Eeftens, M., Beelen, R., de Hoogh, K., Bellander, T., Cesaroni, G., Cirach, M., Declercq, C., Dėdelė, A., Dons, E., de Nazelle, A., Dimakopoulou, K., Eriksen, K., Falq, G., Fischer, P., Galassi, C., Gražulevičienė, R., Heinrich, J., Hoffmann, B., Jerrett, M., ... Hoek, G. (2012). Development of Land Use Regression models for PM(2.5), PM(2.5) absorbance, PM(10) and PM(coarse) in 20 European study areas;

results of the ESCAPE project. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(20), 11195–11205. https://doi.org/10.1021/es301948k

- EPA, U. (n.d.). US EPA Integrated Science Assessment for Particulate Matter (Final Report) 2009. *Dec,[Google Scholar]*.
- Gass, K., Klein, M., Chang, H. H., Flanders, W. D., & Strickland, M. J. (2014). Classification and regression trees for epidemiologic research: An air pollution example. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 13(1), 17. https://doi. org/10.1186/1476-069X-13-17
- Greifer, N. (2017). Weightlt: Weighting for covariate balance in observational studies. R package version 0.1. 0.
- HEI Health Effect Institute. Strategic Plan for Understanding the Health Effects of Air Pollution. 2020–2025. Fist Draft May 2019. Available online: Https://www.healtheffects.org/sites/default/files/First-Draft-HEI-StrategicPlan2020-2025.pdf. (2019).
- Hirano, K., & Imbens, G. W. (2005). The Propensity Score with Continuous Treatments. In A. Gelman & X.-L. Meng (Eds.), *Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics* (pp. 73–84). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/0470090456.ch7
- Hoek, G., Beelen, R., de Hoogh, K., Vienneau, D., Gulliver, J., Fischer, P., & Briggs, D. (2008). A review of land-use regression models to assess spatial variation of outdoor air pollution. *Atmospheric Environment*, 42(33), 7561–7578. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.05.057
- Imai, K., & Dyk, D. A. van. (2004). Causal Inference With General Treatment Regimes. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 99(467), 854–866. https://doi. org/10.1198/016214504000001187
- Lampa, E., Lind, L., Lind, P. M., & Bornefalk-Hermansson, A. (2014). The identification of complex interactions in epidemiology and toxicology: A simulation study of boosted regression trees. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 13, 57. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-13-57
- Lee, B. K., Lessler, J., & Stuart, E. A. (2011). Weight trimming and propensity score weighting. *PloS One*, *6*(3), e18174. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018174
- Pearce, J. L., Waller, L. A., Chang, H. H., Klein, M., Mulholland, J. A., Sarnat, J. A., Sarnat, S. E., Strickland, M. J., & Tolbert, P. E. (2014). Using self-organizing maps to develop ambient air quality classifications: A time series example. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 13, 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-13-56
- Pearce, J. L., Waller, L. A., Mulholland, J. A., Sarnat, S. E., Strickland, M. J., Chang, H. H., & Tolbert, P. E. (2015). Exploring associations between multipollutant day types and asthma morbidity: Epidemiologic applications of self-organizing map ambient air quality classifications. *Environmental Health*, 14, 55. https://doi.

org/10.1186/s12940-015-0041-8

- Pijpe, A., Slottje, P., van Pelt, C., Stehmann, F., Kromhout, H., van Leeuwen, F. E., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Rookus, M. A. (2014). The Nightingale study: Rationale, study design and baseline characteristics of a prospective cohort study on shift work and breast cancer risk among nurses. *BMC Cancer*, 14, 47. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-47
- Pinault, L., Tjepkema, M., Crouse, D. L., Weichenthal, S., van Donkelaar, A., Martin, R. V., Brauer, M., Chen, H., & Burnett, R. T. (2016). Risk estimates of mortality attributed to low concentrations of ambient fine particulate matter in the Canadian community health survey cohort. *Environmental Health*, 15, 18. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12940-016-0111-6
- Reedijk, M., Lenters, V., Slottje, P., Pijpe, A., Peeters, P. H., Korevaar, J. C., Bueno-de-Mesquita, B., Verschuren, W. M. M., Verheij, R. A., Pieterson, I., van Leeuwen, F. E., Rookus, M. A., Kromhout, H., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2018). Cohort profile: LIFEWORK, a prospective cohort study on occupational and environmental risk factors and health in the Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 8(2), e018504. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018504
- Rhew, I. C., Vander Stoep, A., Kearney, A., Smith, N. L., & Dunbar, M. D. (2011). Validation of the normalized difference vegetation index as a measure of neighborhood greenness. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *21*(12), 946–952. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.09.001
- Robins, J. M., Hernán, M. Á., & Brumback, B. (2000). Marginal structural models and causal inference in epidemiology. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 11(5), 550–560. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001648-200009000-00011
- Rosenbaum, P. R., & Rubin, D. B. (1983). The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika*, 70(1), 41–55. https://doi. org/10.1093/biomet/70.1.41
- Rothman, K. J., & Greenland, S. (2005). Causation and causal inference in epidemiology. American Journal of Public Health, 95 Suppl 1, S144-150. https://doi. org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.059204
- Shi, L., Zanobetti, A., Kloog, I., Coull, B. A., Koutrakis, P., Melly, S. J., & Schwartz, J. D. (2016). Low-Concentration PM2.5 and Mortality: Estimating Acute and Chronic Effects in a Population-Based Study. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 124(1), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1409111
- Slottje, P., Yzermans, C. J., Korevaar, J. C., Hooiveld, M., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2014). The population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Prospective Cohort Study (AMIGO) in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 4(11), e005858. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005858

Stafoggia, M., Breitner, S., Hampel, R., & Basagaña, X. (2017). Statistical Approaches to

Address Multi-Pollutant Mixtures and Multiple Exposures: The State of the Science. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, *4*(4), 481–490. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40572-017-0162-z

- Strak, M., Weinmayr, G., Rodopoulou, S., Chen, J., de Hoogh, K., Andersen, Z. J., Atkinson, R., Bauwelinck, M., Bekkevold, T., Bellander, T., Boutron-Ruault, M.-C., Brandt, J., Cesaroni, G., Concin, H., Fecht, D., Forastiere, F., Gulliver, J., Hertel, O., Hoffmann, B., ... Samoli, E. (2021). Long term exposure to low level air pollution and mortality in eight European cohorts within the ELAPSE project: Pooled analysis. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.), 374*, n1904. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1904
- Szpiro, A. A., & Paciorek, C. J. (2013). Measurement error in two-stage analyses, with application to air pollution epidemiology. *Environmetrics*, 24(8), 501–517. https://doi.org/10.1002/env.2233
- Taylor, K. W., Joubert, B. R., Braun, J. M., Dilworth, C., Gennings, C., Hauser, R., Heindel, J. J., Rider, C. V., Webster, T. F., & Carlin, D. J. (2016). Statistical Approaches for Assessing Health Effects of Environmental Chemical Mixtures in Epidemiology: Lessons from an Innovative Workshop. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 124(12), A227–A229. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP547
- Vandenbroucke, J. P., Broadbent, A., & Pearce, N. (2016). Causality and causal inference in epidemiology: The need for a pluralistic approach. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 45(6), 1776–1786. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyv341
- Wei, Y., Yazdi, M. D., Di, Q., Requia, W. J., Dominici, F., Zanobetti, A., & Schwartz, J. (2021). Emulating causal dose-response relations between air pollutants and mortality in the Medicare population. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 20(1), 53. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-021-00742-x
- Williams, J. R., & Crespi, C. M. (2020). Causal inference for multiple continuous exposures via the multivariate generalized propensity score. arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.13767.
- Winquist, A., Kirrane, E., Klein, M., Strickland, M., Darrow, L. A., Sarnat, S. E., Gass, K., Mulholland, J., Russell, A., & Tolbert, P. (2014). Joint effects of ambient air pollutants on pediatric asthma emergency department visits in Atlanta, 1998-2004. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 25(5), 666–673. https://doi. org/10.1097/EDE.00000000000146
- World Health Organization. Ambient (Outdoor) Air Quality and Health. Fact Sheet No. 313. Geneva: World Health Organization. (2015).
- World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2000). Methods of assessing risk to health from exposure to hazards released from waste landfills (EUR/00/5026441). WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/108362

- Yang, A., Wang, M., Eeftens, M., Beelen, R., Dons, E., Leseman, D. L. A. C., Brunekreef, B., Cassee, F. R., Janssen, N. A. H., & Hoek, G. (2015). Spatial Variation and Land Use Regression Modeling of the Oxidative Potential of Fine Particles. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 123(11), 1187–1192. https://doi.org/10.1289/ ehp.1408916
- Zanobetti, A., Austin, E., Coull, B. A., Schwartz, J., & Koutrakis, P. (2014). Health effects of multi-pollutant profiles. *Environment International*, *71*, 13–19. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.05.023

	Low exposure	Moderate ex- posure	High exposure	Overall
	(N=34,018)	(N=37,853)	(N=15,011)	(N=86,882)
No. of participants (%)				
Amigo	22	15	10	17
EPIC	9	16	28	15
Nightingale	69	69	62	68
Age (years)				
Mean (SD)	48.8 (11.6)	50.5 (12.9)	52.2 (14.3)	50.2 (12.7)
Sex (%)				
Male	12	9	9	11
Female	88	91	91	89
Highest level of education attained ^c (%)				
Low	11	14	18	14
Intermediate	48	43	35	44
High	41	43	47	42
Missing	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2
Smoking status (%)				
Never	48	47	44	46
Former	40	40	40	40
Current	11	12	14	13
Missing	0.6	1.0	1.7	1.0
Body mass index (kg/m ²)				
Mean (SD)	25.2 (4.16)	25.3 (4.30)	25.2 (4.41)	25.3 (4.26)
Missing (%)	0.4	0.6	0.9	0.6
CVD diagnosis at baseline (%)				
Negative	93	93	90	92
Positive	7	7	10	8
COPD diagnosis at base- line (%)				
Negative	98	97	96	97
Positive	2	3	4	3
Cancer diagnosis at base- line (%)				
Negative	98	97	95	97
Positive	2	3	5	3
Monthly income estimate ^d				
Mean (SD)	2,590 (764)	2,800 (890)	2,870 (1,000)	2,730 (873)
Missing (%)	5.1	3.4	3.3	4.0
Normalized difference vegetation index				

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the LIFEWORK participants and estimated annual pollutant exposures^a at subject recruitment, overall and by levels of pollution exposure^b.

Mean (SD)	0.571 (0.0844)	0.503 (0.0796)	0.448 (0.0864)	0.520 (0.0943)
Missing (%)	2.6	1.2	0.9	1.7
NO ₂ (μg/m³)				
Mean (SD)	17.7 (2.55)	24.9 (2.25)	33.7 (4.30)	23.6 (6.34)
PM _{2.5} (μg/m³)				
Mean (SD)	16.3 (0.721)	16.7 (0.559)	17.0 (0.707)	16.6 (0.704)
$PM_{2.5}$ absorbance (10 ⁻⁵ m ⁻¹)				
Mean (SD)	1.09 (0.132)	1.29 (0.125)	1.57 (0.227)	1.26 (0.225)
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)				
Mean (SD)	24.1 (0.381)	24.7 (0.643)	26.4 (1.42)	24.8 (1.12)
Oxidative Potential (nmol DTT/min/m ³)				
Mean (SD)	1.06 (0.208)	1.22 (0.165)	1.32 (0.119)	1.17 (0.202)

^aAir pollution levels were estimated at baseline based on annual average concentrations measured between October 2008 and April 2011 (NO₂, PM_{2.5} absorbance, PM₁₀) and between February 2009 and February 2010 (Oxidative Potential).

^{2.5} Low, medium, and high levels of exposures derived with cluster analysis.

^cLow: primary school, lower vocational training or lower secondary education; intermediate: intermediate vocational education or intermediate/ higher secondary education; high: higher vocational education or university degree.

"Household income was estimated based on participants' baseline postal code. Each postal code was linked to income data from Statistics Netherlands for December 2012.

CVD=cardiovascular disease; COPD=chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; SD=standard deviation.

Table 2. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure	2,
evaluated with a multivariable logistic regression model.	

	Multivariable model with minimal adjustment ^a		
Constituent	OR	95%CI	VIF
NO ₂	0.98	(0.82;1.18)	5.11
PM _{2.5}	1.17	(0.99;1.37)	4.03
PM _{2.5} absorbance	0.74	(0.55;0.98)	18.60
PM ₁₀	1.21	(1.03;1.42)	7.22
Oxidative Potential	1.07	(0.96;1.19)	1.58

*Age, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis.
BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; VIF=variance inflation factor.
Table 3. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposur
evaluated with univariate and multivariate generalized propensity score ^a models ^b .

	GPS			mvGPS	
Constituent	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	
NO ₂	1.10	(1.01;1.19)	1.13	(0.97;1.31)	
PM _{2.5}	1.11	(1.03;1.20)	1.18	(1.08;1.29)	
PM ₁₀	1.08	(1.02;1.15)	1.02	(0.91;1.14)	
Oxidative Potential	1.09	(1.00;1.19)	0.97	(0.89;1.06)	

^aTrimming 0.99. ^bPS based on age, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis. BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; GPS=generalized propensity score; mvGPS=multivariate generalized propensity score.

Figure 1. Spearman rank correlation coefficients and correlation plot of air pollution constituents at baseline (2008-2011). Darker colors and larger circles indicate higher positive correlation levels.



SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Title: A multi-pollutant approach to estimating causal effects of air pollution mixtures on overall mortality in a large, prospective cohort

Authors: Eugenio Traini¹, Anke Huss¹, Lützen Portengen¹, Matti Rookus², W.M. Monique Verschuren^{3,4}, Roel Vermeulen¹, Andrea Bellavia^{1,5}

¹Utrecht University, Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht, the Netherlands. ²Department of Epidemiology, Netherlands Cancer Institute (NKI), Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

³Centre for Nutrition, Prevention and Health Services, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, the Netherlands.

⁴Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht University, Utrecht, the Netherlands.

⁵Department of Environmental Health, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States.

Table of contents

Supplementary Table 1. Distribution of the estimated annual pollutant exposures at baseline in LIFEWORK.

Supplementary Table 2. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with univariable and multivariable logistic regression models.

Supplementary Table 3. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with a multivariable logistic regression model using multiple imputation by chained equations for missing values in the exposures.

Supplementary Table 4. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure in a subset of constituents, evaluated with a multivariable logistic regression model.

Supplementary Table 5. Hazard Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with a Cox proportional hazards regression model.

Supplementary Table 6. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with univariate and multivariate generalized propensity score models^a with varying trimming thresholds.

Supplementary Figure 1. Relevance of 2-way interactions (H-statistics) in the overall mixture effect in predicting overall mortality, estimated with boosted regression tree.

Supplementary Figure 2. Relative importance of mixture components in the overall effect of air pollution on overall mortality, estimated with weighted quantile sum.

Supplementary Figure 3. Association between the mixture and overall mortality, estimated with weighted quantile sum.

	Minimum	25 th Percentile	Median	Mean	75 th percentile	Maximum
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	8.87	19.07	22.92	23.59	27.34	88.72
PM _{2.5} (μg/m³)	14.86	16.17	16.56	16.58	17.04	21.33
$PM_{2.5}$ absorbance (10 ⁻⁵ m ⁻¹)	0.85	1.12	1.23	1.26	1.37	3.16
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	23.73	23.96	24.44	24.77	25.15	34.54
Oxidative Potential (nmol DTT/min/m ³)	0.48	1.04	1.19	1.17	1.31	2.09

Supplementary Table 1. Distribution of the estimated annual pollutant exposures at baseline in LIFEWORK.

	Univariable models with minimal adjustment ^a		Multivaria	ble model with full a	adjustment⁵
Constituent	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	VIF
NO ₂	0.98	(0.90;1.07)	0.93	(0.77;1.13)	5.30
PM _{2.5}	1.04	(0.95;1.12)	1.12	(0.95;1.32)	4.04
PM _{2.5} absorbance	1.00	(0.93;1.07)	0.80	(0.59;1.08)	18.59
PM ₁₀	1.01	(0.95;1.08)	1.17	(0.99;1.38)	7.21
Oxidative Potential	1.03	(0.94;1.12)	1.04	(0.93;1.17)	1.85

Supplementary Table 2. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with univariable and multivariable logistic regression models.

^aAge, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis. ^bAge, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis, COPD diagnosis, cancer diagnosis, education, income, normalized difference vegetation index. BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; COPD=chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; VIF=variance inflation factor.

Supplementary Table 3. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with a multivariable logistic regression model using multiple imputation by chained equations for missing values in the exposures.

	Multivariable model with minimal adjustment ^a			
Constituent	OR	95%CI	VIF	
NO ₂	0.98	(0.82;1.17)	5.11	
PM _{2.5}	1.17	(0.99;1.37)	4.03	
PM _{2.5} absorbance	0.74	(0.55;0.98)	18.61	
PM ₁₀	1.21	(1.04;1.42)	7.23	
Oxidative Potential	1.07	(0.96;1.19)	1.58	

^aAge, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis. BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; VIF=variance inflation factor.

Supplementary Table 4. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure in a subset of constituents, evaluated with a multivariable logistic regression model.

	Multivariable model with minimal adjustment ^a			
Constituent	OR	95%CI	VIF	
NO ₂	0.91	(0.79;1.04)	2.85	
PM _{2.5}	1.03	(0.94;1.14)	1.37	
PM ₁₀	1.06	(0.95;1.17)	3.10	

^aAge, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis. BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; VIF=variance inflation factor.

Supplementary Table 5. Hazard Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with a Cox proportional hazards regression model.

	Cox model with minimal adjustment ^a		
Constituent	HR	95%CI	
NO ₂	1.00	(0.83;1.20)	
PM _{2.5}	1.19	(1.02;1.39)	
PM _{2.5} absorbance	0.73	(0.55;0.96)	
PM ₁₀	1.22	(1.05;1.43)	
Oxidative Potential	1.07	(0.97;1.19)	

aAge, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis. BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; HR=hazard ratio; CI=confidence interval.

Supplementary Table 6. Odds Ratios of overall mortality per interquartile range width increase in mean air pollution exposure, evaluated with univariate and multivariate generalized propensity score models^a with varying trimming thresholds.

	GPS		mvG	PS
Constituent	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
Trimming=0.97				
NO ₂	1.12	(1.03;1.21)	1.16	(0.99;1.36)
PM _{2.5}	1.13	(1.04;1.21)	1.08	(0.99;1.19)
PM ₁₀	1.10	(1.04;1.17)	1.01	(0.90;1.14)
Oxidative Potential	1.10	(1.01;1.20)	1.01	(0.92;1.11)
Trimming=0.95				
NO ₂	1.13	(1.04;1.22)	1.16	(0.99;1.36)
PM _{2.5}	1.13	(1.05;1.22)	1.08	(0.98;1.18)
PM ₁₀	1.11	(1.05;1.18)	1.00	(0.88;1.13)
Oxidative Potential	1.11	(1.02;1.21)	1.00	(0.90;1.10)

*PS based on Age, sex, BMI, smoking, CVD diagnosis. BMI=body mass index; CVD=cardiovascular disease; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; GPS=generalized propensity score; mvGPS=multivariate generalized propensity score

Supplementary Figure 1. Relevance of 2-way interactions (H-statistics) in the overall mixture effect in predicting overall mortality, estimated with boosted regression tree.



Supplementary Figure 2. Relative importance of mixture components in the overall effect of air pollution on overall mortality, estimated with weighted quantile sum.



Supplementary Figure 3. Association between the mixture and overall mortality, estimated with weighted quantile sum.





Chapter 5: A prospective exploration of the urban exposome in relation to headache in the Dutch population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO)

Authors: Eugenio Traini¹, Lützen Portengen¹, Haykanush Ohanyan¹, Robert van Vorstenbosch¹, Roel Vermeulen¹, Anke Huss¹

¹Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands

Published in: Environment International, Volume 188, June 2024, 108776

Abstract

Objective: Headache is one of the most prevalent and disabling health conditions globally. We prospectively explored the urban exposome in relation to weekly occurrence of headache episodes using data from the Dutch population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO).

Material and Methods: Participants (N=7,339) completed baseline and follow-up questionnaires in 2011 and 2015, reporting headache frequency. Information on the urban exposome covered 80 exposures across 10 domains, such as air pollution, electromagnetic fields, and lifestyle and socio-demographic characteristics. We first identified all relevant exposures using the Boruta algorithm and then, for each exposure separately, we estimated the average treatment effect (ATE) and related standard error (SE) by training causal forests adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly occurrence of headache episodes at baseline.

Results: Occurrence of weekly headache was 12.5% at baseline and 11.1% at follow-up. Boruta selected five air pollutants (NO₂, NO_x, PM₁₀, silicon in PM₁₀, iron in PM_{2.5}) and one urban temperature measure (heat island effect) as factors contributing to the occurrence of weekly headache episodes at follow-up. The estimated causal effect of each exposure on weekly headache indicated positive associations. NO₂ showed the largest effect (ATE=0.007 per interquartile range (IQR) increase; SE=0.004), followed by PM₁₀ (ATE=0.006 per IQR increase; SE=0.004), heat island effect (ATE=0.006 per one-degree Celsius increase; SE=0.007), NO_x (ATE=0.004 per IQR increase; SE=0.004), iron in PM2.5 (ATE=0.003 per IQR increase; SE=0.004), and silicon in PM₁₀ (ATE=0.003 per IQR increase; SE=0.004).

Conclusion: Our results suggested that exposure to air pollution and heat island effects contributed to the reporting of weekly headache episodes in the study population.

Introduction

Headache disorders, characterized by their diverse intensity and frequency, represent one of the most prevalent and incapacitating health conditions globally (GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators, 2018; Steiner & World Headache Alliance, 2004).

While genetic factors have been acknowledged to play a role in the onset of headaches (Di Lorenzo et al., 2015; Russell et al., 2006), emerging research emphasizes the substantial impact of lifestyle and behavioral characteristics as well as environmental factors on the initiation and persistence of headaches (Friedman & De Ver Dye, 2009; Molarius et al., 2008; Ulrich et al., 2004). As such, no single factor can be considered the sole trigger of headaches in the population; rather, their occurrence is likely the result of a combination of various factors including, among others, stress, lack of sleep, diet, analgesic overuse, environmental stressors, and urban temperature (Ashina et al., 2023; Holzhammer & Wöber, 2006; M. Lee et al., 2018; Nash & Thebarge, 2006; Nikiforow & Hokkanen, 1978; Prince et al., 2004; Rains & Poceta, 2012; Raucci et al., 2021; Winter et al., 2011). For instance, exposure to high levels of air pollution has been associated with an increased risk of hospitalization for headache (Dales et al., 2009). Similarly, exposure to specific chemicals, such as metals, has been suggested to increase headache susceptibility (Donma & Donma, 2002).

As we explore the impact of lifestyle factors, behavioral characteristics, and environmental stressors on headaches, it becomes evident that their intricate dynamics require a comprehensive understanding to inform targeted interventions and personalized approaches to headache management that cannot be achieved by considering each factor separately. The exposome is defined as the totality of exposures that individuals encounter over their lifetimes and the biological reactions that these stressors produce (Vermeulen et al., 2020; Wild, 2005). As such, the urban exposome denotes a complex interplay between the built, social, chemical, food, and lifestyle aspects of the environment where people live. This interaction is characterized by persistent spatial and temporal variations in both quantitative and qualitative measures associated with different aspects of residential surroundings, and, as a consequence, these fluctuations may impact the well-being and health of individuals (Andrianou & Makris, 2018).

To the best of our knowledge, the relationship between urban exposome and headache has not yet been explored. In this study, we aimed to prospectively evaluate factors related to reporting of weekly headache episodes, in a large study population relying on the exposome framework. We conducted an exploratory analysis using data from the urban exposome of the Dutch population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO), which represents a rich dataset comprising detailed individual-level information on various determinants (e.g. chemical, biological, physical), lifestyle factors, and health conditions for over 14,000 participants.

Methods

Study design and participants

We used data from the population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO) in the Netherlands, established in 2011/2012 to investigate environmental and occupational determinants of diseases and symptoms in the Dutch adult population. The rationale, study design, and participant recruitment in AMIGO were described in detail previously (Slottje et al., 2014). In short, AMIGO participants were recruited from the general population in the Netherlands through the Primary Care Database of the Netherlands Institute for Health Services Research (NIVEL), which consists of routinely recorded data from health care providers to monitor health and utilization of health services in the Dutch population (*Nivel Primary Care Database | Nivel*, 2022). The baseline sample includes 14,829 adults (16% of those invited), aged 31–65 years, who filled in an online questionnaire in 2011/2012 and at follow-up in 2015 (n=7,905; response rate 54%). After the exclusion of participants with missing information on headache frequency at baseline and/or follow-up (n=566), the study population included 7,339 participants who completed baseline and follow-up questionnaires. All cohort members participated voluntarily and gave informed consent prior to their inclusion.

Exposure factors

The urban exposome of AMIGO was described by Ohanyan et al. previously (Ohanyan, Portengen, Huss, et al., 2022). In short, the urban exposome relied on satellite data, monitoring stations, population registry-based data, and geospatial models to estimate participants' exposures at their place of residence at baseline (Martens et al., 2018). In this study, 88 exposures across 10 domains were considered encompassing air pollution (19 factors), quality of drinking water (29 factors), urbanicity and built environment (13 factors), green space density (2 factors), outdoor light at night (1 factor), urban temperature (2 factors), road traffic noise (1 factor), radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (2 factors), socio-demographic characteristics of the neighborhood (17 factors), technology use (2 factors). The list of exposure factors included in this study is provided in Supplementary Table 1.

Headache

Frequency of headache was self-reported at baseline and follow-up. As primary outcome, we defined the occurrence of weekly headache episodes (referred to as "weekly headache" for brevity, with response categories "yes", "no") according to the question: "How often do you get headache at the moment?" - response categories: "almost every day", "5 or 6 days a week", "3–4 days a week", "once or twice a week" "1–2 days per month", "less often".

As secondary outcome, we included the occurrence of severe weekly headache episodes

(response categories "yes", "no"). The Headache Impact Test (HIT-6) score with a cut-off of 56 points was used to define weekly occurrence of severe headache episodes. The HIT-6 is a tool used to measure the impact headaches have on one's ability to function in various aspects of daily life, including work, school, home, and social contexts. The score, ranging from 36 to 78 points, provides a measure of the degree to which headaches affect daily life and functioning, with higher scores indicating a more significant impact on the participant's overall life (Kosinski et al., 2003).

Covariates

We assessed the following covariates of the associations between the urban exposome and weekly headache: sex, age, highest level of education attained (elementary, secondary and higher), occupation (employed, unemployed), country of origin (the Netherlands, other), body mass index (BMI) group (normal or underweight, overweight or obese), alcohol consumption (never, former, current), smoking status (never, former, current), sleep disturbance index (Spritzer & Hays, 2003), general health indicator (good, poor), depression diagnosis (yes, no), painkiller use (yes, no).

Pre-processing of the urban exposome and descriptive statistics

We followed the same approach outlined by Ohanyan et al. to pre-process the urban exposome data in AMIGO (Ohanyan, Portengen, Kaplani, et al., 2022). In short, we excluded exposures that exhibited extremely low variability (9 exposures) or very strong correlations with other exposures (7 exposures). In the latter scenario, where two (or more) exposures showed a Spearman rank correlation coefficient \geq 0.95, only one of the correlated variables was incorporated into the analysis and treated as a proxy for the other variable(s) (Supplementary Table 2).

Missing values were imputed for exposures and covariates only, and all exposures, covariates, and the study outcome were used as predictors. Thirty imputed datasets were generated through Multivariate Imputation via Chained Equations (MICE) and the imputed values were averaged across the generated datasets, given the considerable computational costs and the absence of a recognized approach to combine results from multiple imputed sets associated with the methods applied in this study.

To mitigate the potential impact of non-normal distribution of the exposures on the imputation process, we applied transformations (logarithmic or square root) to normalize the exposures before incorporating them into MICE, and then back-transformed them after the imputation (Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011; White et al., 2011).

Descriptive statistics of the study population were evaluated with regard to the covariates included in the study. We performed a correlation analysis of the urban exposome by visualizing the inter- and intra-group correlations across the 10 domains using the circos and matrix of correlations, respectively (Hernandez-Ferrer et al., 2022).

Statistical analysis

To evaluate the association between the urban exposome at baseline and weekly occurrence of headache episodes at follow-up, we first performed feature selection using the Boruta algorithm to screen our dataset and identify relevant exposures for the outcome being investigated (Kursa & Rudnicki, 2010).

Boruta represents a powerful approach for the analysis of high-dimensional datasets that has recently gained popularity particularly in the context of microbiome and omics research (Degenhardt et al., 2017). This method is designed to identify relevant variables and is able to capture interactions and nonlinear associations in complex-dimensional scenarios. Boruta aims to identify all attributes that contribute to some extent to the classification problem based on the so-called *all-relevant* problem approach. This methodology stands in contrast to the *minimal-optimal* problem approach, which focuses on finding the smallest and non-redundant subset of features essential for optimal performance given a specific dataset (Nilsson et al., 2007).

Boruta works as a wrapper algorithm around random forest and operates by comparing the importance of each variable against that of shadow variables, which are randomly permuted versions of the original variables (Breiman, 2001; Liaw & Wiener, 2002). By conducting a series of random forest iterations, Boruta assigns importance scores to each variable, considering both the actual features and their shadow counterparts. Variables that consistently outperform their shadow versions are retained as important, while those that do not are deemed unimportant.

To address class imbalance, we applied the Boruta algorithm repeatedly (250 iterations using 1000 trees at each iteration) and downsampled 85% of the minority group size without replacement in both groups comprising participants with and without weekly headaches at follow-up in order to obtain 250 different balanced datasets (More & Rana, 2017).

Finally, we retained the features that were labelled as "important" by Boruta in at least 80% of the 250 iterations, emphasizing their stability in the selection process, and calculated variable importance by averaging the importance of the selected features across iterations.

To evaluate the generalizability of our results, we trained a random forest model on the features selected by Boruta. This evaluation was conducted on an *a priori* sampled independent test set, comprising 20% of the original dataset. The corresponding Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curve and Area-Under-the-Curve (AUC), along with a 95% confidence interval (95% CI), were estimated using 1000 bootstrap replicates.

To visualize the relationship between the response and predictors, and represent the average contribution of a feature value to the prediction (Molnar, 2020), we computed Shapley values by training a random forest model on the features identified by Boruta using the original dataset.

We estimated the causal effect of each exposure identified by Boruta on weekly occurrence of headache episodes by training causal forests. Causal forests represent an extension of random forests to estimate the average treatment effect (ATE) and corresponding standard error (SE) under the assumption of absence of confounding (i.e. the treatment assignment is independent of the potential outcome conditional on the confounders) allowing for covariate adjustment. The ATE represents the average of the difference in potential outcomes in a sample where everyone is treated versus the same sample where everyone is untreated (Jawadekar et al., 2023).

Specifically, when the treatment is continuous, we effectively estimate an average partial effect, which quantifies the change in the expected outcome due to a one-unit change in the treatment, given unconfoundedness. To ensure clarity and consistency in the language used, we will refer to treatment as exposure in the rest of the paper.

Briefly, the algorithm splits the data in order to maximize the difference across splits in the relationship between an outcome and an exposure variable uncovering variations in exposure effects across the sample. Causal forests resemble a randomized controlled trial and estimate exposure propensity weights to create a balanced covariate distribution between the exposed and control groups. It is important to note that, while causal forests identify heterogeneity in causal effects, they do not, per se, establish causation (Athey et al., 2018).

In detail, for each exposure selected by Boruta, we estimated causal forests adjusted for a set of covariates. In estimating causal forests, we used default parameters as they were shown to perform reasonably well with random forests (Athey & Wager, 2019).

To assess the fit of the causal forest, we first examined the distribution of the estimated exposure propensity weights to identify potential extreme values. Second, we explored heterogeneity by grouping observations according to whether their out-of-bag conditional average treatment effect (CATE) estimates (i.e. predictions) were above ("high" region) or below ("low" region) the median CATE estimate. Following this grouping, we calculated the difference in causal effects between regions along with the 95% confidence interval (95% CI) to gain insights about the overall strength of heterogeneity in the study population (Athey & Wager, 2019).

As secondary analyses, considering the transient nature of headaches in the population and our predefined interest in assessing whether exposure effects on weekly headaches at follow-up could be mediated by their occurrence at baseline, we trained additional causal forests. Specifically, we estimated the CATE representing the average of the difference in potential outcomes in a specific stratum of the population (here defined by presence/absence of weekly headache at baseline), where everyone in that stratum is exposed versus a scenario where everyone in the same stratum is unexposed (Jawadekar et al., 2023). Finally, to test the null hypothesis of no heterogeneity between the CATEs estimated for the two groups of weekly headache at baseline, we applied

Student's t-test (Athey & Wager, 2019).

We conducted the following sensitivity analyses: first, we estimated causal forests with mutual adjustment under the assumption that the exposures may act as confounding factors for each other and are therefore not independent entities. This approach involved systematically estimating the causal effect of each exposure separately on weekly headache while simultaneously incorporating the remaining exposures into the adjustment set. This iterative process was repeated for each exposure identified by Boruta.

Second, we performed the Boruta feature selection by excluding possible mediators of the association between the urban exposome and weekly headache, namely weekly headache at baseline, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, and self-reported painkiller use. Third, we replicated the feature selection by adding the perception of environmental factors, such as air pollutants and RF-EMFs, to the list of exposures assessed by Boruta, which may help to disentangle the relationship between actual exposures, their perceptions, and the onset of headache symptoms.

Fourth, we reproduced the Boruta feature selection by excluding participants reporting weekly headache at baseline to assess consistency of determinants of newly reported headaches.

Lastly, based on the results of the sensitivity analyses on Boruta, additional causal forests were trained accordingly.

The analyses were performed with the R statistical software, version 4.0.4, using the packages *mice*, *rexposome*, *Boruta*, *ranger*, and *grf*. Computing code related to all analyses presented is publicly available at https://github.com/eugeniotraini/headache_exposome.

Results

In AMIGO, the occurrence of weekly headache episodes at baseline and follow-up showed similar proportions (12.5% and 11.1%, respectively). However, out of the 814 participants reporting weekly headache at follow-up, only 55% reported such headaches at baseline. At the beginning of the study, 5.4% of participants reported experiencing severe headaches weekly, which decreased to 2% at follow-up.

Baseline characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1. Over half of the participants in AMIGO were women and mean age was 52 years old at the time of recruitment. Approximately 44% of the participants had attained a high level of education, while 70% were employed. Nearly all participants, specifically 96%, indicated the Netherlands as their country of origin. Around half of the study population (48.7%) was classified as overweight or obese, and the proportion of alcohol users and smokers was 88.9% and 12.3%, respectively.

Overall, individuals in the AMIGO study reported a good state of health (85%), low prevalence of painkiller use (6.6%), and an average sleep disturbance index of 26.5 (on a scale from 0 to 100 with higher scores indicating more sleep disturbances or lower

sleep quality). No relevant differences in the distribution of baseline characteristics of the study participants were observed when including those who did not complete the follow-up questionnaire (Supplementary Table 3). The proportion of missing values in the exposures was below 10% with the highest occurrence observed for the percentage of inhabitants with non-western origins in the neighbourhood (9.7%) (Supplementary Table 4).

The matrix of correlation plot shows that the strongest intra-group correlations were observed between air pollutants, urbanicity and built environmental variables, RF-EMFs, and socio-demographic area-level factors (Figure 1). Drinking water components had the lowest intra-group correlations. The circos of correlation plot showed that green space density exhibited a negative inter-family correlation with air pollutants (Supplementary Figure 1).

Results of the Boruta feature selection showed that five air pollutants $(NO_2, NO_x, PM_{10}, Silicon in PM_{10}, Iron in PM_{2.5})$, one urban temperature measure (heat island effect), five *a priori* defined covariates (age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index), and weekly headache at baseline significantly influenced the reporting of weekly headache at follow-up.

Among those, weekly headache at baseline appeared to be the most important variable, followed by the remaining covariates (with age being the least significant among all selected features). The exposures, listed in descending order of importance, were NO_2 , Silicon in PM_{10} , NO_x , Iron in $PM_{2.5}$, PM_{10} , and the heat island effect. Spearman correlation coefficients showed very strong correlations between the exposures selected by Boruta (Figure 2).

The Shapley plots did not show strong associations between the selected environmental exposures (air pollutants and urban temperature measure) and weekly headache, and, on average, the contributions of individual features to the predicted outcome were modest (Figure 3).

Being diagnosed with depression, using painkillers, reporting poor general health, experiencing weekly headaches at baseline, being older, and having difficulty sleeping all showed a substantial impact on reporting weekly headache at follow-up (Supplementary Figure 2).

The ROC analysis of the random forest model including the features selected by Boruta produced an AUC of 0.82 (95% CI: 0.75–0.88), indicating good discriminatory power in distinguishing individuals with and without weekly headache at follow-up in the independent test set.

Results from causal forests adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, and weekly headache at baseline are presented in Table 2 and showed positive associations between each exposure at baseline and weekly headache at follow-up. In detail, NO₂ showed the largest effect with an ATE of

0.007 (SE=0.004) per interquartile range (IQR) increase, followed by PM_{10} (ATE=0.006 (SE=0.004) per IQR increase), heat island effect (ATE=0.006 (SE=0.007) per 1 C° increase), NO_x (ATE=0.004 (SE=0.004) per IQR increase), Iron in $PM_{2.5}$ (ATE=0.003 (SE=0.004) per IQR increase), and Silicon in PM_{10} (ATE=0.003 (SE=0.004) per IQR increase). Of note, concerning the highly correlated exposures identified during the pre-processing of the urban exposome, the use of causal forests with Copper in $PM_{2.5}$ serving as a proxy for Iron in $PM_{2.5}$, yielded results consistent with the main findings (Supplementary Table 5). After conducting a visual inspection of the distribution of estimated propensity weights, no extreme values were identified (Supplementary Figure 3). The assessment of heterogeneity in causal forests revealed some variation between the regions defined by "high" and "Iow" CATE estimates, though the strength of heterogeneity appeared to be modest (Supplementary Table 6).

The estimated causal effects conditional on weekly headache at baseline showed distinct patterns between participants who reported symptoms at baseline and those who did not. Specifically, as shown in Table 3, the CATE for participants without weekly headache at baseline was null or negative, whereas the effect observed in those who reported headache at baseline was positive. In detail, the CATE of NO, among participants who had weekly headache at baseline was 0.068 (SE=0.027), whereas for those without symptoms was -0.003 (SE=0.004). Similar patterns were displayed for all remaining exposures: the heat island effect showed an effect of 0.058 (SE=0.042) for those who reported weekly headache at baseline, while the effect was null (CATE=0.000 (SE=0.006)) for those without weekly headache at baseline. Likewise, PM₁₀ showed an effect of 0.054 (SE=0.027) and 0.000 (SE=0.004) in those with and without weekly headache at baseline, respectively. Positive yet weaker effects were observed among participants who reported weekly headache at baseline for Silicon in PM_{10} (CATE=0.043 (SE=0.027)), NO_x (CATE=0.035 (SE=0.022)), and Iron in PM₂₅ (CATE=0.013 (SE=0.026)). We rejected the null hypothesis of no heterogeneity between the CATEs estimated for the two groups of weekly headache at baseline for all exposures (Table 3).

Interestingly, causal forests spent, on average, 23% of their splits on weekly headache at baseline, making it the most important variable among those included in the algorithm. Supplementary Table 6 displays the results of the mutually adjusted causal forests, where the exposures selected by Boruta were added to the adjustment set.

The mutually adjusted estimates showed reduced precision and some experienced a change in the direction of the effect. In detail, we estimated an ATE of 0.058 (SE=0.022) for an increase in IQR in NO₂, followed by NO_x (ATE=0.011 (SE=0.018)), and PM₁₀ (ATE=0.002 (SE=0.014)).

In contrast to the main results, the ATEs for Iron in $PM_{2.5}$, Silicon in PM_{10} , and heat island effect were negative (ATE=-0.016 (SE=0.010); ATE=-0.045 (SE=0.051); ATE=-0.019 (SE=0.017), respectively) (Supplementary Table 7).

No extreme values were identified in the distribution of exposure propensity weights (Supplementary Figure 4), and the comparison between the regions characterized as "high" and "low" CATE estimates aligned with the main results, indicating the presence of some heterogeneity in the dataset (Supplementary Table 8).

Results from the sensitivity analyses using Boruta were in line with the main findings: specifically, by excluding the possible mediators of the association between the urban exposome and weekly headache at follow-up (weekly headache at baseline, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index, and self-reported painkiller use), Boruta retained, in order of decreasing variable importance, depression diagnosis, NO_2 , NO_x , Iron in $PM_{2.5}$, and Silicon in PM_{10} . After including the perception of environmental exposures, Boruta selected two air pollutants, namely PM_{coarse} and Potassium in PM_{10} , and road traffic noise, in addition to the features already identified in the main analysis.

Based on these results, we trained additional causal forests including $PM_{coarse'}$, Potassium in PM_{10} , and road traffic noise as exposures, and age, depression diagnosis, and weekly headache at baseline as adjustment factors. The causal effect associated with $PM_{coarse'}$, Potassium in $PM_{10'}$ and road traffic noise on the reporting of weekly headache was 0.005 (SE=0.004), 0.002 (SE=0.004), 0.008 (SE=0.007), respectively (Supplementary Table 9). After excluding participants with weekly headache at baseline, Boruta only selected depression diagnosis and sleep disturbance index but none of the exposures.

Finally, regarding severe weekly headaches, it was found that five predetermined covariates (age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index) and the presence of severe weekly headache at baseline influenced reporting at follow-up. However, none of the environmental exposures were identified by Boruta as contributing factors.

Discussion

In this study, we prospectively explored the urban exposome with the aim to identify factors associated with reporting of weekly headache episodes by analyzing data from a large cohort of individuals sampled within the Dutch general population.

We applied Boruta, a feature selection algorithm designed to identify relevant variables in complex highly dimensional settings, and causal forests, a statistical method for estimating causal effects of exposures under the assumption of absence of confounding.

Our results consistently showed that, out of 88 factors characterizing the urban exposome, air pollutants and urban temperature measures appeared to contribute most to the reporting of weekly headache at follow-up.

In particular, exposure to NO_2 at baseline was the most important environmental factor identified by Boruta in relation to reporting of weekly headache at follow-up, followed by Silicon in PM_{10} , NO_x , Iron in $PM_{2.5}$, PM_{10} , and the heat island effect. Finally, causal forests estimated the largest effect on the reporting of weekly headache at follow-up for NO_2 , PM_{10} , and the heat island effect. While the magnitude of these estimates may

be modest, even minor associations can carry important implications when considering the widespread exposure to air pollution and the higher temperatures in urban areas on population health.

Previous research showed that exposure to air pollution may act as trigger in the onset of headaches in the population (Nattero & Enrico, 1996; Szyszkowicz, 2008; Vodonos et al., 2015). The mechanism by which this occurs, however, is not fully understood. Air pollutants can impact the nervous system by entering through the olfactory and lower respiratory tracts. This process involves the direct initiation of inflammatory processes and the release of cytokines, allowing them to reach the central nervous system, triggering symptoms (Block & Calderón-Garcidueñas, 2009). Previous studies conducted in large urban areas in Canada and China suggested that particularly short-term exposure to NO₂ was associated to an increase in the number of emergency department visits for headaches (Szyszkowicz, 2008; Xu et al., 2023). A study conducted in the urban area of Turin in Italy, exploring the relationship between exposure to air pollutants and meteorological factors in relation to headaches, found that simultaneous exposure to carbon monoxide (CO) and NO₂ increased incidence of headache attacks along with wind velocity which was linked to frequency and severity of episodes (Nattero & Enrico, 1996).

It is noteworthy that, despite extensive research indicating positive associations between migraines and air pollution exposure, and particularly NO₂ (Elser et al., 2021; H. Lee et al., 2018; Portt et al., 2023), exploration of headaches is still limited. In this regard, our study highlights the link between exposure to air pollution and the occurrence of headaches, suggesting that measures aimed at decreasing emissions could be beneficial to reduce the impact of pollutants on symptoms. Furthermore, Iron in PM_{2.5} and Silicon in PM₁₀ were linked to reporting of headaches in our study population, although their impact appeared to be less prominent compared to NO₂, PM₁₀, and NO_x. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to identify specific fine particulate components in relation to headache, and future research should investigate these associations further to elucidate the contribution of individual components, both independently and in combination, to headache occurrence.

Our results showed that the heat island effect, that is the temperature difference between an urban area and the rural surrounding, was causally related with more frequent weekly headache at follow-up. Previously, the increase in temperature, particularly in densely urban areas and especially during summer heat waves, has been linked to immediate body reactions such as heavy sweating, dehydration, skin rashes, and headaches, among others (Aghamohammadi et al., 2021; Arifwidodo & Chandrasiri, 2020; O'Malley et al., 2015; Tong et al., 2021).

In the urban exposome, we used satellite pictures to estimate the surface temperature on a hot day as urban heat island effect is best assessed during heatwaves. Therefore, the effect that we observed in AMIGO could be partially explained by some residual urbanicity effect, which may include air pollutants and green space density.

Given the strong interplay between air pollutants and other environmental determinants assessed in the urban exposome, such as road traffic noise and urban temperature, the effect that we found may have, independently or in conjunction with air pollution exposure, exacerbated the reporting of headache.

In our cohort, about half of the participants who indicated to suffer from headache at baseline did not report the same at follow-up, meaning that headache represents a transient condition in the study population. To explore how the exposures may affect different subgroups of participants, specifically those with and without symptoms at the baseline, and therefore improve our understanding of the potential underlying mechanisms that triggered the symptoms, we estimated causal effects conditional on weekly headache at baseline. Interestingly, the estimated effects appeared to be mediated by weekly headache symptoms at baseline. Moreover, baseline weekly headache emerged as the most important variable in the causal forests. These suggest the potential existence of a vulnerable subpopulation, represented by those reporting symptoms at baseline, that is more susceptible and therefore at a higher risk of adverse health outcomes if exposed to air pollution and heat island effect.

In our study, we identified a subset of exposures from the urban exposome which contributed to the occurrence of headache in the population, and estimated the magnitude of their effect under the assumption of absence of confounding using a combination of state-of-the-art statistical methods that, in part, were previously identified as valid tools to address the complexity of the exposome (Maitre et al., 2022; Ohanyan, Portengen, Huss, et al., 2022).

Results from the main analyses indicated that each exposure at baseline identified by Boruta was positively associated with reporting of headache at follow-up. In the mutually adjusted models, the estimates of the causal effects showed some increase for NO_2 and NO_x but with reduced precision, and the direction of the effects was not always consistent with the main results. Spearman correlation coefficients showed very strong correlations (ranging from 0.60 to 0.89) between the exposures selected by Boruta and included in the causal forests.

In methods that rely on propensity scores to balance covariates between exposed and unexposed, such as causal forests, many issues that arise with traditional regression modelling, such as multicollinearity, should no longer be a threat to validity (Arbour et al., 2014; McMurry et al., 2015).

Based on our results, multicollinearity clearly affected the precision of effect estimates produced by causal forests, given the larger standard error associated with the estimates in the mutually adjusted models.

Furthermore, the balancing property of propensity scores which assumes that, conditional on the propensity score, the distribution of observed covariates is expected to be

similar between the treated and untreated groups, is only true if the propensity scores are relatively well-behaved and no extreme values are present (B. K. Lee et al., 2011). However, following an inspection of the distribution of exposure propensities, this did not appear to be the situation in our analysis.

Our study has strengths: first, to our knowledge, this is the first study conducted within the exposome framework to explore the association between the urban exposome and headache. Given the high prevalence of individuals reporting recurrent or chronic headaches in the population, our study provides important insights into the relationship between environmental stressors that are ubiquitous in urban areas and the occurrence of headache symptoms. Our results aim to support the formulation of more tailored public health interventions targeting air quality improvement and a healthier urban environment in order to reduce the burden of headache in the population.

Second, we used data from a large prospective cohort of Dutch individuals, and detailed information about individual-level exposures, including perceived exposures, and neighborhood characteristics, all elements that strengthen the robustness and facilitate the causal interpretation of our results. With regard to generalizability of the data, compared to the general Dutch population, AMIGO participants consisted of more females and older subjects, although no indications of systematic health-related participation bias based on morbidity and associated lifestyle information such as smoking and medication use was found (Slottje et al., 2014).

Third, we used a combination of cutting-edge statistical techniques, that is Boruta and causal forests, to explore the urban exposome in relation to headache. In particular, causal forests and random forest, upon which Boruta is built, were previously identified as valuable tools to study the complexity characterizing exposome research and show good interpretability of the results (Maitre et al., 2022). Furthermore, training Boruta in iterations, despite being time consuming and computationally intensive, helped mitigate the effects of class imbalance present in our dataset, and ensured stability as well as generalizability of our results. In conclusion, we showed that the combination of statistical methods used in this study represents a robust approach to identify influential predictors, particularly in highly dimensional settings, and generate accurate machine learning models to estimate causal effects (Athey & Wager, 2019; Degenhardt et al., 2017; Kursa & Rudnicki, 2010).

Our study has some limitations: first, weekly headache was self-reported by the participants, which may be prone to recall bias or over/under reporting of symptoms. However, we assessed weekly headache using the validated HIT-6 questionnaire, which is considered a reliable and valid tool for discriminating headache impact in daily life, and it is employed as a screening tool in clinical practice (Kosinski et al., 2003). Furthermore, we evaluated severity of weekly headaches as secondary outcome to further strengthen our findings, although results of this analysis did not lead to the identification of any specific environmental exposures associated to the outcome, likely due to diminished statistical power and even more problematic class imbalance compared to the primary endpoint. Second, information on weekly headache was available at baseline and follow-up, and no information was available in between. As a result, the outcome assessment may not precisely capture symptoms occurring between these two time points, especially for a transient condition like headache. In future studies, it would be beneficial to confirm the associations that we found between air pollutants and the urban temperature and headache exploring the dynamics of these associations over time.

Third, the exposures included in the urban exposome of AMIGO, such as the air pollutants, were modeled at the home address of the participants. As a consequence, it was impossible to quantify the exposure levels in places where participants could have spent some of their time during the day or when, for example, commuting between work and home. In fact, in cohorts such as AMIGO, directly measuring exposure levels for the single participant proves impractical due to the large sample size and the high costs associated. As a result, it is common to rely on exposure modeling, such as landuse regression models to estimate air pollution levels, which might introduce additional complexity due to the use of shared predictors that may lead to stronger correlations between exposures than those existing in the real world (Szpiro & Paciorek, 2013). In addition, in our study we did not directly evaluate residential self-selection bias, where the decision to relocate is influenced by various factors such as age, ethnicity, professional or life choices, and socioeconomic status. This dynamic may ultimately result in changes in environmental exposures across different life stages (Saucy et al., 2023). Given the complex interplay of these factors with the exposures assessed in AMIGO, we cannot rule out the possibility of residual bias in our dataset originating from residential self-selection. Finally, despite recent developments in causal inference methods for multiple exposures (Williams & Crespi, 2020), we acknowledge a substantial gap in statistical methods for estimating the effect of multiple exposures, particularly in situations where these are represented by a combination of continuous and categorical exposures, as is common in

the context of the urban exposome, and high correlation levels between exposures are present. Nevertheless, the approach followed in this study allowed us to identify a group of exposures involved in the exposome-outcome association and estimate the direct effect of single exposures on reporting of headache controlling for potential confounding variables to obtain more accurate estimates of causal effects.

Conclusions

Our study indicated that the exposure to environmental stressors, in particular air pollutants and urban heat island effects, contributed to reporting of weekly headache episodes in our population. Given the high global burden associated with headache, understanding the role of environmental factors becomes imperative not only for advancing

our comprehension of the mechanisms generating symptoms but also for formulating effective preventing strategies.

References

- Aghamohammadi, N., Fong, C. S., Idrus, M. H. M., Ramakreshnan, L., & Sulaiman, N. M. (2021). Environmental heat-related health symptoms among community in a tropical city. *Science of The Total Environment*, 782, 146611. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146611
- Andrianou, X. D., & Makris, K. C. (2018). The framework of urban exposome: Application of the exposome concept in urban health studies. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 636, 963–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.329
- Arbour, D., Marazopoulou, K., Garant, D., & Jensen, D. (2014). Propensity score matching for causal inference with relational data. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 1274, 25–34.
- Arifwidodo, S. D., & Chandrasiri, O. (2020). Urban heat stress and human health in Bangkok, Thailand. *Environmental Research*, *185*, 109398. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109398
- Ashina, S., Terwindt, G. M., Steiner, T. J., Lee, M. J., Porreca, F., Tassorelli, C., Schwedt, T. J., Jensen, R. H., Diener, H.-C., & Lipton, R. B. (2023). Medication overuse headache. *Nature Reviews. Disease Primers*, 9(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41572-022-00415-0
- Athey, S., Tibshirani, J., & Wager, S. (2018). *Generalized Random Forests* (arXiv:1610.01271). arXiv. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1610.01271
- Athey, S., & Wager, S. (2019). *Estimating Treatment Effects with Causal Forests: An Application* (arXiv:1902.07409). arXiv. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1902.07409
- Block, M. L., & Calderón-Garcidueñas, L. (2009). Air Pollution: Mechanisms of Neuroinflammation & CNS Disease. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 32(9), 506–516. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2009.05.009
- Breiman, L. (2001). Random Forests. *Machine Learning*, 45(1), 5–32. https://doi. org/10.1023/A:1010933404324
- Buuren, S. van, & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 45, 1–67. https://doi. org/10.18637/jss.v045.i03
- Dales, R. E., Cakmak, S., & Vidal, C. B. (2009). Air Pollution and Hospitalization for Headache in Chile. American Journal of Epidemiology, 170(8), 1057–1066. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwp217
- Degenhardt, F., Seifert, S., & Szymczak, S. (2017). Evaluation of variable selection methods for random forests and omics data sets. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, 20(2), 492–503. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbx124
- Di Lorenzo, C., Santorelli, F. M., & van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M. (2015). Genetics of Headache. In M. Ashina & P. Geppetti (Eds.), *Pathophysiology of Headaches: From Molecule to Man* (pp. 83–99). Springer International Publishing. https://

doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15621-7_4

- Donma, O., & Donma, M. M. (2002). Association of headaches and the metals. *Biological Trace Element Research*, *90*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1385/BTER:90:1-3:1
- Elser, H., Morello-Frosch, R., Jacobson, A., Pressman, A., Kioumourtzoglou, M.-A., Reimer, R., & Casey, J. A. (2021). Air pollution, methane super-emitters, and oil and gas wells in Northern California: The relationship with migraine headache prevalence and exacerbation. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 20(1), 45. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-021-00727-w
- Friedman, D. I., & De Ver Dye, T. (2009). Migraine and the Environment. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain, 49*(6), 941–952. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1526-4610.2009.01443.x
- GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators. (2018). Global, regional, and national burden of migraine and tension-type headache, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *17*(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30322-3
- Hernandez-Ferrer, C., Gonzalez, J., & Escribà-Montagut, X. (2022). *Rexposome: Exposome exploration and outcome data analysis. R package version 1.18.2.* [Computer software].
- Holzhammer, J., & Wöber, C. (2006). [Alimentary trigger factors that provoke migraine and tension-type headache]. *Schmerz (Berlin, Germany), 20*(2), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00482-005-0390-2
- Jawadekar, N., Kezios, K., Odden, M. C., Stingone, J. A., Calonico, S., Rudolph, K., & Zeki Al Hazzouri, A. (2023). Practical Guide to Honest Causal Forests for Identifying Heterogeneous Treatment Effects. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 192(7), 1155–1165. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwad043
- Kosinski, M., Bayliss, M. S., Bjorner, J. B., Ware, J. E., Garber, W. H., Batenhorst, A., Cady, R., Dahlöf, C. G. H., Dowson, A., & Tepper, S. (2003). A six-item short-form survey for measuring headache impact: The HIT-6. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, *12*(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026119331193
- Kursa, M. B., & Rudnicki, W. R. (2010). Feature Selection with the Boruta Package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *36*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v036.i11
- Lee, B. K., Lessler, J., & Stuart, E. A. (2011). Weight trimming and propensity score weighting. *PloS One*, *6*(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018174
- Lee, H., Myung, W., Cheong, H.-K., Yi, S.-M., Hong, Y.-C., Cho, S.-I., & Kim, H. (2018). Ambient air pollution exposure and risk of migraine: Synergistic effect with high temperature. *Environment International*, *121*, 383–391. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.09.022
- Lee, M., Ohde, S., Urayama, K. Y., Takahashi, O., & Fukui, T. (2018). Weather and Health

Symptoms. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15081670

- Liaw, A., & Wiener, M. (2002). Classification and regression by randomForest. *R News*, 2(3), 18–22.
- Maitre, L., Guimbaud, J.-B., Warembourg, C., Güil-Oumrait, N., Petrone, P. M., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Vrijheid, M., Basagaña, X., & Gonzalez, J. R. (2022). State-ofthe-art methods for exposure-health studies: Results from the exposome data challenge event. *Environment International*, *168*, 107422. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107422
- Martens, A. L., Reedijk, M., Smid, T., Huss, A., Timmermans, D., Strak, M., Swart, W., Lenters, V., Kromhout, H., Verheij, R., Slottje, P., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2018).
 Modeled and perceived RF-EMF, noise and air pollution and symptoms in a population cohort. Is perception key in predicting symptoms? *The Science of the Total Environment*, *639*, 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.007
- McMurry, T. L., Hu, Y., Blackstone, E. H., & Kozower, B. D. (2015). Propensity scores: Methods, considerations, and applications in the Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, 150(1), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.03.057
- Molarius, A., Tegelberg, A., & Ohrvik, J. (2008). Socio-economic factors, lifestyle, and headache disorders—A population-based study in Sweden. *Headache*, *48*(10), 1426–1437. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4610.2008.01178.x
- Molnar, C. (2020). Shapley Values | Interpretable Machine Learning. Interpretable Machine Learning, 5.9-5.10. (2020) [Computer software]. https://christophm. github.io/interpretable-ml-book/shapley.html.
- More, A. S., & Rana, D. P. (2017). Review of random forest classification techniques to resolve data imbalance. 2017 1st International Conference on Intelligent Systems and Information Management (ICISIM), 72–78. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICISIM.2017.8122151
- Nash, J. M., & Thebarge, R. W. (2006). Understanding psychological stress, its biological processes, and impact on primary headache. *Headache*, *46*(9), 1377–1386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4610.2006.00580.x
- Nattero, G., & Enrico, A. (1996). Outdoor pollution and headache. *Headache*, *36*(4), 243– 245. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-4610.1996.3604243.x
- Nikiforow, R., & Hokkanen, E. (1978). An Epidemiological Study of Headache In an Urban and a Rural Population In Northern Finland. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain*, *18*(3), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4610.1978. hed1803137.x
- Nilsson, R., Peña, J. M., Björkegren, J., & Tegnér, J. (2007). Consistent Feature Selection

for Pattern Recognition in Polynomial Time. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 8(21), 589–612.

- *Nivel Primary Care Database | Nivel*. (2022). https://www.nivel.nl/en/nivel-zorgregistraties-eerste-lijn/nivel-primary-care-database
- Ohanyan, H., Portengen, L., Huss, A., Traini, E., Beulens, J. W. J., Hoek, G., Lakerveld, J., & Vermeulen, R. (2022). Machine learning approaches to characterize the obesogenic urban exposome. *Environment International*, 158, 107015. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107015
- Ohanyan, H., Portengen, L., Kaplani, O., Huss, A., Hoek, G., Beulens, J. W. J., Lakerveld, J., & Vermeulen, R. (2022). Associations between the urban exposome and type 2 diabetes: Results from penalised regression by least absolute shrinkage and selection operator and random forest models. *Environment International*, 170, 107592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107592
- O'Malley, C., Piroozfar, P., Farr, E. R. P., & Pomponi, F. (2015). Urban Heat Island (UHI) mitigating strategies: A case-based comparative analysis. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *19*, 222–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2015.05.009
- Portt, A. E., Orchard, C., Chen, H., Ge, E., Lay, C., & Smith, P. M. (2023). Migraine and air pollution: A systematic review. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain*, 63(9), 1203–1219. https://doi.org/10.1111/head.14632
- Prince, P. B., Rapoport, A. M., Sheftell, F. D., Tepper, S. J., & Bigal, M. E. (2004). The effect of weather on headache. *Headache*, *44*(6), 596–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1526-4610.2004.446008.x
- Rains, J. C., & Poceta, J. S. (2012). Sleep-Related Headaches. *Neurologic Clinics*, *30*(4), 1285–1298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncl.2012.08.014
- Raucci, U., Boni, A., Evangelisti, M., Della Vecchia, N., Velardi, M., Ursitti, F., Terrin, G., Di Nardo, G., Reale, A., Villani, A., & Parisi, P. (2021). Lifestyle Modifications to Help Prevent Headache at a Developmental Age. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *11*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2020.618375
- Russell, M. B., Šaltytš-Benth, J., & Levi, N. (2006). Are infrequent episodic, frequent episodic and chronic tension-type headache inherited? A population-based study of 11 199 twin pairs. *The Journal of Headache and Pain*, 7(3), 119–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10194-006-0299-x
- Saucy, A., Gehring, U., Olmos, S., Delpierre, C., de Bont, J., Gruzieva, O., de Hoogh, K., Huss, A., Ljungman, P., Melén, E., Persson, Å., Pieterson, I., Tewis, M., Yu, Z., Vermeulen, R., Vlaanderen, J., & Tonne, C. (2023). Effect of residential relocation on environmental exposures in European cohorts: An exposome-wide approach. *Environment International*, *173*, 107849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2023.107849
- Slottje, P., Yzermans, C. J., Korevaar, J. C., Hooiveld, M., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2014). The

population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Prospective Cohort Study (AMIGO) in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open, 4*(11), Article 11. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005858

- Spritzer, K., & Hays, R. (2003). MOS Sleep Scale: A Manual for Use and Scoring. Version 1.0. Los Angeles, CA: RAND Corporation;
- Steiner, T. J. & World Headache Alliance. (2004). Lifting the burden: The global campaign against headache. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *3*(4), 204–205. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00703-3
- Szpiro, A. A., & Paciorek, C. J. (2013). Measurement error in two-stage analyses, with application to air pollution epidemiology. *Environmetrics*, *24*(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.1002/env.2233
- Szyszkowicz, M. (2008). Air pollution and daily emergency department visits for headache in Montreal, Canada. *Headache*, *48*(3), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1526-4610.2007.00808.x
- Tong, S., Prior, J., McGregor, G., Shi, X., & Kinney, P. (2021). Urban heat: An increasing threat to global health. *The BMJ*, *375*, n2467. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. n2467
- Ulrich, V., Gervil, M., & Olesen, J. (2004). The relative influence of environment and genes in episodic tension-type headache. *Neurology*, *62*(11), 2065–2069. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000129498.50793.8a
- Vermeulen, R., Schymanski, E. L., Barabási, A.-L., & Miller, G. W. (2020). The exposome and health: Where chemistry meets biology. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 367(6476), 392–396. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay3164
- Vodonos, A., Novack, V., Zlotnik, Y., & Ifergane, G. (2015). Ambient air pollution, weather and daily emergency department visits for headache. *Cephalalgia: An International Journal of Headache*, 35(12), 1085–1091. https://doi. org/10.1177/0333102415570300
- White, I. R., Royston, P., & Wood, A. M. (2011). Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice. *Statistics in Medicine*, 30(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4067
- Wild, C. P. (2005). Complementing the genome with an 'exposome': The outstanding challenge of environmental exposure measurement in molecular epidemiology. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention: A Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 14(8), 1847–1850. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965. EPI-05-0456
- Williams, J. R., & Crespi, C. M. (2020). Causal inference for multiple continuous exposures via the multivariate generalized propensity score. arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.13767.

- Winter, A. C., Hoffmann, W., Meisinger, C., Evers, S., Vennemann, M., Pfaffenrath, V., Fendrich, K., Baumeister, S. E., Kurth, T., & Berger, K. (2011). Association between lifestyle factors and headache. *The Journal of Headache and Pain*, 12(2), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10194-010-0286-0
- Xu, H., Xu, M., JC, Z., Ye, F., Liu, X., Liu, Y., & Jin, X. (2023). Short-term environmental nitrogen dioxide exposure and neurology clinic visits for headaches, a time-series study in Wuhan, China. *BMC Public Health*, 23(1), 828. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-023-15770-0
Table 1. Characteristics of the participants at baseline (N=7339).

Sex, n (%)	
Male	3499 (47.7)
Female	3840 (52.3)
Age (years)	
Mean (SD)	52.3 (9.00)
Highest level of education attained, n (%)	
High	3215 (43.8)
Low	4122 (56.2)
Missing	2 (0.0)
Occupation, n (%)	
Employed	5161 (70.3)
Unemployed	2178 (29.7)
Country of origin, n (%)	
The Netherlands	7048 (96.0)
Other	291 (4.0)
BMI group, n (%)	
Normal or underweight	3763 (51.3)
Overweight or obese	3576 (48.7)
Alcohol consumption, n (%)	
No	813 (11.1)
Yes	6524 (88.9)
Missing	2 (0.0)
Smoking status, n (%)	
No	6437 (87.7)
Yes	900 (12.3)
Missing	2 (0.0)
Sleep disturbance index	
Mean (SD)	26.5 (18.6)
Missing	23 (0.3%)
General health indicator, n (%)	
Poor	1098 (15.0)
Good	6239 (85.0)
Missing	2 (0.0)
Depression diagnosis, n (%)	
No	6587 (89.8)
Yes	752 (10.2)
Painkiller use, n (%)	
No	6773 (92.3)
Yes	484 (6.6)
Missing	82 (1.1)
Weekly headache ^a , n (%)	
No	6425 (87.5)
Yes	914 (12.5)
Severe weekly headache ^a , n (%)	
No	6940 (94.6)
Yes	399 (5.4)

^aAt baseline.

Table 2. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline.

Exposure	ATE ^a (SE)
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.007 (0.004)
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	0.006 (0.004)
Heat island effect (C°)	0.006 (0.007)
NO _x (μg/m³)	0.004 (0.004)
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	0.003 (0.004)
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	0.003 (0.004)

*Results for air pollutants indicate changes per interquartile range (IQR) increase in mean air pollution exposure.

Table 3. Conditional average treatment effects (CATEs) on weekly headache at baseline and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, and sleep disturbance index.

Exposure	CATE ^a (SE) in the subsample of participants with weekly headache at baseline	CATE ^a (SE) in the subsample of participants without weekly headache at baseline	t-value ^b
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.068 (0.027)	-0.003 (0.004)	7.151***
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	0.054 (0.027)	0.000 (0.004)	6.761***
Heat island effect (C°)	0.058 (0.042)	0.000 (0.006)	7.645***
NO _x (μg/m³)	0.035 (0.022)	-0.004 (0.004)	4.471***
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	0.013 (0.026)	-0.001 (0.004)	6.209***
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	0.043 (0.027)	-0.003 (0.004)	3.916***

^aResults for air pollutants indicate changes per interquartile range (IQR) increase in mean air pollution exposure. ^bNull hypothesis of no heterogeneity. ^{***} p<0.001, ^{**} p<0.01, ^{*} p<0.05





Figure 1. Matrix of correlation plot showing the intra-family correlations between exposures at baseline.

Heatisland						- 0.8
0.78	NO ₂					- 0.6 - 0.4
0.72	0.89	NO _x				- 0.2
0.60	0.78	0.70	PM _{2.5} Fe			0.2
0.67	0.75	0.66	0.76	PM ₁₀ Si		0.4
0.65	0.75	0.76	0.68	0.86	PM ₁₀	0.8

Figure 2. Spearman rank correlation coefficients and correlation plot of the exposures selected by Boruta. Darker colours and larger circles indicate higher positive correlation levels.









185

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Title: A prospective exploration of the urban exposome in relation to headache in the Dutch population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO)

Authors: Eugenio Traini¹, Lützen Portengen¹, Haykanush Ohanyan¹, Robert van Vorstenbosch¹, Roel Vermeulen¹, Anke Huss¹

¹Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands

Table of contents

Supplementary Table 1. Data sources for each exposure included in the AMIGO urban exposome and considered in this study.

Supplementary Table 2. Highly correlated exposures and corresponding retained exposure as a proxy for others.

Supplementary Table 3. Characteristics of the participants who completed the baseline questionnaire (irrespective of their subsequent completion of the follow-up questionnaire) (N=14829).

Supplementary Table 4. Description of the exposures considered in this study.

Supplementary Table 5. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline. Causal forests including Copper in $PM_{2.5}$ as a proxy for Iron in $PM_{2.5}$.

Supplementary Table 6. Comparison of "high" and "low" out-of-bag CATE regions: causal forests estimated on each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline.

Supplementary Table 7. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline, with mutual adjustment for the remaining exposures.

Supplementary Table 8. Comparison of "high" and "low" out-of-bag CATE regions: causal forests estimated on each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline, with mutual adjustment for the remaining exposures.

Supplementary Table 9. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline.

Supplementary Figure 1. The circos of correlation plot showing inter-family correlations between exposures and their domains at baseline.

Supplementary Figure 2. Shapley plot illustrations of the covariates selected by Boruta. Supplementary Figure 3. Distribution of exposure propensity weights with causal forests trained for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline. Supplementary Figure 4. Distribution of exposure propensity weights with causal forests trained for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline, use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline,

with mutual adjustment for the remaining exposures.

Supplementary Table 1. Data sources for each exposure included in the AMIGO urban exposome and considered in this study.

Exposure	Method	Year	Year Spatial resolution	
Urban Temperature Surface temperature (C°) Urban heat effect (temperature difference to rural surrounding) (C°) Road traffic noise	Satellite observations	2016	30x30m 10x10m	(Remme, 2017)
Combined traffic noise (dB)	Modelled exposure	2016	10x10m ²	(Baliatsas et al., 2016; Martens et al., 2018)
Outdoor light at night Light at night (NanoW/cm ² /sr) Urbanicity and built	Satellite observations	2015	Pixel size ~750x750m	(Elvidge et al. <i>,</i> 2017)
environment Degree of urbanicity (categories from 1 (high) to 5 (low)) Distance to major road (km) Distance to train station (km) Distance to larger train station (km) Distance to larger train station (km) Distance to medical facilities (km) Distance to medical facilities (km) Distance to educational facilities (km) Distance to recreational facilities (km) Distance to varehouse shops (km) Healthy food retailers (frequency) Educational facilities (frequency)	Neighbourhood maps	2011	Neighbourhood (PC4) 5km buffer 1km buffer 10km buffer	(Statistiek, 2011)

Warehouse shops			20km buffer	
(frequency)				
Radiofrequency				
electromagnetic fields				
(RF-EIVIFS)	Degracion	I	I	1
Mohile phone call-time	calibrated			
(min/day)	estimates based	2012		
(mm/ ddy)	on self-report			
	Integrated			
	exposure model			
	(IEM) including			
	the use of			(van Wel et
RF-EMF dose (mJ/Kg/day)	mobile phones,	2012		al., 2021)
	cordless phones,			
	laptops and far-			
	field exposure			
Green space density			'	'
100m buffer	Satellite	2016	100m buffer	(Rhew et al.,
1000m buffer	observations	2010	1000m buffer	2011)
Air pollution			1	
NO ₂ (μg/m ³)				
$NO_x (\mu g/m^3)$				(Beelen et al.,
$PM_{2.5}$ absorbance (µg/m ³)		2009	Point-estimate	2013; Eeftens
$PM_{10} (\mu g/m^3)$				et al., 2012)
$PM_{2.5}(\mu g/m^3)$				
PM coarse (µg/m ³)				
UFP particle (count/cm ³)		2016	Point-estimate	(Kercknotts et
Oxidative Potential				un, 2021)
(dithiothreitol)				(Yang et al.,
Oxidative Potential	National land	2009	Point-estimate	2015)
(electron spin resonance)	use regression			,
Copper in PM_{10} (ng/m ³)	models			
Iron in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)				
Potassium in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)				
Nickel in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)				
Sulfur in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)				(Hoogh et al
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)		2009	Point-estimate	(1100gil et al., 2013)
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)				2013)
Potassium in PM _{2.5}				
(ng/m ³)				
Sulfur in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)				
Silicon in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)				
Quality of drinking water	ļ			

Aluminium (µg/l)				
Natrium (ug/l)				
Nickel (ug/l)				
Nitrate (mg/l)				
Chloride (ug/l)				
Turbidity (FTE=Formazine				
Turbidity Units)				
Fluoride (mg/l)				
Iron (μg/l)				
Copper (µg/l)				
Magnesium (mg/l)				
Total organic carbon				
(mg/l)				
Sulfate (mg/l)				
Color intensity (Pt/Co-				
schaal)				
Electrical conductivity				Quality of
(microS/cm)	Drinking water			(Quality of Drinking
Aminomethyl phosphonic		2012		Driffking Water I
acid (Pesticide) (µg/l)	quality map			Waler BIV(M p d)
Arsen (μg/l)				<i>KIVIVI,</i> II.U.)
Bentazon (herbicide)(µg/l)				
Bromat (µg/l)				
Chrome (µg/l)				
Diprogulic acid (µg/l)				
Lead (µg/l)				
Mangan (µg/l)				
pesticide:				
Mecoprop (µg/l)				
Nitrite (µg/l)				
Trihalomethanes (μg/l)				
Tritium (Becquerel)				
Bacteria of the coli group				
(kve/100 ml)				
Escherichia coli (kve/100				
ml)				
Smell of drinking water				
Technology use				
Texting-SMS (frequency)	Self-reported	2012		(Reedijk et al.,
Browsing on mobile	Self_reported	2012		2018; Slottje
phones (frequency)	Sen-reported	2012		et al., 2014)
Socio-demographic area-				
level factors				
			·	

neighbourhood aged 0-14 years (%) Inhabitants in neighbourhood aged 15- 24 years (%) Inhabitants in neighbourhood aged 25- 44 years (%) Inhabitants in neighbourhood aged 45- 64 years (%) Inhabitants in neighbourhood aged 65+ years (%) Single inhabitants in neighbourhood (%) Married inhabitants in neighbourhood (%) Divorced inhabitants in neighbourhood (%) Divorced inhabitants in neighbourhood (%) Widowed inhabitants in neighbourhood (%) One-person households (%) Inhabitants with western origins (Europe, North America, Oceania, Indonesia, Japan) (%) Inhabitants with non- western origins (%) Average value of houses (x 1000 euros) Persons with income below 40th percentile (%) Persons with income above 20th percentile (%) Total passenger cars (frequency) Road safety by accident	Neighbourhood maps	2011	Neighbourhood (PC4)	(Statistiek, 2011)
---	-----------------------	------	------------------------	-----------------------

Supplementary Table 2. Highly correlated exposures and corresponding retained exposure as a proxy for others.

Highly correlated exposures (with Spearman rank correlation coefficient ≥ 0.95)	Retained exposure as a proxy for others	
Vanadium in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)		
Vanadium in $PM_{10}(ng/m^3)$	Nickol in DM (ng/m ³)	
Nickel in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	Nickel III Pivi ₁₀ (IIg/III)	
Nickel in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)		
Zinc in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)		
Zinc in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	Potassium in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	
Potassium in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)		
Copper in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	luce in DNA (no (m3)	
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	Iron in Pivi _{2.5} (ng/m²)	
Smell of drinking water	Smell of drinking water	
Taste of drinking water		

Supplementary	Table	3.	Characteristics	of	the	participants	who	completed	the	baseline	questionnaire
(irrespective of t	their su	bse	equent completi	on	of th	e follow-up q	uestic	onnaire) (N=	1482	29).	

Sex, n (%)	
Male	6561 (44.2)
Female	8268 (55.8)
Age (years)	
Mean (SD)	50.6 (9.37)
Highest level of education attained, n (%)	
High	4531 (30.6)
Low	10217 (68.9)
Missing	81 (0.5)
Occupation, n (%)	
Employed	10641 (71.8)
Unemployed	4167 (28.2)
Country of origin, n (%)	
The Netherlands	14127 (95.3)
Other	702 (4.7)
BMI group, n (%)	
Normal or underweight	7955 (55.7)
Overweight or obese	6748 (43.5)
Missing	126 (0.8)
Alcohol consumption, n (%)	
No	1936 (13.1)
Yes	12793 (86.3)
Missing	100 (0.6)
Smoking status, n (%)	
No	12484 (84.2)
Yes	2322 (15.7)
Missing	23 (0.1)
Sleep disturbance index	
Mean (SD)	26.8 (19.2)
Missing	230 (1.6%)
General health indicator, n (%)	
Poor	2449 (16.5)
Good	12260 (82.7)
Missing	120 (0.8)
Depression diagnosis, n (%)	
No	12804 (86.3)
Yes	1555 (10.5)
Missing	470 (3.2)
Painkiller use, n (%)	
No	13305 (89.7)
Yes	1022 (6.9)
Missing	502 (3.4)
Weekly headache ^a , n (%)	
No	12607 (85.0)
Yes	2069 (14.0)
Missing	153 (1.0)
Severe weekly headache", n (%)	
NO	13629 (91.9)
Yes	1009 (6.8)
Missing	191 (1.3)

^aAt baseline.

Supplementary Table 4. Description of the exposures considered in this study.

Exposure	Missing (%)	Mean (SD) or n (%)
Urban Temperature		·]
Surface temperature (C°)	6.3%	32.5 (2.13)
Urban heat effect		
(temperature difference	0.2%	0.848 (0.491)
to rural surrounding) (C∘)		
Road traffic noise		
Combined traffic noise	_	Lden<55 dB: 5153 (70.2%)
(dB)		Lden>55 dB: 2186 (29.8%)
Outdoor light at night		
Electric light	0.2%	12.5 (13.7)
(NanoW/cm²/sr)		
Urbanicity and built		
environment		
		1 (high): 618 (8.4%)
Degree of urbanicity		2: 1520 (20.7%)
(categories from 1 (high)	0.3%	3: 1734 (23.6%)
to 5 (low))		4: 1770 (24.1%)
.		5: (low): 1678 (22.9%)
Distance to major road	0.4%	1.57 (0.909)
(km)		
Distance to train station	0.4%	5.19 (4.62)
(KM) Distance to language		
Distance to larger train	0.4%	12.9 (9.21)
Station (Km)		
facilities (km)	0.4%	1.01 (0.981)
Distance to healthier food		
retailers (km)	0.4%	0.768 (0.671)
Distance to educational		
facilities (km)	0.4%	0.596 (0.438)
Distance to recreational		
facilities (km)	0.4%	2.30 (1.99)
Distance to warehouse		
shops (km)	0.4%	3.27 (2.66)
Healthy food retailers	0.4%	71.8 (107)
Non healthy food retailers		
(frequency)	0.4%	13.1 (31.2)
Educational facilities		
(frequency)	0.9%	79.5 (81.5)
Warehouse shops		
(frequency)	0.4%	17.0 (11.4)
Radiofrequency	I	I
electromagnetic fields		
(RF-EMFs)		
Mobile phone call-time	0.7%	22 5 (22 0)
(min/day)	0.770	23.3 (22.3)

RF-EMF dose (mJ/Kg/day)	0.3%	254 (251)	
Green space density			
100m buffer	0.2%	0.488 (0.133)	
1000m buffer	0.2%	0.535 (0.113)	
Air pollution			
NO ₂ (μg/m ³)	1.5%	22.2 (5.59)	
NO _x (μg/m³)	1.5%	31.9 (9.75)	
$PM_{2.5}$ absorbance (µg/m ³)	1.5%	1.21 (0.196)	
PM ₁₀ (μg/m ³)	1.5%	24.5 (0.931)	
PM _{2.5} (μg/m³)	1.5%	16.5 (0.664)	
PM coarse (µg/m ³)	1.5%	8.18 (0.651)	
UFP particle (count/cm ³)	-	9460 (2040)	
Oxidative Potential	1 59/	1 16 (0 102)	
(dithiothreitol)	1.5%	1.10 (0.195)	
Oxidative Potential	1 50/	000 /1 47)	
(electron spin resonance)	1.5%	889 (147)	
Copper in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-	12.1 (3.26)	
Iron in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-	350 (99.8)	
Potassium in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-	202 (14.3)	
Nickel in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-	2.03 (0.798)	
Sulfur in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-	1010 (41.1)	
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-	345 (67.4)	
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	-	76.0 (21.5)	
Potassium in PM _{2.5}		110 (0.10)	
(ng/m ³)	-	116 (9.48)	
Sulfur in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	0.1%	883 (52.0)	
Silicon in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	-	79.6 (12.1)	
Quality of drinking water			
Aluminium (µg/l)	0.2%	1.62 (3.02)	
Natrium (ug/l)	0.2%	35.3 (26.2)	
Nickel (ug/l)	0.2%	0.743 (1.35)	
Nitrate (mg/l)	0.2%	4.93 (5.32)	
Chloride (ug/l)	0.2%	41.2 (31.0)	
Turbidity (FTE=Formazine	0.2%	0 10 (0 20)	
Turbidity Units)	0.276	0.10 (0.20)	
Fluoride (mg/l)	0.2%	0.0785 (0.0589)	
Iron (μg/l)	0.2%	10.1 (18.6)	
Copper (µg/l)	0.2%	2.40 (6.41)	
Magnesium (mg/l)	0.2%	7.55 (2.63)	
Total organic carbon	0.2%	1 70 (1 60)	
(mg/l)	0.270	1.70 (1.00)	
Sulfate (mg/l)	0.2%	32.9 (26.4)	
Color intensity (Pt/Co-	0.2%	3 04 (4 01)	
schaal)	0.276	5.04 (4.01)	
Electrical conductivity	0.2%	43 4 (11 8)	
(microS/cm)	0.270	-J. - (11.0)	
Aminomethyl phosphonic	0.2%	0 (µg/l): 7074 (96.4%)	
acid (Pesticide) (µg/l)		>0 (µg/l): 251 (3.4%)	

Arsen (µg/l)	0.2%	0 (μg/l): 6303 (85.9%)
		$\sim (\mu g/I)$. 1022 (13.3%)
Bentazon (herbicide)(µg/l)	0.2%	0 (μg/1): 6528 (88.9%)
		>0 (µg/I): /97 (10.9%)
Bromat (µg/l)	0.2%	0 (μg/l): 6355 (86.6%)
		>0 (µg/I): 9/0 (13.2%)
Chrome (ug/l)	0.2%	0 (μg/l): 6888 (93.9%)
		>0 (µg/l): 437 (6.0%)
Diprogulic acid (ug/l)	0.2%	0 (µg/l): 6417 (87.4%)
	0.270	>0 (µg/l): 908 (12.4%)
Load (ug/l)	0.2%	0 (µg/l): 7197 (98.1%)
Leau (µg/I)	0.276	>0 (µg/l): 128 (1.7%)
NA	0.2%	0 (µg/l): 7189 (98.0%)
iviangan (µg/i)	0.2%	>0 (µg/l): 136 (1.9%)
pesticide:		0 (µg/l): 7195 (98.0%)
Mecoprop (µg/l)	0.2%	>0 (µg/l): 130 (1.8%)
Nitrite (ug/l)	0.2%	35.3 (26.2)
(10) (10)		0 (ug/l)· 6409 (87 3%)
Trihalomethanes (µg/l)	0.2%	>0 (µg/l): 916 (12 5%)
		ο (μg/l): 7155 (97.5%)
Tritium (Becquerel)	0.2%	$0 (\mu g/1). 7133 (37.376)$
Dactoria of the coli group		$\sim (\mu g/I)$. 170 (2.5%)
Bacteria of the con group	0.2%	0 (μg/1). 0997 (95.5%)
(kve/100 mi)		>0 (µg/I): 328 (4.5%)
Escherichia coli (kve/100	0.2%	0 (µg/I): /204 (98.2%)
ml)		>0 (µg/l): 121 (1.6%)
Smell of drinking water	0.2%	0 (µg/l): 7066 (96.3%)
		>0 (µg/l): 259 (3.5%)
Technology use		
		0 (low): 5903 (80.4%)
Texting-SMS (frequency)	0.9%	1 (medium): 1237 (16.9%)
		2 (high): 133 (1.8%)
Browsing on mobile		0 (low): 5342 (72.8%)
phonos (fraguancy)	1.0%	1 (medium): 783 (10.7%)
phones (nequency)		2 (high): 1144 (15.6%)
Socio-demographic area-		
level factors		
Inhabitants in		
neighbourhood aged 0-14	0.3%	18.0 (4.97)
years (%)		
Inhabitants in		
neighbourhood aged 15-	0.3%	11.9 (3.64)
24 years (%)		()
Inhabitants in		
neighbourbood aged 25-	0.3%	25 3 (6 23)
11 years (%)	0.570	23.3 (0.23)
Inhahitants in		
noighbourbood agod 45	0.2%	20 4 (5 46)
	0.570	23.4 (3.40)
o4 years (%)		

Inhabitants in		
neighbourhood aged 65+	0.3%	15.4 (7.11)
years (%)		
Single inhabitants in	0.3%	
neighbourhood (%)		45.3 (7.91)
Married inhabitants in	0.3%	
neighbourhood (%)		43.6 (7.68)
Divorced inhabitants in	0.3%	
neighbourbood (%)	0.070	6.07 (2.34)
Widowed inhabitants in	0.3%	
noighbourbood (%)	0.570	5.11 (2.91)
	0.2%	
One-person households	0.3%	30.4 (12.1)
(%)	0.20/	
Inhabitants with western	0.3%	
origins		
(Europe, North America,		8.00 (3.86)
Oceania, Indonesia,		
Japan) (%)		
Inhabitants with non-	9 7%	11 2 (12 2)
western origins (%)	5.770	11.2 (12.2)
Average value of houses	1.6%	261 (71 4)
(x 1000 euros)	1.0%	231 (71.4)
Persons with income	1.1%	39.1 (6.92)
below 40th percentile (%)		
Persons with income	4.40/	20 4 (7 7 5)
above 20th percentile (%)	1.1%	20.4 (7.76)
Total passenger cars		
(frequency)	0.2%	1590 (1400)
Road safety by accident		
count in 200m buffer	0.02%	1.23 (3.91)
(frequency)		
Perceived exposure		
reiceiveu exposure		0 (pot at all): 1367 (18.6%)
		1. 2522 (24 E%)
		1. 2555 (54.5%)
Air pollution from road	2.2%	2: 1299 (17.7%)
traffic	3.3%	3: 1027 (14.0%)
		4: 648 (8.8%)
		5: 302 (4.1%)
		6 (very much): 163 (2.2%)
		0 (not at all): 3033 (41.3%)
		1: 2193 (29.9%)
Air pollution from other		2: 904 (12.3%)
	3.4%	3: 559 (7.6%)
sources		4: 307 (4.2%)
		5: 200 (2.7%)
		6 (very much): 143 (1.9%)
		0 (not at all): 1520 (20.7%)
		1: 2862 (39.0%)

Noise from road traffic	3.4%	2: 1287 (17.5%) 3: 791 (10.8%) 4: 485 (6.6%) 5: 276 (3.8%) 6 (very much): 118 (1.6%) 0 (pot at all): 2755 (37.5%)
Noise from other sources	3.4%	1: 2463 (33.6%) 2: 938 (12.8%) 3: 545 (7.4%) 4: 324 (4.4%) 5: 203 (2.8%) 6 (very much): 111 (1.5%) 0 (not at all): 864 (11.8%)
UV radiation from the sun	3.5%	1: 2429 (33.1%) 2: 2031 (27.7%) 3: 1447 (19.7%) 4: 420 (5.7%) 5: 117 (1.6%) 6 (very much): 31 (0.4%)
(RF-)EMFs emitted by:		
mobile phone base stations/Radio/TV antennas	3.5%	1: 2332 (31.8%) 2: 928 (12.6%) 3: 563 (7.7%) 4: 189 (2.6%) 5: 81 (1.1%) 6 (very much): 49 (0.7%) 0 (not at all): 1313 (17.9%) 1: 2929 (39.9%)
mobile phones	3.6%	2: 1328 (18.1%) 3: 983 (13.4%) 4: 399 (5.4%) 5: 251 (3.4%) 6 (very much): 136 (1.9%) 0 (not at all): 1284 (17.5%) 1: 2873 (39.1%) 2: 4437 (10.4%)
cordless phones	3.7%	2: 1427 (19.4%) 3: 1050 (14.3%) 4: 398 (5.4%) 5: 206 (2.8%) 6 (very much): 101 (1.4%) 0 (not at all): 4938 (67.3%) 1: 1545 (21.1%)
power lines	3.6%	2: 484 (6.6%) 3: 250 (3.4%) 4: 63 (0.9%) 5: 34 (0.5%) 6 (very much): 25 (0.3%) 0 (not at all): 4955 (67.5%)

transformer houses	3.4%	1: 1608 (21.9%) 2: 465 (6.3%) 3: 231 (3.1%) 4: 43 (0.6%) 5: 19 (0.3%) 6 (very much): 18 (0.2%)
		6 (very much): 18 (0.2%)

Supplementary Table 5. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline. Causal forests including Copper in PM_{25} as a proxy for Iron in PM_{25} .

Exposure	ATE ^a (SE)
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.007 (0.004)
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	0.006 (0.004)
Heat island effect (C°)	0.006 (0.007)
NO _x (μg/m³)	0.004 (0.004)
Copper in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	0.002 (0.004)
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m³)	0.003 (0.004)

^aResults for air pollutants indicate changes per interquartile range (IQR) increase in mean air pollution exposure.

Exposure	"High" region CATE (SE)	"Low" region CATE (SE)	Difference in CATEs (95% CI)
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.013 (0.007)	0.003 (0.005)	0.010 (-0.007 – 0.027)
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	0.003 (0.005)	0.007 (0.005)	-0.004 (-0.018 - 0.010)
Heat island effect (C°)	0.007 (0.011)	0.006 (0.008)	0.001 (-0.025 – 0.027)
NO _x (μg/m³)	0.006 (0.005)	0.001 (0.004)	0.005 (-0.008 – 0.018)
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	-0.003 (0.007)	0.007 (0.005)	-0.010 (-0.026 – 0.006)
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	0.003 (0.006)	0.002 (0.005)	0.001 (-0.015 – 0.017)

Supplementary Table 6. Comparison of "high" and "low" out-of-bag CATE regions: causal forests estimated on each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline.

Supplementary Table 7. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline, with mutual adjustment for the remaining exposures.

Exposure	ATE ^a (SE)
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.058 (0.022)
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	0.002 (0.014)
Heat island effect (C°)	-0.019 (0.017)
NO _x (μg/m³)	0.011 (0.018)
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	-0.016 (0.010)
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-0.045 (0.051)

^aResults for air pollutants indicate changes per interquartile range (IQR) increase in mean air pollution exposure.

Supplementary Table 8. Comparison of "high" and "low" out-of-bag CATE regions: causal forests estimated on each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline, with mutual adjustment for the remaining exposures.

Exposure	"High" region CATE (SE)	"Low" region CATE (SE)	Difference in CATEs (95% CI)
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.083 (0.031)	0.001 (0.015)	0.082 (0.015 – 0.149)
PM ₁₀ (μg/m³)	0.017 (0.012)	0.014 (0.017)	0.002 (-0.039 – 0.043)
Heat island effect (C°)	0.000 (0.022)	-0.038 (0.026)	0.038 (-0.029 – 0.105)
NO _x (μg/m³)	-0.008 (0.012)	-0.015 (0.015)	0.007 (-0.031 – 0.038)
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	-0.012 (0.012)	0.003 (0.012)	-0.015 (-0.049 – 0.034)
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	-0.041 (0.086)	-0.050 (0.055)	0.009 (-0.191 – 0.209)

Exposure	ATE ^a (SE)
NO ₂ (μg/m³)	0.007 (0.004)
PM ₁₀ (µg/m³)	0.006 (0.004)
Heat island effect (C°)	0.006 (0.007)
NO _x (μg/m³)	0.004 (0.004)
Iron in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	0.003 (0.004)
Silicon in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	0.003 (0.004)
PM _{coarse} (µg/m³)	0.005 (0.004)
Potassium in PM ₁₀ (ng/m ³)	0.002 (0.004)
Road traffic noise (dB)	0.008 (0.007)

Supplementary Table 9. Average treatment effects (ATEs) and related standard errors (SEs) estimated with causal forests for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline.

^aResults for air pollutants indicate changes per interquartile range (IQR) increase in mean air pollution exposure.

References

- Baliatsas, C., van Kamp, I., Swart, W., Hooiveld, M., & Yzermans, J. (2016). Noise sensitivity: Symptoms, health status, illness behavior and co-occurring environmental sensitivities. *Environmental Research*, 150, 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2016.05.029
- Beelen, R., Hoek, G., Vienneau, D., Eeftens, M., Dimakopoulou, K., Pedeli, X., Tsai, M.-Y., Künzli, N., Schikowski, T., Marcon, A., Eriksen, K. T., Raaschou-Nielsen, O., Stephanou, E., Patelarou, E., Lanki, T., Yli-Tuomi, T., Declercq, C., Falq, G., Stempfelet, M., ... de Hoogh, K. (2013). Development of NO2 and NOx land use regression models for estimating air pollution exposure in 36 study areas in Europe – The ESCAPE project. *Atmospheric Environment*, *72*, 10–23. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.02.037
- Eeftens, M., Beelen, R., de Hoogh, K., Bellander, T., Cesaroni, G., Cirach, M., Declercq, C., Dėdelė, A., Dons, E., de Nazelle, A., Dimakopoulou, K., Eriksen, K., Falq, G., Fischer, P., Galassi, C., Gražulevičienė, R., Heinrich, J., Hoffmann, B., Jerrett, M., ... Hoek, G. (2012). Development of Land Use Regression models for PM(2.5), PM(2.5) absorbance, PM(10) and PM(coarse) in 20 European study areas; results of the ESCAPE project. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(20), Article 20. https://doi.org/10.1021/es301948k
- Elvidge, C. D., Baugh, K., Zhizhin, M., Hsu, F. C., & Ghosh, T. (2017). VIIRS night-time lights. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 38(21), 5860–5879. https:// doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2017.1342050
- Hoogh, K. D., Wang, M., Adam, M., Badaloni, C., Beelen, R., Birk, M., Cesaroni, G., Cirach, M., Declercq, C., Dědelě, A., Dons, E., Nazelle, A. D., Eeftens, M., Eriksen, K., Eriksson, C., Fischer, P., Gražulevičieně, R., Gryparis, A., Hoffmann, B., ... Hoek, G. (2013). Development of land use regression models for particle composition in twenty study areas in Europe. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 47(11), 5778–5786. https://doi.org/10.1021/es400156t
- Kerckhoffs, J., Hoek, G., Gehring, U., & Vermeulen, R. (2021). Modelling nationwide spatial variation of ultrafine particles based on mobile monitoring. *Environment International*, 154, 106569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106569
- Martens, A. L., Reedijk, M., Smid, T., Huss, A., Timmermans, D., Strak, M., Swart, W., Lenters, V., Kromhout, H., Verheij, R., Slottje, P., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2018).
 Modeled and perceived RF-EMF, noise and air pollution and symptoms in a population cohort. Is perception key in predicting symptoms? *The Science of the Total Environment*, *639*, 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.007
- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Timmermans, D. R. M., Kromhout, H., Reedijk, M., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Smid, T. (2017). Modeled and Perceived Exposure to Radiofrequen-

cy Electromagnetic Fields From Mobile-Phone Base Stations and the Development of Symptoms Over Time in a General Population Cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *186*(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx041

- Quality of drinking water | RIVM. (n.d.). Retrieved 23 January 2024, from https://www. rivm.nl/en/soil-and-water/drinking-water/quality-of-drinking-water
- Reedijk, M., Lenters, V., Slottje, P., Pijpe, A., Peeters, P. H., Korevaar, J. C., Bueno-de-Mesquita, B., Verschuren, W. M. M., Verheij, R. A., Pieterson, I., van Leeuwen, F. E., Rookus, M. A., Kromhout, H., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2018). Cohort profile: LIFEWORK, a prospective cohort study on occupational and environmental risk factors and health in the Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, *8*(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018504
- Remme, R. (2017). *Netherlands Natural Capital Model-Technical Documentation*. www. atlasnatuurlijkkapitaal.nl
- Rhew, I. C., Vander Stoep, A., Kearney, A., Smith, N. L., & Dunbar, M. D. (2011). Validation of the normalized difference vegetation index as a measure of neighborhood greenness. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 21(12), Article 12. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.09.001
- Slottje, P., Yzermans, C. J., Korevaar, J. C., Hooiveld, M., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2014). The population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Prospective Cohort Study (AMIGO) in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 4(11), Article 11. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005858
- Statistiek, C. B. voor de. (2011). *Wijk- en buurtkaart 2011* [Webpagina]. Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/dossier/nederland-regionaal/ geografische-data/wijk-en-buurtkaart-2011
- van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Huss, A., Thielens, A., Wiart, J., Joseph, W., Röösli, M., Foerster, M., Massardier-Pilonchery, A., Capstick, M., Cardis, E., & Vermeulen, R. (2021). Radio-frequency electromagnetic field exposure and contribution of sources in the general population: An organ-specific integrative exposure assessment. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, *31*(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00287-8
- Yang, A., Wang, M., Eeftens, M., Beelen, R., Dons, E., Leseman, D. L. A. C., Brunekreef, B., Cassee, F. R., Janssen, N. A. H., & Hoek, G. (2015). Spatial Variation and Land Use Regression Modeling of the Oxidative Potential of Fine Particles. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 123(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.1289/ ehp.1408916

Supplementary Figure 1. The circos of correlation plot showing inter-family correlations between exposures and their domains at baseline.





- Road traffic noise
- Air pollution





Supplementary Figure 2. Shapley plot illustrations of the covariates selected by Boruta.



General health indicator





Supplementary Figure 3. Distribution of exposure propensity weights with causal forests trained for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline.



Supplementary Figure 4. Distribution of exposure propensity weights with causal forests trained for each exposure separately, adjusted for age, depression diagnosis, painkiller use, general health indicator, sleep disturbance index and weekly headache at baseline, with mutual adjustment for the remaining exposures.



A prospective exploration of the urban exposome in relation to headache in the Dutch population-based Occupational and Environmental Health Cohort Study (AMIGO)

Painkiller use in the AMIGO questionnaire.

- 1. Have you used the following (prescribed) medications in the past 12 months? (response categories: yes, no)
 - painkiller(s)

(if painkiller(s) was selected => answer next questions).

- 2. How often in the past 12 months have you taken the following painkillers? (response categories: at least 1/day, at least 1/week, at least 1/month, rarely, never).
 - a. Paracetamol (e.g. Paracetamol, Chefarine, Citrosan, Finimal, Panadol Plus, Femerital, Saridon).
 - b. Ibuprofen (e.g. Advil, Brufen, Nurofen, Sarixell, Spidifen).
 - c. Acetylsalicylic acid (e.g. Aspirin, Aspro, Aspegic, Alka-Seltzer).
 - d. Other painkillers (e.g. Codeine).
Chapter 6: General Discussion

The main objective of this thesis was to propose informative approaches for the analysis of environmental factors commonly encountered in everyday life in relation to health outcomes, using data from prospective studies across different scenarios. These approaches aimed to provide valuable insights and understanding of exposure-outcome relationships, including potential mechanisms of action and underlying causal pathways, to prevent health effects. This was accomplished through careful evaluation of pre-analytical aspects of the study concerning design and hypotheses, optimisation of available data, identification of the most appropriate analytical methods, and critical interpretation of the results. For this purpose, data from large prospective epidemiological studies were analysed using a combination of statistical and machine learning techniques, which include multi-state Markov models, weighted quantile sum regression and boosted regression tree models, Boruta and causal forests, and extensions of regression techniques within the causal inference framework such as the generalised propensity score for single exposures and its multivariate version.

In Chapter 6, I first present the main findings of this thesis's studies. Following this summary, I navigate through the approaches proposed to identify underlying mechanisms of action and address the most relevant challenges encountered across the studies, highlighting the advantages and limitations of the different methods, and providing policy implications and possible directions for future research.

Main findings

In Chapter 2, we explored two potential exposure-outcome pathways concerning mobile phone use and headaches, using pooled data from the Dutch and UK cohorts of COSMOS (N=78,437). Results from multivariable logistic regression models showed that baseline mobile phone use for calling and texting was associated with headaches at follow-up. Interestingly, in the mutually adjusted model for both call-time and texting, we observed considerably attenuated risk estimates for call-time. In contrast, associations with texting were still strong and robust to adjustment, with a clear exposure-outcome relationship. These results suggested that, due to the negligible exposure to RF-EMFs from texting, mechanisms other than RF-EMFs were responsible for the increased risk of headache that we found among mobile phone users. These mechanisms likely reflected lifestyle, other exposures, or behavioural factors associated with mobile phone use.

In Chapter 3, we explored the temporal dynamics of attribution of health complaints to RF-EMFs (IEI-RF) in the subcohort of AMIGO (N=892). Specifically, we assessed factors related to developing, maintaining, or discarding IEI-RF over the course of 10 years by modelling the process in which participants move through a series of states of IEI-RF

with multi-state Markov models. Furthermore, we applied logistic regression to prospectively explore predictors of electromagnetic hypersensitivity without the condition of attributing health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (EHS). Results showed that prevalence of IEI-RF was generally low and remained stable over time. Interestingly, over 10 years of follow-up, we observed a high probability of no longer attributing symptoms to RF-EMF exposure, which suggested that IEI-RF may be a more transient condition than previously assumed. Finally, RF-EMF perceptions, non-specific symptom reporting, and sleep disturbances at baseline were predictive of the notion of being EHS at 10 years follow-up, regardless of whether reporting health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure.

In Chapter 4, we adopted a pluralistic approach to prospectively explore the relationship between a mixture of air pollutants and overall mortality in LIFEWORK (N=86,882). Through the use of methods designed for the analysis of high-dimensional exposure data, namely weighted quantile sum (WQS) regression and boosted regression trees (BRT), we identified the most relevant components within the mixture in relation to the outcome, accounting for the strong correlations, interactions and nonlinearities. Based on these results, we estimated a multivariate generalised propensity score model to jointly estimate the causal effects of the pollutants on overall mortality. Results showed that, by using novel methods for causal inference and mixture modelling in a large prospective cohort, we could strengthen the causal interpretation of air pollution effects on mortality, identifying the most relevant contributors and emphasising the primary role of PM_{2.5} within the pollutant mixture.

In Chapter 5, we prospectively explored the urban exposome of AMIGO (N=7,339) in relation to headaches by using a combination of machine learning techniques designed to reduce complexities in high-dimensional settings and estimate causal effects. Specifically, we first applied Boruta to identify relevant exposures in the exposome-outcome association, and then estimated causal forest to quantify the effect of these exposures on the occurrence of headache. Boruta selected five air pollutants (NO₂, NO_x, PM₁₀, silicon in PM₁₀, iron in PM_{2.5}) and one urban temperature measure (heat island effect) as factors contributing to the reporting of weekly headache at follow-up. The estimated causal effect of each exposure on weekly headache indicated positive associations for all exposures, with NO₂ displaying the largest effect. Of note, accounting for confounding by co-exposure resulted in less precise effect estimates. In conclusion, these results highlighted the relevance of air pollution exposure and heat island effects in reporting weekly headaches in AMIGO.

Unraveling the mechanisms of action of environmental exposures on health necessitates a comprehensive approach

Despite the ubiquitous nature of air pollution and RF-EMFs in the environment, they have very distinct features that require different approaches to understand their mode of action.

While the mechanisms underlying the health effects of air pollution are relatively well-understood, and they involve inflammation, oxidative stress, and systemic responses triggered by exposure to particulate matter and gaseous pollutants (Block & Calderón-Garcidueñas, 2009; Brunekreef & Holgate, 2002; Leikauf et al., 2020; Miller, 2020), those concerning RF-EMF exposure, particularly at the low levels of exposure normally encountered in the population, remain more uncertain. The accepted mechanism of action of RF-EMF exposure to date includes a thermal effect from absorbed energy (D'Andrea et al., 2007). Furthermore, oxidative stress is proposed as a potential biological response to RF-EMFs in a number of experimental studies, such as those investigating the effects on nervous and reproductive systems (Henschenmacher et al., 2022; Kamali et al., 2018; Tkalec et al., 2007; Yüksel et al., 2016), although it remains unclear whether oxidative stress may result in harmful health effects at the generally low exposure levels that are experienced by the general population. On the other hand, epidemiological studies exploring the health effects associated with long-term RF-EMF exposure from the use of mobile phones struggle to provide definitive evidence about potential mechanisms involved (Boileau et al., 2020; Feychting et al., 2024; INTERPHONE Study Group, 2010; Schüz et al., 2006; Swerdlow et al., 2011; Tettamanti et al., 2020).

In studies investigating health outcomes such as headache and migraine, the identification of mechanisms of action becomes even more challenging due to the transient nature of the symptoms (Auvinen et al., 2019; Frei et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2018; Schüz et al., 2009; Szyjkowska et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017). Results from these studies can be difficult to interpret as no clear distinction is traditionally made, within each study, between aspects of electronic device use directly related to RF-EMF exposure and other features associated with negligible RF-EMF exposure, which still represent potential risk factors for headache symptoms in the population. In this regard, growing evidence is supporting the hypothesis of a link between headaches and certain aspects of electronic device use, such as screen time or texting (Langdon et al., 2024; Lund et al., 2022; Montagni et al., 2016; Tsantili et al., 2022). Therefore, to elucidate potential mechanisms of action, it would be advantageous to explore exposure constructs that aid in disentangling the relationship between exposure and outcome.

Following these considerations, two potential adverse exposure-outcome pathways in the association between mobile phone use and headaches can be identified (Chapter 2). The first route relates to RF-EMF exposure, with the duration of voice calling on a mobile phone considered as a proxy for the exposure to the head of the participants.

This is a common approach used to quantify RF-EMF exposure in epidemiological studies exploring the health effects from long-term use of mobile phones (Auvinen et al., 2019; Schüz et al., 2009), given that the actual measurement of RF-EMFs in large populations proves impractical due to time and costs that such implementation would require. In this regard, efforts are underway to develop mobile phone applications able to accurately measure personal absorbed RF-EMF doses to map participants' exposure in large epidemiological studies (*Exposure To electromAgnetic fields and plaNetary Health | ETAIN Project | Fact Sheet | HORIZON*, 2022).

The second route pertains to distinct aspects of mobile phone use with negligible RF-EMF exposure, such as sending text messages. In Chapter 2, results from the single-exposure models including voice calling and texting as exposures of interest, respectively, showed an increase in the risk of reporting headache with increasing call-time and frequency of text messages, with clear exposure-outcome relationships. The two-exposure model with mutual adjustment for both call-time and texting produced considerably attenuated risk estimates for call-time, while associations with texting were still strong and robust to adjustment, with a clear increase in reporting headache with increasing texting, which was no longer observed for call-time.

This approach demonstrates that, by using distinct exposure metrics as proxy for RF-EMF exposure and other usage with negligible RF-EMF exposure, it was possible to shed light on pertinent questions regarding the underlying mechanisms of action of mobile phone use in relation to headache reporting, and disentangle the exposure-outcome association by excluding the RF-EMF route. In particular, our findings point towards the fact that RF-EMF exposure has no effect on the reporting of headaches and suggest that factors other than RF-EMFs may be involved (Chapter 2).

Regarding the exact mechanisms at play, be it texting, screen time, or other factors related to the usage, it is difficult to draw definitive conclusions. In this scenario, unmeasured factors, such as lifestyle, other exposures, or behavioural aspects related to mobile phone use that were not directly evaluated in the study could potentially mediate the effect of texting that was observed on the occurrence of headache. Therefore, to determine the exact mechanisms triggering headache among mobile phone users, further analyses (e.g. mediation analysis) should be conducted to quantify the impact of these factors along with texting on reporting symptoms.

For exposures such as RF-EMFs, a major challenge in the identification of potential mechanisms of action is represented by the exposure itself, which naturally undergoes frequent changes over time. This scenario becomes even more challenging when the study outcome is also highly transient. In this specific context, the underlying causes of action must be explored while addressing the temporal variability of both exposure and

outcome.

As case study, we explored the temporal dynamics of attribution of health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (IEI-RF) using longitudinal data from the subcohort of AMIGO (Chapter 3).

There are several challenges that researchers encounter when studying IEI-RF, which are introduced in Chapter 1. Among those, the uncertainty in the underlying mechanisms of action of IEI-RF is one of the most prominent. Previous studies, in fact, were not able to ascertain these mechanisms, and current evidence is limited regarding the potential pathways, although psychosocial factors were identified as potential triggers for the condition (Baliatsas et al., 2009; Dieudonné, 2016; Martens et al., 2018; Stein & Udasin, 2020).

Multi-state Markov models represent a flexible tool for exploring and determining the most plausible pathway among those identified in previous studies (Dieudonné, 2016, 2020; Martens et al., 2017). A multi-state Markov model is a continuous time stochastic process suitable to model the process in which participants move through a series of states of IEI-RF, defined as presence or absence of symptoms attributed to RF-EMFs. Multi-state Markov models are traditionally employed in studies estimating rates of transition between stages of disease progression, including the average duration spent in a particular state ("sojourn time"), and rely on the assumption that future evolution only depends on the current state (Kalbfleisch & Lawless, 1985). Besides applications in healthcare and epidemiology, multi-state Markov models are frequently applied across various domains, including economics, finance, and social sciences (Chamboko & Bravo, 2020; Hougaard, 1999).

In Chapter 3, we followed this approach to evaluate the dynamics of IEI-RF at three time points over the course of 10 years. Here, multi-state Markov models were estimated with IEI-RF included as dependent variable, and perception of RF-EMF exposure and risk, self-reported non-specific symptoms, and sleep disturbances as time-dependent covariates. Incorporating covariate data assessed at the same time points as the dependent variable is essential for capturing potential time-variant effects and understanding these factors' role on transition rates of IEI-RF. By using this approach, we accounted for several factors in estimating the instantaneous risk of transitioning from one state into another of IEI-RF that, in previous studies, were identified as potential risk factors for IEI-RF.

Results suggested that individuals in AMIGO were likely to attribute symptoms to RF-EMF exposure, possibly to help explain a health issue they may be experiencing, for which no diagnosis was made, and therefore alleviate the uncertainty regarding the underlying cause.

This conclusion was driven by important considerations regarding the remaining two potential pathways, which followed directly the interpretation of results of the multi-

state Markov models: first, the biological pathway indicates RF-EMF exposure causes symptoms. Without direct exposure measurements over time, exploring this pathway is limited. Previous research shows personal exposure is mainly influenced by device use, especially phone calls (van Wel et al., 2021). Reduction in exposure should align with behaviour changes, yet those no longer attributing symptoms to RF-EMF exposure tended to report higher exposure perception later on, which is unexpected. Second, the cognitive pathway suggests that perceived exposure and risk trigger a nocebo response leading to symptoms. In Chapter 3, we showed that higher perceived risk and exposure were associated with symptom attribution, indicating the relevance of nocebo effects. However, participants reporting symptoms at earlier time points but not later ones tended to increase exposure and risk perception, contradicting the cognitive hypothesis. This suggests symptoms induced by nocebo effects may not persist in our study population.

The following considerations contributed to gaining valuable insights into the time course of symptoms attributed to RF-EMFs and identifying the most plausible mechanism of action: first, the specific study design, which involved collecting data on perceived exposure and risk, as well as the attribution of health complaints to RF-EMF exposure over a span of more than two time points throughout a period of 10 years, was a key factor to address temporal variation of IEI-RF.

Second, a clear distinction has to be made between IEI-RF and EHS. This is not always the case in previous studies, where IEI-RF and EHS are often defined using heterogeneous criteria which may further increase uncertainty in identifying the underlying mechanisms (Baliatsas et al., 2012). An accurate definition of IEI-RF and EHS is essential to effectively capture participants who attributed symptoms to the exposure. This group of participants would benefit the most from interventions aimed at alleviating their symptoms, therefore their identification is crucial.

Third, by applying multi-state Markov models, we estimated the chance of transitioning between the two states of IEI-RF. This revealed the transient nature of this condition and identified important contributors influencing the dynamics, ultimately leading to the exclusion of the implausible pathways among those previously hypothesised.

In conclusion, the approach outlined in Chapter 3 represents a valid strategy to explore underlying mechanisms of action in scenarios where both exposures and outcomes are difficult to assess and subject to fluctuations over time. While our study possibly represents the most extensive exploration of IEI-RF dynamics over a long time period including a relatively large study population, it is important to note that the low prevalence of IEI-RF in the subcohort of AMIGO hindered our ability to estimate multi-state Markov models with mutual adjustment for potential confounders in the exposure-outcome association. This approach is therefore recommended in scenarios where longitudinal data on exposures and outcomes is available across multiple time points for a relatively large study populations. Furthermore, to avoid sparse data bias, the outcome should not represent a rare condition in the population. This is necessary to successfully estimate multi-state Markov models while accounting for potential confounding in the exposure-outcome association over time.

Of note, in situations where the states of the Markov process are "hidden" and therefore not directly observed, a possible approach is provided by Hidden Markov models (HMMs). A HMM is a statistical model used to describe the evolution of observable events that depend on underlying states, which are not directly observable. In particular, a HMM consists of a two-dimensional stochastic process where the observed data are determined by a probability distribution conditionally on the latent states (Jackson, 2011). While these models (and their extensions) have historically found their place in computational biology and bioinformatics (McClintock et al., 2020; Yoon, 2009) as well as speech and signal processing (Juang & Rabiner, 1991), they also find potential for applications in (environmental) epidemiology, typically to model the progression of chronic diseases (Chadeau-Hyam et al., 2014; Powell et al., 2019).

For certain exposures, such as air pollution, the mechanisms of action are relatively well-understood. However, by identifying the main contributors within a mixture of air pollutants in relation to an outcome, it is possible to further explore underlying pathways. In this context, the most urgent research questions for policy action pertain to the overall mixture effect and the identification of the components within the mixture showing the largest impact on the outcome while taking into account the co-occurrence of the exposures.

A possible approach to tackle these questions is presented in the study exploring the relationship between a mixture of air pollutants and overall mortality which, by emphasising the primary role of $PM_{2.5}$ within the pollutant mixture, provides valuable insights into the underlying mechanisms of action (Chapter 4).

At a more general level, an initial step in the identification of potential mechanisms of action is provided by the case study described in Chapter 5. Here, the aim is to detect relevant exposures implicated in the exposure-outcome associations in the context of exposome-wide analyses. This involves screening the high-dimensional dataset characterising the urban exposome to first reduce the complexity by selecting the relevant variables for the outcome, and ultimately estimating their causal effects to quantify their impact on health. Knowledge about the exposures implicated in the reporting of head-ache provides important insights into potential mechanisms of actions to be targeted in

future studies (Chapter 5).

These considerations about study design, hypothesis framework, statistical methods, and critical interpretation of the results are closely interconnected and thoroughly contribute to understanding mechanisms of action in studies investigating the health effects of environmental exposures. The most relevant challenges related to the analysis of this data are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Optimising available exposure data is a critical step towards the effective conduct of epidemiological studies and interpretation of their results

An important aspect contributing to the effective conduct of an epidemiological study involves optimising available exposure data to enhance its informativeness for specific purposes. Depending on the study, this step may involve generating multiple metrics for the exposure of interest to be used in sensitivity analyses to assess the robustness of the results and facilitate their interpretation, particularly in scenarios where the mechanisms of action are uncertain. Another critical step involves pre-processing exposure data to conduct an initial description of the exposures and their characteristics, which includes, e.g., detecting underlying data structures and correlations, determining the best approach for handling missing values, and more.

In the context of RF-EMF exposure, the cohort study of mobile phone use and health (COSMOS) collects various self-reported information regarding the use of mobile phones and other wireless devices, including the proportion of time the participants use hands-free devices (Schüz et al., 2011). This information enables to adjust call-time according to the proportion of hands-free use reported by the participant to better approximate the true RF-EMF exposure to the head (Goedhart et al., 2015).

Depending on the available exposure data, multiple exposure metrics related to RF-EMFs can be obtained and used in sensitivity analyses to assess the robustness of the results of a particular study. This is the case for the strategy followed in Chapter 2. In particular, regarding RF-EMF exposure, we relied on self-reported duration of voice calling as reported by participants and voice-call duration obtained from network operators, in addition to regression calibrated values. These were estimated for each participant in the cohort as a combination of operator-recorded and self-reported call-time to improve the estimation of the exposure by reducing recall bias (Reedijk et al., 2023). Regression calibration methods are widely applied across several exposure domains to produce more insightful exposure-outcome relationships while accounting for exposure measurement error and misclassification (Bennett et al., 2017; Reedijk et al., 2023; Spiegelman, 2013).

To achieve an integrated radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMF) dose assess-

ment in epidemiological studies and represent as much as possible the exposure levels encountered by individuals in their daily life, it is advisable to consider integrative approaches to quantify the exposure from the use of different electronic devices.

This is the case of the integrated exposure model (IEM), which represents a flexible tool to estimate weekly doses of RF-EMFs (measured in mJ/kg/week) in large epidemiological studies (van Wel et al., 2021). The IEM considers source-specific attributes, including output power and distance, personal characteristics such as height and weight of the user, and ultimately various usage patterns. Several sources of exposure can be included in the IEM, and the dose, depending on the emitting sources, can be calculated by targeting specific body organs or tissues (Cabré-Riera et al., 2022). Call duration on mobile and cordless phones was included as input data for the IEM in Chapter 2, as they were previously identified as main contributors to the target organ for headache, that is the brain (Cabré-Riera et al., 2022; van Wel et al., 2021).

Based on these considerations and through the optimisation of the available exposure data in COSMOS, we produced a comprehensive set of exposure metrics as a proxy for RF-EMF exposure, which were then used to further strengthen the main findings and their interpretation (Chapter 2).

Another aspect relevant to the effective conduct of the study, that may be overlooked, is the preliminary processing of exposure data. This step aims at optimising the available information before moving to the modelling of exposure-outcome relationships. Depending on the complexity of exposure data, this process does not come without challenges. Particularly in the context of exposome-wide analyses, pre-processing of exposure data represents an arduous and time-consuming yet essential aspect of the study, that aims to facilitate the subsequent analyses and interpretation of findings. This procedure encompasses various stages, typically including evaluating the skewness of exposures to meet the assumptions of statistical analyses and the use of different scales, exploring patterns (also related to existing correlations and missing data), aggregating exposures and calculating scores, and defining optimal buffers for neighbourhood-level exposures, among others.

Environmental exposure data often show non-negative values and right-skewness, which may require, e.g., log-transforming the exposures to approximate the normal distribution of their residuals. In the case of a substantial number of zeros on specific exposures, it is important to determine whether they correspond to absence of exposure to a particular chemical or undetected values, in which case the zeros may be replaced by predefined constant values. Alternatively, methods to deal with zero-inflated exposures (i.e. skewed variables with many zeros) can be applied (Lambert, 1992; K. H. Lee et al., 2023). Regarding how to handle missing values, multiple strategies are available

to explore the underlying patters (*Harrison E, Drake T, Pius R (2023). Finalfit: Quickly Create Elegant Regression Results Tables and Plots When Modelling. R Package Version 1.0.7*, 2023; Tierney & Cook, 2023). In the studies included in this thesis, multivariate imputation by chained equations (MICE) was frequently used to impute missing covariates or exposures, or both (Chapter 2, Chapter 4, Chapter 5) (Azur et al., 2011; Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011). However, MICE users should be aware that, given the absence of accepted approaches to combine results from multiple imputed datasets following the imputation when using advanced statistical and machine learning methods, alternative strategies to Rubin's rule must be considered. These may include averaging imputed values across generated datasets (Chapter 5) or selecting the first or last imputed dataset, among others, although the existing literature offers no clear indications or preferred approaches for handling missing data in the high-dimensional settings typical of exposome research.

As part of the pre-processing of exposure data, especially in complex exposome research scenarios, it is recommended to conduct an exploration of the exposure data, which may include an initial screening of the exposures to detect particular data structures, visualise the variability present in the dataset, and identify potential extreme values or influential data points. This exploration involves the use of unsupervised techniques, such as principal component analysis, network and cluster analysis, to identify underlying patterns in the data without referring to the outcome of interest. An example is provided in Chapter 4, where K-means clustering is employed to classify participants into three clusters of air pollution exposure (low, moderate, high), ensuring that participants within the same group are as similar as possible. The results from this classification can be used to identify subgroups of individuals and compare participants between groups with respect to their characteristics.

Regarding the identification and management of outliers, winsorising and trimming offer two distinct solutions to mitigate the impact of potential extreme values (Ramsey & Ramsey, 2007; Rivest, 1994). Winsorising adjusts values beyond specified percentiles to match those percentiles, while trimming removes a percentage of the highest and lowest extreme values from a dataset. In either case, sensitivity analyses should be conducted to assess the robustness of results to different cutoff levels (B. K. Lee et al., 2011). Of note, trimming is often used in propensity score analysis to reduce the impact of relatively small and large weights on effect estimation, applied at both the upper and lower percentiles (i.e. symmetric trimming) of the weights' distribution (Chapter 4).

Another useful exploratory analysis involves obtaining pairwise correlation coefficients between all exposures in the dataset (correlation analysis). This step aims to identify high correlation structures, which should be addressed to prevent issues related to (multi)collinearity or avoid exposure information redundancy in the subsequent statistical analyses. Using the R package *rexposome* is encouraged (Hernandez-Ferrer et al., 2022) to efficiently calculate correlation coefficients considering each exposure pair's nature, and facilitate visualisation of the correlation within the exposure data through circos and matrix plots as shown in Chapter 5.

A pluralistic approach is warranted to assess the overall health effect of multiple simultaneous and/or correlated exposures

In the analysis of environmental factors, one frequently comes across scenarios where multiple exposures occur simultaneously and, in many cases, these exposures show strong correlations (Carrico et al., 2015; García-García et al., 2021; Leal et al., 2012). Throughout this thesis, I often found myself facing this challenge.

In this section, I reflect on the approaches proposed across the different chapters to tackle the analysis of multiple exposures occurring simultaneously and, when necessary, I recommend strategies to address (multi)collinearity. Within the regression framework, (multi)collinearity arises when two or more exposures are highly correlated (i.e. the absolute magnitude of the observed correlation coefficient is 0.90 or more (Schober et al., 2018)), and the correlation structure affects the precision of the estimates and related standard errors, making it challenging to disentangle the individual effects of each exposure.

In the context of RF-EMFs, a possible solution to address the analysis of multiple exposures occurring simultaneously is represented by the use of an integrated approach (Chapter 2). Specifically, the integrated exposure model (IEM) incorporates multiple exposure sources into one single dose, which otherwise would need to be included in the same model as mutually adjusted exposures (co-exposures), with potential issues arising from strong correlations.

The IEM is designed to accommodate numerous other sources of RF-EMF exposure which, depending on the available exposure data, may include tablets, laptops, smartwatches, Wi-Fi routers, and far-field exposure, among others (van Wel et al., 2021).

However, when it comes to the assessment of voice calling and texting, a different scenario emerges as texting produces negligible amount of RF-EMF exposure resulting in a null dose from the IEM. As a result, the approach proposed in Chapter 2 consisted of including voice calling and texting in the same statistical model as co-occurring exposures, and this exposure construct is justified given that the correlation between the two is moderate.

In this respect, by comparing the confidence intervals of the estimates produced by logistic regression for the single-exposure models and those from the mutually adjusted model, we observed that the confidence interval widths of the estimates in the mutually

adjusted model did not increase compared to those from the single-exposure models. Results from the single and two-exposure models were comparable in terms of precision of their estimates, thus suggesting that in this scenario the moderate correlation did not affect the final results of the mutually adjusted model. In this regard, it is important to note that the strong correlation between exposures does not always imply that the regression estimates will be inflated and the standard errors biased (Bellavia et al., 2019).

A different scenario arises when it comes to the analysis of a mixture of air pollutants and overall mortality (Chapter 4). In studies concerning air pollution exposure, highly correlated pollutants are often encountered within the mixture, and traditional regression methods can fail to produce reliable results. As a consequence, researchers in environmental epidemiology have traditionally considered one exposure at a time, or at most two exposures, in their models to reduce complexity and better isolate the effects of individual pollutants on health outcomes (Dominici et al., 2010; Levy et al., 2014; Winquist et al., 2014).

However, in such scenarios, assessing the individual contributions of each component within the mixture separately, without accounting for other correlated exposures, could result in biased estimates (Correia & Williams, 2019). Therefore, evaluating the overall effect of multiple exposures becomes necessary, and pluralistic approaches are warranted (Dominici et al., 2010; Taylor et al., 2016; Vandenbroucke et al., 2016).

To assess the overall mixture effect and identify the main contributors within the mixture while accounting for the strong correlations, an approach is proposed in Chapter 4, which I briefly outline below.

First, following an inspection of the correlation coefficients calculated between the components of the mixture, the impact of multicollinearity of multiple regression estimates can be assessed by calculating variance inflation factors (VIFs).

The VIF is a common measure employed in regression analysis to identify coefficients affected by strong correlations between exposures and other independent variables in the model. As a rule of thumb, a VIF exceeding 10 indicates severe collinearity necessitating correction, which typically results in the exclusion of the problematic exposure(s) (*Variance Inflation Factor - an Overview | ScienceDirect Topics*, n.d.).

Second, by using a combination of methods, extracting meaningful information from the mixture becomes feasible by accounting for multicollinearity (Carrico et al., 2015; Lampa et al., 2014). Specifically, the approach described in Chapter 4 in the context of air pollution exposure consists in applying boosted regression trees (BRT) and weighted quantile sum (WQS) regression to gain insights about the mixture-outcome relationship, including interactions and nonlinearities.

BRT is an ensemble method based on decision tree algorithms and boosting methods

designed to estimate exposure variables' relative influence (or contribution) on a given outcome. In particular, BRT relies on regression trees to establish a relationship between a response variable and its predictors through recursive binary splits, and boosting to adaptively combine multiple models to enhance predictive performance.

An important strength of BRT models lies in their ability to identify two-way or higher-order interactions while relaxing assumptions of unidirectionality and linearity by using H-statistics which, for any pair of exposures, calculate the fraction of variance not captured by the sum of the two fitted response functions (Elith et al., 2008; Lampa et al., 2014).

On the other hand, WQS regression is designed to assess the overall mixture effect by building a single index estimated as a weighted linear combination of the exposures, which is robust to multicollinearity and can accommodate confounders. The weighted index can be interpreted as the joint effect of the mixture on the outcome.

In addition, WQS regression directly provides an estimate of the relative percent contribution of each exposure within the mixture to facilitate the identification of the most relevant contributor(s) (Carrico et al., 2015).

It is important to note that WQS regression makes an important assumption regarding unidirectionality (either positive or negative) of the effect of all exposures within the mixture on the outcome to avoid the reversal paradox (Tu et al., 2008), and therefore it should be applied only in situations where potential mechanisms of action have been identified and the effect direction of the exposures is known (Stafoggia et al., 2017). In this regard, it is worth mentioning the Bayesian extension of WQS regression (BWQS), which relaxes the unidirectional assumption (Colicino et al., 2020), and the grouped WQS (GWQS) regression, which overcomes the single-index limitation of WQS regression by allowing the estimation (in terms of magnitude and direction of association) of a weighted index for each considered exposure group (Wheeler & Czarnota, 2016).

In the specific scenario described in Chapter 4, the VIF screening raised concerns regarding one air pollutant ($PM_{2.5 \text{ absorbance}}$) within the mixture, and based on results from BRT and WQS indicating the lowest relative contribution for $PM_{2.5 \text{ absorbance}}$, the latter was excluded from the analysis to limit the impact of multicollinearity on the subsequent analyses. Furthermore, WQS and BRT suggested that all components contributed to a positive linear association with overall mortality, with $PM_{2.5}$ identified as the most relevant contributor in the mixture-outcome association.

Previous studies relied on other strategies to evaluate the association between environmental mixtures and health outcomes, primarily using pensalised methods. These methods extend standard Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) by adding a penalty to the loss function, reducing collinearity's impact.

It is important to note that penalised approaches address slightly different questions from those explored in Chapter 4, as they operate a variable selection by shrinking coefficients towards zero, rather than assessing the overall mixture effect. Furthermore, for highly correlated data, shrinkage methods such as Elastic Net and LASSO may suffer from grouping effect (i.e., sets of predictors that are correlated may be either entirely included or excluded arbitrarily during the process of variable selection) and arbitrary selection of exposures (i.e., collinear features may be automatically removed to reduce redundancy within the dataset), which could hamper the interpretation of findings in studies exploring the health effects of environmental mixtures, resulting in misleading conclusions (Carrico et al., 2015; Zou & Hastie, 2005). Additionally, interpreting LASSO estimates is not straightforward because standard errors and confidence intervals are not provided, and researchers often have to rely on conventional regression or bootstrap techniques to address the uncertainty of parameter estimation (Tibshirani, 1996). Consequently, in contexts such as the one described in Chapter 4, penalised methods may be less preferable than methods designed to assess the overall exposure effect, e.g., WQS (Czarnota et al., 2015).

In this regard, it is worthy to mention that a novel implementation of WQS, namely the random subset extension of WQS (WQS_{RS}), provides robust parameter estimation in high-dimensional mixtures, also in scenarios characterised by a high correlation structure among the mixture components (Curtin et al., 2021).

Of note, an alternative to LASSO in complex-dimensional settings is provided by Horseshoe regression where the shrinkage prior distribution, whose shape gives the name to this method, is particularly effective in situations where the dataset is characterised by a large number of irrelevant variables and a few significant ones (Piironen & Vehtari, 2017).

In conclusion, by using a combination of methods developed to address complexity in mixture modelling, we accounted for the high correlation structure characterising an environmental mixture of air pollutants, which traditionally poses great challenges in epidemiological studies due to the risk of obtaining unstable and biased parameter and standard error estimates. Furthermore, this approach allowed to identify the so-called "bad actors" in the mixture-outcome association, where traditional regression methods would have struggled.

In other scenarios, due to the high-dimensional nature of exposure data occurring simultaneously, the increased level of complexity necessitates innovative approaches that cannot be solely based on mixture modelling but requires an additional step. This is the case of exposome-wide analyses.

In this context, the approach described in Chapter 5 can be followed: first, to reduce

the general level of complexity characterising the exposure data, it is recommended to apply, e.g., a feature selection algorithm to identify relevant exposures in relation to the outcome being investigated (Bellavia, 2023). Second, once a set of exposures has been determined, it is suggested to evaluate the correlation levels among the exposures selected, and depending on those, decide on the most appropriate strategy to pursue next. In this regard, it is worth noting that *all-relevant* feature selection methods (that is, methods that aim to identify all features containing information useful for prediction, rather than selecting a potentially smaller subset of features that minimises the error for a particular classifier) typically result in the inclusion of redundant features and, consequently, exhibit some levels of correlation. In such a scenario, multicollinearity requires attention and the approach outlined in the context of air pollution mixture may provide a possible strategy to characterise the exposures and overcome issues related to strong correlations.

In the next section, I reflect on possible approaches that can be adopted to estimate causal effects, and more generally assess causal relationships, in the context of multiple exposures occurring simultaneously.

Considerations regarding hypothesis framework, exposure-outcome pathways, and study design are crucial for transitioning from association to causation with greater confidence

Throughout this thesis, I consistently questioned whether the observed associations could be considered causally related. In this section, I reflect on this critical aspect of my research. First of all, do we need causal methods to draw causal inferences? Based on the results of this thesis, I would argue that, depending on the specific scenario, this is not a strict requirement.

The use of an appropriate analytical approach in its broader sense (thus not only limited to "causal methods") is essential, but it should be complemented with other equally important elements of the research. These certainly include pre-analytical considerations about hypothesis framework, potential exposure-outcome pathways, and a robust study design.

Furthermore, other aspects that should be clearly defined in epidemiological studies to allow the transition from association to causation include a clear specification of the exposure levels being compared in the study and the identification of an adequate comparison group (Dominici & Zigler, 2017).

A valuable tool available to researchers in epidemiology to visualise causal relationships is the directed acyclic graph (DAG), which we often incorporated into the analysis plans prior to commencing the actual studies comprising this thesis.

DAGs play an important role in identifying potential sources of bias and potential causal pathways between variables (Tennant et al., 2021), and have proven to be valuable in addressing problems such as confounding by co-exposure in the context of mixture modeling (Webster & Weisskopf, 2020).

However, it should be noted that, due to the high dimension of exposure data characterising exposome studies, the use of DAGs in such a scenario can quickly become highly challenging. In this context, alternative methods should be pursued, such as causal discovery, a promising technique to derive a causal model starting from available data when no prior knowledge about potential causal relationships is available (Zanga et al., 2022).

One of the criteria to establish causality with greater confidence in epidemiological studies is to assess whether the cause precedes the effect (Nowinski et al., 2022). In this regard, in cohort studies, participants' exposure status is determined at the beginning of the study (baseline), while the health outcomes are exhibited during the follow-up. This distinctive characteristic, referred to as temporality according to the Bradford Hill criteria for causation (Hill, 1965), is a key element in evaluating causality, shared among all studies included in this thesis.

Other important elements to consider when assessing whether the observed association could reflect causality are the strength of the association and the evaluation of the exposure-response relationship (Chapter 2). In addition, to further strengthen the conclusions about potential causal relationships, it is recommended to evaluate whether removing a cause decreases the risk of the effect. This approach was shown in Chapter 2, where the risk of reporting headaches among participants in the COSMOS cohort was compared based on whether their RF-EMF exposure to the head was calculated with or without adjustment for the use of hands-free devices. This approach enabled us to argue against the existence of an effect of exposure to RF-EMFs, as no risk reduction was observed among users when considering the hands-free adjusted exposure metric. Furthermore, sensitivity analyses using different exposure metrics are recommended to assess whether results lead to the same conclusions (Chapter 2).

In other scenarios, such as when the exposure and outcome are subject to considerable fluctuations over time and the underlying mechanisms of action are uncertain, it is necessary to adopt a different approach (Chapter 3).

Here, temporality extends beyond evaluating exposure and outcome at only two time points. Participants require follow-up at multiple time points to be able to assess changes in exposure and outcome over time. Therefore, in this specific scenario, identifying potential causal relationships relies on careful considerations about the study design and the use of appropriate statistical techniques that allow to model the transition between different states while considering the temporal progression.

With a certain level of confidence, these elements allowed us to exclude the biological and cognitive pathways and identify the most plausible underlying causal route for the time course of IEI-RF in the attributive hypothesis (Chapter 3).

Identification of a set of exposures relevant for the outcome and causal effect quantification in the analysis of complex-dimensional data

In the context of environmental exposures occurring simultaneously, which reflects what happens in real-world settings, the following approach can be pursued: first, to reduce the level of complexity within exposure data (i.e. to reduce the number of exposures for which there is an interest in estimating the causal effect), supervised variable selection techniques can be used to identify the exposures that are involved in the association with the outcome. In this regard, several options are available (which traditionally fall into three methodological categories: filter, wrapper, embedded), each with its advantages and limitations (Hancock et al., 2024; Jović et al., 2015; Uddin et al., 2019). Examples include information gain based on entropy calculation, recursive feature elimination and forward/backward selection, regularisation and random forest importance, and more. Additionally, variable selection methods have been extended to include hybrid, ensemble, and integrative approaches (Pudjihartono et al., 2022).

It is worth noting that, depending on the research question, a specific group of exposures sharing a common mode of action (i.e. environmental mixture) may have already been identified (Chapter 4).

In Chapter 5, a case study is provided in the context of the urban exposome of AMIGO in relation to reporting headache. Following the outlined approach, Boruta was used to identify the features relevant to the outcome. Boruta represents a powerful machine learning algorithm for the analysis of high-dimensional datasets designed to identify pertinent variables of complex-dimensional scenarios by taking into account interactions and nonlinear associations (Degenhardt et al., 2017; Kursa & Rudnicki, 2010).

To account for class imbalance due to low prevalence of headache in the study population, the approach proposed in Chapter 5 consisted in running the Boruta algorithm repeatedly (here, 250 times), and randomly sampling 85% of the minority group size (i.e. number of participants reporting headache at follow-up) without replacement in both majority and minority groups (i.e. participants without and with headache at follow-up, respectively) to obtain 250 balanced datasets (More & Rana, 2017). To determine which exposures in the dataset are most relevant for explaining the outcome, the features labelled as "important" by Boruta in at least 80% of the 250 iterations were selected. A distinctive characteristic of feature selection methods such as Boruta is the aim to find

all features carrying information usable for prediction, following the so-called *all-relevant* feature selection strategy. In this regard, it is reasonable to expect that *all-relevant* methods result in the inclusion of features that may be redundant and display some level of correlation between the selected variables. In this scenario, multicollinearity should be addressed and the approaches described in the previous sections provide possible directions.

Once the relevant exposures in relation to the outcome of interest have been determined, the attention can shift towards estimating their effects to improve the causal understanding of the associations. However, how can the most appropriate statistical approach be determined in this context?

As previously argued, using causal methods is not *per se* a requirement and, most importantly, it does not imply that the observed effect is necessarily causally related to the exposure (Dominici & Zigler, 2017). However, in studies evaluating the health effects of mixtures, and even more in the context of exposome-wide analyses characterised by high-dimensional exposure data, sophisticated methods should be warranted to take into account the co-occurrence of exposures (Maitre et al., 2022).

To explore the health effects of environmental mixtures, we start from a simplified exposure-outcome scenario which involves a preselected set of exposures (air pollutants) and a well-defined, non-transient, outcome (mortality) (Chapter 4).

Once the mixture has been characterised (e.g., using the methods described earlier, e.g. WQS, BRT), the next step involves the estimation of the joint effect, that is the effect of each component within the mixture on the outcome while taking into account the simultaneous occurrence of the exposures (i.e. co-exposure), which reflects real-world exposure conditions. In this regard, multiple approaches can be pursued, and researchers should be aware that clear indications on the preferred course of action have not yet been established.

Williams and Crespi propose a versatile approach as an extension of the generalised propensity score (GPS), which allows estimation of an exposure-response surface that reflects the joint distribution of multiple continuous exposures in relation to an outcome (Williams & Crespi, 2020).

Specifically, the multivariate GPS method (mvGPS) generates stabilised inverse probability of treatment weights (IPTWs) assuming a multivariate normal distribution for the simultaneous exposures. An advantage of these weights is their ability to balance confounders and provide unbiased exposure–response estimates (Robins et al., 2000). As argued by Dominici and Zigler, the evidence of causality should be assessed based on how closely the study resembles a randomised experiment and how deviations could bias the obtained results (Dominici & Zigler, 2017). Propensity score-based techniques align with this direction as they aim to remove potential confounding between exposure and outcome returning valid estimates of the treatment effect that prove to be extremely valuable in estimating the causal effect of multiple continuous exposures in the context of observational and non-randomised studies.

Furthermore, the estimation of mvGPS weights has proved to be effective at reducing the impact of correlation between exposures and confounders, also in situations where high marginal exposure correlations are present (Williams & Crespi, 2020).

In such circumstances, the mvGPS weights should be checked and trimmed accordingly to exclude extreme weights' influence (B. K. Lee et al., 2011; Williams & Crespi, 2020). However, before relying on weight trimming to optimise propensity score weighting, the focus should be rather placed on improving propensity score model specification regarding, e.g., selection of variables, nonlinearities and interactions (Brookhart et al., 2006; B. K. Lee et al., 2011).

In our specific scenario, no extreme weights were identified in the distribution of propensity scores, and results obtained using different levels of trimming were consistent (Chapter 4). These findings further support the ability of mvGPS to deal with strong correlations, which often characterise environmental mixtures.

Of note, the current version of mvGPS is particularly appealing for its application in epidemiological studies given the possibility to specify multiple sets of confounders for each exposure of interest reflecting many real-world settings in which the confounders may actually differ across exposure variables (Williams & Crespi, 2020).

However, researchers should be aware that mvGPS is designed to handle continuous exposures under the assumption of normal distribution. This assumption, particularly in relation to environmental exposures, is often not valid thus representing a limitation of this method. Furthermore, more research should be conducted to assess the ability of mvGPS to achieve adequate balance in scenarios where more than two continuous exposures are evaluated. In this regard, the existing knowledge is insufficient and the recommendation to use data reduction or variable selection techniques to transform a high-dimensional problem to a scenario where a lower number of exposures are being considered applies, which again brings us back to a simplistic scenario that does not align with real-world complexities (Williams & Crespi, 2020).

A distinct approach is proposed in Chapter 5 to account for the co-occurrence of multiple exposures in the context of exposome-wide analysis. Here, the aim is to estimate the causal effect of each exposure separately adjusting for confounding by co-exposure. This approach develops within the potential outcomes (or counterfactual) framework. It consists in training causal forests to estimate the average treatment effect (ATE) and

corresponding standard error for each one of the exposures resulting from the feature selection process, under the assumption of unconfoundedness (Rosenbaum & Rubin, 1983).

Causal forests represent an extension of Breiman's random forests for the estimation of causal effects and can accommodate both continuous and binary exposures. Their distinctive characteristic is the estimation of propensity scores, which establishes conditions for robustness against confounding. As a result, causal forests estimate ATE under the assumption of absence of confounding (i.e. the treatment assignment is independent of the potential outcome conditional on the confounders) (Athey & Wager, 2019). Specifically, the ATE represents the average difference in potential outcomes in a sample where everyone is treated versus the same sample where everyone is untreated.

In scenarios where the treatment is continuous, causal forests effectively estimate an average partial effect, which quantifies the change in the expected outcome due to a one-unit change in the treatment, given unconfoundedness (Athey & Wager, 2019).

Furthermore, causal forests are particularly well-suited in scenarios where the treatment effect varies across different subgroups of the population. In this regard, an interesting feature of the algorithm is the estimation of conditional average treatment effects (CATEs). These represent the average difference in potential outcomes in a specific stratum of the population, where everyone in that stratum is exposed versus a scenario where everyone in the same stratum is unexposed (Jawadekar et al., 2023).

Interestingly, the estimation of CATEs with regard to the presence of headaches at baseline allowed us to identify a vulnerable subpopulation more susceptible to the effects of air pollution exposure and heat island effects with a higher risk of reporting headaches at follow-up compared to participants free of headaches at the onset of the study (Chapter 5).

In the specific scenario described in Chapter 5, the estimated effects of each one of the exposures selected by Boruta with adjustment for confounding by co-exposure resulted in less precise effect estimates compared to the models without adjustment. Despite the efforts to address the extremely problematic correlation levels between the exposures in our study, these findings suggest that, in situations where strong correlations occur, the covariate balancing propensity score method implemented in causal forests may fail to achieve the covariate balancing property, and different approaches to estimate propensity scores in such a situation should be explored.

Despite both causal forests and mvGPS being developed as part of causal framework to estimate causal effects in observational studies, there is a substantial difference in the rationale behind the use of the two approaches in this thesis: while mvGPS jointly estimate the effect of multiple continuous exposures on the outcome, causal forests estimate the independent effect of each exposure on the outcome accounting for confounding by co-exposure. In other words, in the forests we consider the possibility that exposures other than the exposure for which the causal effect is being estimated may act as confounders, potentially leading to inappropriate conclusions about causality if not accounted for.

This aspect appears relevant particularly in exposome studies where, due to the high complexity of exposure data, the (temporal) relationships between variables at baseline (either exposures or potential confounders) are not clearly defined.

In this regard, a substantial inconsistency in defining confounders in exposome research should be acknowledged, and whether factors related to social determinants of health such as gender, education, ethnicity, income should be considered exposures or confounders to avoid spurious results (Neufcourt et al., 2022). Concerning this, it should be noted that the approach adopted in Chapter 5 is in principle "agnostic", meaning that all the environmental exposures, individual-level (social) determinants of health, and neighbourhood-level factors are regarded as exposures in Boruta, with no specific assumptions made regarding temporal or causal relationships between them.

There are policy implications that can be derived from the studies conducted as part of this work

With regard to RF-EMF exposure and associated health effects, it should be acknowledged that, based on findings from Chapter 2, RF-EMF exposure from mobile phone use is unlikely to be the cause of headaches and migraines that were observed among mobile phone users. As a result, no need arises for implementing regulations to limit exposure to RF-EMFs compared to those already in place.

While this finding is certainly reassuring, symptoms reported by participants are real and disabling, and as such, they deserve attention. Consequently, given the significant burden of headaches in the population and the widespread mobile phone use, further investigation into other aspects of mobile phone use than RF-EMF exposure, such as recurring patterns of behaviour among users and other factors that could have mediated the effect that we observed for texting, is warranted to prevent health effects.

Findings from the study discussed in Chapter 3 investigating the time course of attribution of health complaints to RF-EMFs lend support to the attributive hypothesis. This hypothesis suggests that individuals may attribute symptoms to RF-EMF exposure to elucidate a health issue and alleviate uncertainty about its underlying cause, or offer an explanation for a missed diagnosis. Unlike the biological and cognitive hypotheses, which would advocate, respectively, for revising regulations to limit RF-EMF exposure and for improving public communication on RF-EMF topics, the attributive hypothesis does not inherently call for any specific policy actions given that the mechanism seems to elude the control of both scientific community and institutions.

The investigation of air pollution exposure and its associated health effects presented in Chapter 4 highlights the prominent role of PM_{2.5} as primary contributor within the mixture. In this regard, current policies often address single pollutants separately. However, a thorough understanding of causality, achieved by considering the co-occurrence of multiple pollutants, might prompt the development of more targeted regulatory approaches. Therefore, the strategy adopted in our analysis provides a more comprehensive approach to the study of causal mechanisms associated with air pollution exposure. As such, it can serve as an example for future research beyond air pollution aiming at understanding the intricate interplay between environmental exposures and human health by considering the health effects of environmental mixtures rather than relying on a "one-at-a-time chemical approach".

Chapter 5 shows a possible strategy to tackle complexity in exposome-wide analyses following a two-stage approach: identifying a set of exposures relevant for the outcome and then quantifying their causal effect. Our findings suggest that air pollution and urban temperature measures are implicated in reporting headaches in the population. As such, these insights serve as a first screening to understand what factors are implicated in the reporting of symptoms in the population. No direct policy implications can be derived from this exercise. However, by shedding light on the potential adverse effects of the urban environment on health, we emphasise the necessity of a comprehensive assessment of common urban stressors to prevent health issues.

Concluding remarks

Assessing the health impact of environmental exposures poses several challenges, ranging from methodological aspects related to study design, data collection, and statistical methods to practical considerations such as resource limitations and logistical constraints.

The aim of the thesis was to propose and reflect on approaches for improving the identification and interpretation of underlying mechanisms of action for environmental exposures commonly encountered in everyday life and facilitating the establishment of causal relationships. Throughout the thesis, I showed that different approaches can be used to tackle complexity and derive conclusions across a range of scenarios. The common factor among these approaches was the use of data from large prospective epidemiological studies.

Some major challenges have been addressed in this thesis. These concern the identification of underlying mechanisms of actions, particularly concerning RF-EMF and air pollution exposure. Furthermore, aspects related to optimising available exposure data to efficiently analyse and interpret exposure-outcome associations, including pre-processing to reduce complexity in (high-dimensional) exposure data, were discussed. Finally, strategies to tackle multiple exposures occurring simultaneously and issues related to multicollinearity in the context of co-occurring exposures were presented, along with approaches to estimate causal effects across different scenarios of complexity.

In scenarios where the mechanisms of action are uncertain, it is essential to define a hypothesis framework regarding the pathways potentially involved in the exposure-outcome association and make considerations about pre-analytical aspects of the study with particular attention to its design. This approach is recommended to reduce the likelihood of unexpected findings and make interpreting results more straightforward. In other scenarios, where complexity is further enhanced by the presence of, e.g., strong correlations and high-dimensional exposure data, it is recommended to first reduce complexity and then estimate the causal effects.

The findings of this thesis shed light on various areas necessitating further investigation. Understanding how RF-EMF exposure may affect health requires a comprehensive approach and, in future studies, employing an integrative model that considers various RF-EMF sources individuals encounter daily is essential. Nevertheless, this approach may require continuous updates to keep up with rapid technological advancements and changes in exposure-related user behaviours.

When analysing environmental exposures occurring simultaneously, it is crucial to shift from the traditional "one-at-a-time exposure approach" to evaluating the entire mixture to understand the joint impact of its components, thus reflecting real-world conditions. Strong correlations, interactions, and nonlinearities among these components introduce several methodological challenges that must be overcome to ensure accurate and reliable conclusions. Furthermore, future studies should prioritise incorporating the time-varying nature of exposures and mixtures when evaluating individual risk factors over a lifetime, as these may have different impacts at different stage of individuals' lives.

Finally, more research should be conducted on estimating causal effects in the context of high-dimensional mediation analysis to account for multiple mediators and on better defining how confounders should be identified and addressed in complex-dimensional settings typical of, e.g., exposome-wide studies. All of these factors highlight the need for further research to develop innovative analytical methods, or adapt existing ones, to effectively answer current and future research questions.

In conclusion, based on the results presented in this thesis, a comprehensive and pluralistic approach to tackle real-world complexity is warranted and, most importantly, no one-size-fits-all strategy can be identified in epidemiological research. While there may not be a perfect method to proceed, curiosity and a willingness to explore alternative methods are crucial in advancing the understanding of complex phenomena such as

those characterising the health impact of environmental exposures.

References

- Athey, S., & Wager, S. (2019). *Estimating Treatment Effects with Causal Forests: An Application* (arXiv:1902.07409). arXiv. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1902.07409
- Auvinen, A., Feychting, M., Ahlbom, A., Hillert, L., Elliott, P., Schüz, J., Kromhout, H., Toledano, M. B., Johansen, C., Poulsen, A. H., Vermeulen, R., Heinävaara, S., Kojo, K., Tettamanti, G., & COSMOS Study Group. (2019). Headache, tinnitus and hearing loss in the international Cohort Study of Mobile Phone Use and Health (COSMOS) in Sweden and Finland. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *48*(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz127
- Azur, M. J., Stuart, E. A., Frangakis, C., & Leaf, P. J. (2011). Multiple imputation by chained equations: What is it and how does it work? *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, *20*(1), 40–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.329
- Baliatsas, C., Kamp, I. V., Yzermans, J., Bolte, J., & Lebret, E. (2009). Non-specific Physical Symptoms in Relation to the Actual and Perceived Exposure to EMF (Electromagnetic Fields) and the Underlying Mechanisms*. *Epidemiology*, 20(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ede.0000362425.28850.f9
- Baliatsas, C., Van Kamp, I., Lebret, E., & Rubin, G. J. (2012). Idiopathic environmental intolerance attributed to electromagnetic fields (IEI-EMF): A systematic review of identifying criteria. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), Article 1. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-643
- Bellavia, A. (2023). *Statistical Methods for Environmental Mixtures*. https://bookdown. org/andreabellavia/mixtures/
- Bellavia, A., Chiu, Y.-H., Brown, F. M., Mínguez-Alarcón, L., Ford, J. B., Keller, M., Petrozza, J., Williams, P. L., Ye, X., Calafat, A. M., Hauser, R., & James-Todd, T. (2019). Urinary concentrations of parabens mixture and pregnancy glucose levels among women from a fertility clinic. *Environmental Research*, *168*, 389–396. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.10.009
- Bennett, D. A., Landry, D., Little, J., & Minelli, C. (2017). Systematic review of statistical approaches to quantify, or correct for, measurement error in a continuous exposure in nutritional epidemiology. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 17(1), 146. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0421-6
- Block, M. L., & Calderón-Garcidueñas, L. (2009). Air Pollution: Mechanisms of Neuroinflammation & CNS Disease. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 32(9), 506–516. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2009.05.009
- Boileau, N., Margueritte, F., Gauthier, T., Boukeffa, N., Preux, P.-M., Labrunie, A., & Aubard, Y. (2020). Mobile phone use during pregnancy: Which association with fetal growth? *Journal of Gynecology Obstetrics and Human Reproduction*, 49(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogoh.2020.101852
- Brookhart, M. A., Schneeweiss, S., Rothman, K. J., Glynn, R. J., Avorn, J., & Stürmer, T.

(2006). Variable selection for propensity score models. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *163*(12), 1149–1156. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwj149

- Brunekreef, B., & Holgate, S. T. (2002). Air pollution and health. *The Lancet, 360*(9341), 1233–1242. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11274-8
- Buuren, S. van, & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. Journal of Statistical Software, 45, 1–67. https://doi. org/10.18637/jss.v045.i03
- Cabré-Riera, A., van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Koopman-Verhoeff, M. E., Imaz, L., Ibarluzea, J., Huss, A., Wiart, J., Vermeulen, R., Joseph, W., Capstick, M., Vrijheid, M., Cardis, E., Röösli, M., Eeftens, M., Thielens, A., Tiemeier, H., & Guxens, M. (2022). Estimated all-day and evening whole-brain radiofrequency electromagnetic fields doses, and sleep in preadolescents. *Environmental Research*, 204(Pt C), Article Pt C. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112291
- Carrico, C., Gennings, C., Wheeler, D. C., & Factor-Litvak, P. (2015). Characterization of Weighted Quantile Sum Regression for Highly Correlated Data in a Risk Analysis Setting. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics*, 20(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13253-014-0180-3
- Chadeau-Hyam, M., Tubert-Bitter, P., Guihenneuc-Jouyaux, C., Campanella, G., Richardson, S., Vermeulen, R., De Iorio, M., Galea, S., & Vineis, P. (2014). Dynamics of the risk of smoking-induced lung cancer: A compartmental hidden Markov model for longitudinal analysis. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 25(1), 28– 34. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.00000000000032
- Chamboko, R., & Bravo, J. M. (2020). A Multi-State Approach to Modelling Intermediate Events and Multiple Mortgage Loan Outcomes. *Risks*, *8*(2), Article 2. https:// doi.org/10.3390/risks8020064
- Colicino, E., Pedretti, N. F., Busgang, S. A., & Gennings, C. (2020). Per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances and bone mineral density: Results from the Bayesian weighted quantile sum regression. *Environmental Epidemiology (Philadelphia, Pa.)*, 4(3), e092. https://doi.org/10.1097/EE9.00000000000092
- Correia, K., & Williams, P. L. (2019). A hierarchical modeling approach for assessing the safety of exposure to complex antiretroviral drug regimens during pregnancy. *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*, 28(2), 599–612. https://doi. org/10.1177/0962280217732597
- Curtin, P., Kellogg, J., Cech, N., & Gennings, C. (2021). A random subset implementation of weighted quantile sum (WQSRS) regression for analysis of high-dimensional mixtures. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 50(4), 1119–1134. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610918.2019.1577971
- Czarnota, J., Gennings, C., & Wheeler, D. C. (2015). Assessment of weighted quantile sum regression for modeling chemical mixtures and cancer risk. *Cancer Informatics*,

14(Suppl 2), 159–171. https://doi.org/10.4137/CIN.S17295

- D'Andrea, J. A., Ziriax, J. M., & Adair, E. R. (2007). Radio frequency electromagnetic fields: Mild hyperthermia and safety standards. In H. S. Sharma (Ed.), *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 162, pp. 107–135). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0079-6123(06)62007-4
- Degenhardt, F., Seifert, S., & Szymczak, S. (2017). Evaluation of variable selection methods for random forests and omics data sets. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, 20(2), 492–503. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbx124
- Dieudonné, M. (2016). Does electromagnetic hypersensitivity originate from nocebo responses? Indications from a qualitative study. *Bioelectromagnetics*, *37*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1002/bem.21937
- Dieudonné, M. (2020). Electromagnetic hypersensitivity: A critical review of explanatory hypotheses. *Environmental Health*, *19*, 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00602-0
- Dominici, F., Peng, R. D., Barr, C. D., & Bell, M. L. (2010). Protecting human health from air pollution: Shifting from a single-pollutant to a multipollutant approach. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 21(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1097/ EDE.0b013e3181cc86e8
- Dominici, F., & Zigler, C. (2017). Best Practices for Gauging Evidence of Causality in Air Pollution Epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *186*(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx307
- Elith, J., Leathwick, J. R., & Hastie, T. (2008). A working guide to boosted regression trees. Journal of Animal Ecology, 77(4), 802–813. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01390.x
- Exposure To electromAgnetic flelds and plaNetary health | ETAIN Project | Fact Sheet | HORIZON. (2022). CORDIS | European Commission. https://cordis.europa.eu/ project/id/101057216
- Feychting, M., Schüz, J., Toledano, M. B., Vermeulen, R., Auvinen, A., Harbo Poulsen, A., Deltour, I., Smith, R. B., Heller, J., Kromhout, H., Huss, A., Johansen, C., Tettamanti, G., & Elliott, P. (2024). Mobile phone use and brain tumour risk— COSMOS, a prospective cohort study. *Environment International*, 185, 108552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2024.108552
- Frei, P., Mohler, E., Braun-Fahrländer, C., Fröhlich, J., Neubauer, G., Röösli, M., & QUAL-IFEX-team. (2012). Cohort study on the effects of everyday life radio frequency electromagnetic field exposure on non-specific symptoms and tinnitus. *Environment International*, 38(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.08.002
- García-García, C., García-García, C. B., & Salmerón, R. (2021). Confronting collinearity in environmental regression models: Evidence from world data. *Statistical*

Methods & Applications, 30(3), 895–926. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10260-021-00559-5

- Goedhart, G., Kromhout, H., Wiart, J., & Vermeulen, R. (2015). Validating self-reported mobile phone use in adults using a newly developed smartphone application. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 72(11), Article 11. https://doi. org/10.1136/oemed-2015-102808
- Hancock, J. T., Wang, H., Khoshgoftaar, T. M., & Liang, Q. (2024). Data reduction techniques for highly imbalanced medicare Big Data. *Journal of Big Data*, 11(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40537-023-00869-3
- Harrison E, Drake T, Pius R (2023). Finalfit: Quickly Create Elegant Regression Results Tables and Plots when Modelling. R package version 1.0.7. (2023). [Computer software].
- Henschenmacher, B., Bitsch, A., de las Heras Gala, T., Forman, H. J., Fragoulis, A., Ghezzi,
 P., Kellner, R., Koch, W., Kuhne, J., Sachno, D., Schmid, G., Tsaioun, K., Verbeek,
 J., & Wright, R. (2022). The effect of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMF) on biomarkers of oxidative stress *in vivo* and *in vitro*: A protocol for a systematic review. *Environment International*, *158*, 106932. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106932
- Hernandez-Ferrer, C., Gonzalez, J., & Escribà-Montagut, X. (2022). *Rexposome: Exposome exploration and outcome data analysis. R package version 1.18.2.* [Computer software].
- Hill, A. B. (1965). THE ENVIRONMENT AND DISEASE: ASSOCIATION OR CAUSATION? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine*, *58*(5), 295–300.
- Hougaard, P. (1999). Multi-state Models: A Review. *Lifetime Data Analysis*, 5(3), 239–264. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009672031531
- INTERPHONE Study Group. (2010). Brain tumour risk in relation to mobile telephone use: Results of the INTERPHONE international case-control study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *39*(3), 675–694. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyq079
- Jackson, C. (2011). Multi-State Models for Panel Data: The msm Package for R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *38*, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v038.i08
- Jawadekar, N., Kezios, K., Odden, M. C., Stingone, J. A., Calonico, S., Rudolph, K., & Zeki Al Hazzouri, A. (2023). Practical Guide to Honest Causal Forests for Identifying Heterogeneous Treatment Effects. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 192(7), 1155–1165. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwad043
- Jović, A., Brkić, K., & Bogunović, N. (2015). A review of feature selection methods with applications. 2015 38th International Convention on Information and Communication Technology, Electronics and Microelectronics (MIPRO), 1200–1205. https://doi.org/10.1109/MIPRO.2015.7160458
- Juang, B. H., & Rabiner, L. R. (1991). Hidden Markov Models for Speech Recognition.

Technometrics, *33*(3), 251–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1991.104 84833

- Kalbfleisch, J. D., & Lawless, J. F. (1985). The Analysis of Panel Data Under a Markov Assumption. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 80(392), Article 392. https://doi.org/10.2307/2288545
- Kamali, K., Taravati, A., Sayyadi, S., Gharib, F. zahra, & Maftoon, H. (2018). Evidence of oxidative stress after continuous exposure to Wi-Fi radiation in rat model. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(35), 35396–35403. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-018-3482-0
- Kursa, M. B., & Rudnicki, W. R. (2010). Feature Selection with the Boruta Package. Journal of Statistical Software, 36, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v036.i11
- Lambert, D. (1992). Zero-Inflated Poisson Regression, with an Application to Defects in Manufacturing. *Technometrics*, *34*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1269547
- Lampa, E., Lind, L., Lind, P. M., & Bornefalk-Hermansson, A. (2014). The identification of complex interactions in epidemiology and toxicology: A simulation study of boosted regression trees. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 13, 57. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-13-57
- Langdon, R. L., DiSabella, M. T., & Strelzik, J. A. (2024). Screen time and pediatric headache: A scoping review of the literature. *Headache*, *64*(2), 211–225. https:// doi.org/10.1111/head.14674
- Leal, C., Bean, K., Thomas, F., & Chaix, B. (2012). Multicollinearity in Associations Between Multiple Environmental Features and Body Weight and Abdominal Fat: Using Matching Techniques to Assess Whether the Associations are Separable. American Journal of Epidemiology, 175(11), 1152–1162. https://doi. org/10.1093/aje/kwr434
- Lee, B. K., Lessler, J., & Stuart, E. A. (2011). Weight trimming and propensity score weighting. *PloS One*, *6*(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018174
- Lee, K. H., Pedroza, C., Avritscher, E. B. C., Mosquera, R. A., & Tyson, J. E. (2023). Evaluation of negative binomial and zero-inflated negative binomial models for the analysis of zero-inflated count data: Application to the telemedicine for children with medical complexity trial. *Trials*, 24(1), 613. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13063-023-07648-8
- Leikauf, G. D., Kim, S.-H., & Jang, A.-S. (2020). Mechanisms of ultrafine particle-induced respiratory health effects. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, 52(3), 329– 337. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-0394-0
- Levy, I., Mihele, C., Lu, G., Narayan, J., & Brook, J. R. (2014). Evaluating Multipollutant Exposure and Urban Air Quality: Pollutant Interrelationships, Neighborhood Variability, and Nitrogen Dioxide as a Proxy Pollutant. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 122(1), 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306518

- Lund, J., Berring-Uldum, A., Colak, M., & Debes, N. M. M. (2022). Headache in Children and Adolescents: The Association between Screen Time and Headache within a Clinical Headache Population. *Neuropediatrics*, 53(04), 221–226. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0041-1740550
- Maitre, L., Guimbaud, J.-B., Warembourg, C., Güil-Oumrait, N., Petrone, P. M., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Vrijheid, M., Basagaña, X., & Gonzalez, J. R. (2022). State-ofthe-art methods for exposure-health studies: Results from the exposome data challenge event. *Environment International*, *168*, 107422. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107422
- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Smid, T., Kromhout, H., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Timmermans, D. R. M. (2018). Longitudinal associations between risk appraisal of base stations for mobile phones, radio or television and non-specific symptoms. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *112*, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.07.008
- Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Timmermans, D. R. M., Kromhout, H., Reedijk, M., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Smid, T. (2017). Modeled and Perceived Exposure to Radiofrequency Electromagnetic Fields From Mobile-Phone Base Stations and the Development of Symptoms Over Time in a General Population Cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 186(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx041
- McClintock, B. T., Langrock, R., Gimenez, O., Cam, E., Borchers, D. L., Glennie, R., & Patterson, T. A. (2020). Uncovering ecological state dynamics with hidden Markov models. *Ecology Letters*, 23(12), 1878–1903. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ele.13610
- Miller, M. R. (2020). Oxidative stress and the cardiovascular effects of air pollution. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, *151*, 69–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.01.004
- Montagni, I., Guichard, E., Carpenet, C., Tzourio, C., & Kurth, T. (2016). Screen time exposure and reporting of headaches in young adults: A cross-sectional study. *Cephalalgia: An International Journal of Headache, 36*(11), 1020–1027. https://doi. org/10.1177/0333102415620286
- More, A. S., & Rana, D. P. (2017). Review of random forest classification techniques to resolve data imbalance. 2017 1st International Conference on Intelligent Systems and Information Management (ICISIM), 72–78. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICISIM.2017.8122151
- Neufcourt, L., Castagné, R., Mabile, L., Khalatbari-Soltani, S., Delpierre, C., & Kelly-Irving, M. (2022). Assessing How Social Exposures Are Integrated in Exposome Research: A Scoping Review. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 130(11), 116001. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP11015
- Nowinski, C. J., Bureau, S. C., Buckland, M. E., Curtis, M. A., Daneshvar, D. H., Faull, R. L. M.,

Grinberg, L. T., Hill-Yardin, E. L., Murray, H. C., Pearce, A. J., Suter, C. M., White, A. J., Finkel, A. M., & Cantu, R. C. (2022). Applying the Bradford Hill Criteria for Causation to Repetitive Head Impacts and Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2022.938163

- Piironen, J., & Vehtari, A. (2017). Sparsity information and regularization in the horseshoe and other shrinkage priors. *Electronic Journal of Statistics*, 11(2), 5018– 5051. https://doi.org/10.1214/17-EJS1337SI
- Powell, G. A., Verma, A., Luo, Y., Stephens, D., & Buckeridge, D. (2019). Modeling Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Progression Using Continuous-Time Hidden Markov Models. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, 264, 920–924. https://doi.org/10.3233/SHTI190358
- Pudjihartono, N., Fadason, T., Kempa-Liehr, A. W., & O'Sullivan, J. M. (2022). A Review of Feature Selection Methods for Machine Learning-Based Disease Risk Prediction. Frontiers in Bioinformatics, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbinf.2022.927312
- Ramsey, P., & Ramsey, P. (2007). Optimal Trimming and Outlier Elimination. Journal of Modern Applied Statistical Methods, 6, 355–360. https://doi.org/10.22237/ jmasm/1193889660
- Reedijk, M., Portengen, L., Auvinen, A., Kojo, K., Heinävaara, S., Feychting, M., Tettamanti, G., Hillert, L., Elliott, P., Toledano, M. B., Smith, R. B., Heller, J., Schüz, J., Deltour, I., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Verheij, R., Peeters, P., Rookus, M., ... Group, C. S. (2023). Regression calibration of self-reported mobile phone use to optimize quantitative risk estimation in the COSMOS study. *American Journal of Epidemiology, in press*.
- Rivest, L.-P. (1994). Statistical properties of Winsorized means for skewed distributions. *Biometrika*, *81*(2), 373–383. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/81.2.373
- Robins, J. M., Hernán, M. Á., & Brumback, B. (2000). Marginal structural models and causal inference in epidemiology. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 11(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001648-200009000-00011
- Rosenbaum, P. R., & Rubin, D. B. (1983). The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika*, 70(1), Article 1. https://doi. org/10.1093/biomet/70.1.41
- Schober, P., Boer, C., & Schwarte, L. A. (2018). Correlation Coefficients: Appropriate Use and Interpretation. Anesthesia & Analgesia, 126(5), 1763. https://doi. org/10.1213/ANE.0000000002864
- Schüz, J., Elliott, P., Auvinen, A., Kromhout, H., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Olsen, J. H., Hillert, L., Feychting, M., Fremling, K., Toledano, M., Heinävaara, S., Slottje, P., Vermeulen, R., & Ahlbom, A. (2011). An international prospective cohort study of mobile phone users and health (Cosmos): Design considerations and enrolment. *Cancer Epidemiology*, *35*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

canep.2010.08.001

- Schüz, J., Jacobsen, R., Olsen, J. H., Boice, J. D., McLaughlin, J. K., & Johansen, C. (2006). Cellular telephone use and cancer risk: Update of a nationwide Danish cohort. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 98(23), 1707–1713. https://doi. org/10.1093/jnci/djj464
- Schüz, J., Waldemar, G., Olsen, J. H., & Johansen, C. (2009). Risks for central nervous system diseases among mobile phone subscribers: A Danish retrospective cohort study. *PloS One*, 4(2), e4389. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004389
- Spiegelman, D. (2013). Regression calibration in air pollution epidemiology with exposure estimated by spatio-temporal modeling. *Environmetrics*, 24(8), 521–524. https://doi.org/10.1002/env.2249
- Stafoggia, M., Breitner, S., Hampel, R., & Basagaña, X. (2017). Statistical Approaches to Address Multi-Pollutant Mixtures and Multiple Exposures: The State of the Science. Current Environmental Health Reports, 4(4), Article 4. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40572-017-0162-z
- Stein, Y., & Udasin, I. G. (2020). Electromagnetic hypersensitivity (EHS, microwave syndrome) – Review of mechanisms. *Environmental Research*, 186, 109445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109445
- Swerdlow, A. J., Feychting, M., Green, A. C., Kheifets, L., & Savitz, D. A. (2011). Mobile Phones, Brain Tumors, and the Interphone Study: Where Are We Now? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *119*(11), 1534–1538. https://doi.org/10.1289/ ehp.1103693
- Szyjkowska, A., Gadzicka, E., Szymczak, W., & Bortkiewicz, A. (2014). The risk of subjective symptoms in mobile phone users in Poland—An epidemiological study. International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health, 27(2), 293–303. https://doi.org/10.2478/s13382-014-0260-1
- Taylor, K. W., Joubert, B. R., Braun, J. M., Dilworth, C., Gennings, C., Hauser, R., Heindel, J. J., Rider, C. V., Webster, T. F., & Carlin, D. J. (2016). Statistical Approaches for Assessing Health Effects of Environmental Chemical Mixtures in Epidemiology: Lessons from an Innovative Workshop. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 124(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP547
- Tennant, P. W. G., Murray, E. J., Arnold, K. F., Berrie, L., Fox, M. P., Gadd, S. C., Harrison, W. J., Keeble, C., Ranker, L. R., Textor, J., Tomova, G. D., Gilthorpe, M. S., & Ellison, G. T. H. (2021). Use of directed acyclic graphs (DAGs) to identify confounders in applied health research: Review and recommendations. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *50*(2), 620–632. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyaa213
- Tettamanti, G., Auvinen, A., Åkerstedt, T., Kojo, K., Ahlbom, A., Heinävaara, S., Elliott, P., Schüz, J., Deltour, I., Kromhout, H., Toledano, M. B., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Vermeulen, R., Feychting, M., Hillert, L., & COSMOS Study Group. (2020).

Long-term effect of mobile phone use on sleep quality: Results from the cohort study of mobile phone use and health (COSMOS). *Environment International*, 140, 105687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105687

- Tibshirani, R. (1996). Regression Shrinkage and Selection via the Lasso. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological)*, *58*(1), 267–288.
- Tierney, N., & Cook, D. (2023). Expanding Tidy Data Principles to Facilitate Missing Data Exploration, Visualization and Assessment of Imputations. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 105, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v105.i07
- Tkalec, M., Malarić, K., & Pevalek-Kozlina, B. (2007). Exposure to radiofrequency radiation induces oxidative stress in duckweed Lemna minor L. Science of The Total Environment, 388(1), 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.07.052
- Tsantili, A.-R., Chrysikos, D., & Troupis, T. (2022). Text Neck Syndrome: Disentangling a New Epidemic. *Acta Medica Academica*, *51*(2), 123–127. https://doi. org/10.5644/ama2006-124.380
- Tu, Y.-K., Gunnell, D., & Gilthorpe, M. S. (2008). Simpson's Paradox, Lord's Paradox, and Suppression Effects are the same phenomenon—The reversal paradox. *Emerging Themes in Epidemiology*, 5, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-7622-5-2
- Uddin, S., Khan, A., Hossain, M. E., & Moni, M. A. (2019). Comparing different supervised machine learning algorithms for disease prediction. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, *19*(1), 281. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-019-1004-8
- van Wel, L., Liorni, I., Huss, A., Thielens, A., Wiart, J., Joseph, W., Röösli, M., Foerster, M., Massardier-Pilonchery, A., Capstick, M., Cardis, E., & Vermeulen, R. (2021).
 Radio-frequency electromagnetic field exposure and contribution of sources in the general population: An organ-specific integrative exposure assessment. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 31(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00287-8
- Vandenbroucke, J. P., Broadbent, A., & Pearce, N. (2016). Causality and causal inference in epidemiology: The need for a pluralistic approach. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 45(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyv341
- Variance Inflation Factor—An overview / ScienceDirect Topics. (n.d.). Retrieved 26 March 2024, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/mathematics/variance-in-flation-factor
- Wang, J., Su, H., Xie, W., & Yu, S. (2017). Mobile Phone Use and The Risk of Headache: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Cross-sectional Studies. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-12802-9
- Webster, T. F., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2020). *Epidemiology of exposure to mixtures: We cant be casual about causality when using or testing methods* (arXiv:2007.01370). arXiv. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2007.01370
- Wheeler, D., & Czarnota, J. (2016). Modeling Chemical Mixture Effects with Grouped

Weighted Quantile Sum Regression. *ISEE Conference Abstracts*, 2016(1), P1-224. https://doi.org/10.1289/isee.2016.4698

- Williams, J. R., & Crespi, C. M. (2020). Causal inference for multiple continuous exposures via the multivariate generalized propensity score. arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.13767.
- Winquist, A., Kirrane, E., Klein, M., Strickland, M., Darrow, L. A., Sarnat, S. E., Gass, K., Mulholland, J., Russell, A., & Tolbert, P. (2014). Joint effects of ambient air pollutants on pediatric asthma emergency department visits in Atlanta, 1998-2004. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 25(5), Article 5. https://doi. org/10.1097/EDE.00000000000146
- Yoon, B.-J. (2009). Hidden Markov Models and their Applications in Biological Sequence Analysis. *Current Genomics*, 10(6), 402–415. https://doi. org/10.2174/138920209789177575
- Yüksel, M., Nazıroğlu, M., & Özkaya, M. O. (2016). Long-term exposure to electromagnetic radiation from mobile phones and Wi-Fi devices decreases plasma prolactin, progesterone, and estrogen levels but increases uterine oxidative stress in pregnant rats and their offspring. *Endocrine*, 52(2), Article 2. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12020-015-0795-3
- Zanga, A., Ozkirimli, E., & Stella, F. (2022). A Survey on Causal Discovery: Theory and Practice. International Journal of Approximate Reasoning, 151, 101–129. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijar.2022.09.004
- Zou, H., & Hastie, T. (2005). Regularization and Variable Selection Via the Elastic Net. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B: Statistical Methodology, 67(2), 301–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2005.00503.x

Appendices

Summary

Throughout their life, individuals are exposed to numerous environmental factors that may affect their health and well-being. Among those, air pollution and radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMFs) represent common exposures that are widespread in the environment.

The main objective of this thesis was to propose informative approaches for the analysis of environmental factors commonly encountered in everyday life in relation to health outcomes, using data from prospective studies. These approaches aimed to provide valuable insights into exposure-outcome associations, including potential mechanisms of action and underlying causal pathways, in order to prevent harmful health effects. For this purpose, data from large prospective epidemiological studies were analysed using a combination of advanced statistical techniques and machine learning methods, including multi-state Markov models, weighted quantile sum regression and boosted regression tree models, Boruta and causal forests, and extensions of regression techniques based on propensity score estimation, such as the generalised propensity score for single exposures and its multivariate version.

This thesis had the following specific aims:

- To extract meaningful insights and draw conclusions regarding exposure-outcome associations in scenarios where the mechanisms of action are uncertain and/or difficult to determine, by exploring different potential pathways while optimising available exposure data;
- ii. To explore the temporal dynamics of health outcomes characterised by considerable fluctuations over time, by analysing data across multiple time points, accounting for time-dependent risk factors;
- iii. To explore an environmental mixture and determine the causal effect of its components on health, within a simplified exposure-outcome scenario involving a preselected set of exposures and mortality as endpoint;
- iv. To identify a relevant set of exposures and estimate their causal effects in studies assessing the impact of multiple exposures occurring simultaneously on health, in an exposure-outcome scenario characterised by high-dimensional exposure data typical of exposome-wide studies.

To achieve the objectives of the thesis, data from the cohort study of mobile phone use and health (COSMOS), LIFEWORK, and the Dutch occupational and environmental health cohort study (AMIGO) were analysed.

COSMOS (n=~250,000) is an international prospective cohort study comprising data collected across six European countries (Denmark, Finland, Sweden, the Netherlands, the UK, and France) established to investigate potential health effects from long-term use of mobile phones and other wireless technologies.

LIFEWORK (n=~90,000) is a large federated prospective cohort in the Netherlands representing the Dutch contribution to COSMOS. The aim of LIFEWORK is to quantify the health effects of numerous occupational and environmental exposures, with a specific focus on assessing RF-EMF exposure from mobile phones and other wireless devices. AMIGO (n=~14,000) is the Dutch occupational and environmental health cohort study, and represents one of the subcohorts included in LIFEWORK. In AMIGO, we investigate occupational and environmental determinants of diseases and well-being, including RF-EMF exposure, relying on a multidisciplinary and life course approach.

In **Chapter 2**, pooled data from the Dutch and UK cohorts of COSMOS (N=78,437) were analysed to explore two potential exposure-outcome pathways in relation to mobile phone use and the occurrence of headaches. Results from multivariable logistic regression models showed that mobile phone use for calling and texting at baseline was associated with headaches at follow-up. In the mutually adjusted model for both call-time and texting, we observed considerably attenuated risk estimates for call-time, while associations with texting were still strong and robust to adjustment, with a clear exposure-outcome relationship. These results suggested that, due to the negligible exposure to RF-EMFs from texting, mechanisms other than RF-EMFs (e.g., lifestyle, other exposures, or behavioural factors associated with mobile phone use) were responsible for the increased risk of headache that we observed among mobile phone users. Given the significant burden of headaches in the population and the widespread mobile phone use, further investigation into other aspects of mobile phone use than RF-EMF exposure is warranted to prevent health effects.

In **Chapter 3**, we explored the temporal dynamics of attribution of health complaints to RF-EMFs (IEI-RF) in the subcohort of AMIGO (N=892). We assessed factors related to developing, maintaining, or discarding IEI-RF over the course of 10 years by modelling the process in which participants move through a series of states of IEI-RF with multistate Markov models. Furthermore, we applied logistic regression to prospectively explore predictors of electromagnetic hypersensitivity without the condition of attributing health complaints to RF-EMF exposure (EHS). Results showed that prevalence of IEI-RF was generally low and remained stable over time. Interestingly, over 10 years of fol-
low-up, we observed a high probability of not attributing symptoms to RF-EMF exposure anymore, which suggested that IEI-RF may be a more transient condition than previously assumed. Finally, RF-EMF perceptions, non-specific symptom reporting, and sleep disturbances at baseline were predictive of the notion of being EHS at 10 years follow-up, regardless of whether reporting health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure.

In **Chapter 4**, we relied on a pluralistic approach to prospectively explore the relationship between a mixture of air pollutants ($PM_{2.5}$, $PM_{10'}$, $NO_{2'}$, $PM_{2.5 \text{ absorbance'}}$ and oxidative potential) and mortality in LIFEWORK (N=86,882). We applied weighted quantile sum (WQS) regression and boosted regression trees (BRT) to identify the most relevant components within the mixture in relation to the outcome accounting for the strong correlations. Based on these results, we estimated a multivariate generalized propensity score (mvGPS) model to jointly estimate the causal effects of the pollutants on overall mortality. Results from WQS regression and BRT indicated that all components of the mixture contributed to a positive linear association with the outcome, with $PM_{2.5}$ identified as the most relevant contributor. Finally, results from the mvGPS model further highlighted the primary role of $PM_{2.5}$ within the mixture, strengthening the causal interpretation of air pollution effects on mortality. The strategy adopted in this study can serve as an example for future research beyond air pollution aiming at understanding the intricate interplay between environmental exposures and human health by considering the health effects of environmental mixtures rather than relying on a "one-at-a-time chemical approach".

In **Chapter 5**, we prospectively explored the urban component of the exposome of AMI-GO (N=7,339) in relation to headaches by using a combination of machine learning techniques. We followed a two-stage approach where we first applied Boruta to identify relevant exposures in the exposome-outcome association, and then estimated causal forest to quantify the causal effect of these exposures on the occurrence of headache. Boruta selected five air pollutants (NO₂, NO_x, PM₁₀, silicon in PM₁₀, iron in PM_{2.5}) and one urban temperature measure (heat island effect) as factors contributing to the reporting of weekly headache at follow-up. The estimated causal effect of each exposure on weekly headache indicated positive associations for all exposures, with NO₂ displaying the largest effects in contributing to the reporting of weekly headache in AMIGO, and emphasise the necessity of a comprehensive assessment of common urban stressors to prevent health issues.

In **Chapter 6**, I presented the main findings of the studies comprising this thesis. Following this summary, I discussed the approaches proposed to identify underlying mechanisms of action and addressed the most relevant challenges encountered in the different studies, highlighting advantages and limitations of the methods used, and providing policy implications and possible directions for future research.

Samenvatting

Gedurende hun leven worden individuen blootgesteld aan tal van omgevingsfactoren die hun gezondheid en welzijn kunnen beïnvloeden. Onder andere luchtverontreiniging en radiofrequente elektromagnetische velden (RF-EMV) vormen veelvoorkomende blootstellingen die wijdverspreid zijn in de omgeving.

Het hoofddoel van dit proefschrift was het voorstellen van informatieve benaderingen voor de analyse van omgevingsfactoren die vaak voorkomen in het dagelijks leven in relatie tot gezondheidsuitkomsten, met behulp van gegevens uit prospectieve studies. Deze benaderingen waren gericht op het verschaffen van waardevolle inzichten in de blootstelling-uitkomst associaties, inclusief potentiële werkingsmechanismes en onderliggende causale verbanden, om schadelijke gezondheidseffecten te voorkomen.

Met dit doeleind zijn data van grote prospectieve epidemiologische studies geanalyseerd met behulp van een combinatie van geavanceerde statische technieken en "machine learning" methodes, waaronder "multi-state Markov" modellen, "weighted quantile sum" (WQS) regressie en "boosted regression tree" (BRT) modellen, Boruta en "causal forests", en uitbreidingen van regressietechnieken gebaseerd op "propensity score" schatting, zoals de "multivariate generalised propensity score" (mvGPS) voor enkele blootstellingen en de multivariate versie daarvan.

Dit proefschrift had de volgende specifieke doelstellingen:

- Het verkrijgen van betekenisvolle inzichten en conclusies trekken over blootstelling-uitkomst associaties in scenario's waar de werkingsmechanismen onzeker en/of moeilijk te bepalen zijn, door verschillende mogelijke mechanismen te verkennen terwijl de beschikbare blootstellingsdata geoptimaliseerd worden;
- ii. Het verkennen van de temporele dynamiek van gezondheidsuitkomsten gekenmerkt door aanzienlijke fluctuaties over de tijd, door data over meerdere tijdspunten te analyseren en tijdsafhankelijke risicofactoren in acht te nemen;
- iii. Het verkennen van een mengsel van omgevingsfactoren en het vaststellen van causale effecten van de componenten op de gezondheid, binnen een vereenvoudigd blootstelling-uitkomst scenario met een voorgeselecteerde set blootstellingen en sterfte als eindpunt;
- iv. Het identificeren van een relevante set blootstellingen en het schatten van hun causale effecten in studies die de impact van meerdere gelijktijdig voorkomende

blootstellingen op de gezondheid evalueren, in een blootstelling-uitkomst scenario gekenmerkt door hoog-dimensionale blootstellingsdata die typisch zijn voor exposoom-brede studies.

Om de doelstellingen van het proefschrift te bereiken zijn data geanalyseerd van de cohortstudie naar mobiele telefoongebruik en gezondheid (COSMOS), LIFEWORK, en het Nederlandse Arbeid, Milieu en Gezondheid Onderzoek (AMIGO).

COSMOS (n=~250,000) is een internationale prospectieve cohortstudie met gegevens verzameld in zes Europese landen (Denemarken, Finland, Zweden, Nederland, het Verenigd Koninkrijk, en Frankrijk)die is opgezet om mogelijke gezondheidseffecten van langdurig mobiele telefoongebruik en andere draadloze technologieën te onderzoeken. LIFEWORK (n=~90,000) is een groot gefedereerd prospectief cohort in Nederland dat de Nederlandse bijdrage aan COSMOS vertegenwoordigt. Het doel van LIFEWORK is het kwantificeren van gezondheidseffecten van talrijke beroeps- en omgevingsblootstellingen, met een specifieke focus op het evalueren van RF-EMV blootstelling door mobiele telefoons en andere draadloze apparaten.

AMIGO (n=~14,000) is de Nederlandse cohortstudie naar arbeid, milieu en gezondheid, en vormt één van de subcohorten die zijn opgenomen in LIFEWORK. In AMIGO worden beroeps- en omgevingsdeterminanten van ziekten en welzijn onderzocht, inclusief RF-EMV blootstelling, met behulp van een multidisciplinaire en levensloopbenadering.

In **hoofdstuk 2** werden gepoolde gegevens van de Nederlandse en Britse cohorten van COSMOS (N=78,437) geanalyseerd om twee potentiële blootstelling-uitkomst mechanismen in relatie tot mobiele telefoongebruik en het optreden van hoofdpijn te verkennen. Resultaten van de multivariabele logistische regressiemodellen lieten zien dat het gebruik van mobiele telefoons voor bellen en sms'en op baseline was geassocieerd met hoofdpijn bij follow-up.

In het wederzijds gecorrigeerde model voor zowel beltijd als sms'en werden aanzienlijk verzwakte risicoschattingen voor beltijd geobserveerd, terwijl associaties met sms'en sterk bleven en robuust voor correctie, met een duidelijke blootstelling-uitkomst relatie. Deze resultaten suggereerden dat, vanwege de verwaarloosbare blootstelling aan RF-EMV door sms'en, andere mechanismen dan RF-EMV (bijvoorbeeld leefstijl, andere bloostellingen, of gedragsfactoren geassocieerd met mobiele telefoongebruik) verantwoordelijk waren voor het verhoogde risico op hoofdpijn dat we observeerden onder mobiele telefoongebruikers. Gezien de significante ziektelast van hoofdpijn in de bevolking en het wijdverbreide gebruik van mobiele telefoons is verder onderzoek naar andere aspecten van mobiele telefoongebruik dan RF-EMV blootstelling gerechtvaardigd om gezondheidseffecten te voorkomen.

In **hoofdstuk 3** hebben we de temporele dynamiek van de toeschrijving van gezondheidsklachten aan RF-EMV (IEI-RF) in het AMIGO subcohort (N=892) onderzocht. We beoordeelden factoren gerelateerd aan het ontwikkelen, behouden, of loslaten van IEI-RF gedurende 10 jaar door met "multi-state Markov" modellen het proces te modelleren waarin deelnemers door een reeks staten van IEI-RF bewegen. Verder hebben we logistische regressie toegepast om prospectief voorspellers van elektrohypersensitiviteit zonder het toeschrijven van gezondheidsklachten aan RF-EMV blootstelling (EHS) te verkennen.

De resultaten toonden aan dat de prevalentie van IEI-RF over het algemeen laag was en stabiel bleef over de tijd. Interessant genoeg observeerden we over 10 jaar follow-up een hoge waarschijnlijkheid om de symptomen niet meer aan RF-EMV blootstelling toe te schrijven, wat suggereerde dat IEI-RF een meer voorbijgaande aandoening is dan voorheen werd aangenomen. Ten slotte bleken RF-EMV percepties, het rapporteren van niet-specifieke symptomen, en slaapverstoringen op baseline voorspellend te zijn voor EHS na 10 jaar follow-up, ongeacht of gezondheidsklachten werden gerapporteerd die werden toegeschreven aan RF-EMV blootstelling.

In **hoofdstuk 4** hebben we een pluralistische benadering toegepast om de relatie tussen een mengsel van luchtverontreinigende stoffen (PM2, PM10, NO2, PM2, absorptie, en oxidatief potentieel) en sterfte prospectief te verkennen in LIFEWORK (N=86,882). We hebben "weighted quantile sum" (WQS) regressie en "boosted regression trees" (BRT) toegepast om de meest relevante componenten binnen het mengsel in relatie tot de uitkomst te identificeren, rekening houdend met de sterke correlaties. Op basis van deze resultaten hebben we een "multivariate generalized propensity score" (mvGPS) geschat om gezamenlijk de causale effecten van de verontreinigende stoffen op algehele sterfte te schatten. Resultaten van de WQS regressie en BRT duidden aan dat alle componenten van het mengsel bijdroegen aan een positieve lineaire associatie met de uitkomst, waarbij PM₂₅ werd geïdentificeerd als meest relevante component. Ten slotte benadrukten de resultaten van het mvGPS model de primaire rol van PM₂₅ binnen het mengsel, wat de causale interpretatie van luchtverontreinigingseffecten op sterfte versterkte. De in deze studie toegepaste strategie kan als voorbeeld dienen voor toekomstig onderzoek, ook buiten luchtverontreiniging, om de ingewikkelde wisselwerking tussen omgevingsblootstellingen en gezondheid te begrijpen door de gezondheidseffecten van een mengsel van omgevingsfactoren in acht te nemen in plaats van te vertrouwen op een "éénvoor-één benadering" voor chemische stoffen.

In **hoofdstuk 5** onderzochten we prospectief de stedelijke component van het exposoom van AMIGO (N=7,339) in relatie tot hoofdpijn met gebruik van een combinatie van "machine learning" technieken. We hebben een tweestappenbenadering gevolgd waarbij

we eerst Boruta hebben toegepast om de relevante blootstellingen in de exposoom-uitkomst associatie te identificeren, waarna we "estimated causal forest" hebben gebruikt voor het kwantificeren van het causale effect van deze blootstellingen op het optreden van hoofdpijn.

Boruta selecteerde vijf luchtverontreinigende stoffen (NO_2 , NO_x , $PM_{10'}$, silicium in $PM_{10'}$, ijzer in $PM_{2.5}$) en één maat voor stedelijke temperatuur (hitte-eiland effect) als factoren die bijdragen aan het rapporteren wekelijkse hoofdpijn bij follow-up. Het geschatte causale effect van elke blootstelling op wekelijkse hoofdpijn toonde positieve associaties voor alle blootstellingen, waarbij NO_2 het grootste effect vertoonde. Deze resultaten benadrukken de relevantie van bloostelling aan luchtverontreiniging en hitte-eiland effecten in de bijdrage aan het rapporteren van wekelijkse hoofdpijn in AMIGO en de noodzaak van een uitgebreide evaluatie van veelvoorkomende stedelijke stressoren om gezondheidsproblemen te voorkomen.

In **hoofdstuk 6** heb ik de hoofdbevindingen van de in dit proefschrift opgenomen studies gepresenteerd. Na deze samenvatting besprak ik de voorgestelde benaderingen om onderliggende werkingsmechanismen te identificeren en ging ik in op de meest relevante uitdagingen die zijn aangetroffen in de verschillende studies, met nadruk op de voordelen en beperkingen van de gebruikte methoden, en verschafte ik beleidsimplicaties en mogelijke toekomstige onderzoeksrichtingen.

Scientific Publications

Ohanyan, H., Portengen, L., Huss, A., **Traini, E.**, Beulens, J. W. J., Hoek, G., Lakerveld, J., & Vermeulen, R. (2022). Machine learning approaches to characterize the obesogenic urban exposome. *Environment international*, *158*, 107015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107015</u>

Raggi, A., Monasta, L., Beghi, E., Caso, V., Castelpietra, G., Mondello, S., Giussani, G., Logroscino, G., Magnani, F. G., Piccininni, M., Pupillo, E., Ricci, S., Ronfani, L., Santalucia, P., Sattin, D., Schiavolin, S., Toppo, C., **Traini, E.**, Steinmetz, J., Nichols, E., ... Leonardi, M. (2022). Incidence, prevalence and disability associated with neurological disorders in Italy between 1990 and 2019: an analysis based on the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Journal of neurology*, *269*(4), 2080–2098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-021-10774-5</u>

Traini, E., Huss, A., Portengen, L., Rookus, M., Verschuren, W. M. M., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Bellavia, A. (2022). A Multipollutant Approach to Estimating Causal Effects of Air Pollution Mixtures on Overall Mortality in a Large, Prospective Cohort. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, *33*(4), 514–522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.000000000001492</u>

Traini, E., Martens, A. L., Slottje, P., Vermeulen, R. C. H., & Huss, A. (2023). Time course of health complaints attributed to RF-EMF exposure and predictors of electromagnetic hypersensitivity over 10 years in a prospective cohort of Dutch adults. *The Science of the total environment*, *856*(Pt 2), 159240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.159240</u>

Conti, S., Fornari, C., Ferrara, P., Antonazzo, I. C., Madotto, F., **Traini, E.**, Levi, M., Cernigliaro, A., Armocida, B., Bragazzi, N. L., Cadum, E., Carugno, M., Crotti, G., Deandrea, S., Cortesi, P. A., Guido, D., Iavicoli, I., Iavicoli, S., La Vecchia, C., Lauriola, P., ... Mantovani, L. G. (2023). Time-Trends in Air Pollution Impact on Health in Italy, 1990-2019: An Analysis From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *International journal of public health*, *68*, 1605959. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ijph.2023.1605959</u>

Reedijk, M., Portengen, L., Auvinen, A., Kojo, K., Heinävaara, S., Feychting, M., Tettamanti, G., Hillert, L., Elliott, P., Toledano, M. B., Smith, R. B., Heller, J., Schüz, J., Deltour, I., Poulsen, A. H., Johansen, C., Verheij, R., Peeters, P., Rookus, M., **Traini, E.**, ... Study Group, T. C. (2024). Regression calibration of self-reported mobile phone use to optimize quantitative risk estimation in the COSMOS study. *American journal of epidemiology*, kwae039. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwae039</u> **Traini, E.**, Smith, R. B., Vermeulen, R., Kromhout, H., Schüz, J., Feychting, M., Auvinen, A., Poulsen, A. H., Deltour, I., Muller, D. C., Heller, J., Tettamanti, G., Elliott, P., Huss, A., & Toledano, M. B. (2024). Headache in the international cohort study of mobile phone use and health (COSMOS) in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. *Environmental research*, *248*, 118290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2024.118290</u>

Traini, E., Portengen, L., Ohanyan, H., van Vorstenbosch, R., Vermeulen, R., & Huss, A. (2024). A prospective exploration of the urban exposome in relation to headache in the Dutch population-based Occupational and environmental health cohort study (AMIGO). *Environment international, 188*, 108776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2024.108776</u>

Acknowledgements

Reflecting on my PhD journey brings back many memories, closely tied to the people who have been part of it over the past four years.

Roel and Anke, you have been a fantastic supervisory team for my PhD, and I couldn't have asked for better. I remember receiving your email inviting me for an interview on my birthday – it was such a nice present! Who would have known that this interview would be the start of an exciting new chapter? Starting a PhD is already a big step, but doing so in a completely new environment makes it even bigger.

Roel, I am grateful for the opportunity you gave me to join IRAS in 2020. Your support and valuable advices have been immensely helpful throughout my PhD journey. Every PhD has its own challenges and happy moments, and mine was no different. I moved to the Netherlands just before the pandemic started, and the beginning of my PhD was far from what I had hoped for. However, your way of handling problems and your ability to find solutions and be open to new ideas have been incredibly encouraging. I never doubted I could count on you whenever I had a critical question or needed support.

Anke, your kindness and incredible energy have always supported me, and I've truly enjoyed our weekly Thursday meetings at 10:00. Over these four years, we almost never missed one. Even during COVID, we managed to keep our meetings going, whether online or in person outside the Faculty at Science Park. I have learned a lot from our discussions – not only about EMF-related content but also in developing my critical thinking skills, which will undoubtedly be invaluable in the future.

Hans, your extensive knowledge on EMF and health has led to many interesting discussions. Even though you weren't officially part of my supervisory team, your input was just as valuable. I truly appreciated your advice and suggestions – and particularly your sense of humour and ability to make things look brighter during the darkest COSMOS times!

Lützen, it has been a pleasure working with you and exploring together analytical approaches we could apply to our research. Your skill in handling complex matters is impressive, and I'm grateful for the opportunity we had to collaborate on several projects. I admire your pragmatic approach and hope to carry some of that insight into my future work.

Andrea, I have great memories of our discussions on statistics and exposome during the first year of my PhD, which inspired my first paper and PhD journey. I really appreciated how clearly you explained complex concepts and the insights you shared about exposome research. I enjoyed working with you and was glad we had the chance to spend

some time together in Utrecht, even if for a shorter time than planned.

Doing a PhD is not a solitary journey, and I am deeply grateful to the colleagues who contributed to the papers included in this thesis: Paul Elliott, Rachel Smith, Joachim Schüz, Maria Feycthing, Anssi Auvinen, David Muller, Astrid Martens, Mireille Toledano, Robert van Vorstenbosch, Isabelle Deltour, Giorgio Tettamanti, Joël Heller, Pauline Slottje, Aslak Harbo Poulsen, Matti Rookus, Monique Verschuren, and the COSMOS consortium, thank you for all the engaging discussions we had about RF-EMF and health, exposome, statistics and methods, and epidemiological research.

Femke and Haykanush, dear paranymphs, you are both very special to me. Femke, your calm nature balances my more restless character. Besides being a good friend, I admire how supportive and positive you always are. I would love for us to plan a hike in a remote area sometime soon, perhaps exploring more of Scandinavia. Haykanush, I remember when we first met, you mentioned you could speak Italian, but I never expected we would later become fellow citizens. I admire your forward-thinking and determination. I have good memories of our time together exploring the city of Athens during the ISEE conference, as well as the endless hours we spent cleaning the AMIGO dataset for our analyses. It definitely felt more enjoyable doing it together!

Jie, Bernice, Dongsheng, Mayu, and Wouter, you were the first colleagues I shared the 3.20A office with at IRAS. While I wish we could have shared more experiences, I'm grateful that we stayed connected during challenging times, and cherish the memories we created. Anran, you've been a great friend to me. It has been a pleasure navigating the ups and downs of PhD life together. Your insights were always spot-on, and I have fond memories of our time together in a deserted and surreal Cambridgelaan together with Emma, and life on the 17th/18th floor. Yujia and Yongliang, thank you for hosting so many delightful dinners and for always being so welcoming. I appreciate you taking the time to teach me how to make dumplings and cook Peking duck. I also want to thank Ulrike, Susan, Gerard, Lapo, Magda, Fleur, Lea, Myrna, Silvia, Calvin, Daniel, Warner, Bea, Ceder, Jules, Salome, Ilse, Jeffrie, Wenxin, Fares, Max, Serigne, Judith, Laura, Youchen, Tara, Nekane, and many other colleagues at IRAS with whom I enjoyed sharing the office, coffee breaks, department events, and walks in the botanical garden. You all contributed to making my PhD journey very special.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Inka. Your attention to detail has been invaluable in ensuring we always got the most out of our data analysis, and I have thoroughly enjoyed collaborating with you. Mieke, it was a pleasure having my very first Dutch conversations with you. I wish you continued success in your Italian studies, and do let me know if you ever decide to move to the Italian Alps.

Christina and Louisa, thank you for always being so responsive to my questions. You are

both an essential part of IRAS, and your support has been invaluable during my time at IRAS.

I would also like to express my sincere thanks to Daniela, a dear friend who supported me during my move to the Netherlands, and my former colleagues at the Institute for Maternal and Child Health "Burlo Garofolo" in Trieste, who first introduced me to the world of research and supported me during my PhD application. Valentina, Lorenzo, Manuela, and Luca, it all started in Trieste, and your support played an essential part in my success.

Finally, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to my friends and family in Italy for their unwavering support and encouragement of my decision to move abroad and pursue my passions.

And to my life partner, Alessandro – your patient listening to both my research successes and struggles has made you my greatest ally throughout this journey.

Curriculum Vitae

Eugenio Traini was born on November 6, 1988, in Rome, Italy. He obtained a Bachelor's degree in Statistics from the University of Rome "La Sapienza" in 2013. Under the supervision of Prof. Viviana Egidi, his dissertation in Social Statistics examined the determinants of inequalities in functional disability using data from the European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC).

In 2015, he moved to Bologna to pursue a Master's degree in Statistics at Alma Mater Studiorum, University of Bologna. During the final phase of the Master's program, he joined the Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics unit at the Institute for Maternal and Child Health (IRCCS "Burlo Garofolo") in Trieste. There, supervised by Prof. Paola Rucci (University of Bologna) and Dr. Valentina Rosolen (IRCCS "Burlo Garofolo"), he investigated the health effects of mercury exposure from fish consumption in a prospective mother-child cohort living in northeastern Italy using a quantile-regression approach, culminating in his thesis and graduation in 2018.

Following his Master's degree, Eugenio continued at IRCCS "Burlo Garofolo" as a statistician, collaborating on various projects with fellow statisticians, epidemiologists, and clinicians, while also supervising medical students in the analysis of clinical data. In 2020, he embarked on a PhD in environmental epidemiology at the Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences (IRAS) in Utrecht, the Netherlands, under the supervision of Prof. Roel Vermeulen and Dr. Anke Huss. His PhD research focused on developing informative approaches for the analysis of environmental exposures and their health impacts using data from large prospective cohorts, with a particular emphasis on health effects of wireless device use.

Before and during his PhD track, he collaborated with the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) project at the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) at the University of Washington, Seattle, and with the affiliated Italian group of the GBD. His contributions centered on research on GBD methodology and analysis of the global impacts of various risk factors, particularly in relation to air pollution exposure in Italy. In March 2024, he was appointed as an external scientific expert at the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), providing independent scientific advice within the Genetically Modified Organism (GMO) panel.

In May 2024, Eugenio joined the Netherlands Organization for Applied Scientific Research (TNO) in Utrecht as a scientist in environmental epidemiology. He is currently employed in the department of Risk Analysis for Products in Development (RAPID), where

he continues his work on analysing and quantifying the health impacts of environmental exposures in the Dutch population.

Eugenio is currently a member of the Italian Society of Medical Statistics and Clinical Epidemiology (SISMEC). Since 2020, he has also been actively involved with the Netherlands Society for Statistics and Operations Research (VVSOR).

y = bo + by my + be me + ... + by mp i $X \cdot (X_1, X_2, \dots, X_p)$ ty output measurement of min Rs(β) · Ž(y; -n;Tp)² (Σ(y, -n;Tp)²) (E(y-j)) A prie Ess criterion yte an autotragy $f : PSS(f) = \tilde{\Sigma}(y: -f(n, y)^2;$ $(y; \mathcal{F}_{a} - \Sigma \eta; \beta;)^{2} + \lambda \Sigma \beta; j;$ E en Er SP Fr E Jannay squt (žwi) N vanance E ! D Wayhts in treated vents in contrals aper $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ for dore Ang AT - SI : enpotioner au highly concluted model too complex (p >> n ?) Reffectestimate off echt iversity cotou 221: 0.07472. Waylet